
San Luis Obispo 
Local Agency Formation Commission 
Meeting Agenda 
March 20, 2025, 9:00am 

MEETING 

MAR 20, 2025 – 9 A.M. 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
CHAMBERS         
COUNTY GOVT. CENTER  
1055 MONTEREY STREET, 
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93408 

CONTACT 

ROB FITZROY 
EXECUTIVE OFFICER 
805-781-5795
SLO.LAFCO.CA.GOV

COMMISSIONERS 

STEVE GREGORY, CHAIR, CITY         
HEATHER MORENO, VICE CHAIR, COUNTY 
DAWN ORTIZ-LEGG, COUNTY 
ED WAAGE, CITY 
ROBERT ENNS, SPECIAL DISTRICT   
VACANT, SPECIAL DISTRICT 
DAVID WATSON, PUBLIC 
BRUCE GIBSON, COUNTY ALTERNATE  
CARLA WIXOM, CITY ALTERNATE         
ED EBY, SPECIAL DISTRICT ALTERNATE 
MICHAEL DRAZE, PUBLIC ALTERNATE 

MEETING PARTICIPATION 

• To submit written comment, mention the matter or agenda item number and send via email to
mmorris@slo.lafco.ca.gov or fill out an online submission form on our website at slo.lafco.ca.gov, or U.S.
mail at 1042 Pacific St Suite A, San Luis Obispo CA, 93401. All correspondence is distributed to each
Commissioner and will become part of the official record of the Commission meeting.

• To submit a pre-recorded verbal comment call (805) 781-5795; state and spell your name, mention the
agenda item number you are calling about, and leave your comment. Your comments will be distributed
to each Commissioner and will become part of the official record of the Commission meeting.

• To provide live comment, attend the in-person meeting and fill out a “request to speak form” provided
in the front and back of the meeting room and hand it to the Commission Clerk prior to the beginning of
that item. Each speaker will be limited to a three-minute presentation. During public hearings, applicants
or their representatives will be given the opportunity to speak first after the staff report is given and
questions of the Commission have been addressed.

Other Notes: 

• In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), if you need special assistance to participate
at this meeting, please contact the Clerk at 805-781-5795. Notification provided a minimum of 48 hours
prior to the meeting will enable the Clerk to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this
meeting. Pursuant to the ADA, the meeting room is accessible to the physically disabled.

• It is required by Government Code Section 84308 that a participant in a LAFCO proceeding who has a
financial interest in the decision and who has made a campaign contribution of more than $250 to any
Commissioner within (12) months prior, must disclose the contribution. If you are affected, please notify
Commission Staff before the hearing.

Page 1 of 356

mailto:mmorris@slo.lafco.ca.gov


 LAFCO Agenda – March 20, 2025  Page 2 

MEETING AGENDA 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Call to Order/Roll Call 

Approval of the Minutes:   January 16, 2025 

Non-Agenda Public Comment Period 
This is the period in which persons may speak on items that are not on the regular agenda. You may 
provide public comment using one of the three methods mentioned above in the “Meeting Participation” 
section. 

Regular Matters 

A-1: LAFCO File No. 3-R-22: Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 19 to Cayucos 
Sanitary District (Valley Lot) 

Recommendation: 
Action 1: Find, by motion, the proposal to be categorically exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a), (d), 
(e), and Section 15319, Class 19 (b). 

Recommendation: 
Action 2: Approve, by resolution, the proposed Sphere of Influence Amendment and 
Annexation No. 19 to the Cayucos Sanitary District, as contained in Attachment A, subject to 
conditions of approval and waive protest proceedings pursuant to Government Code Section 
56662 (a). 

A-2: LAFCO File No. 3-R-23: Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 20 to Cayucos 
Sanitary District (Stanley Lot) 

A-3: Second Quarter Fiscal Year 2024-2025 Budget Status and Work Plan Report 

Recommendation:  
Action: Review the second quarter budget and work plan report for fiscal year (FY) 2024-2025 
and approve, by motion, to direct the Executive Officer to file it with the County Auditor. 

Page 2 of 356

(Pages 4 - 9)

(Pages 10 - 157)

(Pages 158 - 330)

Recommendation: 
Action 1: Find, by motion, the proposal to be categorically exempt from the California 
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a), (d), 
(e), and Section 15319, Class 19 (b). 

Recommendation: 
Action 2: Approve, by resolution, the proposed Sphere of Influence Amendment and 
Annexation No. 20 to Cayucos Sanitary District, as contained in Attachment A, subject to 
conditions of approval, and waive protest proceedings pursuant to Government Code Section 
56662 (a).  

(Pages 331 - 355)



 LAFCO Agenda – March 20, 2025  Page 3 

A-4: Appointment of Designated Representative for Labor Negotiations 

Recommendation:  
Action: Appoint the Commission’s General Counsel as its designated agency representative for 
labor negotiations. 

Closed Session Matters 

B-1: Conference with Legal Counsel: Pending Litigation 
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54596.9(d)(1) 
Case:  Nipomo Action Committee et al. v. San Luis Obispo LAFCO (San Luis Obispo Superior 
Court Case No. 24CV-0768) 

B-2: Public Employee Performance Evaluation 
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54957(b) 
Employee: Rob Fitzroy, Executive Officer   

B-3: Conference with Labor Negotiators 
Pursuant to California Government Code Section 54957.6 
Agency designated representative: General Counsel 
Unrepresented Employee: Executive Officer 

Commissioner Comments 

Legal Counsel Comments 

Executive Officer Comments 

Adjournment 

Page 3 of 356

(Page 356)



 SAN LUIS OBISPO 
LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
JANUARY 16, 2025, MEETING MINUTES 

Call to Order 

The San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) meeting was called to order 
at 9:01 a.m. on Thursday, January 16, 2025, by Vice Chairperson Steve Gregory in the Board of 
Supervisors Chambers at the County Government Center, 1055 Monterey Street, San Luis 
Obispo, CA 93408.  

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call     

Present: Vice Chair Steve Gregory, Commissioners Robert Enns, Heather Moreno, Dawn Ortiz-
Legg, Ed Waage, David Watson, and Alternate Commissioner Ed Eby 

Absent: Alternate Commissioners Michael Draze, Bruce Gibson, and Carla Wixom 

Staff: Rob Fitzroy, LAFCO Executive Officer 
Imelda Marquez-Vawter, LAFCO Analyst 
Morgan Bing, LAFCO Analyst 
Melissa Morris, LAFCO Commission Clerk 
Holly Whatley, LAFCO Legal Counsel  

Chair and Vice Chair Appointments 

Mr. Fitzroy provided comment on the item. 

Commissioner Ortiz-Legg provided comment on the item and nominated Commissioner 
Moreno for the vice chair position. 

Vice Chair Gregory asked for a motion to approve the nomination of Commissioner Moreno for 
the position of Vice Chair. 

Commissioner Enns seconded the motion. 

Vice Chair Gregory asked for Commissioner comments. 

Vice Chair Gregory opened the item for public comment, announcing it was closed shortly after 
hearing none. 

Commissioner Moreno provided comment on the item. 

Page 4 of 356



Draft – LAFCO Commission Meeting – Minutes January 16, 2025 

2 

AYES: Commissioners Ortiz-Legg, Enns, Moreno, Waage, and Watson, Vice Chair 
Gregory, and Commissioner Eby 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTAINING: None 

The motion passed. 

Commissioner Waage nominated Vice Chair Gregory for the position of Chairperson. 

Vice Chair Moreno seconded the motion. 

Vice Chair Gregory asked for Commissioner comments. 

Vice Chair Gregory opened the item for public comment, announcing it was closed shortly after 
hearing none. 

AYES: Commissioner Waage, Vice Chair Moreno, Commissioners Enns, Ortiz-Legg, 
Watson, Vice Chair Gregory, and Commissioner Eby 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTAINING: None 

The motion passed. 

Approval of the Minutes: December 19, 2024 

Chairperson Gregory announced the consideration of approval of the December 19, 2024, 
Regular Meeting Minutes. 

Chairperson Gregory asked for Commissioner comments. 

Chairperson Gregory opened the item for public comment, announcing it was closed shortly 
after hearing none. 

Chairperson Gregory asked for a motion to approve the minutes. 

Commissioner Watson motioned to approve the minutes. 

Commissioner Waage seconded the motion. 

AYES: Commissioners Watson, Waage, and Enns, Vice Chair Moreno, Commissioner 

Page 5 of 356



Draft – LAFCO Commission Meeting – Minutes January 16, 2025 

3 

Ortiz-Legg, Chairperson Gregory, and Commissioner Eby 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTAINING: None 

The motion passed. 

Non-Agenda Public Comment Period  

Chairperson Gregory opened the item for public comment, announcing it was closed shortly 
after hearing none. 

Consent Agenda 

A-1: 2025 Biennial Update of the Conflict of Interest Code

Mr. Fitzroy provided comment on the item. 

Chairperson Gregory opened the item for public comment, announcing it was closed shortly 
after hearing none. 

Chairperson Gregory opened the item for Commissioner questions and comments. 

Vice Chair Moreno motioned to approve the Consent Agenda.  

Commissioner Waage seconded the motion. 

AYES: Vice Chair Moreno, Commissioners Waage, Enns, Ortiz-Legg, and Watson, 
Chairperson Gregory, and Commissioner Eby 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTAINING: None 

The motion passed. 

Regular Matters 

B-1:  LAFCO File No 2-R-23: Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 1 to County
Service Area 23 (111 Residential Lots in Tract 2586) 

Mr. Fitzroy and Ms. Marquez-Vawter presented the item. 

Chairperson Gregory opened the item for Commissioner questions and comments. 

Page 6 of 356



Draft – LAFCO Commission Meeting – Minutes January 16, 2025 

4 

Commissioner Eby inquired about CSA 23. 

Mr. Fitzroy and Ms. Marquez-Vawter responded to questions and provided comment . 

Vice Chair Moreno inquired about clarification of the staff report water usage numbers. 

Mr. Fitzroy responded to questions and provided comment. 

Commissioner Ortiz-Legg provided comment on the item and inquired about Proposition 218 
requirements and sources of data provided in the staff report. 

Mr. Fitzroy responded to questions and provided comment. 

Commissioner Enns provided comment on the item and inquired about the condition of the 
Atascadero Groundwater Basin and the wells for the project. 

Mr. Fitzroy invited Rob Miller, with Wallace Group Engineering, to provide comment on the 
item. 

Rob Miller responded to questions and provided comment. 

Commissioner Watson provided comment on the item and inquired about project wells. 

Rob Miller responded to questions and provided comment. 

Commissioner Enns provided comment on the item and inquired about the status of the 
Atascadero Groundwater Basin. 

Rob Miller responded to questions and provided comment. 

Vice Chair Moreno provided comment on the item. 

Commissioner Watson provided comment on the item and inquired about parcel annexation, 
development phases, and rates. 

Mr. Fitzroy responded to questions and provided comment. 

Chairperson Gregory inquired about the proposed annexation. 

Mr. Fitzroy responded to questions and provided comment. 
Commissioner Enns provided comment on the item and inquired about fire protection. 

Mr. Fitzroy responded to questions and provided comment. 

Page 7 of 356



Draft – LAFCO Commission Meeting – Minutes January 16, 2025 
 

5 
 

Chairperson Gregory opened the item for public comment and two speakers provided 
comment to the Commission. 
 
Jamie Jones, from Kirk Consulting, spoke in support of the approval of the item. 
 
George Sullivan, a resident of Santa Margarita, spoke of his concern about water rights and 
usage. 
 
Chairperson Gregory closed public comment and opened the item for Commissioner questions 
and comments. 
  
Commissioner Watson provided comment on the item and inquired about environmental 
considerations, monitoring, and MSRs. 
 
Commissioner Enns responded to questions and provided comment. 
 
Mr. Fitzroy responded to questions and provided comment. 
 
Vice Chair Moreno provided comment on the item and inquired about water capacity as well as 
project monitoring. 
 
Mr. Fitzroy responded to questions and provided comment. 
 
Commissioner Ortiz-Legg provided comment on the item. 
 
Chairperson Gregory provided comment on the item and invited Karl Wittstrom, with Santa 
Margarita Ranch LLC, to provide comment. 
 
Karl Wittstrom provided comment on the item. 
 
Ms. Whatley provided comment on the item. 
 
Vice Chair Moreno motioned to approve staff recommendation for Item B-1, Action 1.  
 
Commissioner Ortiz-Legg seconded the motion. 
 
AYES:   Vice Chair Moreno, Commissioners Ortiz-Legg, Enns, Waage, Watson, 

Chairperson Gregory, and Commissioner Eby 
 
NAYS:   None 
ABSTAINING: None 
 
The motion passed. 
 
Vice Chair Moreno motioned to approve staff recommendation for Item B-1, Action 2, as 

Page 8 of 356



Draft – LAFCO Commission Meeting – Minutes January 16, 2025 

6 

amended.  

Commissioner Ortiz-Legg seconded the motion. 

AYES: Vice Chair Moreno, Commissioners Ortiz-Legg, Enns, Waage, Watson, 
Chairperson Gregory, and Commissioner Eby 

NAYS:   None 

ABSTAINING: None 

The motion passed. 

Chairperson Gregory thanked the LAFCO staff for their work on the item and provided 
comment. 

Executive Officer Comments: Mr. Fitzroy provided updates on upcoming meetings and 
elections. 

Commissioner Comments: Commissioner Enns provided comment. 

Legal Counsel Comments:  Ms. Whatley provided comment on upcoming meetings 
and Mr. Fitzroy confirmed the next meeting date. 

Adjournment: With no further business before the Commission, the meeting adjourned at 
10:23 AM until the next meeting of the Commission in the Board of Supervisors Chambers at 
the County Government Center in San Luis Obispo.  

THESE MINUTES ARE NOT OFFICIAL NOR ARE THEY A PERMANENT PART OF THE RECORD 
UNTIL THEY ARE APPROVED BY LAFCO COMMISSIONERS AT THE NEXT REGULAR MEETING.

Respectfully submitted, 
Melissa Morris, LAFCO Commission Clerk

Page 9 of 356



TO: MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION 

FROM: IMELDA MARQUEZ-VAWTER, ANALYST 
VIA: ROB FITZROY, EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

DATE: MARCH 20, 2025 

SUBJECT: LAFCO FILE 3-R-22: SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AMENDMENT AND 
ANNEXATION NO. 19 TO CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT (VALLEY 
LOT) 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
Action 1: Find, by motion, the proposal to be categorically exempt from the 
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 
15303 Class 3 (a), (d), (e), and Section 15319, Class 19 (b). 

Action 2: Approve, by resolution, the proposed Sphere of Influence Amendment 
and Annexation No. 19 to the Cayucos Sanitary District, as contained in 
Attachment A, subject to conditions of approval and waive protest proceedings 
pursuant to Government Code Section 56662 (a). 

 
PROJECT OVERVIEW 

Project Applicant: Landowner Petition of Application by Don Valley 

Certificate of Filing: December 4, 2024 

Acreage and General Location: The 0.198-acre property is located at 3579 Gilbert 
Avenue, southeast of the Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD). The proposed Sphere of 
Influence (SOI) amendment and annexation area will remain in the 
unincorporated area of San Luis Obispo County (County) as seen in Attachment D. 

Assessor Parcel Number (APN): 064-405-016 

Summary: This proposal would amend the SOI and annex APN 064-405-016 into 
the CSD to provide services to a two-level single-family residence of approximately 
1,970 square feet with a 550 square-foot garage (see Valley Residence Plan 
included in Attachment K), as the subject property size does not accommodate 
the use of an on-site wastewater treatment system. The project  

San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission 

COMMISSIONERS 

Chairperson 
STEVE GREGORY 
City Member 

Vice-Chair 
HEATHER MORENO 
County Member 

DAWN ORTIZ-LEGG 
County Member 

ED WAAGE 
City Member 

ROBERT ENNS 
Special District Member 

VACANT 
Special District Member 

DAVID WATSON 
Public Member 

ALTERNATES 

BRUCE GIBSON 
County Member 

CARLA WIXOM 
City Member 

ED EBY 
Special District Member 

Michael Draze 
Public Member 

STAFF 

ROB FITZROY 
Executive Officer 

IMELDA MARQUEZ-VAWTER 
Analyst 

MORGAN BING 
Analyst 

MELISSA MORRIS 
Commission Clerk 

HOLLY WHATLEY 
Legal Counsel 

A-1-1Page 10 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO     LAFCO File No. 3-R-22 
March 20, 2025  Page 2 

area is immediately adjacent to the CSD, which is an independent special district authorized to 
provide wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste service. The CSD issued a Conditional 
Intent to Serve letter and a Plan for Services, which expressed conditional support for the 
inclusion of the property into the CSD’s boundaries.  

Key Timeline of Events: On June 9, 2022, the applicant received project approval for a Variance 
/ Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) from the San Luis Obispo 
County Planning Commission to allow grading on slopes in excess of 30% for a two-level single-
family residence of approximately 1,970 square feet with a 550 square-foot garage on a 3,776 
square-foot lot.  

On June 9, 2022, County File No. DRC2019-00262 was appealed to the County Board of 
Supervisors shortly after Planning Commission approval.  

On June 22, 2022, the landowner applied to LAFCO through a Petition of Application to annex 
APN: 064-405-016 into the CSD. 

On July 19, 2022, staff provided the applicant with a 30-day review letter, placing the project on 
hold until the items detailed in the letter were addressed for LAFCO to continue processing the 
application. 

On July 21, 2022, the Commission formally received notice, at a Commission Meeting, of the 
petition of application initiated by the landowner as required by Government Code Section 
56857. 

On December 15, 2022, an item was placed on the Commission’s agenda to request by motion 
that the LAFCO File No. 3-R-22: SOI Amendment and Annexation No.19 to CSD (Valley Lot) be 
moved to a future meeting, that is to be determined, to allow the County and the applicant time 
to resolve a pending appeal on County File No. DRC2019-00262 and until the project is fully 
entitled/approved. The item was originally noticed with the intent of considering the proposal, 
but it was disclosed on November 28, 2022, that County File No. DRC2019-00262 was appealed 
on June 19, 2022, to the Board of Supervisors shortly after the Planning Commission. 

On July 11, 2023, the County Board of Supervisors approved Resolution No. 2023-178, to deny 
the appeal (APPL2022-00006) and uphold the decision of the Planning Commission to approve 
the Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) application.  

On October 13, 2023, the California Coastal Commission heard Appeal Number: A-3-SLO-23-
0029, regarding the July 11, 2023, Coastal Development Permit application number DRC2019-
00262/APPL2022-00006 approved by the County Board of Supervisors (on local appeal). The 
Coastal Commission found that Appeal Number A-3-SLO-23-0029 did not present a substantial 
issue with respect to the grounds on which the appeal had been filed under Section 30603 of the 
Coastal Act regarding consistency with the certified Local Coastal Program and/or the public 
access and recreation policies of the Coastal Act. 

A-1-2Page 11 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO     LAFCO File No. 3-R-22 
March 20, 2025  Page 3 

On October 22, 2024, the County Board of Supervisors approved Resolution No. 2024-240, a 
property tax exchange of 6.78336% after Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds to be 
transferred to the CSD. 

On November 21, 2024, the CSD Board Approved Resolution No. 2024-06 accepting the 
negotiated exchange of 6.78336% property tax revenue and annual tax increment. 

On December 4, 2024, the application met submission requirements and allowed staff to issue a 
Certificate of Filing and schedule the item for a hearing. 

On February 27, 2025, notice was mailed to property owners and registered voters within 300 
feet of the proposed annexation boundary. A mailing was sent out at least 21 days in advance of 
the hearing. In addition, an advertisement was placed in the New Times 21 days in advance of 
today’s hearing. Notice has been sent to the applicants, the CSD, the County, applicable agencies, 
and other interested parties. 

ACTION 1 | ENVIRONMENTAL DETERMINIATION 

The County Planning Commission approved the Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal 
Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) with a categorical exemption per CEQA Guidelines 
Section 15303, new construction or conversion of small structures. The proposed project is a 
single-family residence located in an urbanized area, which is zoned residential. 

LAFCO, as the Lead Agency, proposes to Categorically Exempt the project pursuant to State CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a) because the annexation area consists of one single-family 
residence located in an urbanized area which is zoned Residential Single-Family; (d) includes 
wastewater extensions of reasonable length to serve such construction; and (e) the new 
construction includes an accessory (appurtenant) structures including a garage. In addition, the 
proposal is categorically exempt from CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15319 
Class 19 (b) annexations of individual small parcels for facilities and lots for exempt facilities 
exempted by Section 15303. There are no cumulative impacts, unusual circumstances, damage 
to scenic highways, listing on hazardous waste site lists compiled pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65962.5, or indications that it may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance 
of a historical resource that would make the foregoing exemptions inapplicable.  

Recommendation: Find, by motion, the proposal to be exempt from the CEQA pursuant to CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a), (d), (e), and Section 15319, Class 19 (b). 

ACTION 2 | SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AMENDMENT & ANNEXATION 

Sphere of Influence Amendment: Government Code Section 56430 requires that a Municipal 
Service Review (MSR) be used to analyze a proposed SOI amendment. The MSR is a study of the 
District’s service capabilities and addresses seven factors described in Government Code Section 

A-1-3Page 12 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO     LAFCO File No. 3-R-22 
March 20, 2025  Page 4 

56430. LAFCO last adopted an SOI and MSR for the CSD in January 2015. In addition to relying on 
the CSD’s latest MSR, an updated brief analysis of the seven factors listed in Government Code 
Section 56430 (a) is provided in Attachment B. Prior to the annexation, the SOI must be amended 
to include the subject territory. The SOI is a plan for the probable physical boundaries of a local 
agency as determined by LAFCO per Government Code Section 56076. A SOI is generally 
considered a 20-year, long-range planning tool, and a mandatory step in the process. The SOI 
amendment is proposed concurrently with the annexation. 

To amend the SOI, Government Code Section 56425 (e) requires that five factors be considered, 
and determinations be made by LAFCO. SOI determinations have been made and are included in 
Attachment B. In summary, the SOI amendment for the CSD is recommended to include the 
proposed annexation area. This is based on the information, application, studies, and documents 
provided and approved by the County, CSD, and contained or referenced in this staff report. The 
CSD has considered the impacts of this proposed SOI amendment and annexation on its service 
capacities and determined that they are willing and able to provide the requested services. 

Annexation: When processing a proposal, the Commission is required to consider all factors 
specified in Government Code Section 56668 (for any proposal) and 56668.3 (for district 
annexations). The factors in the aforementioned code sections and Commission policies, 
standards, and procedures allow the Commission to continue to exercise its powers in a manner 
that encourages and provides planned, well-ordered, and efficient urban development patterns 
with consideration of preserving open-space and agricultural lands. All factors and applicable 
LAFCO policies were addressed within Attachment C. The analysis contained therein, as well as 
all information contained in the record to date and included in the attachments to this report 
were used to inform the recommendation for approval.  

Ability to provide services: The proposal requests wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green 
waste services through annexation into the CSD. The CSD has indicated that it is willing and 
capable to provide service to the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area. This is 
documented in the CSD’s Conditional Intent to Serve Letter dated November 23, 2020, 
(Attachment E) and Plan for Services (Attachment F).  

The CSD, which operates its own wastewater treatment plant as of September 2021, evaluated 
its ability to accept additional flows from the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area and 
determined that the CSD has the treatment capacity to treat the wastewater from this lot and 
the other lots in this area. Solid waste, recycling, and green waste services would be provided to 
the property through the CSD’s Franchise Agreement with Mission Country Disposal. 

The CSD’s Water Resource Recovery Facility has a maximum capacity of 1.2 million gallons per 
day (MGD), and an average capacity of 0.340 MGD. Current and future average daily base 
wastewater flows were estimated at an average flow of 0.227 MGD and an ultimate flow of 0.330 
MGD. According to the CSD’s Plan for Services, the District charges users of the sewer system a 
flat rate sewer use fee based on Equivalent Dwelling Units (EDUs). One EDU is equivalent to one 
single-family residence, and one single-family residence is estimated to utilize approximately 

A-1-4Page 13 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO     LAFCO File No. 3-R-22 
March 20, 2025  Page 5 

4,137 gallons of water per month. Therefore, the CSD expects to see an increase in wastewater 
flow of about 4,137 gallons per month (equivalent to 0.0041 MGD) for the proposed SOI 
amendment and annexation area. If all of the lots neighboring the Valley lot were to be annexed 
(7 lots total on Gilbert Ave), it would require a total of 28,959 gallons per month (equivalent to 
0.0289 MGD). The CSD has demonstrated that the existing infrastructure is more than capable of 
handling this increased flow. 

Currently, there are no CSD services provided to the lot, which means no existing sanitary sewer 
infrastructure on the project site exists. This parcel will need to install a private force main to get 
to the sewer main on Chaney Avenue, as seen in Figure 1. A 10-foot-wide private sewer easement 
would also be included to allow private force mains from adjacent parcels to connect to the CSD 
sewer main on Chaney Ave and grant the right to access, install, and maintain the individual 
private force mains for this parcel and the neighboring parcels. With the installation of the private 
force mains, the CSD determined that the best way for all of them to connect to the District's 
Chaney main would be at a single connection point in a new manhole. Therefore, the District will 
require a new manhole to be placed on the Chaney main at the projection of the new 10-foot 
easement along Gilbert. This condition would be applied to the first project that would tie-in, 
which in this case would be the proposed SOI amendment and annexation site. 

The applicant will need to design, construct, and install a new manhole over the CSD’s existing 
nearest point of connection adequate to provide wastewater service to the proposed project. 
The CSD will accept and maintain the new manhole and 4-inch lateral once constructed and 
inspected. All force mains shall be privately installed and maintained. The cost of any and all 
services for the subject annexation will be paid by the applicant in accordance with the CSD’s 
terms and conditions of the Conditional Intent to Serve Letter (Attachment E) and Plan for 
Services (Attachment F). There will be no expenditure of CSD monies. 

(This space was intentionally left blank) 

A-1-5Page 14 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO     LAFCO File No. 3-R-22 
March 20, 2025  Page 6 

Figure 1: Cayucos Sanitary District Infrastructure Map 

Recommendation: Approve, by resolution, the proposed SOI Amendment and Annexation No. 
19 to the Cayucos Sanitary District, as contained in Attachment A with the following conditions, 
and waive protest proceedings pursuant to Government Code Section 56662 (a). 

1. The applicant, Don Valley, shall comply with all terms and conditions stated in the Cayucos 
Sanitary District’s Conditional Intent to Serve Letter and Plan for Services that was issued
for APN 064-405-016, prior to CSD providing service to the property.

2. This condition applies to the extent allowed by law. The landowner, Don Valley, and the
affected agency, Cayucos Sanitary District, shall defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and
release the San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO), its officers,
employees, attorneys, or agents from any claim, action or proceeding brought against any
of them, the purpose of which is to attack, set aside, void, or annul, in whole or in part,
LAFCO’s action on the proposal or on the environmental documents submitted to or
prepared by LAFCO in connection with the proposal. This indemnification obligation shall
include, but not be limited to, damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and expert
witness fees that may be asserted by any person or entity, including the Applicant, arising
out of or in connection with the application. In the event of such indemnification, LAFCO
expressly reserves the right to provide its own defense at the reasonable expense of the
applicant.

Alternatives for Action: At the conclusion of its consideration, the Commission may approve the 
request, with or without amendment, wholly, partially, or conditionally, or disapprove the 

A-1-6Page 15 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO     LAFCO File No. 3-R-22 
March 20, 2025  Page 7 

request. The Commission has discretion in light of the whole record to make its decision. The 
following alternative actions are available: 

Alternative One: 
Continue consideration to the next regular meeting for reasons determined by the 
Commission. 

Alternative Two: 
Disapprove the change of organization proposal with direction to staff to return at the 
next regular meeting with a conforming resolution for adoption. 

If approved, following a 30-day reconsideration period provided under Government Code Section 
56895, the SOI amendment and annexation will become effective upon filing the Certificate of 
Completion with the Clerk Recorder pursuant to Government Code Section 56020.5. Government 
Code Section 57001 allows up to one year for a Certificate of Completion to be filed with the 
Clerk Recorder, otherwise, the action is deemed abandoned. LAFCO may grant extensions based 
on a reasonable request by the applicant. The time frame for an extension is at LAFCO’s discretion 
based on the circumstances of the proposal. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Some attachments are available via web links due to file size: 

Attachment A: LAFCO Resolution Approving the Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation 

Exhibit A: Categorical Exemption 

Exhibit B: Annexation Map and Legal Description 

Attachment B: LAFCO MSR & SOI Review Factors-Government Code Section 56430 and 56425(e) 

Attachment C: LAFCO Proposal Review Factors-Government Code Section 56668 

Attachment D: Vicinity Map 

Attachment E: Conditional Intent to Serve Letter from the CSD 

Attachment F: Plan for Services  

Attachment G: County Notice of Final Action Letter for Minor Use Permit N-DRC2021-00001  

Attachment H: Geo Solutions Engineering Geology Investigation Report, dated October 22, 2019 

Attachment I: Geo Solutions Supplemental Information, dated May 11, 2022 

Attachment J: Conditional Intent to Serve Letter from CSA 10 

Attachment K: Valley Lot Plans  

A-1-7Page 16 of 356



Attachment A 
 LAFCO Resolution Approving the Sphere of Influence 

Amendment and Annexation

A-1-8Page 17 of 356



IN THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 

COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

Thursday, March 20, 2025 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-XX 

RESOLUTION APPROVING A SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AMENDMENT AND ANNEXATION NO. 19 
TO CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT (VALLEY LOT) | LAFCO NO. 3-R-22 

The following resolution is now offered and read: 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, on June 22, 2022, interested landowner – Don Valley – filed a petition to initiate 

proceedings and an application with the San Luis Obispo County Local Agency Formation 

Commission, hereinafter referred to as “Commission”, pursuant to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg 

Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (CKH); and 

 WHEREAS, the application before the Commission seeks approval of a sphere of influence 

amendment and a change of organization of approximately 0.198-acres of unincorporated 

territory in the County of San Luis Obispo, hereinafter referred to as “County”, involving 

annexation into the Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD) (LAFCO File No. 3-R-22); and 

 WHEREAS, the affected territory as proposed includes one lot currently within a legal parcel 

identified by the County Assessor’s Office as 064-405-016; and  

 WHEREAS, the application before the Commission relates to the June 9, 2022, County 

Planning Commission approval for a Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit 

(DRC2019-00262) to allow grading on slopes in excess of 30% for a two-level single-family 

residence of approximately 1,970 square feet with a 550 square-foot garage on a 3,776 square-

foot lot and the approval was categorically exempt per CEQA Guidelines Section 15303, which 

was subsequently appealed to the County Board of Supervisors and on July 11, 2023, the County 

Board of Supervisors approved Resolution No. 2023-178, to deny the appeal (APPL2022-00006); 

and 

A-1-9Page 18 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 2 of 6 

 ك

 WHEREAS, on July 21, 2022, the Commission formally received notice of the petition of 

application initiated by the landowner as required by Government Code Section 56857. 

Subsequently, a 60-day period began in which the CSD had an opportunity to terminate the 

annexation if any financial or service-related concerns existed as outlined in Government Code 

Section 56857. The CSD did not request termination during this period, allowing the application 

to continue to be processed by staff; and  

WHEREAS, on October 13, 2023, the California Coastal Commission heard Appeal Number: 

A-3-SLO-23-0029, regarding the July 11, 2023, Coastal development permit application number

DRC2019-00262/APPL2022-00006 approved by the County Board of Supervisors (on local

appeal). The Coastal Commission found that Appeal Number A-3-SLO-23-0029 did not present a

substantial issue with respect to the grounds on which the appeal had been filedكunder Section

30603 of the Coastal Act regarding consistency with the certified Local Coastal Program and/or

the public access and recreation policies of the Coastal Act.; and

 WHEREAS, on October 22, 2024, the County Board of Supervisors approved a property tax 

exchange of 6.78336% after Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds to be transferred to the 

CSD pursuant to the Revenue and Taxation Code Section 99; and 

 WHEREAS, on November 21, 2024, the CSD Board Approved Resolution No. 2024-06 

accepting the negotiated exchange of 6.78336% property tax revenue and annual tax 

incrementation; and 

 WHEREAS, on December 4, 2024, the Executive Officer filed a Certificate of Filing deeming 

the application as acceptable for filing; and 

 WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has given the notices required by law and forwarded copies 

of his report to officers, persons, and public agencies prescribed by law; and 

WHEREAS, the Executive Officer conducted an analysis of the proposal and prepared a report 

A-1-10Page 19 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 3 of 6 

 ك

including staff’s recommendations thereon, and presented staff’s findings for Commission 

consideration; and 

 WHEREAS, the matter was set for public hearing at 9:00 a.m. on March 20, 2025, and the 

public hearing was duly conducted and determined and a decision was made on March 20, 2025; 

and 

 WHEREAS, at said hearing this Commission heard and received all oral and written protests, 

objections, and evidence, which were made, presented, or filed, and all persons present were 

given the opportunity to hear and be heard in respect to any matter relating to the proposal and 

report; and  

WHEREAS, the reasons for the proposed sphere of influence and annexation are as follows: 

1) It will enable the applicant to receive wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste

services from the CSD to meet the needs associated with the development approved by

the County (Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-

00262)) for a single-family home.

 WHEREAS, the Commission determined that the proposed sphere of influence amendment 

and annexation is categorically exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a) because the annexation 

area consists ofكa County approved new construction of one single-family residence located in an 

urbanized area which is zoned Residential Single-Family; (d) includes a sewage extensions of 

reasonable length to serve such construction; (e) the new construction includes an accessory 

(appurtenant) structures including a garage, and Section 15319 (b), Class 19 Annexations of 

individual small parcels for facilities and lots for exempt facilities exempted by Section 15303; 

and 

WHEREAS, the Commission has considered all factors required to be considered by 

A-1-11Page 20 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 4 of 6 

 ك

Government Code Sections 56430 and 56425 (e) and adopts as its written statements of 

determinations and record therein, the determinations set in the Executive Officer’s Staff Report 

dated March 20, 2025, attachments and testimony, and said record and determinations being 

incorporated by reference herein as though set forth in full; and 

 WHEREAS, the Commission has considered all factors required to be considered by 

Government Code Sections 56668, 56668.3, as well as adopted local policies and procedures and 

adopts as its written statements of determinations and record therein, the determinations set in 

the Executive Officer’s Staff Report dated March 20, 2025, attachments and testimony, and said 

record and determinations being incorporated by reference herein as though set forth in full; and 

 WHEREAS, the Commission duly considered the proposal and finds that the proposed sphere 

of influence amendment and annexation into the CSD’s service area should be approved. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED by the Local Agency Formation Commission 

of the County of San Luis Obispo, State of California, as follows: 

1. That the recitals set forth hereinabove are true, correct, and valid.

2. That the Notice of Exemption prepared for this proposal is complete and adequate, having

been prepared in accordance with the provisions of CEQA, and is hereby determined to

be sufficient for the Commission’s actions as contained in Exhibit A hereto.

3. That the map and legal description approved by this Commission is attached hereto,

marked as Exhibit B and incorporated by reference herein as though set forth in full.

4. That the Executive Officer of this Commission is authorized and directed to mail copies of

this resolution in the manner provided by law.

5. That pursuant to Government Code Section 56662 (d), the Commission waives protest

proceedings and orders the annexation subject to requirements of CKH, because (a) the

territory is uninhabited, (b) the proposal is accompanied by proof that the single owner

of all land has given his written consent to the proposal, and (c) the CSD has not submitted

A-1-12Page 21 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 5 of 6 

 ك

written opposition to a waiver of protest proceedings. 

6. That the Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 19 to the Cayucos Sanitary

District, is hereby approved with the following conditions:

1. The applicant, Don Valley, shall comply with all terms and conditions stated in the

Cayucos Sanitary District’s Conditional Intent to Serve Letter and Plan for Services

that was issued for APN 064-405-016, prior to CSD providing service to the property.

2. This condition applies to the extent allowed by law. The landowner, Don Valley, and

the affected agency, Cayucos Sanitary District, shall defend, indemnify, hold

harmless, and release the San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission

(LAFCO), its officers, employees, attorneys, or agents from any claim, action or

proceeding brought against any of them, the purpose of which is to attack, set aside,

void, or annul, in whole or in part, LAFCO’s action on the proposal or on the

environmental documents submitted to or prepared by LAFCO in connection with

the proposal. This indemnification obligation shall include, but not be limited to,

damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and expert witness fees that may be

asserted by any person or entity, including the Applicant, arising out of or in

connection with the application. In the event of such indemnification, LAFCO

expressly reserves the right to provide its own defense at the reasonable expense of

the applicant.

7. Completion of the 30-day reconsideration period provided under Government Code

Section 56895.

8. The effective date shall be the date of recordation of the Certificate of Completion. The

Certificate of Completion must be recorded within one calendar year unless an extension

is requested and approved by the Commission.

9. The Commission hereby directs staff to file a Notice of Exemption within five working days

of this Resolution in compliance with Section 15062 of Title 14 of the California Code of

A-1-13Page 22 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 6 of 6 

 ك

Regulations. 

Upon a motion of Commissioner ________, seconded by Commissioner __________, and on 

the following roll call vote: 

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

ABSTAIN: 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted. 

Steve Gregory, Chairperson  Date 
Local Agency Formation Commission 

ATTEST: 

Rob Fitzroy  Date 
LAFCO Executive Officer 

APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL EFFECT: 

Holly Whatley  Date 
LAFCO Legal Counsel 

A-1-14Page 23 of 356



Exhibit A
 Categorical Exemption 

A-1-15Page 24 of 356



Notice of Exemption 
To: □  Office of Planning and Research From:  San Luis Obispo LAFCO 

PO Box 3044, 1400 Tenth Street, Room 222 Rob Fitzroy, Executive Officer 
Sacramento, CA 95812-3044  1042 Pacific St. Suite A 

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
(805) 781 – 5795

□ County Clerk rfitzroy@slo.lafco.ca.gov
County of San Luis Obispo
County Government Center
San Luis Obispo, CA 93408

Project Title: LAFCO File No. 3-R-22 | Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 19 To Cayucos Sanitary 
District (Valley Lot) 

Project Location: The 0.198-acre affected territory is located south of Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD); within APN: 
064-405-016. The CSD is located immediately north of the City of Morro Bay.

Description of Nature, Purpose, & Beneficiaries of Project: On June 9, 2022, the applicant received project 
approval for a Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) from the San Luis 
Obispo County Planning Commission to allow grading on slopes in excess of 30% for a two-level single-family 
residence of approximately 1,970 square feet with a 550 square-foot garage on a 3,776 square-foot lot and the 
approval was categorically exempt per CEQA Guidelines Section 15303. On July 11, 2023, the County Board of 
Supervisors approved Resolution No. 2023-178, to deny an appeal (APPL2022-00006) and uphold the decision of 
the Planning Commission to approve the Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-
00262) application. On June 22, 2022, the landowner applied to LAFCO through a petition of application to amend 
the sphere of influence (SOI) and annex the Valley lot property into the CSD for wastewater, solid waste, recycling, 
and green waste services. Development would consist of a single-family residence located in an urbanized area 
which is zoned Residential Single Family. LAFCO is a Lead Agency under CEQA.   

Name of Public Agency Approving Project: The Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of San Luis Obispo 
County conducted a noticed public hearing on this item scheduled for March 20, 2025, at 9:00 a.m. Additional 
information on the meeting is available on the LAFCO website at https://slo.lafco.ca.gov/. 

Exemption Status: (check one) 
 Ministerial (Sec. 21080(b)(1); 15268);  Categorical Exemption:(Sec.15303(a)(d)(e); 15319 (b)); 
 Declared Emergency (Sec. 21080(b)(3); 15269(a));  Statutory Exemptions: State code number 
 Emergency Project (Sec. 21080(b)(4); 15269 (b)(c));  Other: The activity is not a project subject to CEQA. 

Reasons Why Project is Exempt: Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303, Class 3 (a) because the annexation 
area consists of one single-family residence in a residential area; (d) sewage extensions of reasonable length to 
serve such construction, (e) Accessory (appurtenant) structures including a garage; and Section 15319 Class 19 (b), 
annexations of individual small parcels for facilities and lots for exempt facilities exempted by Section 15303. 
There are no circumstances under Section 15300.2 that would make the foregoing exemptions inapplicable. 

Rob Fitzroy, Executive Officer Date 

A-1-16Page 25 of 356

https://slo.lafco.ca.gov/


Exhibit B
 Annexation Map and Legal Description

A-1-17Page 26 of 356



LAFCO ANNEXATION No. 19 
TO THE CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT 

Legal Description 

All of Lots 20 and 21 in Block 21 and those portions of Gilbert Avenue and Chaney 
Avenue lying adjacent to such Lots which would pass as fee title pursuant to Civil Code 
Section 831, said land in Morro Strand Unit 1 as shown on the map filed in Book 3 of 
Maps at page 105, in the office of the County Recorder of San Luis Obispo County, 
California described as follows; 

Beginning at the intersection of the centerlines of Said Gilbert Avenue and Chaney 
Avenue, said point being on the existing Cayucos Sanitary District boundary; thence 
along said centerline of Gilbert Avenue and said existing Cayucos Sanitary District 
boundary, 

1) North 25° 08' 00" West a distance of 115.85 feet to the Southwesterly projection
of the Northwest line of said Lot 20; thence leaving said existing Cayucos
Sanitary District boundary and running along the Northwesterly line of said Lot
20 and the Southwesterly projection thereof,

2) North 64° 52' 00" East a distance of 95.00' feet to the most Northerly corner of
said Lot 20; thence along the Northeasterly lines of said Lots 20 and 21,

3) South 25° 08' 00" East a distance of 34.28 feet to the Northwest line of said
Chaney Avenue; thence perpendicular to the centerline of said Chaney avenue,

4) South 54° 16' 00" East a distance of 25.00 feet to said centerline; thence along
said centerline,

5) South 35° 44' 00" West, a distance of 122.69 feet to the Point of Beginning and
containing 8665 square feet, more or less.

\1,n.v,L�\..Ul,i\,l .)li 

l\: -------

)1.;: _____ _ 

[ ,,; /\k,,nn ( 'n1111" n�n 

Br--�-::-1':-l��---"'-
Date: ��<-,,e,�«------ _ 

San Luis Obis o County Dept. of Puhli( ,, 11 

*** 

N:\2022\22-310 Gilbert Ave Lots 20 & 21 - Cayucos\Legal Descriptions\22-310 Gilbert Ave-CAY-Exhibit A.doc 
11/16/2022 7:20 AM 

A-1-18Page 27 of 356



J\;JORRO 

( �) 0 'j 05) 
rJ I or 1< -;:> ·J D � ..__,J � 

J\;J B 

I 

I 

I 

1 (""') 0

I 

I 

I 

APN: 

I 

I 

I 

Q'. 

Ol 

0 

... 

25'

S54' 16'00"E 
25.00'Rl 

0�4-405-016

ANNEXATION 

U') ,,., 
z 

AREA 
8665 SQ FT 

d=119"08'00"R1 
R=20.00'R1 
L=41.59'R1 

POINT OF BEGINNING 
OF THE DESCRIPTION 

OF ANNEXATION No. 
19 TO CAYUCOS 
SANITARY DISTRICT 

\ 

\ 

I 
Q'. 

Ol 

<'i 
N -
0 
0 

I 

I 

25'

>
w 
z 
<( 
I 

0 

r 

1----B LO C }< 

'7,. ".)
APN: 064-404-013 

'7,. '\ 
APN: 064-435-025 

'\ 0 

APN: 064-435-026 

Of/ 

J;;;; 

WHALE ROCK RESERVOIR 

SCALE 

1000 2000 

I I 
1/4 1/2 □ 

MAP 

SYMBOL LEGEND: 

STREET CENTERLINE 

ANNEXATION LIMITS 

777777777777777/ EXISTING CSD BOUNDARY 

Rl lrDICATES RECORD PER 3 MB 105 

/ GRAPHIC SCALE 

20 0 

�--1 
1

r 

2

�r---�1

0 

--
( IN FEET ) 

1 inch = 20 ft. 

SURJ,EYOR
0

S STATEMENT: 
THIS MAP REPRESENTS A MAP FROM RECORD DATA SHOWN 

ON MAP OF MORRO STRAND UNIT 1 FILED IN BOOK 3 OF 
MAPS AT PfGE 105 FOR THE PURPOSES OF PREPARING A 

g�t�
R

��i

,

N 
s�2�1

c��N5�J�7tT.
TO THE CAYUCOS 

�6Jl� 11/16/11
MICHAEL B STANTON , PLS 5702 DATE 

9sw� 

ANNEXATION MAP 
ANNEXATION No. 19 TO CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT 

OF LOTS 20 AND 21 IN BLOCK 21 OF MORRO STRAND UNIT 1 AS 
SHOWN I ON THE MAP FILED IN BOOK 3 OF MAPS AT PAGE 105 IN 

TH� COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

[]J;5 MICHAEL B. STANTON, PLS 5702
= 3559 S. HIGUERA STREET 

lb ,d,i SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93401 
Mfr!tt'J•fill;3kii◄ sos-594-1 960

November 1 6, 2022 JOB #22-310 

A-1-19Page 28 of 356



Attachment B
 LAFCO MSR & SOI Review Factors-Government Code Section 

56430 and 56425(e)

A-1-20Page 29 of 356



Attachment B
LAFCO Government Code Sections 56430 and 56425 (e) Factor Proposal Review 

LAFCO No. 3-R-22 

Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 19 to Cayucos Sanitary District (Valley 
Lot) 

Government Code Section 56430 – Municipal Service Review Analysis 

In reviewing the proposed Sphere of Influence (SOI) Amendment for the Cayucos Sanitary District 
(CSD), the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) relied on the San Luis Obispo County 
General Plan, Estero Area Plan, CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan and Franchise Agreement 
with Mission Country Disposal, and all associated documentation. Additionally, the Commission 
as part of this action, will use the CSD’s latest Municipal Service Review (MSR) adopted in January 
2015 and provide an updated brief analysis of the seven MSR factors listed in 56430 (a). The 
required SOI factors outlined in Government Code Section 56425 (e) have also been analyzed and 
determinations have been provided in this document. The following written statements should 
be considered and approved by the Commission.  

(1) Growth and population projections for the affected area.
Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the
following should also be considered as part of this action.

The proposed SOI amendment and annexation includes a County of San Luis Obispo (County) 
approved Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) to allow 
grading on slopes in excess of 30% for a two-level single-family residence. Based on the average 
household size of 2.311 persons per dwelling unitكfor the County unincorporated areas, the 
proposed SOI amendment and annexation would generate approximately 2 residents. This would 
result in an approximate 0.08% increase in the community of Cayucos’ existing population of 
approximately 2,5052. 

Further, the Estero Area Plan3 establishes a vision for the future of the Estero Planning Area that 
guides development and includes analysis on population projections for the CSD. This area plan 
is consistent with the intent and policies of the California Coastal Act and the San Luis Obispo 
County Local Coastal Program. The plan estimated a buildout total of 4,765 by 20224, although 

1 Table E-5 | Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2020-2024, from the State of 
California Department of Finance identifies the average household size in the unincorporated areas of the County 
as 2.31 persons per unit, May 2024 
2 Cayucos Census Designated Place 2020 Decennial US Census Data 
3 The Estero Area Plan was last revised December 2024 with the Cayucos and rural portions having been last 
updated in January 2009. 
4 Buildout estimate for Cayucos assumes 9.3% vacancy for existing development, 5% vacancy for future 
development, and 2.09 persons per occupied dwelling unit. 

A-1-21Page 30 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO           Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-22 | GC 56430 & 56425          Page 2 

the CSD did not reach its assumed buildout total that year. It should be noted that buildout is only 
a theoretical estimate that provides aكlikely maximum population that could result under the 
general plan. The County estimates are adjusted to take into account limitations on development 
due to physical constraints and market demand. Nevertheless, actual development varies 
depending on a variety of factors. 

The County of San Luis Obispo, Department of Planning and Building and the San Luis Obispo 
Council of Governments (SLO COG) provided more recent buildout estimates in the 2050 Regional 
Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, adopted June 2017. Based on SLO COG’s buildout 
projection of 3,0965 by 2050 and the 2020 population, Cayucos is considered over 80 percent 
built out. Significant increases in population are not expected to occur in this area over the next 
10 years. 

(2) The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within
or contiguous to the sphere of influence.

Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the 
following should also be considered as part of this action.  

In summary, a disadvantaged unincorporated community (DUC) is defined as a community with 
an annual median household income (MHI) that is less than 80 percent of the statewide annual 
MHI of $84,0976 and an area that is considered to be inhabited (containing 12 or more registered 
voters). Portions of the CSD’s existing SOI are within two identified DUC areas as seen in Figure 1 
and 2 below. 

Cayucos DUC Area #1 consists of Census Tract 105.04, Block Group 1 with an MHI of $67,2737 
and an estimated 5058 registered voters. Cayucos DUC Area #2 consists of Census Tract 105.04, 
Block Group 3 with an MHI of $59,4449 and an estimated 68610 registered voters. It should be 
noted that the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area is located outside of the two 
identified DUCs. 

5 Figure 11| 2050 Regional Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, San Luis Obispo Council of Governments, 
June 2017 
6 US Census, California Median Household Income 2017-2021 
7 US Census Bureau, American Community Survey Data 2016-2020 in 2021 inflation/adjusted dollars, 2023 
8 SLO County Clerk Recorder Registered Voter GIS Data, October 2023 
9 US Census Bureau, American Community Survey Data 2016-2020 in 2021 inflation/adjusted dollars, 2023 
10 SLO County Clerk Recorder Registered Voter GIS Data, October 2023 

A-1-22Page 31 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO           Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-22 | GC 56430 & 56425          Page 3 

Figure 1: Cayucos Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community Area #1 Boundary Map 

Figure 2: Cayucos Disadvantaged Unincorporated Community Area #2 Boundary Map 

A-1-23Page 32 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO           Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-22 | GC 56430 & 56425          Page 4 

(3) Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and
infrastructure needs or deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers,
municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection in any disadvantaged,
unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence.

Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the 
following should also be considered as part of this action.  

The CSD provides the same services as were documented in the CSD’s 2015 MSR, however, since 
then, the CSD has made upgrades and changes on how they provide wastewater services to the 
community. On September 14, 2021, the CSD ceased pumping wastewater to the City of Morro 
Bay and began operating their new independent Water Resources Recovery Facility. The CSD’s 
newly constructed facility has a maximum capacity of 1.2 million gallons per day (MGD), an 
average capacity of 0.340 MGD, and consists of headworks with both coarse and fine screens and 
grit removal, a membrane bio reactor (MBR) with two aeration tanks as well as two pre-anoxic 
and two post-anoxic tanks, three membrane tanks with ultrafiltration, a screw press for 
dewatering solids, and two ultra-violet vessels for disinfection of effluent water. 

The CSD’s Sewer System Master Plan,كrevised and approved June 2023, assists the CSD in future 
planning and identification of capital projects and aids in the assessment of the collection system 
as a whole. The plan also describes the following topics in more detail and can be found on the 
CSD’s website using the following link:  

https://www.cayucossd.org/files/4035b6232/Sanitary+Sewer+Management+Plan+2023.pdf 

- Operation and Maintenance Program
- Design and Performance Provisions
- Spill Emergency Response Plan
- Sewer Pip Blockage Control Program
- System evaluation, Capacity Assurance, and Capital Improvements
- Monitoring, Measurements, and Program Modifications

Key Highlights relating to the Conditional Intent to Serve letter, the Plan for Services, and 
information contained in the record,كare provided below:  

• The total capacity of the existing Water Resources Recovery Facility is a maximum
capacity of 1.2 MGD11 and an average capacity of 0.340 MGD12.

• Current and future average daily base wastewater flows were estimated at an average
flow of 0.227 MGD13 and an ultimate flow of 0.330 MGD14.

• The CSD charges users of the sewer system a flat rate sewer use fee based on EDUs
(Equivalent Dwelling Units). 1 EDU is equivalent to 1 single-family residence, and 1 single-

11 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
12 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
13 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
14 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 

A-1-24Page 33 of 356

https://www.cayucossd.org/files/4035b6232/Sanitary+Sewer+Management+Plan+2023.pdf


San Luis Obispo LAFCO           Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-22 | GC 56430 & 56425          Page 5 

family residence is estimated to utilize approximately 4,13715 gallons of water per month. 
Therefore, the CSD expects to see an increase in wastewater flow of about 4,137 gallons 
per month (equivalent to 0.0041 MGD) for the proposed project. 

• If all of the lots neighboring the project area were to be annexed (7 lots total on Gilbert
Ave), it would require a total of 28,959 gallons per month16 (equivalent to 0.0289 MGD).

• The CSD has demonstrated the existing infrastructure is more than capable of handling
this new flow.

• The CSD will accept and maintain the new manhole on Chaney Ave once constructed and
inspected. All laterals and force mains shall be privately installed and maintained.

• The applicant is required to provide a 10-foot-wide private sewer easement spanning
their property, parallel and adjacent to Gilbert Ave right-of-way, to allow private force
mains from adjacent parcels to connect to the CSD sewer main on Chaney Ave. The
easement should include the right to install, access, and maintain individual private force
mains.

• The CSD will require the applicant to install a new manhole over CSD’s existing sewer main
on Chaney Ave., at the projection of the new 10-foot-wide easement and at the front of
the applicant’s parcel along Gilbert Ave.

• The new manhole shall have a 4-inch lateral installed from the manhole to the applicant’s
property line, as a connection point for the applicant’s private force main and the
adjacent parcels’ private force mains.كThe CSD will accept and maintain the new manhole
and 4-inch lateral once constructed and inspected. All force mains shall be privately
installed and maintained.

As was previously mentioned in response (2) above, portions of the existing CSD service area and 
SOI boundary were identified as a DUC, and the Commission is required to consider needs or 
deficiencies related to sewer, municipal and industrial water and structural fire protection within 
or contiguous to the SOI of any DUC. The developed areas within the identified DUCs that are 
located within the CSD’s service area receive sewer service from the CSD, water from either Morro 
Rock Mutual Water Company or Paso Robles Beach Water Association (depending on location), 
and fire protection from CalFire. The developed areas within the identified DUCs that are located 
outside of the CSD’s service area but within or contiguous to the SOI receive sewer service from 
private septic tanks, water from private wells or from Morro Rock Mutual Water Company or Paso 
Robles Beach Water Association (depending on location of the property), and fire protection from 
CalFire. There are no known needs or deficiencies regarding sewer services for properties located 
outside of the CSD service area but within or contiguous to the SOI. 

15 CSD’s Plan for Services, Jan 2025 
16 Supplemental Information provided by the CSD, October 2022 

A-1-25Page 34 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO           Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-22 | GC 56430 & 56425          Page 6 

Areas within the SOI Amendment & Annexation territory are not within the identified DUCs; 
therefore, the affected territory does not meet the qualifications for a DUC in accordance with 
State law. 

(4) Financial ability of agencies to provide services.
Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the
following should also be considered as part of this action.

The Plan for Services prepared by the CSD, included in Attachment F, provided context on the 
CSD’s financial ability to provide services to the proposed SOI amendment. The plan stated that 
there will be no expenditure of CSD monies. CSD will accept and maintain the new manhole on 
Chaney Ave once constructed and inspected. All laterals and force mains shall be privately 
installed and maintained.كThe applicant shall be subject to a “buy-in cost” in addition to the 
standard Will-Serve Application Fee and Connection/Inspection Fee.كUpon annexation, the parcel 
will be charged a monthly Vacant Lot Fee in the amount of $7.50 per lot. Upon connection to 
CSD’s infrastructure, the parcel will be charged a monthly Sewer Use Fee in the amount of $98.00 
per EDU. In addition, a Property Tax Agreement between the County and the CSD was approved 
for a property tax exchange of 6.78336% after Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds to be 
transferred to the CSD. 

(5) Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities.
Response. No additional analysis is being included in this section of the CSD’s 2015 MSR update.

(6) Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and
operational efficiencies.

Response. No additional analysis is being included in this section of the CSD’s 2015 MSR update. 

(7) Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by
commission policy.

Response. No additional analysis is being included in this section of the CSD’s 2015 MSR update. 

Government Code Section 56425 - Sphere of Influence Analysis 

Sphere of Influence Amendment: Prior to the annexation, the SOI must be amended to include 
the subject territory. An SOI is defined by Government Code Section 56425 as “…a plan for the 
probable physical boundary and future service area of a local agency or municipality…”. An SOI is 
generally considered a 20-year, long-range planning tool, and a mandatory step in the process 
before annexation. The SOI amendment is proposed concurrently with the annexation. 

Sphere of Influence Factors. To amend a local agency’s SOI, the Government Code Section 56425 
(e) requires the following five specific determinations to be considered by LAFCO. The

A-1-26Page 35 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO           Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-22 | GC 56430 & 56425          Page 7 

determinations, factors, and responses are provided below: 

1. The present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space
lands. The present land use designation within the proposed SOI amendment and
annexation area is Residential Single-Family (RSF) and the zoning will remain unchanged.
There are no agricultural or open-space lands in the affected territory.

2. The present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area. As stated in
the attached Plan for Services,كAttachment F, the proposal requests wastewater, solid
waste, recycling, and green waste services for the single-family residence that will be
constructed on the lot. The proposed SOI amendment and annexation area and the other
neighboring lots on Gilbert Ave are already within the CSD’s Urban Reserve Line as was
designated by the County (APNs: 064-405-010, 064-405-041, 064-405-013, 064-405-014,
and 064-405-015).

3. The present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency
provides or is authorized to provide. As stated in the Plan for Services (Attachment F) the
CSD is willing and able to provide the requested service, subject to terms and conditions
of the Conditional Intent to Serve Letter dated November 23, 2020, the Plan for Services
dated January 6, 2025, and associated annexation documents.كPlease also refer to analysis
provided on Government Code Section 56430 (3) included on page 4-5 of this document
for more information regarding the CSD’s infrastructure.

- The total capacity of the existing Water Resources Recovery Facility is a maximum
capacity of 1.2 MGD and an average capacity of 0.340 MGD.

- Current and future average daily base wastewater flows were estimated at an average
flow of 0.227 MGD and an ultimate flow of 0.330 MGD.

- 1 EDU is equivalent to 1 single-family residence, and 1 EDU is estimated to utilize
approximately 4,137 gallons of water per month. Therefore, the CSD expects to see
an increase in wastewater flow of about 4,137 gallons per month (equivalent to
0.0041 MGD) for the proposed project.

- The CSD existing infrastructure is more than capable of handling this new flow.
- Solid Waste, Recycling, and Green Waste services would be provided to the property

through the CSD’s Franchise Agreement with Mission Country Disposal, similar to all
the lots already within the CSD boundary.

4. The existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the
commission determines that they are relevant to the agency. There are no relevant
social or economic communities of interest in the existing SOI area.

5. For an update of a sphere of influence of a city or special district that provides public
facilities or services related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire

A-1-27Page 36 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO           Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-22 | GC 56430 & 56425          Page 8 

protection, that occurs pursuant to subdivision (g) on or after July 1, 2012, the present 
and probable need for those public facilities and services of any disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities within the existing sphere of influence.  

- LAFCO staff has identified two DUC within the CSD’s SOI and service area boundary as
seen on page 2 within Section 2 of the Government Code Section 56430 analysis
provided in this report. The locations identified as a DUC display characteristics of a
DUC pursuant to Government Code Section 56033.5.ك 

- It should be noted that the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area is located
outside of the two identified DUCs.

- The CSD provides wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste services.
- At present time, the portions of the DUC that are located within the CSD’s service area

are eligible to receive wastewater services through the CSD. The developed portions
of the DUC that are located outside of the CSD’s current service area and within or
contiguous to the SOI are receiving wastewater service from private septic tanks and
not from the CSD.

- The type of public services and public facilities required in these areas is not
anticipated to change, although the level of service demand will slightly increase
within the portion proposed for an SOI amendment if/once annexed for one single
family home.

Local Sphere of Influence Policies. The Government Code requires that each commission 
establish written policies and procedures and states that LAFCOs are to exercise their powers 
consistent with those policies and procedures. The San Luis Obispo LAFCO’s policies encourage 
and provide for well-ordered, efficient urban development patterns, balanced with preserving 
open space and agriculture land while discouraging urban sprawl. The SOI Update for the CSD is 
consistent with those policies and the purposes of LAFCO. 

Sphere of Influence Amendment Analysis and Conclusions. The SOI amendment for the CSD is 
recommended to include the proposed annexation area. This is based on the information, 
application, studies, and documents provided and approved by the County, CSD, and contained 
or referenced by in this Staff Report. The CSD has considered the impacts of this SOI amendment 
and annexation on its service capacities and determined that they are willing and able to provide 
the requested services. 

A-1-28Page 37 of 356



Attachment C
 LAFCO Proposal Review Factors-
Government Code Section 56668

A-1-29Page 38 of 356



Attachment C
LAFCO Proposal Review Factors - Government Code Sections 56668 & 56668.3 

Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 19 to Cayucos Sanitary District 

 (Valley Lot) – LAFCO No. 3-R-22 

1 Table E-5 | Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2020-2024, from the State of California Department of Finance identifies the 
average household size in the unincorporated areas of the County as 2.31 persons per unit, May 2024 
2 Cayucos Census Designated Place 2020 Decennial US Census Data 

Factor (a) 

Population and population 
density; land area and land use; 
per capita assessed valuation; 
topography, natural boundaries, 
and drainage basins; proximity to 
other populated areas; the 
likelihood of significant growth in 
the area, and in adjacent 
incorporated and unincorporated 
areas, during the next 10 years. 

Response.   

Population and Population density: 

A Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) was approved 
by the County to allow grading on slopes in excess of 30% for a two-level single-family 
residence of approximately 1,970 square feet with a 550 square-foot garage. Based on the 
average household size of 2.311 persons per dwelling unit for the County unincorporated 
areas, the Sphere of Influence (SOI) amendment and annexation would generate 
approximately 2 new residents. This would result in an approximate 0.08% increase in the 
community of Cayucos’ existing population of approximately 2,5052. 

Land Area and Land Use: 

The proposed SOI amendment and annexation area is zoned Residential Single-Family (RSF) 
within the Cayucos Urban Reserve Line (URL). No zoning changes are proposed. 

Per Capita Assessed Valuation: 

The total assessed value of the parcel containing the SOI amendment and annexation area as 
determined by the County Assessor is $133,972. The amount of property tax revenue to be 
transferred from the County to the Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD) shall be as per the 
approved Tax Exchange Agreements. On October 22, 2024, the County approved property tax 
agreement through Resolution No. 2024-240. On November 21, 2024, CSD approved a 

A-1-30Page 39 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 2 

property tax exchange agreement through Resolution No. 2024-06. The property tax 
agreements include the following provisions:  

- No base property tax revenue shall be transferred from the County of San Luis Obispo
to the Cayucos Sanitary District.

- Annual tax increment shall be transferred from the County of San Luis Obispo to the
Cayucos Sanitary District (effective the date the roll year specified by the California
Board of Equalization), anticipated fiscal year 2025-26 and each fiscal year thereafter
in the amount of 6.78336 percent after Education Revenue Augmentation Funds.

Topography, Natural Boundaries, and Drainage Basins: 

The Cayucos urban area is located in a natural setting, as the community lies on the coastal 
terrace, with views of Estero Bay and the Pacific Ocean, and is closely bordered by a scenic 
backdrop of steep hillsides on the north and east. Surface drainage follows the topography 
west toward Gilbert Avenue.  

The topography of this Cayucos neighborhood is generally steeply sloping. The SOI 
amendment and annexation site is upsloping from Gilbert Avenue. The Coastal Zone Land Use 
Ordinance (CZLUO) requires a minor use permit for grading on slopes between 20% and 30%, 
and a variance for grading on slopes in excess of 30%. As previously mentioned, the Variance 
/ Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) was approved by the San 
Luis Obispo Planning Commission and the County to allow grading on slopes in excess of 30% 
for a two-level single-family residence of approximately 1,970 square feet with a 550 square-
foot garage.  

The Estero Area Plan designates a majority of the eastern side of the planning area as a 
Geologic Study Area. The SOI amendment and annexation area is assigned the Geologic Study 
Area designation which requires the preparation of a geologic report for single-family 
residences when located on a site that is subject to landslides or liquefaction to ensure 
stability and structural integrity. 

The project application included an Engineering Geology Investigation performed by Geo 
Solutions dated October 22, 2019 (Attachment H). This report was peer reviewed by the 

A-1-31Page 40 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 3 

3 2020 Decennial Census 
4 2050 Regional Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, San Luis Obispo Council of Governments, June 2017 

County Geologist and was found to be adequate (January 30, 2020). As a result of the 
November 17, 2021, Planning Commission Hearing public comment, the Commission 
provided direction to the applicant to provide further information on landslide potential. In 
response to this request, the landowner worked with Geo Solutions and provided an 
expanded discussion of landslide potential (Attachment I). The recommendations from the 
Geologic Hazards Report and Soils Engineering Report were included as conditions of 
approval for the County approved project (Approve Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal 
Development Permit DRC2019-00262). 

Proximity to Other Populated Areas: 

The SOI amendment and annexation area is located at 3579 Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, CA, 
southeast of CSD, north of the City of Morro Bay, and four blocks inland from Highway 1 at 
the eastern edge of a predominantly built-out neighborhood comprised of single-family 
residences as seen in Attachment D.     

Likelihood of Significant Growth in the Area, and in Adjacent Incorporated and 
Unincorporated Areas, During the Next 10 Years: 

The proposed project will create one new residence, which will increase the supply of homes 
in the area, leading to minor potential for population growth. This is in line with County and 
Local plans to increase housing availability. The project would not result in new jobs in the 
area that would require new housing. The project does not propose new roads or 
infrastructure to undeveloped or underdeveloped areas that would indirectly result in 
population growth. Cayucos is considered over 80 percent built out based on the 2020 
population3 and SLOCOG buildout estimates4. Significant increases in population are not 
expected to occur in this area over the next 10 years. 

A-1-32Page 41 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 4 

Factor (b) 

1) The need for organized
community services; the present
cost and adequacy of 
governmental services and
controls in the area; probable
future needs for those services
and controls; and probable effect
of the proposed incorporation,
formation, annexation, or
exclusion and of alternative
courses of action on the cost and
adequacy of services and controls
in the area and adjacent areas.

2) "Services," as used in this
subdivision, refers to
governmental services whether or
not the services are services
which would be provided by local
agencies subject to this division,
and includes the public facilities
necessary to provide those
services.

Response. 

As a condition associated with the applicant’s Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal 
Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) (Attachment G), the applicant must provide evidence 
that the property has been annexed into the CSD's service area and provide unconditional 
letters from the CSD stating they are willing and able to service the property sewer services, 
respectively, as the subject property size does not accommodate use of an on-site 
wastewater treatment system. The project area is immediately adjacent to the CSD, which is 
an independent special district authorized to provide wastewater, solid waste, recycling and 
green waste service. CSD has provided a Conditional Intent to Serve letter (Attachment E) and 
a Plan for Services (Attachment F). The Plan for Services documents CSD’s adequate capacity 
for serving Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 064-405-016 as well as information related to the 
cost of providing service which will be borne by the project applicant.   

A-1-33Page 42 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 5 

Factor (c) 

The effect of the proposed action 
and of alternative actions, on 
adjacent areas, on mutual social 
and economic interests, and on 
the local governmental structure 
of the county.  

Response. 

The proposed action would allow the proposal to be implemented upon compliance with the 
County’s conditions associated with the Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development 
Permit (DRC2019-00262) and LAFCO’s conditions of approval. The area would continue to be 
located within the County’s unincorporated area and be added to CSD’s service area 
boundary. The eventual impact could be a small increase of the population within CSD. 

Factor (d) 

The conformity of both the 
proposal and its anticipated 
effects with both the adopted 
commission policies on providing 
planned, orderly, efficient 
patterns of urban development, 
and the policies and priorities set 
forth in Section 56377. 

Response.  

Applicable Commission Policies are listed and analyzed below: 

Section 2.1 General Policies 
Policy 2.1.1. The Commission shall endeavor to balance the need to efficiently provide public 
services with the sometimes-competing interests of discouraging urban sprawl, preserving 
prime agriculture land and open space (Gov. Code Section 56001 and 56301). 

Analysis. The CSD is willing and able to provide the requested services, as it was 
documented in factor (k) of this Attachment. The project area is immediately adjacent 
to the current CSD service area boundary and does not contain prime agricultural land 
as defined under Government Code Section 56064 or Open-Space Lands as defined 
under Government Code Section 56059. 

Policy 2.1.3. Cities and Special Districts are discouraged from annexations outside of their 
Sphere of Influence unless the need for services is clearly demonstrated (Gov. Code Section 
56375.5). 

Analysis.  The need for organized community services was documented in factor (b) of 
this Attachment. As part of this application, the applicant also proposes to amend the 
SOI to include the project area. To amend a local agency’s SOI, Government Code 
Section 56425 (e) requires five specific determinations to be considered by LAFCO. 
These determinations can be found in Attachment B and an SOI amendment is 
recommended by staff. 

A-1-34Page 43 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 6 

Policy 2.1.4. Jurisdictions are encouraged to create places to live that integrate various land 
uses as a way of providing for a diverse social and economic community. 

Analysis. The SOI and annexation area is within the County’s Residential Single-Family 
land use category. No zoning changes are proposed.  

Policy 2.1.5. The Commission prefers urban development within Cities and the Urban Reserve 
Line of unincorporated communities as opposed to development in the unincorporated area 
(Gov. Code Section 56001). 

Analysis. The SOI and annexation area is within the Cayucos URL. 

Policy 2.1.8. The Commission normally will require annexation to a municipality rather than 
annexation to a sanitation, sanitary, community service or water district in the unincorporated 
area (Gov. Code Section 56001). 

Analysis. The SOI and annexation area is more than 0.5 miles north of the City of 
Morro Bay and is immediately adjacent to the CSD. The CSD’s existing wastewater 
infrastructure is also located directly adjacent to the SOI and annexation area at 
Chaney Ave. The applicant will need to provide the necessary improvements in 
accordance with the CSD’s terms and conditions of the Conditional Intent to Serve 
Letter (Attachment E) and Plan for Services (Attachment F).  

Policy 2.1.10. Impacts on affordable housing, impact of the creation of new jobs on affordable 
housing stock, within the annexation area, and in neighboring jurisdictions. Demonstration 
that the effects of the proposed project on affordable housing have been mitigated (Gov. Code 
Section 56001). The Commission recognizes that providing a range of housing opportunities 
for persons and families of all incomes is an important factor in promoting orderly 
development. 

Analysis. This project is proposed for future development of a single-family residential 
dwelling and does not provide affordable housing opportunities or create new jobs, 
which may have an impact on affordable housing stock.  

Section 2.3 Special District Annexation Policies 
Policy 2.3.1. Special districts are encouraged to annex unincorporated islands as well as land 
that is mostly surrounded by a jurisdiction. (Gov. Code Sections 56001, & 56375.3). 

A-1-35Page 44 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 7 

5 2020 Decennial Census 
6 2050 Regional Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, San Luis Obispo Council of Governments, June 2017 

Analysis. There are no unincorporated islands within or adjacent to the CSD service 
area boundary.  

Policy 2.3.2. Prior to annexation of territory within an agency’s Sphere of Influence, the 
Commission encourages development on vacant or underutilized parcels already within the 
boundaries of a jurisdiction. The agency should provide LAFCO with a build-out estimate or 
inventory and document how it was prepared. 

Analysis. Cayucos is considered over 80 percent built out based on the 2020 
population5 and SLOCOG buildout estimates6.  

Policy 2.3.3. A demonstrated need exists for the required services and there is no reasonable 
alternative manner of providing these services. 

Analysis. As a condition associated with the applicant’s Variance / Minor Use Permit / 
Coastal Development Permit (DRC2019-00262) (Attachment G), the applicant must 
provide evidence that the property has been annexed into the CSD's service area and 
provide unconditional letters from CSD stating they are willing and able to service the 
property for water and sewer services, respectively as the subject property size does 
not accommodate use of an on-site wastewater treatment system.  

Policy 2.3.4. The proposed annexation represents a logical and reasonable expansion of the 
district. 

Analysis. As previously discussed, the SOI and annexation area is immediately 
adjacent to the CSD’s current service area boundary and the CSD’s existing 
infrastructure is immediately adjacent to the project area on Chaney Avenue. The 
applicant will need to provide the necessary improvements in accordance with the 
CSD’s terms and conditions of the Conditional Intent to Serve Letter (Attachment E) 
and Plan for Services (Attachment F). The CSD has also indicated in their Plan for 
Services that the CSD’s existing infrastructure is more than capable of handling the 
increased flow. Therefore, the proposed annexation provides for the planned, 
orderly, and efficient development of the area.  

A-1-36Page 45 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 8 

Policy 2.3.5. The proposed annexation reflects the plans of the adjacent governmental 
agencies. 

Analysis. The territory proposed for an SOI amendment and annexation is within the 
unincorporated County and is adjacent to the CSD. The territory is also within the 
Cayucos URL, which is defined by the County as land that is planned for urban growth 
within the next 20 years. The County encourages “in-fill” development within the 
existing URL.  

Policy 2.3.6. The proposed annexation does not represent an attempt to annex only revenue 
producing property. 

Analysis. The SOI amendment and annexation is proposed to receive wastewater 
service for future development of a single-family residential dwelling. The CSD charges 
users of the sewer system a flat rate sewer use fee. In addition, the applicant shall also 
pay a “buy-in cost” in addition to the regular Will-Serve Applicant and 
Connection/Inspection Fees. The proposed annexation does not represent an attempt 
to annex only revenue producing property.  

Policy 2.3.7. The proposed boundaries must be definite and certain and conform to lines of 
assessment whenever possible. 

Analysis. As described in factor (f) the boundaries for the SOI amendment and 
annexation have been deemed definite and certain by the County Surveyor and will 
adhere to assessor parcel lines; APN 064-405-016. The SOI amendment, annexation 
map, and legal description are attached as Attachment A Exhibit B in the staff report.  

Policy 2.3.8. The district has the capability of meeting the need for services and has submitted 
studies and information documenting its capabilities. 

Analysis. The CSD is willing and able to provide the requested services and has 
documented its capability to provide service to the SOI and annexation area subject to 
the terms and conditions of the Conditional Intent to Serve letter and Plan for 
Services. Please refer to factor (b) and (k) of this attachment for more information 
regarding the need for services and CSD’s ability to provide service. 

Applicable Commission Policies are listed below: 
A-1-37Page 46 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 9 

Section 2.11 “Application Policies” were deemed met and sufficient on December 4, 2024, 
when the Certificate of Filing was issued. 

Government Code Section 56377 states: 

56377. In reviewing and approving or disapproving proposals which could reasonably be 
expected to include, facilitate, or lead to the conversion of existing open-space lands to uses 
other than open-space uses, the commission shall consider all of the following policies and 
priorities: 

(a) Development or use of land for other than open-space uses shall be guided away from
existing prime agricultural lands in open-space use toward areas containing nonprime
agricultural lands, unless that action would not promote the planned, orderly, efficient
development of an area.
(b) Development of existing vacant or nonprime agricultural lands for urban uses within the
existing jurisdiction of a local agency or within the sphere of influence of a local agency should
be encouraged before any proposal is approved which would allow for or lead to the
development of existing open-space lands for non-open-space uses which are outside of the
existing sphere of influence or the local agency.

Analysis. The project area does not contain prime agricultural land as defined under 
Government Code Section 56064 or Open-Space Lands as defined under Government Code 
Section 56059. 

A-1-38Page 47 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 10 

Factor (e) 

The effect of the proposal on 
maintaining the physical and 
economic integrity of agricultural 
lands, as defined by Section 
56016. 

Response. 

The SOI amendment and annexation area does not include land within the Agriculture land 
use designation, land subject to a Williamson Act contract, or Agricultural lands as defined in 
Government Code Section 56016. The parcel is within the unincorporated County and has 
seen no development under its land use designation of Residential Single-Family. 

Factor (f) 

The definiteness and certainty of 
the boundaries of the territory, 
the nonconformance of proposed 
boundaries with lines of 
assessment or ownership, the 
creation of islands or corridors of 
unincorporated territory, and 
other similar matters affecting the 
proposed boundaries. 

Response. 

The boundaries for the SOI amendment and annexation have been deemed definite and 
certain by the County Surveyor and will adhere to assessor parcel lines; APN 064-405-016. 
The SOI amendment, annexation map, and legal description are attached as Attachment A 
Exhibit B in the staff report. The proposed annexation will remain within the unincorporated 
County; therefore, it does not create an island or corridor of unincorporated territory. 

Factor (g) 

A regional transportation plan 
adopted pursuant to Section 
65080. 

Response. 

The 2023 San Luis Obispo Council of Governments (SLOCOG) Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP) was adopted pursuant to requirements of California Government Code Section 65080. 
The SOI amendment and annexation area is closest to S.R. 1, which was analyzed in the RTP.     

S.R. 1, commonly known as Highway 1, is a north-south state highway that runs along most of 
California’s Pacific coastline. The route is designated as both a freeway and a conventional 
highway in different locations. It is on the Interregional Road System, but is not on the 
National Highway System nor is it designated as an Extra-Legal Load Network Corridor, an 
oversized truck route, or a Focus Route. It serves as the Pacific Coast Bike Route and USBR95 A-1-39Page 48 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 11 

in San Luis Obispo County, and is adjacent to the area designated for the California Coastal 
Trail.  Periodic closures due to rock slides north of San Luis Obispo County are detrimental to 
the businesses and communities along Highway 1 in the north coast. The 2023 RTP 
mentioned that in 2015, SR 1 accounted for 9% of the overall region's Vehicle Miles Traveled; 
this increase to 15% in 2045. No significant transportation related impacts are expected to 
occur as a result of this project. 

Factor (h) 

The proposal's consistency with 
city or county general and specific 
plans. 

Response. 

The County General Plan sets policy direction for allowable land use on both public and 
private lands, within the unincorporated areas, and acts to provide applicable review bodies 
appropriate guidance and direction in making future land use decisions. The SOI amendment 
and annexation is consistent with the San Luis Obispo County General Plan because it will 
result in compatible “infill” development that minimizes risks to human life and property, and 
because there are no alternatives to the proposed development location that would reduce 
site disturbance. In addition, the URL in Cayucos was moved to, in part, include the lots on 
Gilbert Ave. and as part of the Estero Area Plan Update which was adopted by the County 
Board of Supervisors on November 2, 2004, by Resolution 2004-350, in anticipation of the 
area needing service in the future.  

Factor (i) 

The Sphere of Influence of any 
local agency that may be 
applicable to the proposal being 
reviewed. 

Response. 

The SOI is a plan for the probable physical boundaries of a local agency as determined by 
LAFCO per Government Code Section 56076. The approximately affected territory is not 
within the SOI and is proposed for a concurrent SOI amendment and annexation into CSD. 
The proposal does not conflict with the SOI of any other jurisdiction. The affected territory is 
already within the following special district service area boundaries: 

- Upper Salinas-Las Tablas RCD
- County Service Area 10- Cayucos
- Cayucos-Morro Cemetery District A-1-40Page 49 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 12 

7 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
8 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
9 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
10 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 

Factor (j) 

The comments of any affected 
local agency or other public 
agency. 

Response. 

No comments or resolutions raising objections to the proposal have been received by any 
affected local agency or other public agency.  

Factor (k) 

The ability of the newly formed or 
receiving entity to provide the 
services that are the subject of 
the application to the area, 
including the sufficiency of 
revenues for those services 
following the proposed boundary 
change.   

Response. 

When applying for a change of organization, a plan for services is required in accordance with 
Government Code Section 56653. The CSD submitted a Plan for Services in October 2022, and 
has since provided an updated version on January 6, 2025, included as Attachments F. The 
CSD plans to provide wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste services to the 
proposed SOI and annexation site. The CSD’s Plan for Services demonstrates the CSD’s ability 
to provide service to the SOI amendment and annexation area. Please refer to factor (b) of 
this attachment for more information regarding the need for service. 

Wastewater Service 
The CSD’s Water Resource Recovery Facility is a newly constructed wastewater treatment 
plant, completed in 2021. It has a maximum capacity of 1.2 million gallons per day7 (MGD), an 
average capacity of 0.340 MGD8, and consists of headworks with both coarse and fine screens 
and grit removal, a membrane bio reactor (MBR) with two aeration tanks as well as two pre-
anoxic and two post-anoxic tanks, three membrane tanks with ultrafiltration, a screw press 
for dewatering solids, and two ultra-violet vessels for disinfection of effluent water. Current 
and future average daily base wastewater flows were estimated at an average flow of 0.227 
MGD9 and an ultimate flow of 0.330 MGD10. 

A-1-41Page 50 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 13 

According to the CSD’s Plan for Services, One Equivalent Dwelling Unit (EDU) is equivalent to 
one single family home and one EDU requires 4,137 gallons per month, therefore the CSD 
expects to see an increase in wastewater flow of about 4,137 gallons per month (equivalent 
to 0.0041 MGD) for the SOI amendment and annexation area. If all of the lots neighboring the 
Valley lot were to be annexed (7 lots total on Gilbert Ave), it would require a total of 28,959 
gallons per month (equivalent to 0.0289 MGD). The CSD has demonstrated their Water 
Resource Recovery Facility is more than capable of handling this new flow. 

Currently, there are no CSD services provided to the proposed SOI amendment and 
annexation area, which means no existing sanitary sewer infrastructure on the project site 
exists. This parcel was conditioned to install the following in order to connect to the CSD 
system as stated in Attachments E and F:  

• The applicant shall provide a 10-foot-wide private sewer easement spanning their
property, parallel and adjacent to the Gilbert Ave right-of-way, to allow private force
mains from adjacent parcels to connect to the CSD sewer main on Chaney Ave. The
easement should include the right to install, access, and maintain individual private
force mains.

• CSD will require the applicant to install a new manhole over CSD's existing sewer main
on Chaney Ave., at the projection of the new 10-foot-wide easement and at the front
of the applicant's parcel along Gilbert Ave.

• The new manhole shall have a 4-inch lateral installed from the manhole to the
applicant's property line, as a connection point for the applicant's private force main
and the adjacent parcels' private force mains.

The Plan for Services prepared by the CSD, included in Attachment F, provided context on the 
CSD’s plan on how services will be financed. The plan states that there will be no expenditure 
of CSD monies. CSD will accept and maintain the new manhole on Chaney Ave once 
constructed and inspected. All laterals and force mains shall be privately installed and 
maintained. The applicant shall be subject to a “buy-in cost” in addition to the standard Will-
Serve Application Fee and Connection/Inspection Fee. Upon its annexation, the parcel will be 
charged a monthly Vacant Lot Fee in the amount of $7.50 per lot. Upon connection to CSD’s 
infrastructure, the parcel will be charged a monthly Sewer Use Fee in the amount of $98.00 
per EDU. 

A-1-42Page 51 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 14 

Solid Waste, Recycling, and Green Waste Services 

CSD has a Franchise Agreement with Mission Country Disposal to provide solid waste, 
recycling, and green waste services within the CSD. The current agreement was last revised 
on June 27, 2022, having commenced August 11, 2006. Service to the SOI and annexation 
area would be provided similar to all the lots already within the CSD boundary. Funding for 
solid waste collection and disposal activities comes primarily from fees charged to residents. 

Factor (l) 

Timely availability of water 
supplies adequate for projected 
needs as specified in Section 
65352.5.  

Response. 

The SOI amendment and annexation area is within County Service Area (CSA) 10. The CSA 10 
water treatment plant provides drinking water to the community of Cayucos from Whale 
Rock Reservoir. CSA 10A is the water distribution system for the southern part of Cayucos. 
The applicant obtained a Conditional Intent to Serve letter from CSA 10, Zone A, dated 
February 1, 2021, documenting that CSA 10, Zone A is ready and willing to provide water 
service to the property provided the conditions in the letter are met (Attachment J). 

Factor (m) 

The extent to which the proposal 
will affect a city or cities and the 
county in achieving their 
respective fair shares of the 
regional housing needs as 
determined by the appropriate 
council of governments consistent 
with Article 10.6 (commencing 
with Section 65580) of Chapter 3 
of Division 1 of Title 7. 

Response. 

The Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) establishes the total number of housing units 
that the County and each of the seven cities must plan for within the planning period.  The 
San Luis Obispo region is currently in the 6th RHNA Housing Element Cycle. The 2019 RHNA 
was prepared in conjunction with 2019 RTP with input and recommendations from the 2019 
RHNA Working Team, Technical Transportation Advisory Committee, Citizens Transportation 
Advisory Committee, SLOCOG Board of Directors, and the public. 

The County’s Housing Element defines affordable housing as housing that is affordable to 
very low-, low-, moderate-, or workforce-income households. In the context of meeting the 
unincorporated county’s allocation of regional housing needs share, dwelling units typically 
must be deed restricted to limit rental or purchase of the dwelling units to households that 

A-1-43Page 52 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 15 

11 County of SLO General Plan – 2020-2028 Housing Element, Adopted November 17, 2020 

qualify at extremely low-, very low-, and low-income levels. Table 2 below defines each 
income category.  

Table 1: Income Categories for Households in San Luis Obispo County11 

Income Level Range in Area Median Income (AMI) 

Extremely Low No more than 30% AMI 

Very Low up to 50% AMI 
Low 50-80% AMI
Moderate 80-120% AMI
Above Moderate 

o Workforce
Above 120% AMI 
120-160% AMI

The project will increase the countywide available housing stock by one unit at market-rate, 
which falls within the above moderate-income level. Please note that units are not officially 
counted towards annual RHNA tracking, until they are permitted.   

Factor (n) 

Any information or comments 
from the landowner or 
landowners, voters, or residents 
of the affected territory. 

Response. 

LAFCO did not receive any comments from landowners, voters, or residents prior to the 
release of the staff report. 

Factor (o) 

Any information relating to 

Response.   

The SOI amendment and annexation area is within the County’s Residential Single-Family land 

A-1-44Page 53 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 16 

existing land use designations. use category. No zoning changes are proposed. 

The property also qualifies as a Geologic Study Area, which is defined as a combining 
designation that is applied to areas where geologic and soil conditions could present new 
developments and their users with potential hazards to life and property. The County 
determined that the project complied with the standard of providing a geologic report, as the 
applicant had provided an Engineering Geology Investigation Report, prepared by 
Geosolutions, Inc. dated October 22, 2019, included as Attachment H. The County Geologist 
reviewed the documents and found them to conform with section 23.07.084 of the Coastal 
Zone Land Use Ordinance and concurred with the conclusions and recommendations. The 
recommendations from the Geologic Hazards Report and Soils Engineering Report were 
included as conditions of approval for the County approved project (Variance / Minor Use 
Permit / Coastal Development Permit DRC2019-00262).  

The project site is also located within the California Coastal Zone as established by the 
California Coastal Act of 1976, and is subject to the provisions of the Local Coastal Program. In 
addition, the Coastal Zone Land Use Ordinance (CZLUO) requires a minor use permit for 
grading on slopes between 20% and 30%, and a variance for grading on slopes in excess of 
30%. The Planning determined that the Variance / Minor Use Permit / Coastal Development 
Permit DRC2019-00262 project is consistent with this standard because it has been reviewed 
under the relevant sections of the Local Coastal Plan. On October 13, 2023, the California 
Coastal Commission heard Appeal Number: A-3-SLO-23-0029, regarding the July 11, 2023, 
Coastal development permit application number DRC2019-00262/APPL2022-00006 approved 
by the San Luis Obispo County Board of Supervisors (on local appeal). The Coastal 
Commission found that Appeal Number A-3-SLO-23-0029 does not present a substantial issue 
with respect to the grounds on which the appeal has been filed under Section 30603 of the 
Coastal Act regarding consistency with the certified Local Coastal Program and/or the public 
access and recreation policies of the Coastal Act. 

Please refer to factor (a) for more information regarding geology and topography within the 
project site.  

A-1-45Page 54 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 17 

Factor (p) 

The extent to which the proposal 
will promote environmental 
justice. As used in this 
subdivision, "environmental 
justice" means the fair treatment 
and meaningful involvement of 
people of all races, cultures, 
incomes, and national origins, 
with respect to the location of 
public facilities and the provision 
of public services, to ensure a 
healthy environment for all 
people such that the effects of 
pollution are not 
disproportionately borne by any 
particular populations or 
communities. 

Response. 

The residential unit would be available to people of all races, cultures if the landowner 
decides to sell the single-family home. With regard to the location of public facilities and the 
provision of public services, this project does not affect the fair treatment of people of all 
races, cultures, and incomes.  

Factor (q) 

Information contained in a local 
hazard mitigation plan, 
information contained in a safety 
element of a general plan, and 
any maps that identify land as a 
very high fire hazard zone 
pursuant to Section 51178 or 
maps that identify land 
determined to be in a state 

Response. 

The County’s Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan was adopted October 2019 and 
establishes the County's emergency policies and procedures in the event of a disaster and 
addresses allocation of resources and protection of the public in the event of an emergency.  

The Safety Element of the General Plan for the County (approved December 1999) addresses 
a wide range of natural and human caused hazards and consists of goals and policies aimed to 
reduce the risks associated with these hazards such as loss of life, injuries, property damage, 
and economic and social dislocation. 

A-1-46Page 55 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 18 

12 Cal Fire’s Fire Hazard Severity Zone Viewer Maps, Sept 2023 

responsibility area pursuant to 
Section 4102 of the Public 
Resources Code, if it is 
determined that such information 
is relevant to the area that is the 
subject of the proposal. 
(Amended by Stats. 2019, Ch. 
360) 

The state provides wildland and watershed fire protection within State Responsibility Areas 
(SRAs); it does not provide structure protection, rescue and emergency service, or hazardous 
materials response. Counties provide fire services at their discretion and service levels vary 
from county to county. SLO County chose to protect residents and property within its 
jurisdiction by creating County Fire in partnership with CAL FIRE. The affected territory is 
within a State Responsibility Area and would be considered a “Moderate” fire hazard severity 
zone12; predictions are based on factors including fuel availability, topography, fire history, 
and climate. Based on the County’s emergency response times, it will take approximately 0 to 
5 minutes to respond to a call regarding fire or life safety. 

The project is designed in accordance with adopted fire safety standards and would be 
required to adhere to the fire and life safety requirements of the California Fire Code, as 
described in Condition #17 of the Notice of Final Action (Attachment G).  

56668.3 

(a) If the proposed change of
organization or reorganization
includes a city detachment or
district annexation, except a
special reorganization, and
the proceeding has not been
terminated based upon 
receipt of a resolution 
requesting termination 
pursuant to either Section 
56751 or Section 56857, 
factors to be considered by 
the commission shall include 
all of the following: 

Response. 

(a)(1) The proposed SOI amendment and annexation will be for the interest of the landowner 
and the CSD. If approved, the property would be annexed, and the landowner would obtain 
wastewater, solid waste, recycling and green waste services from the CSD. In addition, the 
plan states that there will be no expenditure of CSD monies, and the landowner will be 
subject to a “buy-in cost” in addition to the standard Will-Serve Application Fee and 
Connection/Inspection Fee. A property tax exchange of 6.78336% after Educational Revenue 
Augmentation Funds would also be transferred from the County to the CSD. 

(a)(2) This part is not applicable because the proposal consists of a district annexation and not 
a detachment. 

(a)(3) The commission considered the factors specified in Government Code Section 56668, 
as seen in this document. 

(a)(4) The Commission did not receive any resolutions from any affected agency raising 

A-1-47Page 56 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 19 

(1) In the case of district 
annexation, whether the
proposed annexation will be
for the interest of landowners
or present or future
inhabitants within the district
and within the territory
proposed to be annexed to
the district.
(2) In the case of a city
detachment, whether the
proposed detachment will be
for the interest of the
landowners or present or
future inhabitants within the
city and within the territory
proposed to be detached from
the city.
(3) Any factors which may be
considered by the commission
as provided in Section 56668.
(4) Any resolution raising
objections to the action that
may be filed by an affected
agency.
(5) Any other matters which
the commission deems
material.

(b) The commission shall give
great weight to any resolution
raising objections to the
action that is filed by a city or

objections to the action. 

(a)(5) There are no other matters which the Commission has deemed material. 

(b) The Commission did not receive any resolutions from neighboring cities or districts raising
objections to the action.

A-1-48Page 57 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO      Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #19 to CSD  Page 20 

a district. The commission's 
consideration shall be based 
only on financial or service 
related concerns expressed in 
the protest. Except for 
findings regarding the value of 
written protests, the 
commission is not required to 
make any express findings 
concerning any of the other 
factors considered by the 
commission. 

A-1-49Page 58 of 356



Attachment D
 Vicinity Map

A-1-50Page 59 of 356



A-1-51Page 60 of 356



Attachment E
 Conditional Intent to Serve Letter from the CSD

A-1-52Page 61 of 356



Board President 

Robert Enns 

Vice President 

Dan Chivens 

Directors 

Shirley Lyon 

Hannah Miller 

Robert Frank 

District Manager 

Rick Koon 

Mailing Address: 

P.O. Box 333 

Cayucos, Ca 93430 

Office: 

200 Ash Avenue 

Cayucos, Ca 93430 

Phone: 

(805) 995-3290

Fax:

(805) 995-3673

AGENDA ITEM: § 

DATE: August 18, 2022 

CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT 

CONDITIONAL INTENT TO SERVE LETTER 

Date: November 23, 2020 
To: 
From: 

San Luis Obispo County Planning & Building Department 
Cayucos Sanitary District 

Applicant Name: Don & Marti Valley 
Address: 3051 Augusta St. Unit 9 
City, State, Zip: San Luis Obispo, CA 93401-8624 

Project Address: 3579 Gilbert Ave. 
SLO County Permit Number: DRC2019-00262 
Project Description: SFR New 
Assessor's Parcel Number: 064-405-016 Tract: MRI Block: 21 Lot: 20, 21 

We have reviewed the proposed project development and are aware of its potential effects upon 
the facilities and property (including easements) controlled by the District. 

This Conditional Intent to Serve Letter is contingent upon the minor use permit approval by SLO 
County and the following conditions: 

• All parcels in this area shall be annexed into the District with LAFCO approval.
• As a condition of annexation into the District, there will be a "buy in cost" in addition to

regular Will-Serve fees and Connection and Inspection fees. The buy in cost will have to be 
determined through a reimbursement agreement between the applicant and the District. 

• This parcel and the adjacent parcels will need to install private force mains to get to the
sewer in Chaney. In order to do that, this parcel and the others will need to have a 10-foot 
easement along Gilbert which benefits each parcel. The easement should include the right to 
access, install and maintain the individual private force mains. 

• With the installation of the private force mains the best way for all of them to connect to
the District's Chaney main would be at a single connection point in a new manhole. Therefore, 
the District will require a new manhole to be placed on the Chaney main at the projection of the 
new 10-foot easement along Gilbert. This condition would be applied to the first project that 
would tie-in. 

Once the above conditions have been met, the applicant shall submit a Will-Serve Application to 
the District including construction plans with all District conditions shown on the plans. 

Approved By�, u1.,.., \L Date: \ � - -Z.... "S- "'Lo

\ Rick Koon, District Manager 

A-1-53Page 62 of 356



Attachment F
 Plan for Services 

A-1-54Page 63 of 356



Board of Directors 

Robert Enns 

Shirley Lyon 

Hannah Miller 

John Curti 

Justin Smith 

President 

Vice President 

Director 

Director 

Director 

District Manager 

Rick Koon 

Applicant ID 

Don & Marti Valley 
3051 Augusta St. Unit 9 

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

PLAN FOR SERVICES 

Date of Issuance: January 6, 2025 

District Office 

200 Ash Avenue, P.O. Box 333 

Cayucos, CA 93430 

(805) 995-3290

www.CayucosSD.org 

WRRF 

800 Toro Creek Road 

Project ID 

Project Address: 3579 Gilbert Ave. 
Permit#: DRC2019-00262 

Description: SFR New 
APN: 064-405-016 

1. AN ENUMERATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SERVICES CURRENTLY PROVIDED OR TO BE EXTENDED TO THE
AFFECTED TERRITORY: Currently, no services are provided by Cayucos Sanitary District ("CSD") to the above-referenced parcel.
Upon its annexation, the parcel will be charged a monthly Vacant Lot Fee in the amount of $7.50 per lot. Upon connection to CSD's
infrastructure, the parcel will be charged a monthly Sewer Use Fee in the amount of $98.00 per Equivalent Dwelling Unit ("EDU"). 1
EDU is equivalent to 1 single family residence, and 1 single family residence is estimated to utilize approximately 4,137 gallons of
water per month. CSD's existing infrastructure is capable of processing the potential increase in flow this development would
generate.

2. THE LEVEL AND RANGE OF THOSE SERVICES: Sewer service for this parcel will be through a 4-inch sewer lateral within the
SLO County right-of-way, installed from the property line and connecting to CSD's sewer main at the new manhole to be installed on
Chaney Ave. Note: A 4-inch privately maintained force main on the applicant's property will connect to the 4-inch sewer lateral.

3. AN INDICATION OF WHEN THOSE SERVICES CAN FEASIBLY BE EXTENDED TO THE AFFECTED TERRITORY, IF NEW
SERVICES ARE PROPOSED: The services can be installed after the applicant submits a complete Will-Serve Application to CSD,
including acceptable construction plans for the installation of the new manhole on Chaney Ave. and the above-referenced 4-inch
lateral.

4. AN INDICATION OF ANY IMPROVEMENT OR UPGRADING OF STRUCTURES, ROADS, SEWER OR WATER FACILITIES, OR
OTHER CONDITIONS THE LOCAL AGENCY WOULD IMPOSE OR REQUIRE WITHIN THE AFFECTED TERRITORY IF THE
CHANGE OF ORGANIZATION OR REORGANIZATION IS COMPLETED:
• The applicant shall provide a 10-foot-wide private sewer easement spanning their property, parallel and adjacent to the Gilbert

Ave. right-of-way, to allow private force mains from adjacent parcels to connect to the CSD sewer main on Chaney Ave. The
easement should include the right to install, access and maintain individual private force mains.

• CSD will require the applicant to install a new manhole over CSD's existing sewer main on Chaney Ave., at the projection of the
new 10-foot-wide easement and at the front of the applicant's parcel along Gilbert Ave.

• The new manhole shall have a 4-inch lateral installed from the manhole to the applicant's property line, as a connection point
for the applicant's private force main and the adjacent parcels' private force mains.

• The applicant shall be subject to a "buy-in cost" in addition to the standard Will-Serve Application Fee and
Connection/Inspection Fee.

5. INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO HOW THOSE SERVICES WILL BE FINANCED: There will be no expenditure of CSD monies.
CSD will accept and maintain the new manhole on Chaney Ave. once constructed and inspected. All laterals and force mains shall be
privately installed and maintained.

RI.ck Koon 
DigitallysignedbyRickKoon 

Approved By:--------- Date: 2025.01.06 16:54:20 -08'00' 

Rick Koon, District Manager 
A-1-55Page 64 of 356



Attachment G 
County Notice of Final Action 

Letter for Minor Use 
Permit N-DRC2021-00001 

A-1-56Page 65 of 356



COUNTY 
oSANLUIS 

OBISPO 

June 27, 2022 

Donald Valley 
3051 Agusta St. 
Unit 9 

COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING & BUILDING

TREVOR KEITH, DIRECTOR

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

Greg Wilheum 
84553 Covenant Dr 

Fall Creek, OR. 97438 

NOTICE OF FINAL COUNTY ACTION 

HEARING DATE: June 9, 2022 

SUBJECT: County File Number: DRC2019-00262 

LOCATED WITHIN COASTAL ZONE: YES 

COASTAL APPEALABLE: Yes 

On June 9, 2022, the above referenced application was approved by the PLANNING COMMISSION 
based on the approved Findings, and subject to the approved Conditions, which are both enclosed for 
your records. 

If you disagree with this action, pursuant to the County Coastal Zone Land Use Ordinance (CZLUO) 

Section 23.01 .042, and in the manner described therein, you have the right to appeal this decision, or 

a portion of this decision, to the Board of Supervisors within 14 calendar days after the date of the 

action. 

The appeal must be submitted to the Director of the Department of Planning and Building on the 

proper Department appeal form, as provided on the County website. The appeal form must be 

submitted with an original signature; a facsimile will not be accepted. 

If the appeal is consistent with the standards set forth in CZLUO Section 23.01 .043.d, there is no fee 

to file an appeal. If the appeal is not consistent with CZLUO Section 23.01 .043.d, a fee, set by the 

current fee schedule, will be required and must be submitted with the appeal form at time offiling. If 

the County requires that an appellant submit a fee to file an appeal, the action may be directly 

A-1-57Page 66 of 356



appealable to the California Coastal Commission pursuant to the CZ LUO Section 23.01 .043, and in the 

manner contained therein, precluding the need to exhaust local administrative appeals. 

Additionally, CZLUO Section 23.01 .043 and applicable sections of the Coastal Act provide the California 

Coastal Commission 10 working days following the expiration of the County appeal period to appeal 

the County's Final Action. This means the Applicant cannot commence development and the County 

cannot take any further administrative actions for the proposed development, including but not 

limited to, the request or issuance of a building permit, until the County appeal period and the Coastal 

Commission Appeal period, including any suspension of the appeal period by the Coastal Commission 

pursuant to CZLUO 23.02.039, have expired without an appeal being filed. 

Additionally, should a local appeal be filed, and the County approves the application on appeal, that 

action would be appealable to the California Coastal Commission, pursuant to regulations contained 

in Coastal Act Section 30603 and the County Coastal Zone Land Use Ordinance 23.01 .043. An appellant 

may include any of the following: an applicant, an aggrieved person as defined in CZLUO 23.01 .043 

and any two California Coastal Commissioners. CZLUO Section 23.01 .043 and applicable sections of 

the Coastal Act provide ten (10) working days for an appellant to appeal the County's Final Action. The 

County Coastal Zone Land Use Ordinance and Coastal Act contain specific time limits to appeal, 

criteria, and procedures that must be followed to appeal this action. The appeal must be made directly 

to the California Coastal Commission. For further information on their appeal procedures, contact 

the Commission's Santa Cruz Office at (831) 427-4863. 

Please note that exhaustion of local appeals at the County level is almost always required prior to 

appealing the matter to the California Coastal Commission. Three exceptions apply to this 

requirement as provided in CZLUO Section 23.01 .043.b(1) (3). 

If you have any questions regarding your project, please contact Kip Morais at 805-781-5600. 

Sincerely, 

Ysabel Eighmy,, Secretary 

County of San Luis Obispo 

Department of Planning & Building 

cc: California Coastal Commission 

976 Osos Street, Room 300 I San Luis Obispo, CA 93408 I (P) 805-781-5600 I 7-1-1 TTY/TRS Relay 
planning@co.slo.ca.us I www.sloplanning.org 

A-1-58Page 67 of 356



EXHIBIT A - FINDINGS 

DRC2019-00262 VARIANCE/ MINOR USE PERMIT/ 

COASTAL DEVELOPMENT PERMIT/ VALLEY 

Environmental Determination 
A. The proposed project is categorically exempt from environmental review per CEQA Guidelines §

15303, new construction or conversion of small structures. The proposed project is a single-family
residence localed in an urbanized area which is zoned residential. The proposed project is not in
a location which would have an impact on an environmental resource of hazardous or critical
concern per CEQA Guidelines § 15300.2(a). No unusual circumstances exist. The proposed
residence is in an urbanized area with numerous homes which are of approximately the same
size and located on steep slopes. A Notice of Exemption has been prepared pursuant to CEQA
Guidelines Section 15062.

Variance 
B. The variance authorized does not constitute a grant of special privileges inconsistent with the

limitations upon other properties in the vicinity and land use category in which it is situated
because the residence is a principally permitted use in the land use category and uniformly steep
slopes throughout the site offer no alternative to development on slopes of less than 30 percent.
Without this variance, this legal lot and others in the neighborhood exceeding 30% slope could
not be developed.

C. There are special circumstances applicable to the property, including size, shape, topography,
location, or surroundings, and because of these circumstances, the strict application of this Title
would deprive the property of privileges enjoyed by other property in the vicinity and in the same
land use category. The site's slopes in excess of 30% throughout the site constitute special
circumstances.

D. The variance does not authorize a use that is not otherwise authorized in the land use category
because the project site is a legally created lot in the Residential Single Family land use category,
and the proposed project is a single family residence which complies with all Estero Area Plan
standards, and all other CZLUO standards beyond development on slopes of greater than 30
percent.

E. The granting of such application does not, under the circumstances and conditions applied in the
particular case, adversely affect the health or safety of persons, is not materially detrimental to
the public welfare, and is not injurious to nearby property or improvements, because an
Engineering Geology lnvestiga1ion Report has been prepared to evaluate site characteristics and
plan for appropriate residential design, engineering and development of the site. The
recommendations from the Engineering Geology Investigation Report is included as conditions of
approval for the proposed project and will be incorporated into the construction plans and
implemented throughout the building inspection process.

F. The variance is consistent with the San Luis Obispo County General Plan because it has been
designed in accordance with the Coastal Zone Land Use Element and other relevant elements of
the general plan.

Minor Use Permit I Coastal Development Permit 

Page 1 of 2 A-1-59Page 68 of 356



G. The proposed project or use is consistent with the San Luis Obispo County General Plan and
Local Coastal Plan because the use is an allowed use and as conditioned is consistent with all of
the General Plan and Local Coastal Plan policies.

H. As conditioned, the proposed project or use satisfies all applicable provisions of Title 23 of the
County Code.

I. The establishment and subsequent operation or conduct of the use will not, because of the
circumstances and conditions applied in the particular case, be detrimental to the health, safety
or welfare of the general public or persons residing or working In the neighborhood of the use, or
be detrimental or injurious to property or improvements in the vicinity of the use because the new
single family residence does not generate activity that presents a potential threat to the
surrounding property and buildings. This project is subject to Ordinance and Building Code
requirements designed to address health, safety and welfare concerns.

J. The proposed project or use will not be inconsistent with the character of the immediate
neighborhood or contrary to its orderly development because the new single-family residence is
similar to, and will not conflict with, the surrounding lands and uses.

K. The proposed project or use will not generate a volume of traffic beyond the safe capacity of all
roads providing access to the project, either existing or to be improved with the project because
the project is located on Cheney Avenue, a local road constructed that will be improved as part
of this project. The road improvement is conditioned to be constructed to County Standards, and
applicant shall enter into an agreement with the County and post a bond for the cost of the
required road improvements.

Coastal Access 

L. The proposed use is in conformity with the public access and recreation policies of Chapter 3 of
the California Coastal Act, because the project is not adjacent to the coast and the project will not
inhibit access to the coastal waters and recreation areas.

Page 2 of 2 A-1-60Page 69 of 356



REVISED EXHIBIT 8- CONDITIONS OF APPROVAL 

DRC2019-00262 VARIANCE/ MINOR USE PERMIT/ 

COASTAL DEVELOPMENT PERMIT/ VALLEY 

Approved Development 

This approval authorizes a Variance to allow grading on slopes in excess of 30% and a Minor Use 
Permit/Coastal Development Permit for grading on slopes in excess of 30% for a two-level single-family 
residence of approximately 1,970 square feet with an 550 square-foot garage on a 3,776 square-foot 
lot. The proposal includes the following components: (1) grading and excavation for the 
foundations/footings, garage and driveway; (2) site disturbance of approximately 1,577-square feet 
including on-site drainage improvements; and (3) development of the residence. 

At the time of application for construction permits, plans submitted shall show: 

a. All development consistent with the approved site plan, floor plans, architectural elevations,
and these conditions of approval.

b. The recommendations from the Engineering Geology Investigation, prepared by
Geosolutions, Inc. dated October 22, 2019.

c. Final Conditions of Approval shall be included on construction plans.

d. Maximum height shall not exceed 28 feet (as measured from average natural grade and
verified by a licensed land surveyor).

e. Raised decks shall not protrude into required setbacks.

f. All development to be consistent with Title 23 and the Planning Area Standards applicable
to this site.

Conditions required to be completed at the time of application for construction permits 

Site Development 

1. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall submit a landscaping plan
for review and approval by staff. The plan shall include land scape elements to soften the
appearance of the underside of the residence and include groundcover and landscape features to
facilitate stormwater percolation and erosion control. The plan shall be consistent with and
implement the drainage plan for the property and incorporate drainage features / stormwater control
measures as applicable. Final landscape plans shall meet the standards of Coastal Land Use
Ordinance Section 23.04.186

2. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall provide evidence that the
property has been annexed into the Cayucos Sanitary District's and CSA 1 0A service area.

3. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall provide details on any
proposed exterior lighting, if applicable. The details shall include the height, location, and intensity
of all exterior lighting. All lighting fixtures shall be shielded so that neither the lamp nor the related
reflector interior surface is visible from adjacent properties. Light hoods shall be dark colored.

A-1-61Page 70 of 356



' 

Access and Improvements/Public Works Department 

Access 

4. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall submit to the Department
of Public Works an encroachment permit application, plans, fees, and post a cash damage bond to
install improvements within the public right-of-way in accordance with County Public Improvement
Standards. The plans are to include, as applicable:

a. To remove or relocate all existing non-permitted obstructions from within the public right-of-way
of the project frontage.

b. A new Chaney Avenue site access shall be constructed in accordance with B-1 rural driveway
approach and A-5 sight distance standards. If pavers are desired, the applicant may follow the B-
1f rural driveway standard from the 2014 Public Improvement Standards.

c.Drainage ditches, culverts, and other structures (if drainage calculations require).

d. Public utility plan, showing all existing utilities and installation of all new utilities to serve the site.

e. Tree removal/retention plan for trees to be removed and retained associated with the required
public improvements. The plan shall be approved jointly with the Department of Planning and
Building.

f. Traffic control plan for Chaney Avenue and Gilbert Avenue for construction in accordance with
the California Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (CA-MUTCD).

5. On-going condition of approval (valid for the life of the project), and in accordance with County
Code Section 13.08, no activities associated with this permit shall be allowed to occur within the
public right-of-way including, but not limited to, project signage, tree planting, fences, etc., without a
valid encroachment permit issued by the Department of Public Works.

6. On-going condition of approval (valid for the life of the project), the property owner shall be
responsible for operation and maintenance of public road frontage landscaping, maintaining County
driveway sight distance standards in a viable condition and on a continuing basis into perpetuity.

7. Prior to commencing permitted activities, all work in the public right-of-way must be constructed
or reconstructed to the satisfaction of the Public Works Inspector and in accordance with the
County Public Improvement Standards; the project conditions of approval, including any related
land use permit conditions; and the approved improvement plans.

8. Prior to final building inspection, the owner shall ensure any construction-related damage to
Gilbert Avenue (privately maintained) and Chaney Avenue (County maintained) is repaired to the
satisfaction of the Building Official and the Public Works Inspector, respectively.

9. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall provide evidence to the
Department of Planning and Building that onsite circulation and pavement structural sections have
been designed and shall be constructed in conformance with Cal Fire, or the regulating fire agency
standards and specifications back to the nearest public maintained roadway.

Drainage & Flood Hazard 
10. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant may be required to submit

complete drainage plans for review and approval in accordance with Section 23.05.040 of the Land
Use Ordinance. The drainage plans shall also be reviewed and approved by the soils engineer and
engineering geologist to ensure that any drainage facilities and systems installed for the project will
not increase slope instability or erosion risk.

A-1-62Page 71 of 356



11. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall submit complete erosion
and sedimentation control plan for review and approval in accordance with Section 23.05.036 of the
Land Use Ordinance.

12. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall demonstrate that the
project construction plans are in conformance with their Stormwater Control Plan.

Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP) 

13. At the time of application for construction permits, if the project disturbs more than 1.0 acre or
is part of a common plan of development, the applicant must enroll for coverage under California's
Construction General Permit. Sites that disturb less than 1.0 acre must implement all required
elements within the site's erosion and sediment control plan as required by San Luis Obispo County
Codes.

Stormwater Control Plan (SWCP) 

14. At the time of application for construction or grading permits, the applicant shall demonstrate
whether the project is subject to post-construction stormwater requirements by submitting a
Stormwater Control Plan application or Stormwater Post Construction Requirements (PCRs) Waiver
Request Form.

a. The applicant must submit a SWCP for all regulated projects subject to Performance
Requirement #2 and above. The SWCP must be prepared by an appropriately licensed
professional and submitted to the County for review and approval. Applicants must utilize the
County's latest SWCP template.

b. If post-construction stormwater control measures (SCMs) are proposed, the applicant must
submit a draft Stormwater Operations and Maintenance Plan for review by the County. The plan
must consist of the following Planning & Building Department forms;

1. Structural Control Measure Description (Exhibit 8)

2. Stormwater System Contact Information

3. Stormwater System Plans and Manuals

c. If applicable, following approval by the County, the applicant shall record with the County Clerk
Recorder the Stormwater Operation and Maintenance Plan and an agreement or provisions in
the CCRs for the purpose of documenting on-going and permanent storm drainage control,
management, treatment, inspection and reporting.

15. Prior to acceptance of the improvements (if applicable), the Stormwater Operations and
Maintenance plan and General Notice must be updated to reflect as-built changes, approved by the
County, and re-recorded with the County Clerk-Recorder as amendments to the original document.

Geology and Grading 

15. Prior to the issuance of a building permit, the applicant shall post a performance bond, cash
deposit or letter of credit ( or the equivalent) securing performance of the estimated cost to
restore any grading or excavation in the event that (i) a building permit is issued; (ii) grading and
excavation commences; (iii) the building permit lapses; and (iii) the County Engineer determines
that the exposed grading/excavation presents a significant risk due to slope failure, erosion
and/or storm-water run-off. In such event, the County shall provide the property with notice and
a reasonable opportunity to restore the area and/or to install sufficient control measures to
mitigate the risk to the County's satisfaction. If the property owner fails to timely perform such

A-1-63Page 72 of 356



obligations, the applicant agrees that the County may enter the property and perform such work 
without any liability whatsoever to the County, its officials, employees and contractors. 

16. Prior to any ground-disturbing construction activities or issuance of construction or
grading permits, the following recommendations from the Engineering Geology Investigation,
prepared by Geosolutions, Inc. dated October 22, 2019 shall be implemented as conditions of
approval and included on all construction and grading plans:

a. The soils engineer and engineering geologist shall review the project plans prior to
constructi n (plan review).

b. The engin ering geologist shall observe foundation excavations during construction.

c. Based on the depth to competent formation material and steep slopes, it is recommended
that a caisson and grade beam foundation system be utilized for the proposed residence.

d. It is recommended that numerical slope stability analyses be conducted on fill slopes
constructed steeper than 2-to-1 (horizontal to vertical). Locally steeper slopes may be
allowed depending on the results of a slope stability analysis.

e. Based on the numerical slope stability analyses, temporary cut slopes can be constructed at
a slope gradient of 1.5-to-1 (horizontal to vertical). If this is not feasible, temporary shoring of
the slopes may be required. It is recommended that erosion control measures and
revegetation of cut slopes be implemented immediately after the completion of grading.

f. Isolated seepage within formational units should be anticipated. Surface drainage facilities
(graded swales, gutters, positive grades, etc.) are recommended at the base of cut slopes
that allow surfacing water to be transferred away from the base of the slope. The project
designer is recommended to offer specific design criteria for mitigation of water drainage
behind walls and other areas of the site. This is especially imperative upslope of retaining
walls for residences. Subsurface drainage systems should not be connected into conduit
from surface drains and should not connect to downspout drainage pipes.

g. Surface drainage should be controlled to prevent concentrated water-flow discharge onto
either natural or constructed slopes. Surface drainage gradients should be planned to
prevent ponding and promote drainage of surface water away from building foundations,
edges of pavements and sidewalks or natural or man-made slopes. For soil areas we
recommend that a minimum of two (2) percent gradient be maintained.

h. Excavation, fill, and construction activities should be in accordance with appropriate codes
and ordinances of the County of San Luis Obispo. In addition, unusual subsurface
conditions encountered during grading such as springs or fill material should be brought to
the attention of the Engineering Geologist and Soils Engineer.

i. Rock rip-rap is recommended for concentrated drainage outfall locations that do not
discharge onto paved or exposed rock surfaces. It is recommended that geotextile fabric
(Enkamat 7010 or similar) be placed underneath the rip-rap and installed per the
manufacturer's recommendations.

j. Gutters are recommended to be installed along all sloped rooflines. Gutter downspouts
should not allow concentrated drainage to discharge near the residence foundations but

A-1-64Page 73 of 356



rather should convey the water in solid piping away from the residence and toward drainage 
facilities. 

k. Recommendations within the Soils Engineering Report are recommended to be
incorporated into the design.

Fire Safety 

17. At the time of application for construction permits, all plans submitted to the Department of
Planning and Building shall meet the fire and life safety requirements of the California Fire
Code. All plans must be approved by County Fire/Cal Fire.

Services 

18. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall provide unconditional
letters from County Service Area 1 0a and Cayucos Sanitary District stating they are willing and
able to service the property for water and sewer services, respectively.

19. At the time of application for construction permits, the applicant shall record a 10-foot

easement along Gilbert tapering to 5-feet at Chaney Avenue for the benefit of the lots to the

North along Gilbert for sewer access.

Conditions to be completed prior to issuance of a construction permit 

Fees 

20. Prior to issuance of a construction permit, the applicant shall pay all applicable school and
public facilities fees.

21. Prior to issuance of a construction permit, the applicant shall record an open space

easement on the entirety of APN: 064-405-017 limiting allowed uses to landscaping and passive

recreation.

22. Prior to issuance of a construction permit, the applicant shall enter into a performance

agreement and post a performance bond, cash deposit or letter of credit (or the equivalent)

securing performance of the estimated cost to ensure repair of Gilbert Avenue should damage

occur during construction.

a) The amount shall be based on the cost to reconstruct the private road section fronting

the property back to the county-maintained section of Gilbert Avenue. The engineering

report and construction estimate shall be prepared by a registered civil engineer and will

be subject to review and approval by the Department of Planning and Building in

consultation with the Department of Public Works.

b) In the event that (i) a building permit is issued; (ii) grading and excavation

commences; and (iii) the Department of Planning and Building or Department of Public

Works determines that project construction has resulted in damage to the roadway, the

County shall provide the property owner with notice and a reasonable opportunity to

A-1-65Page 74 of 356



restore the roadway in accordance with approved engineering plans prepared by a 

registered civil engineer to the County's satisfaction, which may include the requirement 

for a site visit and certification of compliance by a registered civil engineer. If the 

property owner fails to timely perform such obligations, the applicant agrees that the 

County may enter the property and roadway to perform such work without any liability 

whatsoever to the County, its officials, employees, and contractors. Any repairs shall be 

completed to the satisfaction of the Planning and Building and Public Works 

departments prior to issuance of occupancy permit. 

Conditions to be completed during project construction 

23. During all phases of development, construction vehicles and equipment shall maintain a
minimum 12-foot clearance along Gilbert Avenue.

24. During all phases of development, the project shall comply with the requirements of the
National Pollution Discharge Elimination System Phase I and/or Phase II storm water program
and the County's Storm Water Pollution Control and Discharge Ordinance.

Soils and Grading 
25. During project construction/ground disturbing activities, the applicant shall retain a

certified soils engineer of record and shall provide the engineer's Written Certification of
Adequacy of the Proposed Site Development for its Intended Use to the Department of Planning
and Building.

Building Height 
26. The maximum height of the project is 28 feet (as measured from average natural grade).

a. Prior to any site disturbance, a licensed surveyor or civil engineer shall stake the lot
corners, building corners, and establish average natural grade and set a reference point
(benchmark).

b. Prior to approval of the foundation inspection, the benchmark shall be inspected by
a building inspector prior to pouring footings or retaining walls. as an added precaution.

c. Prior to approval of the roof nailing inspection, the applicant shall provide the
building inspector with documentation that gives the height reference, the allowable
height and the actual height of the structure. This certification shall be prepared by a
licensed surveyor or civil engineer.

Construction 
27. At all times during the construction phase, the owner shall ensure that all vehicles associated

with the construction of the project are legally parked and do not unnecessarily block access to
any driveways or access to residences. Music shall be kept at a volume so that it is not audible
at adjacent residences. No domestic pets are allowed on site at any time during construction.

Conditions to be completed prior to occupancy or final building inspection 

28. Landscaping in accordance with the approved landscaping plan shall be installed or bonded for
before final building inspection. If bonded for, landscaping shall be installed within 60 days

A-1-66Page 75 of 356



permit is considered vested. · This land use permit is considered to be vested once a 
construction permit has been issued and substantial site work has been completed. Substantial 
site work is defined by Land Use Ordinance Section 23.02.042 as site work progressed beyond 
grading and completion of structural foundations; and construction is occurring above grade. 

37. All conditions of this approval shall be strictly adhered to, within the time frames specified, and
in an on-going manner for the life of the project. Failure to comply with these conditions of
approval may result in an immediate enforcement action by the Department of Planning and
Building. If it is determined that violation(s) of these conditions of approval have occurred, or
are occurring, this approval may be revoked pursuant to Section 23.10.160 of the Land Use
Ordinance.

A-1-67Page 76 of 356



Attachment H 
Geo Solutions Engineering 

Geology Investigation Report, 
dated October 22, 2019

A-1-68Page 77 of 356



ENGINEERING GEOLOGY INVESTIGATION 

Dear Mr. Riley: 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

This report presents the results of the geologic investigation for the proposed single-
family residence to be located at 3579 Gilbert Avenue, APN: 064-405-016 in the Cayucos 
area of San Luis Obispo County, California. See Figure 1: Area Location Map for the 
general location of the project area 
(TopoView, 2019). 

1.1 Site Description 

3579 Gilbert Avenue is located at 
35.4231 degrees north latitude 
and -120.8757 degrees west 
longitude at a general elevation of 
70 feet above mean sea level. The 
parcel is approximately 167 feet 
wide by 70 feet long with Gilbert 
Avenue providing access to the 
west and Chaney Avenue to the 
south. The project property will 
hereafter be referred to as the 
“Site.” See Figure 2: Geologic 
Study Area Map for the general 
layout of the project area. 

The Site is situated on a hill side 
that drops west toward Gilbert 
Avenue. Annual grasses currently 
vegetate the Site. 

1.2 Project Description 

The proposed single-family 
residence is to be accessed off 
Chaney Avenue. The structure is 
anticipated to be two living levels.  

At the time of the preparation of this report, the proposed single-family residence is to be 
constructed using light wood framing.  

Figure 1: Area Location Map 

October 22, 2019 
SL011433-1 

Client: 
Don Valley 

3051 Augusta Street, 
Unit 9 

San Luis Obispo, 
California 

93401 

Project name: 
3579 Gilbert Avenue 

APN: 064-405-016 
Cayucos area, San 

Luis Obispo County, 
California 

SITE 

Attachment 8 

Page 1 of 61 A-1-69Page 78 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

2 

Figure 2: Geologic Study Area Map 

2.0 PURPOSE AND SCOPE 

The purpose of this investigation was to evaluate engineering geologic hazards at the Site and to develop 
conclusions and recommendations regarding site development. The scope of this investigation consisted 
of: 

1. Review of historical aerial photographs, pertinent published and unpublished geotechnical studies
and literature, and geologic maps for the subject project area.

2. A field study consisting of site reconnaissance and subsurface exploration including exploratory
trenches in order to formulate a description of the sub-surface conditions at the Site.

3. A review of regional faulting and seismicity hazards.

4. A review of landslide potential, surface and groundwater conditions, and liquefaction hazards.

5. Development of recommendations for site preparation.

6. Preparation of this report that summarizes our findings, conclusions, and recommendations
regarding engineering geology aspects of the project.

3.0 GEOLOGIC RECOMMENDATIONS

The proposed development is geologically suitable provided that the recommendations provided herein 
are implemented.  The following are recommended for implementation at the Site. 

SITE 

Attachment 8 

Page 2 of 61 A-1-70Page 79 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

3 

1. Based on the depth to competent formation material and steep slopes, it is recommended
that a caisson and grade beam foundation system be utilized for the proposed residence.

2. It is recommended that numerical slope stability analyses be conducted on fill slopes
constructed steeper than 2-to-1 (horizontal to vertical). Locally steeper slopes may be
allowed depending on the results of a slope stability analysis.

3. Based on the numerical slope stability analyses, temporary cut slopes can be constructed
at a slope gradient of 1.5-to-1 (horizontal to vertical). If this is not feasible, temporary
shoring of the slopes may be required. It is recommended that erosion control measures
and revegetation of cut slopes be implemented immediately after the completion of
grading.

4. Isolated seepage within formational units should be anticipated. Surface drainage
facilities (graded swales, gutters, positive grades, etc.) are recommended at the base of
cut slopes that allow surfacing water to be transferred away from the base of the slope.
The project designer is recommended to offer specific design criteria for mitigation of
water drainage behind walls and other areas of the site.  This is especially imperative
upslope of retaining walls for residences. Subsurface drainage systems should not be
connected into conduit from surface drains and should not connect to downspout
drainage pipes.

5. Surface drainage should be controlled to prevent concentrated water-flow discharge onto
either natural or constructed slopes. Surface drainage gradients should be planned to
prevent ponding and promote drainage of surface water away from building foundations,
edges of pavements and sidewalks or natural or man-made slopes. For soil areas we
recommend that a minimum of two (2) percent gradient be maintained.

6. Excavation, fill, and construction activities should be in accordance with appropriate
codes and ordinances of the County of San Luis Obispo. In addition, unusual subsurface
conditions encountered during grading such as springs or fill material should be brought
to the attention of the Engineering Geologist and Soils Engineer.

7. Rock rip-rap is recommended for concentrated drainage outfall locations that do not
discharge onto paved or exposed rock surfaces. It is recommended that geotextile fabric
(Enkamat 7010 or similar) be placed underneath the rip-rap and installed per the
manufacturer’s recommendations.

8. Gutters are recommended to be installed along all sloped rooflines. Gutter downspouts
should not allow concentrated drainage to discharge near the residence foundations but
rather should convey the water in solid piping away from the residence and toward
drainage facilities.

4.0 ENGINEERING GEOLOGY 

4.1 Regional Geology 

The Site is located in the vicinity of the San Luis Range of the Coast Range Geomorphic Province of 
California. The Coast Ranges lie between the Pacific Ocean and the Sacramento-San Joaquin Valley 
and trend northwesterly along the California Coast for approximately 600 miles between Santa Maria 
and the Oregon border.  

Regionally, the Site is located on the Cambrian Slab composed of a large, thick block of Cretaceous 
age sediments that are surrounded by Franciscan Formation rocks. The Cambrian Slab extends from 
the Los Osos fault south of the property and northward to San Simeon Creek. 

Attachment 8 

Page 3 of 61 A-1-71Page 80 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

4 

4.2 Local Geology 

Locally, the site is located within Franciscan Complex as depicted on Plate 1, Site Engineering 
Geology Map. Dibblee, 2006 and Delattre, 2016 mapped the Site as underlain by Jurassic and 
Cretaceous age Franciscan Complex (fm/Kfm) units. Information derived from subsurface exploration 
was used to classify subsurface soil and formational units and to supplement geologic mapping. 

4.2.1 Franciscan Complex 

Delattre, 2016 maps the Site as within Franciscan Complex mélange (Kfm). Delattre, 2016 
describes the Franciscan Complex as “Chaotic mixture of fragmented, fault-bounded, 
metamorphosed rock masses embedded in a penetratively sheared matrix of argillite and crushed 
metasandstone. Penetrative deformation of the matrix postdates metamorphism of enclosed rock 
masses. Individual rock masses range from less than a meter to kilometers in scale and include 
altered mafic volcanic rocks (greenstone), chert, serpentinity, high-grade blueschist, greywacke, 
and conglomerate.” The Franciscan Complex was mapped throughout the site and was 
encountered within all trenches. The Franciscan Complex at the site was observed to consist of 
olive brown claystone and greywacke sandstone observed to be massive, highly fractured, and 
moderately hard. Caliche was observed within the upper 1 foot of the Franciscan Complex. Plate 
1A depicts the Franciscan Complex (Kfm) throughout the property. Trench logs are presented in 
Appendix A. 

4.3 Surface and Ground Water Conditions 

Surface drainage follows the topography west toward Gilbert Avenue. Surface drainage should be 
directed away from proposed structures and slopes. No springs or seeps were observed at the 
project. Groundwater was not observed within any trenches. 

4.4 Active Faulting and Coseismic Deformation 

The Alquist-Priolo Earthquake Fault Zoning Act passed in 1972 requires that the State Geologist 
establish Earthquake Fault Zones around the surface traces of active faults and to issue appropriate 
maps. The closest Earthquake Fault Zone is on a section of the Hosgri Fault Zone located 
approximately 8.5 miles southwest of the Site. The subject site is not located within an Earthquake 
Fault Zone (Jennings, 2010). 

Table 1: Distance and Moment Magnitude of Closest Faults 
Closest Active Faults  

to Site Approximate Distance (miles) Moment Magnitude (Mw) 

Hosgri Fault 8.5 7.3 

Los Osos Fault 13.0 6.8 

San Andreas 40.0 6.9 

The closest known active portion of a Holocene age fault is an active portion of the Hosgri Fault Zone 
that is located approximately 8.5 miles southwest of the Site (Jennings, 2010). Plate 3 is a Regional 
Fault Map for the area. The San Andreas fault is the most likely active fault to produce ground 
shaking at the Site although it is not expected to generate the highest ground accelerations because 
of its distance from the Site.  

4.4.1 Cambria Fault 

The Cambria fault is in the vicinity of the Site and can be considered part of the Oceanic fault at 
its southern end near the City of San Luis Obispo, California.  Plate 3 depicts the location of the 

Attachment 8 

Page 4 of 61 A-1-72Page 81 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

5 

Cambria fault (Jennings, 1994).  The Cambria fault becomes indistinct north of San Simeon 
Creek.  Splays of the Cambria fault break Pliocene (5 to 2 million years before present) strata 
east of the town of Cambria, but there is no known breakage of Holocene rocks by the Cambria 
fault. The Cambria fault is complicated by the intersection of many older shear zones from the 
Franciscan mélange with the fault zone.   

Jennings, 2010 classifies the majority of this fault as Quaternary active, showing evidence of 
displacement during late Quaternary time (between 700,000 years before present to 10,000 years 
before present).  The most northerly extent of Quaternary faulting on the Cambria fault depicted 
on Jennings’s map is present only to the town of Cambria.  North of the town of Cambria, the 
Cambria fault is depicted as a concealed fault without recognized Quaternary displacement.  

Hart et al., 1985 describes the Cambria fault as a vertical to steeply dipping, southwest-dipping, 
normal fault in Cretaceous sedimentary units.  Additionally, the fault is poorly defined and may 
offset late Pleistocene terrace deposits (more than 125,000 years old) and may be concealed 
locally by younger terrace deposits, Quaternary landslides, and Holocene alluvium.  Delattre, 
2016 mapped splays of the Cambria fault approximately 0.5-mile northeast of the property (Plate 
2). 

4.4.2 Cayucos Fault 

The Cayucos fault is mapped as trending northwest though the community of Cayucos between 
the Oceanic and Cambria fault zones.  The Cayucos fault offsets Oligocene-age sediments but 
apparently not Miocene-age sediments (San Luis Obispo County, 2010).  Jennings, 2010 
describes the Cayucos fault as without recognized Quaternary displacement and showing 
evidence of no displacement during Quaternary time. 

Delattre, 2016 mapped splays of the Cayucos fault approximately 650 feet northeast of the 
property (Plate 2).  The Cambria fault and the Cayucos fault are not mapped through the 
property. 

4.5 Landslides 

The San Luis Obispo County Safety Element maps the property within a high potential landslide 
hazard zone. Hall and Prior, 1975, Weber, 1979 and Delattre, 2016 mapped a landslide immediately 
northwest of the Site.  However, landslides were not observed in the immediate vicinity of the Site 
and landslide debris was not encountered in any of the trenches.  Airphoto analysis does not show 
indication of landslide material at the property in the immediate vicinity.  Plate 4 and 5 depicts an 
aerial photograph in the vicinity of the Site (1953 and 2019).  Due to the presence of near surface 
Franciscan Complex units, the landslide potential at the Site is considered low.   

Attachment 8 

Page 5 of 61 A-1-73Page 82 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

6 

Figure 3: Historical Aerial Photograph (1949) 

4.6 Flooding and Severe Erosion 

The site is not located within or near the 100-year or 500-year flood zone based on Federal 
Emergency Management Agency flood zone maps (FEMA, 2012).  

The surficial and formational deposits are subject to erosion where not covered with vegetation or 
hardscape. The potential for severe erosion is considered low provided that vegetation and erosion 
control measures are implemented immediately after the completion of grading.  

4.7 On-site Septic Systems 

No septic system is proposed.  The project will utilize a community sewer system. 

4.8 Hydrocollapse of Alluvial Fan Soils 

The potential for hydrocollapse of subsurface materials is considered low due to the absence of 
alluvial fan material at the Site. 

SITE 

Attachment 8 

Page 6 of 61 A-1-74Page 83 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

7 

5.0 SISMOLOGY AND CALCULATION OF EARTHQUAKE GROUND MOTION 

5.1 Seismic Hazard Analysis and Structural Building Design Parameters 

Estimating the design ground motions at the Site depends on many factors including the distance 
from the Site to known active faults; the expected magnitude and rate of recurrence of seismic events 
produced on such faults; the source-to-site ground motion attenuation characteristics; and the Site 
soil profile characteristics. According to section 1613 of the 2016 CBC (CBSC, 2016), all structures 
and portions of structures should be designed to resist the effects of seismic loadings caused by 
earthquake ground motions in accordance with the ASCE 7: Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and 
Other Structures, hereafter referred to as ASCE7-10 (ASCE, 2013). The Site soil profile classification 
(Site Class) can be determined by the average soil properties in the upper 100 feet of the Site profile 
and the criteria provided in Table 20.3-1 of ASCE7-10.  

Spectral response accelerations, peak ground accelerations, and site coefficients provided in this 
report were obtained using the computer-based Seismic Design Maps tool available from the 
Structural Engineers Association of California (SEAOC, 2018). This program utilizes the methods 
developed in ASCE 7-10 in conjunction with user-inputted Site location to calculate seismic design 
parameters and response spectra (both for period and displacement) for soil profile Site Classes A 
through E.  

Site coordinates of 35.4231 degrees north latitude and -120.8757 degrees east longitude were used 
in the web-based probabilistic seismic hazard analysis (SEAOC, 2018). Based on the results from the 
in-situ tests performed during the field investigation, the Site was defined as Site Class C, “Very 
Dense Soil and Soft Rock” profile per ASCE7-10, Chapter 20. Relevant seismic design parameters 
obtained from the program area summarized in Table 2: Seismic Design Parameters. 

Table 2: Seismic Design Parameters 

Site Class C, “Very Dense Soil and Soft Rock” 

Seismic Design Category D 

1-Second Period Design Spectral Response Acceleration, SD1 0.385g 

Short-Period Design Spectral Response Acceleration, SDS 0.759g 

Site Specific MCE Peak Ground Acceleration, PGAM 0.445g 

6.0 LIQUEFACTION 

Due to the densities within the sub-surface material and the presence of clays in the subsurface, the 
liquefaction potential at the Site is considered low. 

7.0 TSUNAMIS AND SEICHES 

Tsunamis and seiches are two types of water waves that are generated by earthquake events. Tsunamis 
are broad-wavelength ocean waves and seiches are standing waves within confined bodies of water, 
typically reservoirs. As the property is at an elevation over 70 feet and distance to the Pacific Ocean, the 
potential for a tsunami to affect the Site is low.  

Flooding associated with a seismic event (seiche) is considered low due to the absence of a body of 
water upslope of the property. 

Attachment 8 

Page 7 of 61 A-1-75Page 84 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

8 

8.0 HAZARDS FROM GEOLOGIC MATERIALS 

8.1 Expansive Soils 

The potential for expansive soil at the Site is medium to high based on laboratory testing from the 
concurrent Soils Engineering Report, expansion index of 51 and plasticity index of 31. The foundation 
recommendations for expansive soils should be incorporated into the design. 

8.2 Naturally Occurring Asbestos 

There is a moderate potential for natural occurring asbestos to be present at the property due to the 
presence of Franciscan Complex units. Naturally occurring asbestos is associated with serpentinite 
rock units within the Franciscan Complex. Serpentinite was not observed within the trenches. Testing 
can be performed to verify the presence/absence of naturally occurring asbestos. In lieu of testing, an 
Asbestos Health and Safety Program and Asbestos Dust Mitigation Plan could be developed in 
accordance with Air Pollution Control District. 

8.3 Radon and Other Hazardous Gases 

The potential for radon or other hazardous gases is low due to the absence of Monterey Formation 
formational units and other identified radon producing formations. 

9.0 GRADING OPERATIONS, CUT AND FULL, SUBDRAINS 

Based on the depth of Franciscan Complex units encountered at the site, it is anticipated that the 
foundations will be excavated into formational material. Conventional grading equipment may be used for 
excavations. The Soils Engineering Report provides additional foundation and construction 
recommendations. Based on the field investigation, subdrains are not anticipated at this time, however 
this may be reevaluated at the time of construction. 

Construction inspections and testing during all grading and excavating operations should be performed by 
the project Soils Engineer/Engineering Geologist. Section 1705.6A of the 2016 CBC (CBSC, 2016) 
requires the following inspections by the Soils Engineer/Engineering Geologist as shown in Table 3: 
Required Verification and Inspections of Soils: 

Table 3: Required Verification and Inspections of Soils 

Verification and Inspection Task 
Continuous 
During Task 

Listed 

Periodically 
During Task 

Listed 
1. Verify materials below footings are adequate to achieve the design

bearing capacity. - X 

2. Verify excavations are extended to proper depth and have reached
proper material. - X 

3. Perform classification and testing of controlled fill materials. - X 

4. Verify use of proper materials, densities and lift thicknesses during
placement and compaction of controlled fill. X - 

5. Prior to placement of controlled fill, observe sub-grade and verify
that site has been prepared properly. - X 

10.0 ADDITIONAL SERVICES 

The recommendations contained in this report are based on exploratory trenches and on the continuity of 
the sub-surface conditions encountered. It is assumed that GeoSolutions, Inc. will be retained to perform 

Attachment 8 

Page 8 of 61 A-1-76Page 85 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
October 22, 2019 Project SL11433-1 

9 

the following services: 

1. Consultation during plan development.

2. A preliminary plan review regarding the locations of proposed improvements and development
once grading and drainage plans are available.

3. Final plan review of final grading and drainage documents prior to construction.

4. Additionally, construction observation by the Engineering Geologist and/or Soils Engineer may be
necessary to verify sub-surface conditions during excavation activities.

5. Final grading report and as-built map in accordance with County Guidelines for Engineering
Geology Reports, Item 29 (San Luis Obispo County Department of Planning and Building, 2016).

11.0 LIMITATIONS AND UNIFORMITY OF CONDITIONS 

The recommendations of this report are based upon the assumption that the soil conditions do not 
deviate from those disclosed during our study. Should any variations or undesirable conditions be 
encountered during the development of the Site, GeoSolutions, Inc. should be notified immediately and 
GeoSolutions, Inc. will provide supplemental recommendations as dictated by the field conditions. 

This report is issued with the understanding that it is the responsibility of the owner or his/her 
representative to ensure that the information and recommendations contained herein are brought to the 
attention of the architect and engineer for the project, and incorporated into the project plans and 
specifications. The owner or his/her representative is responsible to ensure that the necessary steps are 
taken to see that the contractor and subcontractors carry out such recommendations in the field. 

As of the present date, the findings of this report are valid for the property studied. With the passage of 
time, changes in the conditions of a property can occur whether they are due to natural processes or to 
the works of man on this or adjacent properties. Therefore, this report should not be relied upon after a 
period of 3 years without our review nor should it be used or is it applicable for any properties other than 
those studied. However, many events such as floods, earthquakes, grading of the adjacent properties 
and building and municipal code changes could render sections of this report invalid in less than 3 years. 

Thank you for the opportunity to have been of service in preparing this report. If you have any questions 
or require additional assistance, please feel free to contact the undersigned at (805) 543-8539. 

Sincerely, 
GeoSolutions, Inc. 

Jeffrey Pfost, CEG 2493 
Principal Engineering Geologist 

\\192.168.0.5\s\SL11000-SL11499\SL11433-1 - 3579 Gilbert Avenue GEO\Geology\SL11433-1 3579 Gilbert Avenue Engineering Geology 
Investigation.doc 

Attachment 8 

Page 9 of 61 A-1-77Page 86 of 356



REFERENCES 

American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE). Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and Other Structures, 
ASCE Standard 7-10, ASCE, Reston, VA, 2013. 

California Building Standards Commission (CBSC). (2016). 2016 California Building Code, California 
Code of Regulations, Title 24. Part 2, Vol. 2. 

California Emergency Management Agency, 2009, Tsunami Inundation Map for Emergency Planning, 
Morro Bay North and South Quadrangles, County of San Luis Obispo, California, scale 1:24,000. 

Delattre, Marc, 2016, Preliminary Geologic Map of the Cayucos 7.5’ Quadrangle, San Luis Obispo 
County, California: California Geological Survey, Preliminary Geologic Maps, scale 1:24,000. 

DeLorme. Topo USA 8.0. Vers.8.0.0 Computer software. DeLorme, 2009. 

Dibblee, T.W., and Minch, J.A., Geologic Map of the Cayucos Quadrangle, San Luis Obispo County, 
California. Dibblee Geologic Foundation, Foundation Map DF-216, scale 1:24,000. 

Dibblee, T.W., and Minch, J.A., Geologic Map of the Morro Bay North Quadrangle, San Luis Obispo 
County, California. Dibblee Geologic Foundation, Foundation Map DF-215, scale 1:24,000. 

Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA), 2017, Flood Insurance Rate Map, Santa Barbara 
County, California, Community-Panel Number 06079C0792H, dated May 16, 2017. 

Hall, C.A., Prior, S.W., 1975, Geologic Map of the Cayucos-San Luis Obispo Region, San Luis Obispo 
County, California: U.S. Geological Survey, Miscellaneous Field Studies Map, MF 686, Scale 
1:24000. 

Jennings, C.W., 2010, Fault Activity Map of California, California Geologic Survey, Data Map No. 6, Scale 
1:750,000. 

San Luis Obispo County Department of Planning and Building, December, 1999, Safety Element, San 
Luis Obispo County General Plan. 

Structural Engineers Association of California (SEAOC), Seismic Design Maps, accessed October 2, 
2019. <https://seismicmaps.org/>. 

United States Geological Survey. MapView – Geologic Maps of the Nation. Internet Application. USGS, 
accessed October 2, 2019. <http://ngmdb.usgs.gov/maps/MapView/>. 

United States Geological Survey. TopoView – Geologic Maps of the Nation. Internet Application. USGS, 
accessed October 2, 2019. <http://ngmdb.usgs.gov/maps/TopoView/>. 

Weber, Gerald E., 1979, Geologic Investigation of the Marine Terraces of the San Simeon Region and 
Pleistocene Activity on the San Simeon Fault Zone, San Luis Obispo County, California, U.S.G.S. 
Survey Final Technical Report. 

Wiegers, Mark, 2016, Preliminary Geologic Map of the Morro Bay North 7.5’ Quadrangle, San Luis 
Obispo County, California: California Geological Survey, Preliminary Geologic Maps, scale 
1:24,000. 

Attachment 8 

Page 10 of 61 A-1-78Page 87 of 356



PLATES 

Plate 1A, 1B - Site Engineering Geologic Map and Site Cross Section 

Plate 2 – Regional Geologic Map, Delattre, 2016/Wiegers, 2016 

Plate 3 – Regional Fault Map, Jennings, 2010 

Plate 4 – Aerial Photograph, 2019 

Attachment 8 

Page 11 of 61 A-1-79Page 88 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 12 of 61 A-1-80Page 89 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 13 of 61 A-1-81Page 90 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 14 of 61 A-1-82Page 91 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 15 of 61 A-1-83Page 92 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 16 of 61 A-1-84Page 93 of 356



APPENDIX A 

Trench Logs 

Attachment 8 

Page 17 of 61 A-1-85Page 94 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 18 of 61 A-1-86Page 95 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 19 of 61 A-1-87Page 96 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 20 of 61 A-1-88Page 97 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 21 of 61 A-1-89Page 98 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 22 of 61 A-1-90Page 99 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 23 of 61 A-1-91Page 100 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 24 of 61 A-1-92Page 101 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 25 of 61 A-1-93Page 102 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 26 of 61 A-1-94Page 103 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 27 of 61 A-1-95Page 104 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 28 of 61 A-1-96Page 105 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 29 of 61 A-1-97Page 106 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 30 of 61 A-1-98Page 107 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 31 of 61 A-1-99Page 108 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 32 of 61 A-1-100Page 109 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 33 of 61 A-1-101Page 110 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 34 of 61 A-1-102Page 111 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 35 of 61 A-1-103Page 112 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 36 of 61 A-1-104Page 113 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 37 of 61 A-1-105Page 114 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 38 of 61 A-1-106Page 115 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 39 of 61 A-1-107Page 116 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 40 of 61 A-1-108Page 117 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 41 of 61 A-1-109Page 118 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 42 of 61 A-1-110Page 119 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 43 of 61 A-1-111Page 120 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 44 of 61 A-1-112Page 121 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 45 of 61 A-1-113Page 122 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 46 of 61 A-1-114Page 123 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 47 of 61 A-1-115Page 124 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 48 of 61 A-1-116Page 125 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 49 of 61 A-1-117Page 126 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 50 of 61 A-1-118Page 127 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 51 of 61 A-1-119Page 128 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 52 of 61 A-1-120Page 129 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 53 of 61 A-1-121Page 130 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 54 of 61 A-1-122Page 131 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 55 of 61 A-1-123Page 132 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 56 of 61 A-1-124Page 133 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 57 of 61 A-1-125Page 134 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 58 of 61 A-1-126Page 135 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 59 of 61 A-1-127Page 136 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 60 of 61 A-1-128Page 137 of 356



Attachment 8 

Page 61 of 61 A-1-129Page 138 of 356



Attachment I 
Geo Solutions Supplemental 
Information, dated May 11, 

2022 

A-1-130Page 139 of 356



 

COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING & BUILDING 

TREVOR KEITH, DIRECTOR 

 

 

976 OSOS STREET, ROOM 300  •  SAN LUIS OBISPO  •  CALIFORNIA 93408  • (805) 781-5600 • TTY/TDD RELAY - 711 

planning@co.slo.ca.us  •   FAX: (805) 781-5624   •   http://www.slocounty.ca.gov/planning.htm 

 

Date:    May 26, 2022 

 

To:     Planning Commission 

 

From:    Kip Morais, Project Manager  

 

CC:   Don Valley, applicant & Greg Wilhelm, agent 

 

Subject:  Additional Geology Information for Continued Item DRC2019-00262/ 

Valley 
 
 

 

 

BACKGROUND 
 

This land use permit application was initially considered at the November 17, 2021, Planning 

Commission hearing.  The project application included an Engineering Geology Investigation 

performed by Geo Solutions dated October 22, 2019.  This report was peer reviewed by the 

County Geologist and was found to be adequate (January 30, 2020).   

 

At the November 17 Planning Commission hearing, members of the public expressed 

concerns regarding landslides and slope stability at the project site.  The Commission 

provided direction to the applicant to provide further information on landslide potential.  In 

response to this request, the applicant has worked with Geo Solutions and provided an 

expanded discussion of landslide potential (attached). 

 

 

If you have questions about this request, please contact Kip Morais, Project Manager at 

kmorais@co.slo.ca.us or at (805) 781-5126. 

A-1-131Page 140 of 356

mailto:kmorais@co.slo.ca.us


 

 
 

DISCUSSION OF LANDSLIDE POTENTIAL 
 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 

GeoSolutions, Inc. is pleased to submit this discussion of landslide potential for the 
proposed single-family residence to be located at 3579 Gilbert Avenue, APN: 064-
405-016 in the Cayucos area of San Luis Obispo County, California. An Engineering 
Geology Investigation was provided by this firm on October 22, 2019. It is our 
understanding that additional information regarding the landslide potential at the Site 
has been requested by the County of San Luis Obispo. This discussion is to provide 
clarity to the landslide potential presented in the referenced Engineering Geology 
Investigation (GeoSolutions, 2019).  

 
2.0 Discussion of Landslide Potential 

 
As stated in the referenced Engineering Geology Investigation (GeoSolutions, 2019), 
the San Luis Obispo County Safety Element and Land Use View maps the property 
within a high potential landslide hazard zone. It is interpreted that this designation is 
based on slope configuration as well as geologic units. Based on this, the Site did not 
meet CGS Special Publication 117A, Guidelines for Evaluation and Mitigating 
Seismic Hazards in California “screening level type evaluation,” therefore a site-
specific evaluation was performed. The site-specific evaluation performed in the 
referenced Engineering Geology Investigation (GeoSolutions, 2019) consisting of the 
following: 
 
1) Review of current historical and current published geologic maps including but 

not limited to: Hall and Prior, 1975, Weber, 1979 and Delattre, 2016. Hall and 
Prior, 1975, Weber, 1979 and Delattre, 2016 all mapped multiple landslides 
throughout the hills of Cayucos including a landslide immediately northwest of 
the Site as well as a small landslide to the south.  Plate 2 (taken from the 
referenced Engineering Geology Investigation) depicts the mapped landslides 
adjacent to the Site. The subject Site is observed to be near but not within 
previously mapped landslides.  

 
2) As the site is in the proximity of mapped landslides, exploratory trenches were 

excavated throughout the Site to verify the presence/absence of landslide 
deposits as well as surface mapping of the Site. Three trenches were excavated 
to a maximum depth of 9 feet below ground surface (bgs). Surface soils were 
observed to be uniform, unsheared very dark grayish brown clay termed 
colluvium and light gray sandy clay identified as fill in the upper portion of the Site 
associated with Chaney Avenue. Formational material identified as Franciscan 
Complex was observed underlying these surface soils. Evidence of shearing or 
movement within the surface and subsurface material was not observed within 
the trenches. Trench logs are represented at the end of this report.  

 
3) In addition, an air photo analysis consisting of reviewing historical and current 

aerial photographs was also performed. Aerial photographs from the following 
years were reviewed: 1930, 1949, 1953, 1963, 1973, 2001 and 2019. Based on 
the air photo analysis, the extent of the landslide appears north of the subject site 
and did not show indication of landslide material at the property. Figure 1 depicts 
the subject site as well as the approximate landslide extents north of the site.  

 
 
 

DATE: 
May 11, 2022 

 
PROJECT NUMBER: 

SL11433-4 
 

CLIENT: 
Don Valley 

3051 Augusta Street, Unit 9 
San Luis Obispo,  

California 
93401 

 
Project name: 

3579 Gilbert Avenue 
APN: 064-405-016 

Cayucos area,  
San Luis Obispo County, 

California 
 
 
 

A-1-132Page 141 of 356



3579 Gilbert Avenue 
May 11, 2022   Project SL11433-4 

 
 

 
2 

Based on the results of the 1) review of historical and current geologic maps, 2) a site-specific field 
exploration and mapping and 3) review of historical and current aerial photographs, the landslide potential 
at the subject Site was and is still considered low.  
 
While the landslide potential is considered low, there is a potential for erosion at the Site where not 
covered with vegetation or hardscape. This potential is increased during construction; therefore it is 
recommended that vegetation and erosion control measures be implemented immediately after the 
completion of grading to minimize erosion. In addition, surface drainage should be controlled to prevent 
concentrated water-flow discharge onto either natural or constructed slopes including off Chaney Avenue 
upslope. Surface drainage gradients should be planned to prevent ponding and promote drainage of 
surface water away from building foundations, edges of pavements and natural or man-made slopes. The 
Soils Engineering Report provides additional foundation and construction recommendations at the Site. 

  
6.0 CLOSURE 
 
The recommendations of this report are based upon the assumption that the soil conditions do not 
deviate from those disclosed during our study. Should any variations or undesirable conditions be 
encountered during the development of the Site, GeoSolutions, Inc. should be notified immediately and 
GeoSolutions, Inc. will provide supplemental recommendations as dictated by the field conditions.    
 
Thank you for the opportunity to have been of service in preparing this report. If you have any questions 
or require additional assistance, please feel free to contact the undersigned at (805) 543-8539. 
 
Sincerely, 
GeoSolutions, Inc.      
 
 
 
 
Jeffrey Pfost, CEG 2493  
Principal Engineering Geologist 
 
\\192.168.1.100\s\SL11000-SL11499\SL11433-4 - 3579 Gilbert Ave Hourly Geology\Geology\SL11433-4 3579 Gilbert Ave Discussion of Landslide 
Potential.doc 
 
Attachment:  Plate 2 Regional Geologic Map, Delattre, 2016 
  Trench Logs 
 
References:  GeoSolutions, Inc., 2019, Engineering Geology Investigation, 3579 Gilbert Avenue, APN: 

064-405-016, Cayucos area, San Luis Obispo County, California, project SL11433-1, 
dated October 22, 2019. 

 
 GeoSolutions, Inc., 2019, Soils Engineering Report, 3579 Gilbert Avenue, APN: 064-405-

016, Cayucos, California, project SL11433-2, dated October 31, 2019

A-1-133Page 142 of 356



A-1-134Page 143 of 356



A-1-135Page 144 of 356



Attachment J 
Conditional Intent to Serve 

Letter from CSA 10 

A-1-136Page 145 of 356



 
 

COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO 
Department of Public Works 
John Diodati, Interim Director   

 

 

County of San Luis Obispo Department of Public Works 
County Govt Center, Room 206 | San Luis Obispo, CA 93408 | (P) 805-781-5252 | (F) 805-781-1229 

 pwd@co.slo.ca.us | slocounty.ca.gov  

 
February 1, 2021 
 
Donald H. Valley 
3051 Augusta Street, Unit 9 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
 
Subject: County Service Area No. 10, Zone A; Conditional Intent to Provide Water Service to      

Assessor Parcel Number (APN) 064-405-016 (Legal Description: MORRO STR, BL 21 
LTS 20 & 21)  

 
Dear Mr. Valley: 
 
The following is a Conditional Intent to Serve Letter for the proposed connection of water service 
at the subject location. County Service Area 10, Zone A (CSA 10A) is ready and willing to provide 
water service to the property provided the following conditions are met: 
  
1. All work performed by the County of San Luis Obispo, Department of Public Works, 

(Department) Utilities Division staff for the subject project shall be billed to and reimbursed 
by the Applicant through and in accordance with the Engineering Reimbursement 
Agreement (ERA), for this project. 

 
2. Prior successful completion of the procedures required to modify the boundary of CSA 10A 

to include the subject property as set forth in Government Code Section 25127 et seq.  
 

3. The Applicant shall be responsible for designing, constructing, and installing water line 
service lateral(s) necessary to provide water service (including all necessary system 
improvements) to the proposed project subject to CSA 10A review per the terms of the ERA.   
Said water service laterals shall include, at a minimum, service lines for domestic water use 
and service lines for fire protection which shall include double detector check backflow 
preventer assemblies and all necessary related appurtenances as determined by the 
Department, Utilities Division Manager (UDM).  The number of necessary domestic and fire 
protection lines shall be as determined by Applicant’s fire sprinkler contractor and as 
approved by the UDM at such time as the Applicant submits plans and specifications for 
the project. 

 
4. The Applicant shall employ a Registered Civil Engineer (RCE) to design the water service 

lines and associated appurtenances and provide inspection during the course of 
construction to certify to the Department that the improvements were installed in 

A-1-137Page 146 of 356



County of San Luis Obispo Department of Public Works 
County Govt Center, Room 206 |  San Luis Obispo, CA 93408  |  (P) 805-781-5252 |  (F) 805-781-1229 

pwd@co.slo.ca.us  |  slocounty.ca.gov 
2 of 3 

accordance with the improvement plans, and to submit as-built plans to the Department.  
If the Engineer of work is other than the Designing Engineer, or is replaced during the 
course of construction, the UDM shall be notified in writing; and each such Engineer of 
Work shall certify as to their respective involvement.  The UDM, or his designated 
representative, may make such additional inspection(s) as is deemed necessary (and shall 
be available to review field conditions and/or proposed changes with the Engineer of Work). 

 
5. The proposed project will require connection to the existing CSA 10A water system.  

Construction of the water services connections for the proposed project will be at the 
Applicant’s responsibility and expense. Construction of all facilities shall be in accordance 
with the San Luis Obispo County Public Improvement Standards and Specifications.  The 
Applicant shall employ a licensed contractor and must submit evidence that the contractor 
is licensed prior to issuance of a final Will Serve Letter. 

 
6. All work within the public right of way will require an Encroachment Permit from the 

Department, as described in the attached “General Conditions for Additions to  
CSA 10A Facilities”.   

 
7. The Applicant shall comply with all other conditions described in a previously issued 

Engineering Reimbursement Agreement and/or as detailed in the attached  
“General Conditions for Additions to CSA 10A Facilities”. 

 
8. Prior to issuance of a final water Will Serve Letter, and prior to provision of water service to 

the project described above, Applicant shall: 1) pay to CSA 10A all remaining applicable 
connection fees, meter charges, other new service related fees and/or related expenses 
established by ordinance and/or as described in the attached ERA; and 2) shall comply with 
any and all conditions of approval established by the County Department of Planning and 
Building as well as any and all conditions of approval established by the County Planning 
Commission. 

 
The above CSA 10A conditions shall be effective until December 31, 2022, or until an unforeseen 
event occurs, making this presently intended service, unusually difficult or impossible to provide. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this letter, please feel free to call me at (805) 781-5135. 
 
Sincerely, 

 
LAURA HOLDER 
Utilities Division Program Manager 
 
 

A-1-138Page 147 of 356



County of San Luis Obispo Department of Public Works 
County Govt Center, Room 206 |  San Luis Obispo, CA 93408  |  (P) 805-781-5252 |  (F) 805-781-1229 

pwd@co.slo.ca.us  |  slocounty.ca.gov 
3 of 3 

Attachment: General Conditions for Additions to CSA 10A Facilities 
 
File: CF 320.490.01   
 
c: Mark Chiaramonte, Utilities Division Manager 
 Jill Ogren, Utilities Senior Engineer 

David Grim, Development Services Division 
Kate Shea, County Planning and Building Department 
Young Choi, County Planning and Building Department 
Don Valley 
Greg Wilhelm 
 

L:\Utilities\2021\January\Conditional Intent to Provide Water Svs. APN 064-405-016 ltr.docx 

A-1-139Page 148 of 356



Attachment K 
Valley Lot Plans 

A-1-140Page 149 of 356



2

1

2

0

1

9

1

8

OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH

OHOHOHOHOHOH

1

0

9

1

0

8

1

0

7

1

0

6

1

0

4

1

0

3

1

0

2

1

0

1

9

9

9

8

9

7

9

6

9

4

9

3

9

2

9

1

8

9

8

8

8

7

8

6

1

1

0

1

0

5

1

0

0

9

5

9

0

8

5

1

0

4

1

0

3

1

0

2

1

0

1

9

9

9

8

9

7

9

6

9

4

9

3

9

2

9

1

8

9

8

8

8

7

8

6

8

4

8

3

8

2

8

1

7

9

7

8

7

7

7

6

7

4

7

3

7

2

7

1

6

9

6

8

1

0

5

1

0

0

9

5

9

0

8

5

8

0

7

5

7

0

9

4

9

3

9

2

9

1

8

9

8

8

8

7

8

6

8

4

8

3

8

2

8

1

7

9

7

8

7

7

9

0

8

5

8

0

8

1

7
9

7
8

7
7

7

6

7
4

7

3

7

2

7

1

6

9

6

8

6

7

8

0

7

5

7

0

6

9

.

5

8

S

N

F

7

7

.

7

2

P

T

C

K

7

9

.

5

7

B

S

C

K

6

8

.

4

4

F

D

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

6

1

1

0

.

0

7

E

G

1

1

0

.

1

5

E

G

1

1

0

.

2

7

E

P

A

C

S

M

H

L

I

D

 

1

1

0

.

5

5

S

M

H

L

I

D

 

1

1

0

.

5

5

1

0

8

.

4

1

A

C

1

0

4

.

7

7

A

C

1

0

4

.

4

8

E

P

A

C

1

0

4

.

2

9

E

G

8

9

.

4

5

T

O

E

8

3

.

7

2

E

G

7

8

.

3

6

E

G

7

3

.

9

4

E

G

7

0

.

6

2

E

G

7

4

.

0

9

E

G

7

1

.

8

0

E

G

6

9

.

8

9

E

G

8

9

.

9

9

E

G

9

0

.

8

2

E

G

9

6

.

1

6

T

O

E

1

0

4

.

7

3

1

0

3

.

5

6

1

0

0

.

6

8

1

0

1

.

5

0

E

G

1

0

1

.

6

1

E

P

A

C

1

0

2

.

3

0

A

C

1

0

0

.

2

6

A

C

9

7

.

6

1

A

C

9

7

.

3

4

E

P

A

C

9

7

.

0

5

E

G

9

6

.

5

3

9

2

.

7

8

9

3

.

6

5

E

G

9

3

.

9

5

E

P

A

C

9

4

.

2

8

A

C

9

1

.

0

1

A

C

W

V

L

I

D

 

9

0

.

8

3

W

V

L

I

D

 

9

0

.

8

3

9

1

.

0

0

B

O

L

L

E

G

9

0

.

4

3

B

O

L

L

E

G

9

0

.

8

2

E

P

A

C

9

0

.

4

2

E

G

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

2

4

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

2

4

F

H

1

E

G

 

8

9

.

8

3

F

H

1

E

G

 

8

9

.

8

3

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

0

2

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

0

2

8

9

.

9

0

8

9

.

7

4

8

6

.

4

8

8

6

.

9

3

E

G

8

6

.

9

6

E

P

A

C

8

6

.

5

6

A

C

8

3

.

5

1

A

C

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

2

6

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

2

6

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

1

6

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

1

6

8

3

.

7

5

A

C

8

6

.

1

3

E

P

A

C

8

5

.

3

0

A

C

8

5

.

1

1

E

P

A

C

8

4

.

9

7

E

G

8

4

.

2

7

E

G

8

3

.

9

9

E

P

A

C

8

3

.

3

1

A

C

8

1

.

9

9

A

C

8

2

.

6

6
E

P

A

C

8

3

.

0

0

8

1

.

8

5

E

G

8

1

.

1

3

E

P

A

C

8

0

.

2

1

A

C

7

7

.

9

0

A

C

7

8

.

4

4

E

P

A

C

7

9

.

5

7

E

G

7

7

.

0

9

E

G

7

5

.

6

9

E

P

A

C

7

4

.

7

0

A

C

7

1

.

5

6

A

C

7

1

.

9

1

E

P

A

C

7

3

.

6

9

E

G

7

0

.

4

4

E

G

6

7

.

8

5

A

C

6

8

.

2

2

E

P

A

C

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

2

5

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

2

5

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

3

3

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

3

3

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

8

.

8

8

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

8

.

8

8

6

7

.

9

6

E

G

6

7

.

4

2

E

P

A

C

6

7

.

0

5

A

C

6

5

.

9

7

A

C

6

6

.

4

6

E

P

A

C

6

7

.

2

1

E

G

6

6

.

7

3

E

G

6

5

.

4

8

A

C

6

5

.

9

7

B

O

C

A

C

6

6

.

3

8

6

7

.

6

1

F

D

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

4

7

7

.

7

1

F

D

R

B

C

7

3

1

8

3

7

9

.

5

6

C

P

N

S

H

A

C

2

1

0

0

.

0

0

C

P

N

A

C

E

P

2

1

1

0

6

 

C

C

2

X

2

 

0

.

0

0

1

0

5

 

C

C

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

 

0

.

0

0

1

0

3

 

C

C

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

 

0

.

0

0












(property boundaries approximated for graphic purposes)























































Attachment 7

Page 1 of 8 A-1-141Page 150 of 356



2

1

2

0

1

9

1

8

OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH

OHOHOHOHOHOH

1

0

9

1

0

8

1

0

7

1

0

6

1

0

4

1

0

3

1

0

2

1

0

1

9

9

9

8

9

7

9

6

9

4

9

3

9

2

9

1

8

9

8

8

8

7

8

6

1

1

0

1

0

5

1

0

0

9

5

9

0

8

5

1

0

4

1

0

3

1

0

2

1

0

1

9

9

9

8

9

7

9

6

9

4

9

3

9

2

9

1

8

9

8

8

8

7

8

6

8

4

8

3

8

2

8

1

7

9

7

8

7

7

7

6

7

4

7

3

7

2

7

1

6

9

6

8

1

0

5

1

0

0

9

5

9

0

8

5

8

0

7

5

7

0

9

4

9

3

9

2

9

1

8

9

8

8

8

7

8

6

8

4

8

3

8

2

8

1

7

9

7

8

7

7

9

0

8

5

8

0

8

1

7
9

7
8

7
7

7

6

7
4

7

3

7

2

7

1

6

9

6

8

6

7

8

0

7

5

7

0

6

9

.

5

8

S

N

F

7

7

.

7

2

P

T

C

K

7

9

.

5

7

B

S

C

K

6

8

.

4

4

F

D

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

6

1

1

0

.

0

7

E

G

1

1

0

.

1

5

E

G

1

1

0

.

2

7

E

P

A

C

S

M

H

L

I

D

 

1

1

0

.

5

5

S

M

H

L

I

D

 

1

1

0

.

5

5

1

0

8

.

4

1

A

C

1

0

4

.

7

7

A

C

1

0

4

.

4

8

E

P

A

C

1

0

4

.

2

9

E

G

8

9

.

4

5

T

O

E

8

3

.

7

2

E

G

7

8

.

3

6

E

G

7

3

.

9

4

E

G

7

0

.

6

2

E

G

7

4

.

0

9

E

G

7

1

.

8

0

E

G

6

9

.

8

9

E

G

8

9

.

9

9

E

G

9

0

.

8

2

E

G

9

6

.

1

6

T

O

E

1

0

4

.

7

3

1

0

3

.

5

6

1

0

0

.

6

8

1

0

1

.

5

0

E

G

1

0

1

.

6

1

E

P

A

C

1

0

2

.

3

0

A

C

1

0

0

.

2

6

A

C

9

7

.

6

1

A

C

9

7

.

3

4

E

P

A

C

9

7

.

0

5

E

G

9

6

.

5

3

9

2

.

7

8

9

3

.

6

5

E

G

9

3

.

9

5

E

P

A

C

9

4

.

2

8

A

C

9

1

.

0

1

A

C

W

V

L

I

D

 

9

0

.

8

3

W

V

L

I

D

 

9

0

.

8

3

9

1

.

0

0

B

O

L

L

E

G

9

0

.

4

3

B

O

L

L

E

G

9

0

.

8

2

E

P

A

C

9

0

.

4

2

E

G

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

2

4

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

2

4

F

H

1

E

G

 

8

9

.

8

3

F

H

1

E

G

 

8

9

.

8

3

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

0

2

F

H

1

E

G

 

9

0

.

0

2

8

9

.

9

0

8

9

.

7

4

8

6

.

4

8

8

6

.

9

3

E

G

8

6

.

9

6

E

P

A

C

8

6

.

5

6

A

C

8

3

.

5

1

A

C

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

2

6

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

2

6

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

1

6

W

V

L

I

D

 

8

3

.

1

6

8

3

.

7

5

A

C

8

6

.

1

3

E

P

A

C

8

5

.

3

0

A

C

8

5

.

1

1

E

P

A

C

8

4

.

9

7

E

G

8

4

.

2

7

E

G

8

3

.

9

9

E

P

A

C

8

3

.

3

1

A

C

8

1

.

9

9

A

C

8

2

.

6

6
E

P

A

C

8

3

.

0

0

8

1

.

8

5

E

G

8

1

.

1

3

E

P

A

C

8

0

.

2

1

A

C

7

7

.

9

0

A

C

7

8

.

4

4

E

P

A

C

7

9

.

5

7

E

G

7

7

.

0

9

E

G

7

5

.

6

9

E

P

A

C

7

4

.

7

0

A

C

7

1

.

5

6

A

C

7

1

.

9

1

E

P

A

C

7

3

.

6

9

E

G

7

0

.

4

4

E

G

6

7

.

8

5

A

C

6

8

.

2

2

E

P

A

C

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

2

5

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

2

5

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

3

3

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

9

.

3

3

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

8

.

8

8

P

P

1

E

G

 

6

8

.

8

8

6

7

.

9

6

E

G

6

7

.

4

2

E

P

A

C

6

7

.

0

5

A

C

6

5

.

9

7

A

C

6

6

.

4

6

E

P

A

C

6

7

.

2

1

E

G

6

6

.

7

3

E

G

6

5

.

4

8

A

C

6

5

.

9

7

B

O

C

A

C

6

6

.

3

8

6

7

.

6

1

F

D

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

4

7

7

.

7

1

F

D

R

B

C

7

3

1

8

3

7

9

.

5

6

C

P

N

S

H

A

C

2

1

0

0

.

0

0

C

P

N

A

C

E

P

2

1

1

0

6

 

C

C

2

X

2

 

0

.

0

0

1

0

5

 

C

C

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

 

0

.

0

0

1

0

3

 

C

C

R

B

C

5

5

7

1

 

0

.

0

0












(property boundaries approximated for graphic purposes)














































Attachment 7

Page 2 of 8 A-1-142Page 151 of 356










 





















Attachment 7

Page 3 of 8 A-1-143Page 152 of 356








































Attachment 7

Page 4 of 8 A-1-144Page 153 of 356

















Attachment 7

Page 5 of 8 A-1-145Page 154 of 356















 

 


 



 

































Attachment 7

Page 6 of 8 A-1-146Page 155 of 356



GRADING LEGEND

GENERAL LEGEND

STORM DRAIN LEGEND:

99

100

S
M

H
LI

D
 1

10
.5

5

PW
DR

PW
DR

K
IT

C
H
E
N

D
IN

IN
G

M
A
IN

 D
E
C
K

C
O
VE

R
E
D

D
E
C
K

G
R
E
A
T

R
O
O
M

G
A
R
A
G
E

D
R
IVE

W
A
Y

E
N
T
R
Y

FF1 90.66
FF2 100.16

1 OF 1
INITIAL

GRADING &
DRAINAGE

EXHIBIT

DON & MARTI VALLEY

VALLEY RESIDENCE
3579 GILBERT AVENUE, CAYUCOS, CA 93430

V
A

LL
E

Y
 R

E
S

ID
E

N
C

E

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

Know what'sbelow. before you dig.Call811

00 5' 10'

5'SCALE: 1" = 

Attachment 7

Page 7 of 8 A-1-147Page 156 of 356



Attachment 7

Page 8 of 8 A-1-148Page 157 of 356



TO: MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION 

FROM: MORGAN BING, ANALYST  
VIA: ROB FITZROY, EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

DATE: MARCH 20, 2025 

SUBJECT: LAFCO FILE NO. 3-R-23: SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AMENDMENT AND 
ANNEXATION NO. 20 TO CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT (STANLEY) 

 
RECOMMENDATION 

 
Action 1: Find, by motion, the proposal to be categorically exempt from the 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) pursuant to CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a), (d), (e), and Section 15319, 
Class 19 (b). 

Action 2: Approve, by resolution, the proposed Sphere of Influence 
Amendment and Annexation No. 20 to Cayucos Sanitary District, as 
contained in Attachment A, subject to conditions of approval, and 
waive protest proceedings pursuant to Government Code Section 
56662 (a).  

PROJECT OVERVIEW 

Project Applicant: Landowner Petition of Application by Dan Stanley 

Certificate of Filing: Issued on January 27, 2025 

Acreage and General Location: The approximately 3,500 square foot (SF) property 
is located at 3525 Gilbert Avenue, southeast of Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD) and 
four blocks inland from Highway 1 at the eastern edge of a predominantly built-out 
neighborhood comprised of single-family residences. The proposed Sphere of 
Influence (SOI) amendment and annexation area will remain in the unincorporated 
area of San Luis Obispo County (County) as seen in Attachment D. 

 
Assessor Parcel Number (APN): 064-405-010 

San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission 

COMMISSIONERS 

Chair 
STEVE GREGORY 
City Member 

Vice-Chair 
HEATHER MORENO 
County Member 

DAWN ORTIZ-LEGG 
County Member 

ED WAAGE 
City Member 

ROBERT ENNS 
Special District Member 

VACANT  
Special District Member 

DAVID WATSON 
Public Member 

ALTERNATES 

BRUCE GIBSON 
County Member 

CARLA WIXOM 
City Member 

ED EBY 
Special District Member 

MICHAEL DRAZE 
Public Member 

STAFF 

ROB FITZOY 
Executive Officer 

IMELDA MARQUEZ-VAWTER 
Analyst 

MORGAN BING 
Analyst 

MELISSA MORRIS 
Commission Clerk 

HOLLY WHATLEY 
Legal Counsel 

A-2-1Page 158 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                            LAFCO File No. 3-R-23                             
March 20, 2025                                                       Page 2    
 

 

Summary: This proposal would amend the SOI and annex APN 064-405-010 into the CSD to 
provide services for the future development of a single-family residential dwelling (2,718 SF) with 
an attached garage (514 SF), and a deck/patio (928 SF) (see Stanley Residence Plan Set, 
Attachment E), as the subject property size does not accommodate the use of an on-site 
wastewater treatment system. The CSD is an independent special district that is authorized to 
provide wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste services. The CSD issued a 
Conditional Intent to Serve letter, dated December 18, 2023, which expressed conditional 
support for the inclusion of the property into the CSD’s boundaries (Attachment F). In addition, 
the CSD submitted a Plan for Services on December 19, 2023 (Attachment G).  
 
Timeline of Events: On December 21, 2022, the landowner applied for a Building Permit for a 
single-family dwelling (RBLD2022-00295) with the County of San Luis Obispo.  
 
On November 14, 2023, the landowner applied to LAFCO through a petition of application for 
Sphere of Influence amendment and annexation of 3,500 SF (0.08 acres) into CSD.  
 
On December 11, 2023, within the 30-day response requirement period, staff provided the 
applicant with a 30-day review letter, placing the project on hold until the items detailed in the 
letter were addressed/submitted for continued application processing.  
 
On December 18, 2023, the CSD issued a Conditional Intent to Serve letter for 3525 Gilbert Ave 
(APN 064-405-010) (Attachment F).  
 
On December 19, 2023, the CSD issued a Plan for Services for the proposed annexation area 
(Attachment G).  
 
On December 20, 2023, the applicant provided their initial response to the information requested 
by LAFCO, but some information requests were still pending.  
 
On January 18, 2024, the Commission formally received notice, at a Commission meeting, of the 
petition of application initiated by the landowner as required by Government Code Section 
56857. 
 
On October 22, 2024, the County Board of Supervisors approved a property tax exchange of 
6.77247% to be transferred to the CSD.  
 
On November 21, 2024, the CSD Board of Directors approved a property tax exchange of 
6.77247% to be transferred to the CSD. 
 
On January 27, 2025, the application met submission requirements and allowed staff to issue a 
Certificate of Filing.  
 
On February 27, 2025, notice was mailed to property owners and registered voters within 300 
feet of the proposed annexation property boundary. The mailing was sent out at least 21 days in 
advance of the hearing. In addition, an advertisement was placed in the New Times 21 days in 

A-2-2Page 159 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                            LAFCO File No. 3-R-23                             
March 20, 2025                                                       Page 3    
 

 

advance of today’s hearing.  Notice has been sent to the applicants, the County, applicable 
agencies, and other interested parties. 

 
ACTION 1| ENVIRONMENTAL DETERMINATION 
 
The County’s issuance of the building permit was exempt from CEQA as a ministerial project. 
LAFCO, as the Lead Agency, proposes to Categorically Exempt the project pursuant to State CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a) because the annexation area consists of one single-family 
residence located in an urbanized area which is zoned Residential-Single Family; (d) includes 
wastewater extensions of reasonable length to serve such construction; and (e) the new 
construction includes an accessory (appurtenant) structures including a garage. In addition, the 
proposal is categorically exempt from CEQA pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15319 
Class 19 (b) annexations of individual small parcels for facilities and lots for exempt facilities 
exempted by Section 15303. There are no cumulative impacts, unusual circumstances, damage 
to scenic highways, listing on hazardous waste site lists compiled pursuant to Government Code 
Section 65962.5, or indications that it may cause a substantial adverse change in the significance 
of a historical resource that would make the foregoing exemptions inapplicable.  
 
Recommendation: Find, by motion, the proposal to be exempt from CEQA pursuant to CEQA 
Guidelines Section 15303, Class 3 (a), (d), (e), and Section 15319, Class 19 (b). 
 
ACTION 2| SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AMENDMENT & ANNEXATION 
 
Sphere of Influence Amendment: Government Code Section 56430 requires that a Municipal 
Service Review (MSR) be used to analyze a proposed SOI amendment. The MSR is a study of an 
agency’s service capabilities and addresses seven factors described in Government Code Section 
56430. LAFCO last adopted an MSR and SOI for the CSD in January 2015. In addition to relying on 
the CSD’s latest MSR, an updated brief analysis of the seven factors listed in Government Code 
Section 56430 is provided in Attachment B. Prior to the annexation, the SOI must be amended to 
include the subject territory. The SOI is a plan for the probable physical boundaries of a local 
agency as determined by LAFCO per Government Code Section 56076. A SOI is generally 
considered a 20-year, long-range planning tool, and a mandatory step in the process. The SOI 
amendment is proposed concurrently with the annexation. 
 
To amend the SOI, Government Code Section 56425 (e) requires that five factors be considered, 
and determinations be made by LAFCO. SOI determinations have been made and are included in 
Attachment B. In summary, the SOI amendment for the CSD is recommended to include the 
proposed annexation area. This is based on the information, application, studies, and documents 
provided and approved by the County, CSD, and contained or referenced in this staff report. The 
CSD has considered the impacts of this proposed SOI amendment and annexation on its service 
capacities and determined that they are willing and able to provide the requested services. 
 
Annexation: When processing a proposal, the Commission is required to consider all factors 
specified in Government Code Section 56668 (for any proposal) and 56668.3 (for District 

A-2-3Page 160 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                            LAFCO File No. 3-R-23                             
March 20, 2025                                                       Page 4    
 

 

annexations). The factors in the aforementioned code sections and Commission policies, 
standards, and procedures allow the Commission to continue to exercise its powers in a manner 
that encourages and provides planned, well-ordered, and efficient urban development patterns 
with consideration of preserving open-space and agricultural lands. All factors and applicable 
LAFCO policies were addressed within Attachment C. The analysis contained therein, as well as 
all information contained in the record to date and included in the attachments to this report 
were used to inform the recommendation for approval.  
 
Ability to provide services: The proposal requests wastewater, solid waste, and recycling 
services, through annexation into the CSD. The CSD has indicated that it is willing and capable of 
providing service to the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area. This is documented in 
the CSD’s Conditional Intent to Serve Letter dated December 18, 2023, (Attachment F) and Plan 
for Services (Attachment G) dated December 19, 2023.  
 
The CSD, which operates its own wastewater treatment plant as of September 2021, evaluated 
its ability to accept additional flows from the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area and 
determined that the CSD has the treatment capacity to treat the wastewater from this lot and 
the other lots in this area. Solid waste, recycling, and green waste services would be provided to 
the property through the CSD’s Franchise Agreement with Mission Country Disposal. 
 
The CSD’s Water Resource Recovery Facility has a maximum capacity of 1.2 million gallons per 
day (MGD), and an average capacity of 0.340 MGD. Current and future average daily base 
wastewater flows were estimated at an average flow of 0.227 MGD and an ultimate flow of 0.330 
MGD. According to the CSD’s Plan for Services, the District charges users of the sewer system a 
flat rate sewer use fee based on Equivalent Dwelling Units (EDUs). One EDU is equivalent to one 
single-family residence, and one single-family residence is estimated to utilize approximately 
4,137 gallons of water per month. Therefore, the CSD expects to see an increase in wastewater 
flow of about 4,137 gallons per month (equivalent to 0.0041 MGD) for the proposed SOI 
amendment and annexation area. If all of the lots neighboring the project area were to be 
annexed (7 lots total on Gilbert Ave), it would require a total of 28,959 gallons per month 
(equivalent to 0.0289 MGD). The CSD has demonstrated that the existing infrastructure is more 
than capable of handling this increased flow. 
 
Currently, there are no CSD services provided to the proposed SOI  amendment and annexation 
area, which means no existing sanitary sewer infrastructure on the project site exists. Sewer 
service from this lot will be through a 4-inch lateral installed from the applicant’s property line, 
which will then connect to the District’s sewer main at the existing manhole at Day and Gilbert 
Ave as seen in Figure 1. The services can be installed after the applicant submits a complete Will-
Serve Application Package to the District. All force mains shall be privately installed and 
maintained. The CSD will accept the existing manhole. The applicant shall also pay a “buy-in cost” 
in addition to the regular Will-Serve Application and Connection/Inspection Fees. There will be 
no expenditure of CSD monies. 
 

A-2-4Page 161 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                            LAFCO File No. 3-R-23                             
March 20, 2025                                                       Page 5    
 

 

Figure 1: Cayucos Sanitary District Infrastructure Map 

 
 
Recommendation: Approve, by resolution, the proposed SOI Amendment and Annexation No. 
20 to the Cayucos Sanitary District, as contained in Attachment A with the following conditions, 
and waive protest proceedings pursuant to Government Code Section 56662(a). 
 

1. The applicant, Dan Stanley, shall comply with all terms and conditions stated in the 
Cayucos Sanitary District’s Conditional Intent to Serve Letter and Plan for Services that 
was issued for APN 064-405-010, prior to CSD providing service to the property.  

2. This condition applies to the extent allowed by law. The landowner, Dan Stanely, and the 
affected agency, Cayucos Sanitary District, shall defend, indemnify, hold harmless, and 
release the San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO), its officers, 
employees, attorneys, or agents from any claim, action or proceeding brought against any 
of them, the purpose of which is to attack, set aside, void, or annul, in whole or in part, 
LAFCO’s action on the proposal or on the environmental documents submitted to or 
prepared by LAFCO in connection with the proposal. This indemnification obligation shall 
include, but not be limited to, damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and expert 
witness fees that may be asserted by any person or entity, including the Applicant, arising 
out of or in connection with the application. In the event of such indemnification, LAFCO 
expressly reserves the right to provide its own defense at the reasonable expense of the 
applicant. 
 

A-2-5Page 162 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                            LAFCO File No. 3-R-23                             
March 20, 2025                                                       Page 6    
 

 

Alternatives for Action: At the conclusion of its consideration, the Commission may approve the 
request, with or without amendment, wholly, partially, or conditionally, or disapprove the 
request. The Commission has discretion in light of the whole record to make its decision. The 
following alternative actions are available: 
 

Alternative One: 
Continue consideration to the next regular meeting for reasons determined by the 
Commission. 
 
Alternative Two: 
Disapprove the change of organization proposal with direction to staff to return to the 
next regular meeting with a conforming resolution for adoption. 

 
If approved, following a 30-day reconsideration period provided under Government Code Section 
56895, the SOI amendment and annexation will become effective upon filing the Certificate of 
Completion with the Clerk Recorder pursuant to Government Code Section 56020.5.  
Government Code Section 57001 allows up to one year for a Certificate of Completion to be filed 
with the Clerk-Recorder, otherwise, the action is deemed abandoned. LAFCO may grant 
extensions based on a reasonable request by the applicant. The time frame for an extension is at 
LAFCO’s discretion based on the circumstances of the proposal. 
 
Attachments  
 
Attachment A: LAFCO Resolution Approving the Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation  

Exhibit A: Categorical Exemption 

Exhibit B: Annexation Map and Legal Description 

Attachment B: LAFCO MSR & SOI Review Factors-Government Code Section 56430 and 56425 (e) 

Attachment C: LAFCO Proposal Review Factors-Government Code Section 56668 and 56668.3 

Attachment D: Vicinity Map   

Attachment E: Stanley Residence Plan Set 

Attachment F: Conditional Intent to Serve Letter from the CSD 

Attachment G: Plan for Services 

Attachment H: Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Reports Stanley Residence, January 2010, 

April 2014, and December 2022 

Attachment I:  County of San Luis Obispo Conditions Associated with RBLD2022-00295 

Attachment J: County of San Luis Obispo, County Service Area 10A (Cayucos) Conditional Intent  

to Serve Water to APN 064-405-010 Letter  

A-2-6Page 163 of 356



Attachment A 
LAFCO Resolution Approving the 

Sphere of Influence 
Amendment and Annexation 

A-2-7Page 164 of 356



 

IN THE LOCAL AGENCY FORMATION COMMISSION 
 

COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
 

 Thursday, March 20, 2025 
 

RESOLUTION NO. 2025-XX 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING A SPHERE OF INFLUENCE AMENDMENT AND ANNEXATION NO. 20 
TO CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT (STANLEY) | LAFCO NO. 3-R-23 

 
The following resolution is now offered and read: 

RECITALS 

 WHEREAS, on November 14, 2023, interested landowner – Dan Stanley – filed a petition to 

initiate proceedings and an application with the San Luis Obispo County Local Agency Formation 

Commission, hereinafter referred to as “Commission”, pursuant to the Cortese-Knox-Hertzberg 

Local Government Reorganization Act of 2000 (CKH); and 

 WHEREAS, the application before the Commission seeks approval of a sphere of influence 

amendment and a change of organization of approximately 0.08-acres of unincorporated 

territory in the County of San Luis Obispo, hereinafter referred to as “County”, involving 

annexation into the Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD) (LAFCO File No. 3-R-23); and 

 WHEREAS, the affected territory as proposed includes one lot currently within a legal parcel 

identified by the County’s Assessor’s Office as 064-405-010; and  

 WHEREAS, on January 18, 2024, the Commission formally received notice of the petition of 

application initiated by the landowner as required by Government Code Section 56857. 

Subsequently, a 60-day period began in which the CSD had an opportunity to terminate the 

annexation if any financial or service-related concerns existed as outlined in Government Code 

Section 56857. The CSD did not request termination during this period, allowing the application 

to continue to be processed by staff; and  

 WHEREAS, on October 22, 2024, the County Board of Supervisors approved a property tax 

A-2-8Page 165 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 2 of 6 
 
 

 ك

exchange of 6.77247% after Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds to be transferred to the 

CSD pursuant to the Revenue and Taxation Code Section 99; and 

 WHEREAS, on November 21, 2024, the CSD Board Approved Resolution No. 2024-07 

accepting the negotiated exchange of 6.77247% property tax revenue and annual tax 

incrementation; and 

 WHEREAS, on January 27, 2024, the Executive Officer filed a Certificate of Filing deeming the 

application as acceptable for filing; and 

 WHEREAS, the Executive Officer has given the notices required by law and forwarded copies 

of his report to officers, persons, and public agencies prescribed by law; and 

 WHEREAS, the Executive Officer conducted an analysis of the proposal and prepared a report 

including staff’s recommendations thereon, and presented staff’s findings for Commission 

consideration; and 

 WHEREAS, the matter was set for public hearing at 9:00 a.m. on March 20, 2025, and the 

public hearing was duly conducted and determined and a decision was made on March 20, 2025; 

and 

 WHEREAS, at said hearing this Commission heard and received all oral and written protests, 

objections, and evidence, which were made, presented, or filed, and all persons present were 

given the opportunity to hear and be heard in respect to any matter relating to the proposal and 

report; and  

 WHEREAS, the reasons for the proposed sphere of influence and annexation are as follows: 

1) It will enable the applicant to receive wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste 

services from the CSD to meet the needs associated with the development conditionally 

approved by the County (Building Permit (RBLD2022-00295)) for a single-family home.  

A-2-9Page 166 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 3 of 6 
 
 

 ك

 WHEREAS, the Commission determined that the proposed sphere of influence amendment 

and annexation is categorically exempt from review under the California Environmental Quality 

Act (CEQA) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15303 Class 3 (a) because the area consists 

of a County approved new construction of one single-family residence located in an urbanized 

area which is zoned Residential Single-Family; (d) includes a sewage extensions of reasonable 

length to serve such construction; (e) the new construction includes an accessory (appurtenant) 

structures including a garage, and Section 15319 (b), Class 19 Annexations of individual small 

parcels for facilities and lots for exempt facilities exempted by Section 15303; and 

 WHEREAS, the Commission has considered all factors required to be considered by 

Government Code Sections 56430 and 56425 (e) and adopts as its written statements of 

determinations and record therein, the determinations set in the Executive Officer’s Staff Report 

dated March 20, 2025, attachments and testimony, and said record and determinations being 

incorporated by reference herein as though set forth in full; and 

 WHEREAS, the Commission has considered all factors required to be considered by 

Government Code Sections 56668, 56668.3, as well as adopted local policies and procedures and 

adopts as its written statements of determinations and record therein, the determinations set in 

the Executive Officer’s Staff Report dated March 20, 2025, attachments and testimony, and said 

record and determinations being incorporated by reference herein as though set forth in full; and 

 WHEREAS, the Commission duly considered the proposal and finds that the proposed sphere 

of influence amendment and annexation into the CSD’s service area should be approved. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED AND ORDERED by the Local Agency Formation Commission 

of the County of San Luis Obispo, State of California, as follows: 

1. That the recitals set forth hereinabove are true, correct, and valid. 

A-2-10Page 167 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 4 of 6 
 
 

 ك

2. That the Notice of Exemption prepared for this proposal is complete and adequate, having 

been prepared in accordance with the provisions of CEQA, and is hereby determined to 

be sufficient for the Commission’s actions as contained in Exhibit A hereto. 

3. That the map and legal description approved by this Commission is attached hereto, 

marked as Exhibit B and incorporated by reference herein as though set forth in full. 

4. That the Executive Officer of this Commission is authorized and directed to mail copies of 

this resolution in the manner provided by law. 

5. That pursuant to Government Code Section 56662 (d), the Commission waives protest 

proceedings and orders the annexation subject to requirements of CKH, because (a) the 

territory is uninhabited, (b) the proposal is accompanied by proof that the single owner 

of all land has given his written consent to the proposal, and (c) the CSD has not submitted 

written opposition to a waiver of protest proceedings.  

6. That the Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 20 to the Cayucos Sanitary 

District, is hereby approved with the following conditions: 

1. The applicant, Dan Stanley, shall comply with all terms and conditions stated in the 

Cayucos Sanitary District’s Conditional Intent to Serve Letter and Plan for Services 

that was issued for APN 064-405-010, prior to CSD providing service to the property.  

2. This condition applies to the extent allowed by law. The landowner, Dan Stanley, and 

the affected agency, Cayucos Sanitary District, shall defend, indemnify, hold 

harmless, and release the San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission 

(LAFCO), its officers, employees, attorneys, or agents from any claim, action or 

proceeding brought against any of them, the purpose of which is to attack, set aside, 

void, or annul, in whole or in part, LAFCO’s action on the proposal or on the 

environmental documents submitted to or prepared by LAFCO in connection with 

the proposal. This indemnification obligation shall include, but not be limited to, 

A-2-11Page 168 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 5 of 6 
 
 

 ك

damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, and expert witness fees that may be 

asserted by any person or entity, including the Applicant, arising out of or in 

connection with the application. In the event of such indemnification, LAFCO 

expressly reserves the right to provide its own defense at the reasonable expense of 

the applicant. 

7. Completion of the 30-day reconsideration period provided under Government Code 

Section 56895. 

8. The effective date shall be the date of recordation of the Certificate of Completion. The 

Certificate of Completion must be recorded within one calendar year unless an extension 

is requested and approved by the Commission. 

9. The Commission hereby directs staff to file a Notice of Exemption within five working days 

of this Resolution in compliance with Section 15062 of Title 14 of the California Code of 

Regulations.  

 
Upon a motion of Commissioner ________, seconded by Commissioner __________, and on 

the following roll call vote: 

 
AYES:     

NAYS:     

ABSENT:    

ABSTAIN:   

 

The foregoing resolution is hereby adopted.  

       
Steve Gregory, Chairperson  Date 
Local Agency Formation Commission 

ATTEST: 
 

A-2-12Page 169 of 356



Resolution No. 2025-XX 
Page 6 of 6 
 
 

 ك

 
         
Rob Fitzroy    Date 
LAFCO Executive Officer 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGAL EFFECT: 
 
 
         
Holly Whatley    Date 
LAFCO Legal Counsel 
 

A-2-13Page 170 of 356



Exhibit A 
Categorical Exemption

A-2-14Page 171 of 356



 

Notice of Exemption 
 

To: □  Office of Planning and Research    From:  San Luis Obispo LAFCO  
  PO Box 3044, 1400 Tenth Street, Room 222   Rob Fitzroy, Executive Officer 

Sacramento, CA 95812-3044     1042 Pacific St. Suite A 
           San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

                                                        (805) 781 – 5795       
□    County Clerk         rfitzroy@slo.lafco.ca.gov 

County of San Luis Obispo 
County Government Center 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93408 

 
Project Title: LAFCO File No. 3-R-23 | Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 20 to Cayucos Sanitary 

District (Stanley) 
 
Project Location: The 0.08-acre affected territory is located south of Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD); within APN: 
064-405-010. The CSD is located immediately north of the City of Morro Bay. 
 
Description of Nature, Purpose, & Beneficiaries of Project: On December 21, 2022, the landowner applied for a 
Building Permit (RBLD2022-00295) from the County of San Luis Obispo for development of a 2,718 square-foot 
single-family dwelling with a 514 square-foot attached garage, and a 928 square-foot deck/patio on a 3,500 
square-foot lot. Conditions associated with the building permit required the landowner to receive wastewater 
service from a sewer provider as the subject property size does not accommodate the use of an on-site 
wastewater treatment system. On November 14, 2023, the landowner applied to LAFCO through a petition of 
application to amend the sphere of influence (SOI) and annex APN 064-405-010 into the CSD for wastewater, solid 
waste, recycling, and green waste services. Development would consist of a single-family residence located in an 
urbanized area which is zoned Residential Single Family. LAFCO is a Lead Agency under CEQA.   
 
Name of Public Agency Approving Project: The Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) of San Luis Obispo 
County conducted a noticed public hearing on this item scheduled for March 20, 2025, at 9:00 a.m. Additional 
information on the meeting is available on the LAFCO website at https://slo.lafco.ca.gov/.  
 
Exemption Status: (check one)   
  Ministerial (Sec. 21080(b)(1); 15268);  Categorical Exemption:(Sec. 15303(a)(d)(e);15319 (b)); 
  Declared Emergency (Sec. 21080(b)(3); 15269(a));   Statutory Exemptions: State code number 
  Emergency Project (Sec. 21080(b)(4); 15269 (b)(c));   Other: The activity is not a project subject to CEQA. 

 
Reasons Why Project is Exempt: Pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section 15303, Class 3 (a) because the annexation 
area consists of one single-family residence in a residential area; (d) sewage extensions of reasonable length to 
serve such construction, (e) Accessory (appurtenant) structures including a garage; and Section 15319 Class 19 (b), 
annexations of individual small parcels for facilities and lots for exempt facilities exempted by Section 15303. 
There are no circumstances under Section 15300.2 that would make the foregoing exemptions inapplicable. 
 
 
 
 
   

Rob Fitzroy, Executive Officer    Date 

A-2-15Page 172 of 356

https://slo.lafco.ca.gov/


Exhibit B 
Annexation Map and Legal Description

A-2-16Page 173 of 356



A-2-17Page 174 of 356



A-2-18Page 175 of 356



A-2-19Page 176 of 356



Attachment B 
LAFCO MSR & SOI Review Factors-

Government Code Section 
56430 and 56425 (e)

A-2-20Page 177 of 356



Attachment B 

LAFCO Government Code Sections 56430 and 56425 (e) Factor Proposal Review  

 

LAFCO No. 3-R-23 

Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 20 to Cayucos Sanitary District (Stanley) 

 
Government Code Section 56430 – Municipal Service Review Analysis 
 
In analyzing a Sphere of Influence (SOI) Amendment proposal for the Cayucos Sanitary District 
(CSD), the Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO) relied on the San Luis Obispo County 
General Plan, Estero Area Plan, CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan and Franchise Agreement 
with Mission Country Disposal, and all associated documentation. Additionally, the Commission 
as part of this action, will use the CSD’s latest Municipal Service Review (MSR) adopted in January 
2015 and provide an updated brief analysis of the seven MSR factors listed in 56430 (a). The 
required SOI factors outlined in Government Code Section 56425 (e) have also been analyzed and 
determinations have been provided in this document. The following written statements should 
be considered and approved by the Commission.  

 
(1) Growth and population projections for the affected area. 

 
Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the 
following should also be considered as part of this action.  
 
The applicant has applied to the County of San Luis Obispo (County) for a building permit 
(RBLD2022-00295) for a two-level single-family dwelling of approximately 2,718 square feet, a 
514 square-foot garage, and a 928 square-foot deck/patio. Based on the average household size 
in the County's unincorporated areas of 2.311 persons per dwelling unit, the SOI amendment and 
annexation would generate approximately 2 new residents. This would result in an approximate 
0.08% increase in the community of Cayucos’ existing population of approximately 2,5052. 
 
Further, the Estero Area Plan, last updated in 2009, establishes a vision for the future of the Estero 
Planning Area that guides development and includes population projections for the CSD. The area 
plan is consistent with the intent and policies of the California Coastal Act and the San Luis Obispo 
County Local Coastal Program. The plan estimated a buildout total of 4,765 by 20223, although 
the CSD did not reach this buildout estimate that year. It should be noted that buildout is only a 
theoretical estimate that provides aكlikely maximum population that could result under the 

 
1 Table E-5 | Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2020-2024, from the State of 
California Department of Finance identifies the average household size in the unincorporated areas of the County 
as 2.31 persons per unit, May 2024 
2 Cayucos Census Designated Place 2020 Decennial US Census Data 
3 Buildout estimate for Cayucos assumes 9.3% vacancy for existing development, 5% vacancy for future 
development, and 2.09 persons per occupied dwelling unit 

A-2-21Page 178 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                                                        Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-23 | GC 56430 & 56425                                                                                                         Page 2 
 
general plan. The County estimates are adjusted to take into account limitations on development 
due to physical constraints and market demand. Nevertheless, actual development varies 
depending on a variety of factors. 
 
The County of San Luis Obispo, Department of Planning and Building, and the San Luis Obispo 
Council of Governments (SLO COG) provided more recent buildout estimates in the 2050 Regional 
Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, adopted in June 2017. Based on SLO COG’s buildout 
projection of 3,0964 by 2050 and the 2020 population, Cayucos is considered over 80 percent 
built out. Significant increases in population are not expected to occur in this area over the next 
10 years. 
 
(2) The location and characteristics of any disadvantaged unincorporated communities within 

or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 
 

Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the 
following should also be considered as part of this action.  

In summary, a disadvantaged unincorporated community (DUC) is defined as a community with 
an annual median household income (MHI) that is less than 80 percent of the statewide annual 
MHI of $84,0975 and an area that is considered to be inhabited (containing 12 or more registered 
voters). Portions of the CSD’s existing SOI are within two identified DUC areas as seen in Figures 
1 and 2 below. 

Cayucos DUC Area #1 consists of Census Tract 105.04, Block Group 1 with an MHI of $67,2736 
and an estimated 5057 registered voters. Cayucos DUC Area #2 consists of Census Tract 105.04, 
Block Group 3 with an MHI of $59,4448 and an estimated 6869 registered voters. It should be 
noted that the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area is located outside of the two 
identified DUCs.   

 
4 Figure 11| 2050 Regional Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, San Luis Obispo Council of Governments, 
June 2017 
5 US Census, California Median Household Income 2017-2021 
6 US Census Bureau, American Community Survey Data 2016-2020 in 2021 inflation/adjusted dollars, 2023 
7 SLO County Clerk Recorder Registered Voter GIS Data, October 2023 
8 US Census Bureau, American Community Survey Data 2016-2020 in 2021 inflation/adjusted dollars, 2023 
9 SLO County Clerk Recorder Registered Voter GIS Data, October 2023 

A-2-22Page 179 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                                                        Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-23 | GC 56430 & 56425                                                                                                         Page 3 
 
[ ňě╩╗¾9لنل Ï ♣╩ð→╛ل? ň╛Ï ×◘Ï τ╤Ï ě¾×ل∂ τ ňτ ð→╗╔→╗Ï╤¾×9ل→σ σ ╩τň╤♣ل� ╗¾Ï یل τ×Ï╩→7ل ~ل♣╗ Ï ╔ 

 
[ ňě╩╗¾9لنل Ï ♣╩ð→╛ل? ň╛Ï ×◘Ï τ╤Ï ě¾×ل∂ τ ňτ ð→╗╔→╗Ï╤¾×9ل→σ σ ╩τň╤♣ل� ╗¾Ï یل τ×Ï╩→7ل ~ل♣╗ Ï ╔ 

 

A-2-23Page 180 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                                                        Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-23 | GC 56430 & 56425                                                                                                         Page 4 
 
(3) Present and planned capacity of public facilities, adequacy of public services, and 

infrastructure needs or deficiencies including needs or deficiencies related to sewers, 
municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection in any disadvantaged, 
unincorporated communities within or contiguous to the sphere of influence. 
 

Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the 
following should also be considered as part of this action.  

The CSD provides the same services as is documented in the CSD’s 2015 MSR, however, since 
then, the CSD has made upgrades and changes to how they provide wastewater services to the 
community. On September 14, 2021, the CSD ceased pumping wastewater to the City of Morro 
Bay and began operating its new Water Resources Recovery Facility. The new facility has a 
maximum capacity of 1.2 million gallons per day (MGD), and an average capacity of 0.340 MGD, 
and consists of headworks with both coarse and fine screens and grit removal, a membrane 
bioreactor (MBR) with two aeration tanks as well as two pre-anoxic and two post-anoxic tanks, 
three membrane tanks with ultrafiltration, a screw press for dewatering solids, and two ultra-
violet vessels for disinfection of effluent water. 

 
The CSD’s Sewer System Master Plan,كrevised and approved June 2023, assists the CSD in future 
planning for the identification of future capital projects and aids in the assessment of the 
collection system as a whole. The plan also documents the following and can be found on the 
CSD’s website using the following link: 

 https://www.cayucossd.org/files/4035b6232/Sanitary+Sewer+Management+Plan+2023.pdf  

- Operation and Maintenance Program 
- Design and Performance Provisions 
- Spill Emergency Response Plan 
- Sewer Pipe Blockage Control Program  
- System evaluation, Capacity Assurance, and Capital Improvements 
- Monitoring, Measurements, and Program Modifications 

 

Key Highlights relating to the Conditional Intent to Serve letter, the Plan for Services, and 
information contained in the record,كare provided below:  

• The total capacity of the existing Water Resources Recovery Facility is a maximum 
capacity of 1.2 MGD10 and an average capacity of 0.340 MGD11. 

• Current and future average daily base wastewater flows were estimated at an average 
flow of 0.227 MGD12 and an ultimate flow of 0.330 MGD13. 

• The District charges users of the sewer system a flat rate sewer use fee based on EDUs 
(Equivalent Dwelling Units). 1 EDU is equivalent to 1 single-family residence, and 1 single-

 
10 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
11 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
12 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
13 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 

A-2-24Page 181 of 356

https://www.cayucossd.org/files/4035b6232/Sanitary+Sewer+Management+Plan+2023.pdf


San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                                                        Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-23 | GC 56430 & 56425                                                                                                         Page 5 
 

family residence is estimated to utilize approximately 4,137 gallons of water per month.  
Therefore, the CSD expects to see an increase in wastewater flow of about 4,137 gallons 
per month (equivalent to 0.0041 MGD) for the proposed project.  

• If all of the lots neighboring the project area were to be annexed (7 lots total on Gilbert 
Ave), it would require a total of 28,959 gallons per month (equivalent to 0.0289 MGD).  

• The CSD has demonstrated the existing infrastructure is more than capable of handling 
this new flow. 

• Sewer service from this lot will be through a 4-inch lateral installed from the applicant’s 
property line, which will then connect to the CSD’s sewer main at the existing manhole at 
Day and Chaney Ave. All laterals and force mains shall be privately installed and 
maintained. The CSD will accept the existing manhole.  

 

As was previously stated in response (2) above, portions of the existing CSD service area and SOI 
boundary were identified as a DUC, and the Commission is required to consider needs or 
deficiencies related to sewer, municipal and industrial water, and structural fire protection within 
or contiguous to the SOI of any DUC. The developed areas within the identified DUCs that are 
located within the CSD’s service area receive sewer service from the CSD, water from either Morro 
Rock Mutual Water Company or Paso Robles Beach Water Association (depending on location), 
and fire protection from CalFire. The developed areas within the identified DUCs that are located 
outside of the CSD’s service area but within or contiguous to the SOI receive sewer service from 
private septic tanks, water from private wells or from Morro Rock Mutual Water Company or Paso 
Robles Beach Water Association (depending on location of the property), and fire protection from 
CalFire. There are no known needs or deficiencies regarding sewer services for properties located 
outside of the CSD service area but within or contiguous to the SOI. Areas within the SOI 
Amendment and Annexation territory are not within the identified DUCs; therefore, the affected 
territory does not meet the qualifications for a DUC in accordance with State law. 
 
(4) Financial ability of agencies to provide services. 

 
Response. In addition to the analysis conducted through the CSD’s 2015 MSR update, the 
following should also be considered as part of this action. 
 
The Plan for Services prepared by the CSD, included in Attachment G, provided context on the 
CSD’s financial ability to provide services to the proposed SOI amendment. The plan stated that 
there will be no expenditure of CSD monies. The applicant shall pay a “buy-in cost” in addition to 
the regular Will-Serve Application and Connection/Inspection fees. Upon annexation, the parcel 
will be charged a monthly Vacant Lot Fee in the amount of $7.50 per lot. Upon connection to 
CSD’s infrastructure, the parcel will be charged a monthly Sewer Use Fee in the amount of $98.00 
per EDU. In addition, a Property Tax Agreement between the County and the CSD was approved 
for a property tax exchange of 6.78336% after Educational Revenue Augmentation Funds are 
transferred to the CSD.  
 

A-2-25Page 182 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                                                        Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-23 | GC 56430 & 56425                                                                                                         Page 6 
 
(5) Status of, and opportunities for, shared facilities. 
Response. No additional analysis is being included in this section of the CSD’s 2015 MSR update. 

 

(6) Accountability for community service needs, including governmental structure and 
operational efficiencies. 

Response. No additional analysis is being included in this section of the CSD’s 2015 MSR update. 
 

(7) Any other matter related to effective or efficient service delivery, as required by 
commission policy. 

Response. No additional analysis is being included in this section of the CSD’s 2015 MSR update. 

 
Government Code Section 56425 - Sphere of Influence Analysis 

 
Sphere of Influence Amendment: Prior to annexation, the SOI must be amended to include the 
subject territory. An SOI is defined by Government Code Section 56425 as “…a plan for the 
probable physical boundary and future service area of a local agency or municipality…” An SOI is 
generally considered a 20-year, long-range planning tool, and an SOI amendment is a mandatory 
step in the process before annexation. The SOI amendment is proposed concurrently with the 
annexation. 
 
Sphere of Influence Factors. To amend a local agency’s SOI, five specific determinations are 
required to be considered by LAFCO per Government Code Section 56425 (e). The 
determinations, factors, and responses are provided below: 
 

1. The present and planned land uses in the area, including agricultural and open-space 
lands. The present land use designation within the proposed SOI amendment and 
annexation area is Residential Single-Family (RSF) and the zoning will remain unchanged.  
There are no agricultural or open-space lands in the affected territory.  

 
2. The present and probable need for public facilities and services in the area. As stated in 

the attached Plan for Services,كAttachment G, the proposal requests wastewater, solid 
waste, recycling, and green waste services for the single-family residence that will be 
constructed on APN 064-405-010. The proposed SOI amendment and annexation area 
and the other neighboring lots on Gilbert Ave are already within the CSD’s Urban Reserve 
Line as designated by the County (APNs: 064-405-010, 064-405-041, 064-405-013, 064-
405-014, and 064-405-015). 
 

3. The present capacity of public facilities and adequacy of public services that the agency 
provides or is authorized to provide. As stated in the Plan for Services (Attachment G) the 
CSD is willing and able to provide the requested service, subject to the terms and 

A-2-26Page 183 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                                                        Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-23 | GC 56430 & 56425                                                                                                         Page 7 
 

conditions of the Conditional Intent to Serve Letter dated December 18, 2023, the Plan 
for Services dated December 19, 2023, and associated annexation documents.كPlease also 
refer to the analysis provided in Government Code Section 56430 (3) included on page 4 
of this document for more information regarding the CSD’s infrastructure. 
 
- The total capacity of the existing Water Resources Recovery Facility is a maximum 

capacity of 1.2 MGD and an average capacity of 0.340 MGD. 
- Current and future average daily base wastewater flows were estimated at an average 

flow of 0.227 MGD and an ultimate flow of 0.330 MGD. 
- The CSD charges users of the sewer system a flat rate sewer use fee based on EDUs. 

1 EDU is equivalent to 1 single-family residence, and 1 single-family residence is 
estimated to utilize approximately 4,137 gallons of water per month. Therefore, the 
CSD expects to see an increase in wastewater flow of about 4,137 gallons per month 
(equivalent to 0.0041 MGD) for this project.  

- The CSD’s existing infrastructure is more than capable of handling this increased flow. 
- Solid Waste, Recycling, and Green Waste services would be provided to the property 

through the CSD’s Franchise Agreement with Mission Country Disposal, similar to all 
the lots already within the CSD boundary. 

 
4. The existence of any social or economic communities of interest in the area if the 

commission determines that they are relevant to the agency. There are no relevant 
social or economic communities of interest in the existing SOI area. 

 
5. For an update of a sphere of influence of a city or special district that provides public 

facilities or services related to sewers, municipal and industrial water, or structural fire 
protection, that occurs pursuant to subdivision (g) on or after July 1, 2012, the present 
and probable need for those public facilities and services of any disadvantaged 
unincorporated communities within the existing sphere of influence.  
 
- LAFCO staff have identified two DUCs within the CSD’s SOI and service area boundary 

as seen on page 2 within Section 2 of the Government Code Section 56430 analysis 
provided in this report. The locations identified as a DUC display characteristics of a 
DUC pursuant to Government Code Section 56033.5 

- It should be noted that the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area is located 
outside of the two identified DUCs.   

- The CSD provides wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste services. 
- At present time, the portions of the DUC that are located within the CSD’s service area 

are eligible to receive wastewater services through the CSD. The developed portions 
of the DUC that are located outside of the CSD’s current service area and within or 
contiguous to the SOI are receiving wastewater service from private septic tanks and 
not from the CSD.  

- The type of public services and public facilities required in these areas is not 
anticipated to change, although the level of service demand will slightly increase 

A-2-27Page 184 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                                                                                        Attachment B 
LAFCO No. 3-R-23 | GC 56430 & 56425                                                                                                         Page 8 
 

within the portion proposed for an SOI amendment if/once annexed for one single-
family home. 

 
Local Sphere of Influence Policies. The Government Code requires that each commission 
establish written policies and procedures and states that LAFCOs are to exercise their powers 
consistent with those policies and procedures. The San Luis Obispo LAFCO’s policies encourage 
and provide for well-ordered, efficient urban development patterns, balanced with preserving 
open space and agricultural land while discouraging urban sprawl. The SOI Update for the CSD is 
consistent with those policies and the purposes of LAFCO. 
 
Sphere of Influence Amendment Analysis and Conclusions. The SOI amendment for the CSD is 
recommended to include the proposed annexation area. This is based on the information, 
application, studies, and documents provided and approved by the County, CSD, and contained 
or referenced in this Staff Report. The CSD has considered the impacts of this SOI amendment 
and annexation on its service capacities and determined that they are willing and able to provide 
the requested services. 

A-2-28Page 185 of 356



Attachment C 
LAFCO Proposal Review Factors-

Government Code Section 
56668 and 56668.3

A-2-29Page 186 of 356



Attachment C 

LAFCO Proposal Review Factors - Government Code Sections 56668 & 56668.3 

 

Sphere of Influence Amendment and Annexation No. 20 to Cayucos Sanitary District 

 (Stanley) – LAFCO No. 3-R-23 

 
1 Table E-5 | Population and Housing Estimates for Cities, Counties, and the State, 2020-2024, from the State of California Department of Finance identifies the 
average household size in the unincorporated areas of the County as 2.31 persons per unit, May 2024 
2 Cayucos Census Designated Place 2020 Decennial US Census Data 

Factor (a)  
 
Population and population 
density; land area and land use; 
per capita assessed valuation; 
topography, natural boundaries, 
and drainage basins; proximity to 
other populated areas; the 
likelihood of significant growth in 
the area, and in adjacent 
incorporated and unincorporated 
areas, during the next 10 years. 

 

Response.   
 
Population and Population density: 
 
The applicant has applied to the County of San Luis Obispo (County) for a building permit 
(RBLD2022-00295) for a two-level single-family dwelling of approximately 2,718 square feet, a 
514 square-foot garage, and a 928 square-foot deck/patio. Based on the average household 
size in the County unincorporated areas of 2.311 persons per dwelling unit, the Sphere of 
Influence (SOI) amendment and annexation would generate approximately 2 new residents. 
This would result in an approximate 0.08% increase in the community of Cayucos’ existing 
population of approximately 2,5052. 
 
Land Area and Land Use: 
 
The proposed SOI amendment and annexation area is zoned Residential Single-Family (RSF) 
within the Cayucos Urban Reserve Line (URL). No zoning changes are proposed.  
 
Per Capita Assessed Valuation: 
 
The total assessed value of the parcel containing the SOI amendment and annexation area as 
determined by the County Assessor is $47,724. The amount of property tax revenue to be 
transferred from the County to CSD shall be as per the approved Tax Exchange Agreements. 
On October 22, 2024, the County approved a property tax agreement through Resolution No. 
2024-241. On November 21, 2024, CSD approved a property tax exchange agreement through 

A-2-30Page 187 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 2 

 
Resolution No. 2024-07. The property tax agreements include the following provisions:  

- No base property tax revenue shall be transferred from the County of San Luis Obispo 
to the Cayucos Sanitary District 

- Annual tax increment shall be transferred from the County of San Luis Obispo to the 
Cayucos Sanitary District effective the date of the roll year specified by the California 
Board of Equalization, anticipated fiscal year 2025-26 and each fiscal year thereafter in 
the amount of 6.77247 percent after Education Revenue Augmentation Funds.  

 
Topography, Natural Boundaries, and Drainage Basins: 
 
The project site is located within a San Luis Obispo County Geological Study Area (GSA). This 
designation requires the preparation of a geologic report for single-family residences when 
located on a site that is subject to landslides or liquefaction to ensure stability and structural 
integrity. A Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report was prepared for the single-family 
residence to be constructed on the project site in 2010, and updated in 2014 and 2022 
(Attachment H). The report concludes that from a geotechnical engineering standpoint, the 
site is suitable for the proposed residence provided that the recommendations contained in 
the report are implemented in design and construction. 
 
The overall slope of the area to be graded for this project is less than 10%. According to 
County Staff, due to its slope, this project only requires a discretionary permit because it falls 
below the slope thresholds that necessitate a Minor Use Permit or Variance. However, as a 
part of the project’s land use permit application (RBLD2022-00295), the County has also 
required a Minor Grading Permit.  
 
Proximity to Other Populated Areas:  
 
The SOI amendment and annexation area is located at 3525 Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, CA 
southeast of Cayucos Sanitary District (CSD), north of the City of Morro Bay, and four blocks 
inland from Highway 1 at the eastern edge of a predominantly built-out neighborhood 
comprised of single-family residences as seen in Attachment D.     
 
Likelihood of Significant Growth in the Area, and in Adjacent Incorporated and 

A-2-31Page 188 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 3 

 

 
3 2020 Decennial Census 
4 2050 Regional Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, San Luis Obispo Council of Governments, June 2017 

Unincorporated Areas, During the Next 10 Years: 
 
The proposed project will create one new residence, which will increase the supply of homes 
in the area, leading to potential very small population growth. This is in line with County and 
Local plans to increase housing availability. The project would not result in new jobs in the 
area that would require new housing. The project does not propose new roads or 
infrastructure for undeveloped or underdeveloped areas that would indirectly result in 
population growth. Cayucos is considered over 80 percent built out based on the 2020 
population3 and SLOCOG buildout estimates4. Significant increases in population are not 
expected to occur in this area over the next 10 years. 
 

Factor (b)  
 
1) The need for organized 
community services; the present 
cost and adequacy of 
governmental services and 
controls in the area; probable 
future needs for those services 
and controls; and probable effect 
of the proposed incorporation, 
formation, annexation, or 
exclusion and of alternative 
courses of action on the cost and 
adequacy of services and controls 
in the area and adjacent areas. 

 
2) "Services," as used in this 
subdivision, refers to 
governmental services whether or 

Response.  
 
As a condition associated with the applicant’s building permit (Attachment I), the applicant 
must provide a will-serve letter from a sewer provider as the subject property size does not 
accommodate the use of an on-site wastewater treatment system. The project area is 
immediately adjacent to the CSD, which is an independent special district authorized to 
provide wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and green waste services. CSD has provided a 
Conditional Intent to Serve letter (Attachment F) and a Plan for Services (Attachment G). The 
Plan for Services documents CSD’s adequate capacity for serving Assessor Parcel Number 
(APN) 064-405-010 as well as information related to the cost of providing service which will 
be borne by the project applicant.   
 
 

 

 

A-2-32Page 189 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 4 

 
not the services are services 
which would be provided by local 
agencies subject to this division, 
and includes the public facilities 
necessary to provide those 
services. 
 

Factor (c)  
 
The effect of the proposed action 
and of alternative actions, on 
adjacent areas, on mutual social 
and economic interests, and on 
the local governmental structure 
of the county.  

Response.  
 
The proposed action would allow the proposal to be implemented upon compliance with the 
County’s conditions associated with the building permit (RBLD2022-00295) and LAFCO’s 
conditions of approval. The area would continue to be located within the County’s 
unincorporated area and be added to CSD’s service area boundary. The eventual impact could 
be a small increase in population within CSD. 

Factor (d)  
 
The conformity of both the 
proposal and its anticipated 
effects with both the adopted 
commission policies on providing 
planned, orderly, efficient 
patterns of urban development, 
and the policies and priorities set 
forth in Section 56377. 

 

 

 

 

Response.  

Applicable Commission Policies are listed and analyzed below:  
  
Section 2.1 General Policies 
Policy 2.1.1. The Commission shall endeavor to balance the need to efficiently provide public 
services with the sometimes-competing interests of discouraging urban sprawl, preserving 
prime agriculture land and open space (Gov. Code Section 56001 and 56301). 

Analysis. The CSD is willing and able to provide the requested services, as is 
documented in factor (k) of this Attachment. The project area is immediately adjacent 
to the current CSD service area boundary and does not contain prime agricultural land 
as defined under Government Code Section 56064 or Open-Space Lands as defined 
under Government Code Section 56059.  

 
 
Policy 2.1.3. Cities and Special Districts are discouraged from annexations outside of their 

A-2-33Page 190 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 5 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Sphere of Influence unless the need for services is clearly demonstrated (Gov. Code Section 
56375.5). 

Analysis. The need for organized community services was documented in factor (b) of 
this Attachment. As part of this proposal, the applicant also proposes to amend the 
SOI to include the project area. To amend a local agency’s SOI, Government Code 
Section 56425 (e) requires five specific determinations to be considered by LAFCO. 
These determinations can be found in Attachment B and an SOI amendment is 
recommended by staff.  
 

Policy 2.1.4. Jurisdictions are encouraged to create places to live that integrate various land 
uses as a way of providing for a diverse social and economic community. 

Analysis. The SOI and annexation area is within the County’s Residential Single-Family 
land use category. No zoning changes are proposed.  
 

Policy 2.1.5. The Commission prefers urban development within Cities and the Urban Reserve 
Line of unincorporated communities as opposed to development in the unincorporated area 
(Gov. Code Section 56001). 

Analysis. The SOI and annexation area is within the Cayucos URL.  
 

Policy 2.1.8. The Commission normally will require annexation to a municipality rather than 
annexation to a sanitation, sanitary, community service or water district in the unincorporated 
area (Gov. Code Section 56001). 

Analysis. The SOI and annexation area is more than 0.5 miles north of the City of 
Morro Bay and is immediately adjacent to the CSD. The CSD’s existing wastewater 
infrastructure is also located directly adjacent to the SOI and annexation area at Day 
and Chaney Ave.  

 
Policy 2.1.10. Impacts on affordable housing, impact of the creation of new jobs on affordable 
housing stock, within the annexation area, and in neighboring jurisdictions. Demonstration 
that the effects of the proposed project on affordable housing have been mitigated (Gov. Code 
Section 56001). The Commission recognizes that providing a range of housing opportunities 
for persons and families of all incomes is an important factor in promoting orderly 
development. 

A-2-34Page 191 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 6 

 

 
5 2020 Decennial Census 
6 2050 Regional Growth Forecast for San Luis Obispo County, San Luis Obispo Council of Governments, June 2017 

Analysis. This project is proposed for future development of a single-family residential 
dwelling and does not provide affordable housing opportunities or create new jobs, 
which may have an impact on affordable housing stock.  

 
Section 2.3 Special District Annexation Policies 
Policy 2.3.1. Special districts are encouraged to annex unincorporated islands as well as land 
that is mostly surrounded by a jurisdiction. (Gov. Code Sections 56001, & 56375.3). 

Analysis. There are no unincorporated islands within or adjacent to the CSD service 
area boundary.  

 
Policy 2.3.2. Prior to annexation of territory within an agency’s Sphere of Influence, the 
Commission encourages development on vacant or underutilized parcels already within the 
boundaries of a jurisdiction. The agency should provide LAFCO with a build-out estimate or 
inventory and document how it was prepared. 

Analysis. Cayucos is considered over 80 percent built out based on the 2020 
population5 and SLOCOG buildout estimates6.  

 
Policy 2.3.3. A demonstrated need exists for the required services and there is no reasonable 
alternative manner of providing these services. 

Analysis. As a condition associated with the applicant’s building permit (Attachment 
I), the applicant must provide a will-serve letter from a sewer provider as the subject 
property size does not accommodate the use of an on-site wastewater treatment 
system.  

 
Policy 2.3.4. The proposed annexation represents a logical and reasonable expansion of the 
district. 

Analysis. As previously discussed, the SOI and annexation area is immediately 
adjacent to CSD’s current service area boundary and the district’s existing 
infrastructure is immediately adjacent to the project area on Day and Chaney 
Avenue. The CSD has also indicated in its Plan for Services that the district’s existing 

A-2-35Page 192 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 7 

 
infrastructure is more than capable of handling the increased flow. Therefore, the 
proposed annexation provides for the planned, orderly, and efficient development of 
the area.  

 
Policy 2.3.5. The proposed annexation reflects the plans of the adjacent governmental 
agencies. 

Analysis. The territory proposed for an SOI amendment and annexation is within the 
unincorporated County and is adjacent to the CSD. The territory is also within the 
Cayucos URL, which is defined by the County as land that is planned for urban growth 
within the next 20 years. The County encourages “in-fill” development within the 
existing URL.  

 
Policy 2.3.6. The proposed annexation does not represent an attempt to annex only revenue 
producing property. 

Analysis. The SOI amendment and annexation is proposed to receive wastewater 
service for future development of a single-family residential dwelling. The CSD charges 
users of the sewer system a flat rate sewer use fee. In addition, the applicant shall also 
pay a “buy-in cost” in addition to the regular Will-Serve Application and 
Connection/Inspection Fees. The proposed annexation does not represent an attempt 
to annex only revenue producing property.  
 

Policy 2.3.7. The proposed boundaries must be definite and certain and conform to lines of 
assessment whenever possible. 

Analysis. As described in factor (f) the boundaries for the SOI amendment and 
annexation have been deemed definite and certain by the County Surveyor and will 
adhere to assessor parcel lines; APN 064-405-010. The SOI amendment and 
annexation map is attached as Attachment A Exhibit B in the staff report.  

 
Policy 2.3.8. The district has the capability of meeting the need for services and has submitted 
studies and information documenting its capabilities. 

Analysis. The CSD is willing and able to provide the requested services and has 
documented its capability to provide service to the SOI and annexation area subject to 
the terms and conditions of the Conditional Intent to Serve letter and Plan for 

A-2-36Page 193 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 8 

 
Services. Please refer to factors (b) and (k) of this attachment for more information 
regarding the need for services and CSA 23’s ability to provide service. 
 

Section 2.11 Commission Administrative Policies 
 “Application Policies” were deemed met and sufficient on January 27, 2025, when the 
Certificate of Filing was issued. 
 
Government Code Section 56377 
56377. In reviewing and approving or disapproving proposals that could reasonably be 
expected to include, facilitate, or lead to the conversion of existing open-space lands to uses 
other than open-space uses, the commission shall consider all of the following policies and 
priorities: 
(a) Development or use of land for other than open-space uses shall be guided away from 
existing prime agricultural lands in open-space use toward areas containing nonprime 
agricultural lands unless that action would not promote the planned, orderly, efficient 
development of an area. 
(b) Development of existing vacant or nonprime agricultural lands for urban uses within the 
existing jurisdiction of a local agency or within the sphere of influence of a local agency should 
be encouraged before any proposal is approved that would allow for or lead to the 
development of existing open-space lands for non-open-space uses which are outside of the 
existing sphere of influence or the local agency. 

Analysis. The project area does not contain prime agricultural land as defined under 
Government Code Section 56064 or Open-Space Lands as defined under Government 
Code Section 56059.  
 

Factor (e)  
 
The effect of the proposal on 
maintaining the physical and 
economic integrity of agricultural 
lands, as defined by Section 
56016. 

 

Response.   
 

The SOI amendment and annexation area does not include land within the Agriculture land 
use designation, land subject to a Williamson Act contract, or Agricultural lands as defined in 
Government Code Section 56016. The parcel is within the unincorporated County and has 
seen no development under its land use designation of Residential Single-Family. 
 

A-2-37Page 194 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 9 

 
Factor (f)  
 
The definiteness and certainty of 
the boundaries of the territory, 
the nonconformance of proposed 
boundaries with lines of 
assessment or ownership, the 
creation of islands or corridors of 
unincorporated territory, and 
other similar matters affecting the 
proposed boundaries. 

 

Response.  
 
The boundaries for the proposed SOI amendment and annexation area have been deemed 
definite and certain by the County Surveyor and will adhere to assessor parcel lines; APN 064-
405-010. The SOI amendment and annexation map is attached as Attachment A Exhibit B in 
the staff report. The proposed annexation will remain within the unincorporated County; 
therefore, it does not create an island or corridor of unincorporated territory.  

Factor (g)  
 
A regional transportation plan 
adopted pursuant to Section 
65080. 

 

Response.   
 
The 2023 San Luis Obispo Council of Governments (SLOCOG) Regional Transportation Plan 
(RTP) was adopted pursuant to requirements of Government Code Section 65080. The SOI 
amendment and annexation area is closest to S.R. 1, which is analyzed in the RTP.     
 
S.R. 1, commonly known as Highway 1, is a north-south state highway that runs along most of 
California’s Pacific coastline. The route is designated as both a freeway and a conventional 
highway in different locations. It is on the Interregional Road System but is not on the 
National Highway System nor is it designated as an Extra-Legal Load Network Corridor, an 
oversized truck route, or a Focus Route. It serves as the Pacific Coast Bike Route and USBR95 
in San Luis Obispo County and is adjacent to the area designated for the California Coastal 
Trail.  Periodic closures due to rockslides north of San Luis Obispo County are detrimental to 
the businesses and communities along Highway 1 in the north coast. The 2023 RTP states that 
in 2015, SR 1 accounted for 9% of the overall region's Vehicle Miles Traveled; this increased to 
15% in 2045. No significant transportation related impacts are expected to occur as a result of 
this project. 

A-2-38Page 195 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 10 

 
Factor (h)  
 
The proposal's consistency with 
city or county general and specific 
plans. 

 

Response.   
 
The County General Plan sets policy direction for allowable land use on both public and 
private lands within the unincorporated areas and acts to provide applicable review bodies 
appropriate guidance and direction in making future land use decisions. The SOI amendment 
and annexation area is consistent with the San Luis Obispo County General Plan because it 
will result in compatible “infill” development that minimizes risks to human life and property, 
and because there are no alternatives to the proposed development location that would 
reduce site disturbance. In addition, the URL in Cayucos was moved to, in part, include the 
lots on Gilbert Avenue and as part of the Estero Area Plan Update which was adopted by the 
County Board of Supervisors on November 2, 2004, by Resolution 2004-350, in anticipation of 
the area needing service in the future.  
 

Factor (i)  
 
The Sphere of Influence of any 
local agency that may be 
applicable to the proposal being 
reviewed. 
 

Response.   
 
The SOI is a plan for the probable physical boundaries of a local agency as determined by 
LAFCO per Government Code Section 56076. The approximately 3500 square foot parcel is 
not within the SOI and is proposed for a concurrent SOI amendment and annexation into CSD. 
The proposal does not conflict with the SOI of any other jurisdiction. The affected territory is 
already within the following special district service area boundaries: 

- Upper Salinas-Las Tablas RCD  
- County Service Area 10- Cayucos  
- Cayucos-Morro Cemetery District 

 
Factor (j)  
 
The comments of any affected 
local agency or other public 
agency. 
  
 

Response.   
 
No comments or resolutions raising objections to the proposal have been received by any 
affected local agency or other public agency.  

A-2-39Page 196 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 11 

 

 
7 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
8 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
9 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 
10 CSD’s Sewer System Management Plan, Revised and Approved June 2023 

Factor (k)  
 
The ability of the newly formed or 
receiving entity to provide the 
services that are the subject of 
the application to the area, 
including the sufficiency of 
revenues for those services 
following the proposed boundary 
change.   

 

Response.   
 
When applying for a change of organization, a Plan for Services is required in accordance with 
Government Code Section 56653. The CSD submitted a Plan for Services in December 2023, 
included as Attachment G. The CSD plans to provide wastewater, solid waste, recycling, and 
green waste services to the proposed SOI and annexation site. Please refer to factor (b) of this 
attachment for more information regarding the need for service. 
 
Wastewater Service  
On September 14, 2021, the CSD ceased pumping wastewater to the City of Morro Bay and 
began operating their new Water Resources Recovery Facility, which is a newly constructed 
wastewater treatment plant, completed in 2021. It has a maximum capacity of 1.2 million 
gallons per day7 (MGD), an average capacity of 0.340 MGD8, and consists of headworks with 
both coarse and fine screens and grit removal, a membrane bio reactor (MBR) with two 
aeration tanks as well as two pre-anoxic and two post-anoxic tanks, three membrane tanks 
with ultrafiltration, a screw press for dewatering solids, and two ultra-violet vessels for 
disinfection of effluent water. Current and future average daily base wastewater flows were 
estimated at an average flow of 0.227 MGD9 and an ultimate flow of 0.330 MGD10. 
 
According to the CSD’s Plan for Services, the district charges users of the wastewater system a 
flat rate sewer use fee based on Equivalent Dwelling Units (EDUs). One EDU is equivalent to 
one single-family residence, and one single-family residence is estimated to use 
approximately 4,137 gallons per month (equivalent to 0.0041 MGD). If all seven parcels on 
Gilbert Avenue, including APN 064-405-010, are annexed, the total increase in flow is 
expected to be approximately 28,959 gallons per month. The CSD has demonstrated the 
existing infrastructure is more than capable of handling this new flow. 
 
Currently, there are no CSD services provided to the proposed SOI and annexation area, 

A-2-40Page 197 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 12 

 
which means no existing sanitary sewer infrastructure on the project site exists. The Plan for 
Services prepared by the CSD, included in Attachment G, states that sewer service from this 
lot will be through a 4-inch lateral installed from the applicant’s property line, which will then 
connect to the District’s sewer main at the existing manhole at Day and Gilbert Avenue. The 
services can be installed after the applicant submits a complete Will-Serve Application 
Package to the District. All force mains shall be privately installed and maintained. The District 
will accept the existing manhole.  
 
The Plan for Services also provided information on how services will be financed. The plan 
stated that there would be no expenditure of CSD monies and the applicant shall also pay a 
“buy-in cost” in addition to the standard Will-Serve Application and Connection/Inspection 
Fees. Upon its annexation, the parcel will be charged a monthly Vacant Lot Fee in the amount 
of $7.50 per lot. Upon connection to CSD’s infrastructure, the parcel will be charged a 
monthly Sewer Use Fee in the amount of $98.00 per EDU. 
 
Solid Waste, Recycling, and Green Waste Services 
 
CSD has a Franchise Agreement with Mission Country Disposal to provide solid waste, 
recycling, and green waste services within the District. The current agreement was last 
revised on June 27, 2022, having commenced on August 11, 2006. Service to the SOI and 
annexation area would be provided similarly to all the lots already within the CSD boundary. 
Funding for solid waste collection and disposal activities comes primarily from fees charged to 
residents. 

Factor (l)  
 
Timely availability of water 
supplies adequate for projected 
needs as specified in Section 
65352.5.  
 

Response.   
 
The SOI amendment and annexation area is within County Service Area (CSA) 10. The CSA 10 
water treatment plant provides drinking water to the community of Cayucos from Whale 
Rock Reservoir. CSA 10A is the water distribution system for the southern part of Cayucos. 
The applicant obtained a conditional intent to serve letter from CSA 10, Zone A (Attachment 
J), dated June 12, 2023, documenting that CSA 10, Zone A would provide water service to the 
subject property at 3525 Gilbert Avenue in Cayucos based upon the fact that a single-family 
dwelling would ultimately be served provided that all conditions are met.  
 A-2-41Page 198 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 13 

 

 
11 County of SLO General Plan – 2020-2028 Housing Element, Adopted November 17, 2020 

Factor (m)  
 
The extent to which the proposal 
will affect a city or cities and the 
county in achieving their 
respective fair shares of the 
regional housing needs as 
determined by the appropriate 
council of governments consistent 
with Article 10.6 (commencing 
with Section 65580) of Chapter 3 
of Division 1 of Title 7. 
 

Response.   
 
The Regional Housing Needs Allocation (RHNA) establishes the total number of housing units 
that the County and each of the seven cities must plan for within the planning period.  The 
San Luis Obispo region is currently in the sixth RHNA Housing Element Cycle. The 2019 RHNA 
was prepared in conjunction with the 2019 RTP with input and recommendations from the 
2019 RHNA Working Team, Technical Transportation Advisory Committee, Citizens 
Transportation Advisory Committee, SLOCOG Board of Directors, and the public. 
 
The County’s Housing Element defines affordable housing as housing that is affordable to 
very low-, low-, moderate-, or workforce-income households. In the context of meeting the 
unincorporated county’s allocation of regional housing needs share, dwelling units typically 
must be deed restricted to limit rental or purchase of the dwelling units to households that 
qualify at extremely low-, very low-, and low-income levels. Table 1 below defines each 
income category.  
 
Table 1: Income Categories for Households in San Luis Obispo County11 

Income Level Range in Area Median Income (AMI) 

Extremely Low No more than 30% AMI 

Very Low  up to 50% AMI 
Low  50-80% AMI 
Moderate  80-120% AMI 
Above Moderate 

o Workforce 
Above 120% AMI  
120-160% AMI 

 
The project will increase the countywide available housing stock by one unit at market rate, 
which falls within the above moderate-income level. Please note that units are not officially 
counted towards annual RHNA tracking until they are permitted.   
 

A-2-42Page 199 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 14 

 
Factor (n)  
 
Any information or comments 
from the landowner or 
landowners, voters, or residents 
of the affected territory. 

 

Response.   
 
LAFCO did not receive any comments from landowners, voters, or residents prior to the 
release of the staff report. 

Factor (o)  
 
Any information relating to 
existing land use designations. 
 

Response.   
 
The SOI amendment and annexation area is within the County’s Residential Single-Family land 
use category. No zoning changes are proposed. The property also qualifies as a Geologic 
Study Area, which is defined as a combining designation that is applied to areas where 
geologic and soil conditions could present new developments and their users with potential 
hazards to life and property. Please refer to factors (a) for more discussion regarding the 
geology and topography within the project site.  
 
 

A-2-43Page 200 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 15 

 
Factor (p)       
 
The extent to which the proposal 
will promote environmental 
justice. As used in this 
subdivision, "environmental 
justice" means the fair treatment 
and meaningful involvement of 
people of all races, cultures, 
incomes, and national origins, 
with respect to the location of 
public facilities and the provision 
of public services, to ensure a 
healthy environment for all 
people such that the effects of 
pollution are not 
disproportionately borne by any 
particular populations or 
communities. 

Response.   
 
The residential unit would be available to people of all races and cultures should the 
landowner decide to sell the single-family home. With regard to the location of public 
facilities and the provision of public services, this project does not affect the fair treatment of 
people of all races, cultures, and incomes. 

Factor (q)  
 
Information contained in a local 
hazard mitigation plan, 
information contained in a safety 
element of a general plan, and 
any maps that identify land as a 
very high fire hazard zone 
pursuant to Section 51178 or 
maps that identify land 
determined to be in a state 

Response.   
 
The County’s Multi-Jurisdictional Hazard Mitigation Plan was adopted in October 2019 and 
establishes the County's emergency policies and procedures in the event of a disaster and 
addresses the allocation of resources and protection of the public in the event of an 
emergency.  
 
The Safety Element of the General Plan for the County of San Luis Obispo (approved 
December 1999) addresses a wide range of natural and human-caused hazards and consists 
of goals and policies aimed to reduce the risks associated with these hazards such as loss of 
life, injuries, property damage, and economic and social dislocation. 

A-2-44Page 201 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 16 

 

 
12 Cal Fire Fire Hazard Severity Zone Viewer Maps, September 2023 

responsibility area pursuant to 
Section 4102 of the Public 
Resources Code, if it is 
determined that such information 
is relevant to the area that is the 
subject of the proposal. 
(Amended by Stats. 2019, Ch. 
360) 

The state provides wildland and watershed fire protection within State Responsibility Areas 
(SRAs); it does not provide structure protection, rescue and emergency service, or hazardous 
materials response. Counties provide fire services at their discretion and service levels vary 
from county to county. SLO County chose to protect residents and property within its 
jurisdiction by creating County Fire in partnership with CAL FIRE. The affected territory is 
within a State Responsibility Area and would be considered a “Moderate” fire hazard severity 
zone; predictions are based on factors including fuel availability, topography, fire history, and 
climate12. Based on the County’s emergency response times, it will take approximately 0 to 5 
minutes to respond to a call regarding fire or life safety. 
 

56668.3 
 
(a) If the proposed change of 

organization or reorganization 
includes a city detachment or 
district annexation, except a 
special reorganization, and 
the proceeding has not been 
terminated based upon 
receipt of a resolution 
requesting termination 
pursuant to either Section 
56751 or Section 56857, 
factors to be considered by 
the commission shall include 
all of the following: 
 
(1) In the case of district 
annexation, whether the 
proposed annexation will be 
for the interest of landowners 

Response. 
 
(a)(1) The proposed SOI amendment and annexation will be for the interest of the landowner 
and the CSD. If approved, the property would be annexed, and the landowner would obtain 
wastewater, solid waste, recycling and green waste services from the CSD. In addition, the 
plan stated that there will be no expenditure of CSD monies, and the landowner will be 
subject to a “buy-in cost” in addition to the standard Will-Serve Application Fee and 
Connection/Inspection Fee. A property tax exchange of 6.78336% after Educational Revenue 
Augmentation Funds would be transferred from the County to the CSD.  
 
(a)(2) This part is not applicable because the proposal consists of a district annexation and not 
a detachment. 
 
(a)(3) The commission considered the factors specified in Government Code Section 56668, 
as seen in this document. 
 
(a)(4) The Commission did not receive any resolutions from any affected agency raising 
objections to the action. 
 
(a)(5) There are no other matters which the Commission has deemed material.  
 

A-2-45Page 202 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 17 

 
or present or future 
inhabitants within the district 
and within the territory 
proposed to be annexed to 
the district. 
(2) In the case of a city 
detachment, whether the 
proposed detachment will be 
for the interest of the 
landowners or present or 
future inhabitants within the 
city and within the territory 
proposed to be detached from 
the city. 
(3) Any factors which may be 
considered by the commission 
as provided in Section 56668. 
(4) Any resolution raising 
objections to the action that 
may be filed by an affected 
agency. 
(5) Any other matters which 
the commission deems 
material. 
 

(b) The commission shall give 
great weight to any resolution 
raising objections to the 
action that is filed by a city or 
a district. The commission's 
consideration shall be based 
only on financial or service 
related concerns expressed in 

(b) The Commission did not receive any resolutions from neighboring cities or districts raising 
objections to the action. 

A-2-46Page 203 of 356



San Luis Obispo LAFCO                                                         Attachment C 
GC 56668 Factors - Anx #20 to CSD                           Page 18 

 

 
 

the protest. Except for 
findings regarding the value of 
written protests, the 
commission is not required to 
make any express findings 
concerning any of the other 
factors considered by the 
commission. 

A-2-47Page 204 of 356



Attachment D 
Vicinity Map

A-2-48Page 205 of 356



A-2-49Page 206 of 356



Attachment E 
Stanley Residence Plan Set

A-2-50Page 207 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

T - 1

16 DEC 2022

TITLE SHEET

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

3525 GILBERT AVENUE
CAYUCOS

STANLEY RESIDENCE

VICINITY  MAP

SITE

NEW CONSTRUCTION

PROJECT SUMMARY
LEGAL: 3525 GILBERT AVENUE

CAYUCOS, CA
LOTS 12 & 13, BLOCK 21, MORRO STRAND
UNIT NO.1, COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO, 
STATE OF CA, PER 3/MB/105

ZONING: R-2 RESIDENTIAL

APN: 064-405-010

SITE: 3,500 SF

BUILDING:
PROPOSED

LOWER LEVEL
     GARAGE 514 SQ. FT.
     LIVING AREA 1,102 SQ. FT.

SECOND LEVEL 1,616 SQ. FT.

3,232 SQ. FT.

ROOF DECK 816 SQ. FT.
COVERED FRONT PORCH 112 SQ. FT.

MAX HEIGHT: 25 FT ABOVE AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE*
MAX ALLOWABLE BLDG HT= +163.5'

*AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE CALCULATION:
Highest point of lot coverage = +142.0'

Lowest point of lot coverage = +135.0'

(142+135)/2 = 138.5  138.5 + 25.00 = 163.5'

BUILDING HEIGHT +161.85'

PARKING:
REQUIRED PROPOSED

2 PER RESIDENCE 2 COVERED

CONST TYPE: TYPE V-B

OCCUPANCY: R-3/U 

SPRINKLERS: YES

DIRECTORY
ARCHITECT

PULTS & ASSOCIATES, LLP
c/o ANDRES EULATE
3592 SACRAMENTO DRIVE, SUITE 140
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93401
(805) 541-5604

PROJECT PLANNER/AGENT
OASIS ASSOCIATES, INC.
c/o CAROL FLORENCE
3427 MIGUELITO COURT
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93401
(805) 541-4509

CIVIL ENGINEER
SLO CIVIL DESIGN, LLC
c/o RICHARD BURDE
615 CLARION CT, SUITE #2
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA  93401
(805) 503-8059

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER
ASHLEY & VANCE ENGINEERING, INC.
c/o NICK VINCENT
1413 MONTEREY STREET
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA  93401
(805) 545-0010

TITLE 24 COMPLIANCE
CARSTAIRS ENERGY
c/o TIMOTHY CARSTAIRS
2238 BAYVIEW HEIGHTS DR. SUITE E
LOS OSOS, CA 93402
(805) 904-9048

SYMBOLS

1

1

A

A

1

1
A-1

A
A-1

DIMENSIONAL GRID LINE

DOOR MARK 
REFER TO DOOR SCHEDULE

WINDOW MARK 
REFER TO WINDOW SCHEDULE

REFERENCE NOTE

WINDOW ABOVE 
REFER TO WINDOW SCHEDULE

DETAIL NUMBER

SHEET SHOWN ON

SECTION

SHEET SHOWN ON

PROJECT SUMMARY
LEGAL: 3525 GILBERT AVENUE

CAYUCOS, CA
LOTS 12 & 13, BLOCK 21, MORRO STRAND
UNIT NO.1, COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO, 
STATE OF CA, PER 3/MB/105

ZONING: R-2 RESIDENTIAL

APN: 064-405-010

SITE: 3,500 SF

BUILDING:
PROPOSED

LOWER LEVEL
     GARAGE 514 SQ. FT.
     LIVING AREA 1,102 SQ. FT.

SECOND LEVEL 1,616 SQ. FT.

3,232 SQ. FT.

ROOF DECK 816 SQ. FT.
COVERED FRONT PORCH 112 SQ. FT.

MAX HEIGHT: 25 FT ABOVE AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE*
MAX ALLOWABLE BLDG HT= +163.5'

*AVERAGE NATURAL GRADE CALCULATION:
Highest point of lot coverage = +142.0'

Lowest point of lot coverage = +135.0'

(142+135)/2 = 138.5  138.5 + 25.00 = 163.5'

BUILDING HEIGHT +161.85'

PARKING:
REQUIRED PROPOSED

2 PER RESIDENCE 2 COVERED

CONST TYPE: TYPE V-B

OCCUPANCY: R-3/U 

SPRINKLERS: YES

DIRECTORY
ARCHITECT

PULTS & ASSOCIATES, LLP
c/o ANDRES EULATE
3592 SACRAMENTO DRIVE, SUITE 140
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93401
(805) 541-5604

PROJECT PLANNER/AGENT
OASIS ASSOCIATES, INC.
c/o CAROL FLORENCE
3427 MIGUELITO COURT
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93401
(805) 541-4509

CIVIL ENGINEER
SLO CIVIL DESIGN, LLC
c/o RICHARD BURDE
615 CLARION CT, SUITE #2
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA  93401
(805) 503-8059

STRUCTURAL ENGINEER
ASHLEY & VANCE ENGINEERING, INC.
c/o NICK VINCENT
1413 MONTEREY STREET
SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA  93401
(805) 545-0010

TITLE 24 COMPLIANCE
CARSTAIRS ENERGY
c/o TIMOTHY CARSTAIRS
2238 BAYVIEW HEIGHTS DR. SUITE E
LOS OSOS, CA 93402
(805) 904-9048

PROJECT DESCRIPTION
Project consists of a new 3,323 square foot residence on a sloping lot. 

GENERAL NOTES
1. The General Contractor shall be responsible for verifying all existing 

conditions before commencing with any work.

2. All work shall comply with all current codes, ordinances & regulations 
of applicable administrative authorities:
2019 California Building Code, Vols 1 & 2 (2015 IBC)
2019 California Residential Code (2015 IRC)
2019 California Plumbing Code (2015 UPC)
2019 California Mechanical Code (2015 UMC)
2019 California Electrical Code (2014 NEC)
2019 California Energy Code
2019 California Green Building Code
2019 California Fire Code (2015 IFC)
2019 California Reference Standards Code
County of San Luis Obispo Municipal Code
County Ordinance(s) Title 19, 22, 23 & Appdx Chapter 33, 1997 UBC

3. The 2019 Building Energy Efficiency Standards for residential and 
non-residential buildings have been reviewed, and the building described on 
these pages is in substantial conformance.

4. Special Inspectors shall be a qualified person who shall demonstrate
competence, to the satisfaction of the Building Official.  Names and
qualifications shall be submitted to Building Department for approval.

5. No hazardous materials will be stored and/or used within the  building 
which exceed the quantities listed in CBC Tables 307.1 (1) & 307.1 (2).

6. A soil or civil engineer to determine grading performed is in substantial
conformance with the approved plans and is suitable to support the
intended structure.

7. Project is located in a Wildland-Urban Interface Area subject to the 
provisions of CBC Chapter 7A.

8. Provide manufacturer's instructions for gas fireplace on site for
inspection.

DEFERRED SUBMITTALS
1. The building described on the following pages shall be equipped with a 

fire sprinkler system.  Shop drawings shall be submitted and approved by  
Cal Fire and the County Building Department prior to fabrication and 
installation of the system.  System design shall meet all requirements of 
State Fire Marshall,  NFPA 13R for sprinklers, NFPA 24 for 
underground fire line, NFPA 72 for fire alarm system and any additional 
local regulations.  

2. Roof-mounted solar system.

SHEET INDEX
T - 1 TITLE SHEET
T - 2 GREEN BUILDING
T - 3 LEED CHECKLIST

CIVIL
C-1 CIVIL TITLE SHEET
C-2 GRADING AND DRAINAGE
C-3 PROFILES
C-4 DETAILS
C-5 EROSION CONTROL PLAN

ARCHITECTURAL
A1 GARAGE LEVEL PLAN
A2 SECOND FLOOR PLAN
A 3 ROOF PLAN
A 4 SECTIONS
A 5 WEST & NORTH ELEVATIONS
A 6 EAST & SOUTH ELEVATIONS
A 7 EXTERIOR DETAILS
A 8 DOOR AND WINDOW DETAILS

STRUCTURAL
S -1.1 STRUCTURAL TITLE SHEET
S -1.2 SPECIFICATIONS
S -1.3 SPECIAL INSPECTIONS
S -2.1 FOUNDATION PLAN
S -2.2 FLOOR FRAMING PLAN
S -2.3 ROOF FRAMING PLAN
S -3.1 STRUCTURAL DETAILS
S -3.2 STRUCTURAL DETAILS
S -3.3 STRUCTURAL DETAILS

ELECTRICAL
E -1 GARAGE LEVEL ELECTRICAL PLAN
E -2 SECOND FLOOR ELECTRICAL PLAN
E - 3 ROOF ELECTRICAL PLAN

ENERGY COMPLIANCE
T24-1 ENERGY COMPLIANCE DOCUMENTATION
T24-2 ENERGY COMPLIANCE DOCUMENTATION

TOTAL        30 SHEETS
REQUIRED SPECIAL INSPECTIONS

TYPE
CONTIN. 
SPECIAL 

INSP.

PERIODIC 
SPECIAL 

INSP.

1. Verify materials below shallow foundations 
are adequate to acheive the design bearing.

- X

2.  Verify excavations are extended to proper depth 
and have reached proper material. - X

3.  Perform classification and testing of compacted 
fill materials. - X

4.  Verify use of proper materials, densities and lift 
thicknesses during placement and compaction of 
compacted fill.

X -

5.  Prior to placement of compacted fill, inspect 
subgrade and verfy that site has been prepared 
properly.

- X

1

1

1

A-2-51Page 208 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

T - 2

16 DEC 2022

GREEN BUILDING NOTES

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

SEALANT VOC LIMIT
TABLE 4.504.2
Less Water and Less Exempt Compounds In Grams per Liter

SEALANTS CURRENT VOC LIMIT
Architectural 250

Marine deck 760

Nonmembrane roof 300

Roadway 250

Single-ply roof membrane 450

Other 420

SEALANT PRIMERS
Architectural
Nonporous 250

Porous 775

Modified bituminous 500

Marine deck 760

Other 750

FORMALDEHYDE LIMITS
TABLE 4.504.5
MAXIMUM FORMALDEHYDE EMISSIONS IN PARTS PER MILLION

PRODUCT CURRENT LIMIT
Hardwood plywood veneer core 0.05

Hardwood plywood composite core 0.05

Particleboard 0.09

Medium density fiberboard 0.11

Thin medium density fiberboard (2) 0.13

Califomia Code o fRegulations, Title 17DEHYDE EMISSIONS
tested in accordance with ASTM E 1333. For additional information, see 
Resources Board, Air Toxies Control Measure for Composite Wood as 
1. Values in this table are derived from those specified by the California Air 

2. Thin medium density fiberboard has a maximum thickness of 5/16" (8 mm). 

(1)

VOC LIMITS FOR ARCH'L COATINGS 
TABLE 4.504.3
Grams of VOC per Liter of Coating, Less Water and Less Exempt Compounds

COATING CATEGORY VOC LIMIT
Flat coatings 50

Nonflat coatings 100

Nonflat-high gloss coatings 150

SPECIALTY COATINGS
Aluminum roof coatings 400

Basement Specially coatings 400

Bituminous roof coatings 50

Bituminous roof primers 350

Bond breakers 350

Concrete curing compounds 350

Concrete/masonry sealers 100

Driveway sealers 50

Dry fog coatings 150

Faux finishing coatings 350

Fire resistive coatings 350

Floor coatings 100

Form-release compounds 250

Graphic arts coatings (sign paints) 500

High temperature coatings 420

Industrial maintenance coatings 250

Low solids coatings, (1) 120

Magnesite cement coatings 450

Mastic texture coatings 100

Metallic pigmented coatings 500

Multicolor coatings 250

Pretreatment wash primers 420

Primers, sealers, and undercoaters 100

Reactive penetrating sealers 350

Recycled coatings 250

Roof coatings 50

Rust preventative coatings 250

Shellacs
Clear 730

Opaque 550

Specialty primers, sealers, and undercoaters 100

Stains 250

Stone consolidants 450

Swimming pool coatings 340

Traffic marking coatings 100

Tub and tile refinish coatings 420

Waterproofing membranes 250

Wood coatings 275

Wood preservatives 350

Zinc-rich primers 340

compounds.
1. Grams of VOC per liter of coating, including water and including exempt 

subsequent columns in the table.
2. The specified limits remain in effect unless revised limits are listed in 

Board.
February I, 2008. More information is available from the Air Resources 
Resources Board, Architectural Coatings Suggested Control Measure, 
3. Values in this table are derived from those specified by the California Air 

(2)(3)

ADHESIVE VOC LIMIT
TABLE 4.504.1

ARCHITECTURAL APPLICATIONS CURRENT VOC LIMIT
Indoor carpet adhesives 50

Carpet pad adhesives 50

Outdoor carpet adhesives 150

Wood flooring adhesives 100

Rubber floor adhesives 60

Subfloor adhesives 50

Ceramic tile adhesives 65

VCT and asphalt tile adhesives 50

Drywall and panel adhesives 50

Cove base adhesives  50

Multipurpose construction adhesives 70

Structural .glazing adhesives 100

Single-ply roof membrane adhesives 250

Other adhesives not specifically listed 50

SPECIALTY APPLICATIONS
PVC welding 510

CPVC welding 490

ABS welding 325

Plastic cement welding 250

Adhesive primer for plastic 550

Contact adhesive 80

Special purpose contact adhesive 250

Structural wood member adhesive 140

Top and trim adhesive 250

SUBSTRATE SPECIFIC APPLICATIONS
Metal to metal 30

Plastic foams 50

Porous material except wood 50

Wood 30

Fiberglass 80

with the highest VOC content shall be allowed.
1. If an adhesive is used to bond dissimilar substrates together, the adhesive 

District Rule 1168.
content specified in this table, see South Coast Air Quality Management 
2. For additional information regarding methods to measure the VOC 

 (1) (2) 2019 CALGREEN RESIDENTIAL 
MANDATORY MEASURES
1. These measures apply to newly constructed buildings and to any 

additions or alterations of existing residential buildings which increase 
the building's conditioned area, volume, or size and only apply to the 
specific area of the addition or alteration. (2019 CGBSC 301.1.1) 

2. Residential buildings undergoing permitted alterations, additions, or 
improvements shall replace noncompliant plumbing fixtures with water 
conserving plumbing fixtures. Plumbing fixture replacement is required 
prior to issuance of a certificate of final occupancy. (2019 CGBSC 
4.303.1)

3. These measures apply to low-rise residential buildings unless noted 
otherwise. (2019 CGBSC 301.2)

4. Projects which disturb less than one acre of soil and are not part of a 
larger common plan of development which in total disturbs one acre or 
more, shall manage storm water drainage during construction. (2019 
CGBSC 4.106.2)

5. Construction plans shall indicate how the site grading or drainage 
system will manage all surface water flows to keep water from entering 
buildings. (CGBSC 4.106.3)

6. New construction shall facilitate future installation and use of EV 
chargers. Electric vehicle supply equipment shall be installed in 
accordance with California Electrical Code (CEC), Article 625. (2019 
CGBSC 4.106.4.1 for one & two family Dwellings & townhouses) (2019 
CGBSC 4.106.4.2 for multifamily dwellings)

7. The building, addition, or alteration described on these pages meets or 
exceeds the requirements of the California Building Energy Efficiency 
Standards.

8. The effective flush volume of all water closets shall not exceed 1.28 
gpf. (2019 CGBSC 4.303.1.1)

9. The effective flush volume of wall mounted urinals shall not exceed 
0.125 gpf and floor mounted or other urinals shall not exceed 0.5 gpf. 
(2019 CGBSC 4.303.1.2)

10. Showerheads shall have a max. flow rate of not more than 1.8 gpm at 
80 psi. (2019 CGBSC 4.303.1.3.1)

11. When a shower is served by more than one showerhead, the combined 
flow rate of all the showerheads and/or other shower outlets 
controlled by a single valve shall not exceed 1.8 gpm at 80 psi, or the 
shower shall be designed to allow only one shower outlet. (2019 
CGBSC 4.303.1.3.2)

12. The max. flow rate of residential lavatory faucets shall not exceed 1.2 
gpm at 60 psi. The min. flow rate of residential lavatory faucets shall 
not be less than 0.8 gpm at 20 psi. (2019 CGBSC 4.303.1.4.1)

13. The max. flow rate of lavatory faucets installed in common and public 
use areas (outside of dwellings or sleeping units) in residential buildings 
shall not exceed 0.5 gpm at 60 psi. (2019 CGBSC 4.303.1.4.2)

14. Metering faucets when installed in residential buildings shall not deliver 
more than 0.2 gallons per cycle. (2019 CGBSC 4.303.1.4.3)

15. The max. flow rate of kitchen faucets shall not exceed 1.8 gpm at 60 
psi. (2019 CGBSC 4.303.1.4.4)

16. New residential developments with an aggregate landscape area equal 
to or greater than 500 sq ft shall either comply with the local water 
efficient landscape ordinance or the current California Department of 
Water Resources Model Water Efficient Landscape

17. Annular spaces around pipes, electric cables, conduits, or other 
openings in sole/bottom plates at exterior walls shall be protected 
against the passage of rodents by closing such openings with cement 
mortar, concrete masonry or similar method acceptable   (2019 
CGBSC 4.406.1)

18. A minimum of 65% of the non-hazardous construction waste 
generated at the site shall be diverted to recycle or salvaged. (2019 
CGBSC 4.408.1)

19. An operation and maintenance manual shall be available in the building at 
the time of final inspection. (2019 CGBSC 4.410.1)

20. Where 5 or more multifamily dwelling units are constructed on a building 
site, provide readily accessible area(s) that serves all buildings on the 
site and is identified for the depositing, storage and collection of 
non-hazardous materials for recycling. (2019 CGBSC 4.410.2)

21. Any installed gas fireplace shall be a direct-vent sealed-combustion 
type. Any installed woodstove or pellet stove shall comply with U.S. EPA 
New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) emission limits as 
applicable, and shall have a permanent label indicating they are certified 
to meet the emissions limits. Woodstoves, pellet stoves and fireplaces 
shall also comply with applicable local ordinances.  (2019 CGBSC 
4.503.1)

22. Ducts and other related air-distribution equipment while on-site prior 
to final startup of HVAC system shall have openings covered with tape, 
plastic, sheet metal, or other acceptable method. (2019 CGBSC 
4.504.1)

23. Adhesives, sealants and caulks shall be compliant with VOC limits as 
shown in Table 4.504.1 or 4.504.2 as applicable. (2019 CGBSC 
4.504.2.1.1)

24. Aerosol adhesives and smaller unit sizes of adhesives and sealant or 
caulking compounds shall comply with statewide VOC standards and 
other requirements. (2019 CGBSC 4.504.2.1.2)

25. Paints, stains and other coatings shall be compliant with VOC limits as 
shown in Table 4.504.3. (2019 CGBSC 4.504.2.2)

26. Aerosol paints and coatings shall meet the Product-Weighted MIR 
limits for ROC and comply with the BAAQMD percent VOC by weight 
of product limits of Regulation 8, Rule 49. (2019 CGBSC 4.504.2.3)

27. Finish materials, carpet systems, resilient flooring, and composite wood 
products shall comply with the pollutant control requirements of 2019 
CGBSC Section 4.504.3 & 4.504.4

28. All carpet adhesive shall meet the requirements of Table 4.504.1. 
(2019 CGBSC 4.504.3.2)

29. Hardwood plywood, particleboard and medium density fiberboard 
(MDF) used on interior or exterior of the building shall comply with 
formaldehyde emission limits per Table 4.504.5. (2019 CGBSC 
4.504.5)

30. Documentation shall be provided to the City building inspector 
verifying that compliant materials have been used. (2019 CGBSC 
4.504.2.4 & 4.504.5.1)

31. Concrete slab foundations required to have a vapor retarder by the 
California Building Code or the California Residential Code shall have a 
capillary break installed. (2019 CGBSC 4.505.2.1)

32. Building materials with visible signs of water damage shall not be 
installed. Moisture content of building materials used in wall and floor 
framing shall not to exceed 19% before enclosure. Insulation products 
which are visibly wet or have a high moisture content shall replaced or 
allowed to fully dry before enclosure. (2019 CGBSC 4.505.3)

33. New bathrooms shall be mechanically ventilated per Section 4.506.1 
2019 CGBSC.

34. HVAC Design shall be per Section 4.507.2 2019 CGBSC.
35. HVAC system installer shall have proper qualifications per Section 

702.1 2019 CGBSC.
36. Any required special inspections shall be conducted by persons 

meeting the qualifications of Section 702.2 2019 CGBSC.
37. Compliance documentation shall be per Section 703.1 2019 CGBSC

2019 Low-Rise Residential Mandatory Measures Summary 
 

NOTE: Low-rise residential buildings subject to the Energy Standards must comply with all applicable mandatory measures, regardless of the compliance approach 

used. Review the respective section for more information. *Exceptions may apply. 

(01/2020) 
Building Envelope Measures:  

§ 110.6(a)1: 
Air Leakage. Manufactured fenestration, exterior doors, and exterior pet doors must limit air leakage to 0.3 CFM per square foot or less 
when tested per NFRC-400, ASTM E283 or AAMA/WDMA/CSA 101/I.S.2/A440-2011.* 

§ 110.6(a)5: Labeling. Fenestration products and exterior doors must have a label meeting the requirements of § 10-111(a). 

§ 110.6(b): 
Field fabricated exterior doors and fenestration products must use U-factors and solar heat gain coefficient (SHGC) values from Tables 
110.6-A, 110.6-B, or JA4.5 for exterior doors. They must be caulked and/or weather-stripped.* 

§ 110.7: 
Air Leakage. All joints, penetrations, and other openings in the building envelope that are potential sources of air leakage must be caulked, 
gasketed, or weather stripped. 

§ 110.8(a): Insulation Certification by Manufacturers. Insulation must be certified by the Department of Consumer Affairs, Bureau of Household Goods 
and Services (BHGS). 

§ 110.8(g): Insulation Requirements for Heated Slab Floors. Heated slab floors must be insulated per the requirements of § 110.8(g). 

§ 110.8(i): 
Roofing Products Solar Reflectance and Thermal Emittance. The thermal emittance and aged solar reflectance values of the roofing 
material must meet the requirements of § 110.8(i) and be labeled per §10-113 when the installation of a cool roof is specified on the CF1R. 

§ 110.8(j): Radiant Barrier. When required, radiant barriers must have an emittance of 0.05 or less and be certified to the Department of Consumer Affairs. 

§ 150.0(a): 

Ceiling and Rafter Roof Insulation. Minimum R-22 insulation in wood-frame ceiling; or the weighted average U-factor must not exceed 0.043. 
Minimum R-19 or weighted average U-factor of 0.054 or less in a rafter roof alteration. Attic access doors must have permanently attached 
insulation using adhesive or mechanical fasteners. The attic access must be gasketed to prevent air leakage. Insulation must be installed in 
direct contact with a continuous roof or ceiling which is sealed to limit infiltration and exfiltration as specified in § 110.7, including but not limited 
to placing insulation either above or below the roof deck or on top of a drywall ceiling.* 

§ 150.0(b): Loose-fill Insulation. Loose fill insulation must meet the manufacturer’s required density for the labeled R-value. 

§ 150.0(c): 
Wall Insulation. Minimum R-13 insulation in 2x4 inch wood framing wall or have a U-factor of 0.102 or less, or R-20 in 2x6 inch wood framing or 
have a U-factor of 0.071 or less. Opaque non-framed assemblies must have an overall assembly U-factor not exceeding 0.102. Masonry walls 
must meet Tables 150.1-A or B.* 

§ 150.0(d): Raised-floor Insulation. Minimum R-19 insulation in raised wood framed floor or 0.037 maximum U-factor.* 

§ 150.0(f): 
Slab Edge Insulation. Slab edge insulation must meet all of the following: have a water absorption rate, for the insulation material alone without 
facings, no greater than 0.3 percent; have a water vapor permeance no greater than 2.0 perm per inch; be protected from physical damage and 
UV light deterioration; and, when installed as part of a heated slab floor, meet the requirements of § 110.8(g). 

§ 150.0(g)1: 
Vapor Retarder. In climate zones 1 through 16, the earth floor of unvented crawl space must be covered with a Class I or Class II vapor 
retarder. This requirement also applies to controlled ventilation crawl space for buildings complying with the exception to § 150.0(d). 

§ 150.0(g)2: 
Vapor Retarder. In climate zones 14 and 16, a Class I or Class II vapor retarder must be installed on the conditioned space side of all 
insulation in all exterior walls, vented attics, and unvented attics with air-permeable insulation. 

§ 150.0(q): 
Fenestration Products. Fenestration, including skylights, separating conditioned space from unconditioned space or outdoors must have a 
maximum U-factor of 0.58; or the weighted average U-factor of all fenestration must not exceed 0.58.* 

Fireplaces, Decorative Gas Appliances, and Gas Log Measures:  

§ 110.5(e) Pilot Light. Continuously burning pilot lights are not allowed for indoor and outdoor fireplaces. 
  § 150.0(e)1: Closable Doors. Masonry or factory-built fireplaces must have a closable metal or glass door covering the entire opening of the firebox.  

§ 150.0(e)2: 
Combustion Intake. Masonry or factory-built fireplaces must have a combustion outside air intake, which is at least six square inches in area 
and is equipped with a readily accessible, operable, and tight-fitting damper or combustion-air control device.* 

§ 150.0(e)3: Flue Damper. Masonry or factory-built fireplaces must have a flue damper with a readily accessible control.* 

Space Conditioning, Water Heating, and Plumbing System Measures:  

§ 110.0-§ 110.3: 
Certification. Heating, ventilation and air conditioning (HVAC) equipment, water heaters, showerheads, faucets, and all other regulated 
appliances must be certified by the manufacturer to the California Energy Commission.* 

§ 110.2(a): HVAC Efficiency. Equipment must meet the applicable efficiency requirements in Table  110.2-A through Table 110.2-K.* 

§ 110.2(b): 
Controls for Heat Pumps with Supplementary Electric Resistance Heaters. Heat pumps with supplementary electric resistance heaters 
must have controls that prevent supplementary heater operation when the heating load can be met by the heat pump alone; and in which the 
cut-on temperature for compression heating is higher than the cut-on temperature for supplementary heating, and the cut-off temperature for 
compression heating is higher than the cut-off temperature for supplementary heating.* 

§ 110.2(c): 
Thermostats. All heating or cooling systems not controlled by a central energy management control system (EMCS) must have a 
setback thermostat.* 

§ 110.3(c)4: 
Water Heating Recirculation Loops Serving Multiple Dwelling Units. Water heating recirculation loops serving multiple dwelling units must 
meet the air release valve, backflow prevention, pump priming, pump isolation valve, and recirculation loop connection requirements of  
§ 110.3(c)4. 

§ 110.3(c)6: 
Isolation Valves. Instantaneous water heaters with an input rating greater than 6.8 kBtu per hour (2 kW) must have isolation valves with hose 
bibbs or other fittings on both cold and hot water lines to allow for flushing the water heater when the valves are closed. 

§ 110.5: 
Pilot Lights. Continuously burning pilot lights are prohibited for natural gas: fan-type central furnaces; household cooking appliances (except 
appliances without an electrical supply voltage connection with pilot lights that consume less than 150 Btu per hour ); and pool and spa heaters.* 

§ 150.0(h)1: 
Building Cooling and Heating Loads. Heating and/or cooling loads are calculated in accordance with the ASHRAE Handbook, 
Equipment Volume, Applications Volume, and Fundamentals Volume; the SMACNA Residential Comfort System Installation Standards 
Manual; or the ACCA Manual J using design conditions specified in § 150.0(h)2. 

2019 Low-Rise Residential Mandatory Measures Summary 
 

§ 150.0(h)3A: Clearances. Air conditioner and heat pump outdoor condensing units must have a clearance of at least five feet from the outlet of any dryer 
t  

§ 150.0(h)3B: 
Liquid Line Drier. Air conditioners and heat pump systems must be equipped with liquid line filter driers if required, as specified by the 
manufacturer’s instructions. 

§ 150.0(j)1: 
Storage Tank Insulation. Unfired hot water tanks, such as storage tanks and backup storage tanks for solar water-heating systems, must have 
a minimum of R-12 external insulation or R-16 internal insulation where the internal insulation R-value is indicated on the exterior of the tank. 

§ 150.0(j)2A: 

Water Piping, Solar Water-heating System Piping, and Space Conditioning System Line Insulation. All domestic hot water piping must 
be insulated as specified in Section 609.11 of the California Plumbing Code. In addition, the following piping conditions must have a minimum 
insulation wall thickness of one inch or a minimum insulation R-value of 7.7: the first five feet of cold water pipes from the storage tank; all hot 
water piping with a nominal diameter equal to or greater than 3/4 inch and less than one inch; all hot water piping with a nominal diameter less 
than 3/4 inch that is: associated with a domestic hot water recirculation system, from the heating source to storage tank or between tanks, 
buried below grade, and from the heating source to kitchen fixtures.* 

§ 150.0(j)3: 

Insulation Protection. Piping insulation must be protected from damage, including that due to sunlight, moisture, equipment maintenance, and 
wind as required by Section 120.3(b). Insulation exposed to weather must be water retardant and protected from UV light (no adhesive tapes). 
Insulation covering chilled water piping and refrigerant suction piping located outside the conditioned space must include, or be protected by, a 
Class I or Class II vapor retarder. Pipe insulation buried below grade must be installed in a waterproof and non-crushable casing or sleeve. 

§ 150.0(n)1: 

Gas or Propane Water Heating Systems. Systems using gas or propane water heaters to serve individual dwelling units must include all of 
the following: A dedicated 125 volt, 20 amp electrical receptacle connected to the electric panel with a 120/240 volt 3 conductor, 10 AWG 
copper branch circuit, within three feet of the water heater without obstruction. Both ends of the unused conductor must be labeled with the 
word “spare” and be electrically isolated. Have a reserved single pole circuit breaker space in the electrical panel adjacent to the circuit breaker 
for the branch circuit and labeled with the words “Future 240V Use”; a Category III or IV vent, or a Type B vent with straight pipe between the 
outside termination and the space where the water heater is installed; a condensate drain that is no more than two inches higher than the base 
of the water heater, and allows natural draining without pump assistance; and a gas supply line with a capacity of at least 200,000 Btu per hour. 

§ 150.0(n)2: Recirculating Loops. Recirculating loops serving multiple dwelling units must meet the requirements of § 110.3(c)5. 

§ 150.0(n)3: 

Solar Water-heating Systems. Solar water-heating systems and collectors must be certified and rated by the Solar Rating and Certification 
Corporation (SRCC), the International Association of Plumbing and Mechanical Officials, Research and Testing (IAPMO R&T), or by a listing 
agency that is approved by the Executive Director. 

Ducts and Fans Measures:  

§ 110.8(d)3: 
Ducts. Insulation installed on an existing space-conditioning duct must comply with § 604.0 of the California Mechanical Code (CMC). If a 
contractor installs the insulation, the contractor must certify to the customer, in writing, that the insulation meets this requirement. 

§ 150.0(m)1: 

CMC Compliance. All air-distribution system ducts and plenums must meet the requirements of the CMC §§ 601.0, 602.0, 603.0, 604.0, 605.0 
and ANSI/SMACNA-006-2006 HVAC Duct Construction Standards Metal and Flexible 3rd Edition. Portions of supply-air and return-air ducts and 
plenums must be insulated to a minimum installed level of R-6.0 or a minimum installed level of R-4.2 when ducts are entirely in conditioned 
space as confirmed through field verification and diagnostic testing (RA3.1.4.3.8). Portions of the duct system completely exposed and 
surrounded by directly conditioned space are not required to be insulated. Connections of metal ducts and inner core of flexible ducts must be 
mechanically fastened. Openings must be sealed with mastic, tape, or other duct-closure system that meets the applicable requirements of UL 
181, UL 181A, or UL 181B or aerosol sealant that meets the requirements of UL 723. If mastic or tape is used to seal openings greater than ¼ 
inch, the combination of mastic and either mesh or tape must be used. Building cavities, support platforms for air handlers, and plenums 
designed or constructed with materials other than sealed sheet metal, duct board or flexible duct must not be used to convey conditioned air. 
Building cavities and support platforms may contain ducts. Ducts installed in cavities and support platforms must not be compressed to cause 
reductions in the cross-sectional area.* 

§ 150.0(m)2: 
Factory-Fabricated Duct Systems. Factory-fabricated duct systems must comply with applicable requirements for duct construction, 
connections, and closures; joints and seams of duct systems and their components must not be sealed with cloth back rubber adhesive duct 
tapes unless such tape is used in combination with mastic and draw bands. 

§ 150.0(m)3: 
Field-Fabricated Duct Systems. Field-fabricated duct systems must comply with applicable requirements for: pressure-sensitive tapes, 
mastics, sealants, and other requirements specified for duct construction. 

§ 150.0(m)7: Backdraft Damper. Fan systems that exchange air between the conditioned space and outdoors must have backdraft or automatic dampers. 

§ 150.0(m)8: 
Gravity Ventilation Dampers. Gravity ventilating systems serving conditioned space must have either automatic or readily accessible, 
manually operated dampers in all openings to the outside, except combustion inlet and outlet air openings and elevator shaft vents. 

§ 150.0(m)9: 
Protection of Insulation. Insulation must be protected from damage, sunlight, moisture, equipment maintenance, and wind. Insulation exposed 
to weather must be suitable for outdoor service. For example, protected by aluminum, sheet metal, painted canvas, or plastic cover. Cellular 
foam insulation must be protected as above or painted with a coating that is water retardant and provides shielding from solar radiation. 

§ 150.0(m)10: Porous Inner Core Flex Duct. Porous inner core flex ducts must have a non-porous layer between the inner core and outer vapor barrier. 

§ 150.0(m)11: 
Duct System Sealing and Leakage Test. When space conditioning systems use forced air duct systems to supply conditioned air to an 
occupiable space, the ducts must be sealed and duct leakage tested, as confirmed through field verification and diagnostic testing, in 
accordance with § 150.0(m)11 and Reference Residential Appendix RA3. 

§ 150.0(m)12: 
Air Filtration. Space conditioning systems with ducts exceeding 10 feet and the supply side of ventilation systems must have MERV 13 or 
equivalent filters. Filters for space conditioning systems must have a two inch depth or can be one inch if sized per Equation 150.0-A. Pressure 
drops and labeling must meet the requirements in §150.0(m)12. Filters must be accessible for regular service.* 

§ 150.0(m)13: 

Space Conditioning System Airflow Rate and Fan Efficacy. Space conditioning systems that use ducts to supply cooling must have a hole 
for the placement of a static pressure probe, or a permanently installed static pressure probe in the supply plenum. Airflow must be ≥ 350 CFM 
per ton of nominal cooling capacity, and an air-handling unit fan efficacy ≤ 0.45 watts per CFM for gas furnace air handlers and ≤ 0.58 watts per 
CFM for all others. Small duct high velocity systems must provide an airflow ≥ 250 CFM per ton of nominal cooling capacity, and an air-handling 
unit fan efficacy ≤ 0.62 watts per CFM. Field verification testing is required in accordance with Reference Residential Appendix RA3.3.* 

2019 Low-Rise Residential Mandatory Measures Summary 
 

Requirements for Ventilation and Indoor Air Quality:  

§ 150.0(o)1: 
Requirements for Ventilation and Indoor Air Quality. All dwelling units must meet the requirements of ASHRAE Standard 62.2, Ventilation 
and Acceptable Indoor Air Quality in Residential Buildings subject to the amendments specified in § 150.0(o)1.  

  § 150.0(o)1C: 
Single Family Detached Dwelling Units. Single family detached dwelling units, and attached dwelling units not sharing ceilings or floors with 
other dwelling units, occupiable spaces, public garages, or commercial spaces must have mechanical ventilation airflow provided at rates 
determined by ASHRAE 62.2 Sections 4.1.1 and 4.1.2 and as specified in § 150.0(o)1C. 

  § 150.0(o)1E: 

Multifamily Attached Dwelling Units. Multifamily attached dwelling units must have mechanical ventilation airflow provided at rates in 
accordance with Equation 150.0-B and must be either a balanced system or continuous supply or continuous exhaust system. If a balanced 
system is not used, all units in the building must use the same system type and the dwelling-unit envelope leakage must be ≤ 0.3 CFM at 50 Pa 
(0.2 inch water) per square foot of dwelling unit envelope surface area and verified in accordance with Reference Residential Appendix RA3.8.    

  § 150.0(o)1F: 
Multifamily Building Central Ventilation Systems. Central ventilation systems that serve multiple dwelling units must be balanced to provide 
ventilation airflow for each dwelling unit served at a rate equal to or greater than the rate specified by Equation 150.0-B. All unit airflows must be 
within 20 percent of the unit with the lowest airflow rate as it relates to the individual unit’s minimum required airflow rate needed for compliance.   

  § 150.0(o)1G: Kitchen Range Hoods. Kitchen range hoods must be rated for sound in accordance with Section 7.2 of ASHRAE 62.2. 

§ 150.0(o)2: 
Field Verification and Diagnostic Testing. Dwelling unit ventilation airflow must be verified in accordance with Reference Residential 
Appendix RA3.7. A kitchen range hood must be verified in accordance with Reference Residential Appendix RA3.7.4.3 to confirm it is 
rated by HVI to comply with the airflow rates and sound requirements as specified in Section 5 and 7.2 of ASHRAE 62.2.  

Pool and Spa Systems and Equipment Measures:  

§ 110.4(a): 
Certification by Manufacturers. Any pool or spa heating system or equipment must be certified to have all of the following: a thermal efficiency 
that complies with the Appliance Efficiency Regulations; an on-off switch mounted outside of the heater that allows shutting off the heater 
without adjusting the thermostat setting; a permanent weatherproof plate or card with operating instructions; and must not use electric 
resistance heating.* 

§ 110.4(b)1: 
Piping. Any pool or spa heating system or equipment must be installed with at least 36 inches of pipe between the filter and the heater, or 
dedicated suction and return lines, or built-in or built-up connections to allow for future solar heating. 

§ 110.4(b)2: Covers. Outdoor pools or spas that have a heat pump or gas heater must have a cover. 

§ 110.4(b)3: 
Directional Inlets and Time Switches for Pools. Pools must have directional inlets that adequately mix the pool water, and a time switch that 
will allow all pumps to be set or programmed to run only during off-peak electric demand periods. 

§ 110.5: Pilot Light. Natural gas pool and spa heaters must not have a continuously burning pilot light. 

§ 150.0(p): 
Pool Systems and Equipment Installation. Residential pool systems or equipment must meet the specified requirements for pump sizing, flow 
rate, piping, filters, and valves.* 

Lighting Measures:  

§ 110.9: 
Lighting Controls and Components. All lighting control devices and systems, ballasts, and luminaires must meet the applicable requirements 
of § 110.9.* 

§ 150.0(k)1A: Luminaire Efficacy. All installed luminaires must meet the requirements in Table 150.0-A. 

§ 150.0(k)1B: 
Blank Electrical Boxes. The number of electrical boxes that are more than five feet above the finished floor and do not contain a luminaire or 
other device must be no greater than the number of bedrooms. These electrical boxes must be served by a dimmer, vacancy sensor control, or 
fan speed control. 

§ 150.0(k)1C: Recessed Downlight Luminaires in Ceilings. Luminaires recessed into ceilings must meet all of the requirements for: insulation contact (IC) 
labeling; air leakage; sealing; maintenance; and socket and light source as described in § 150.0(k)1C. 

§ 150.0(k)1D: 
Electronic Ballasts for Fluorescent Lamps. Ballasts for fluorescent lamps rated 13 watts or greater must be electronic and must have an 
output frequency no less than 20 kHz. 

§ 150.0(k)1E: Night Lights, Step Lights, and Path Lights. Night lights, step lights and path lights are not required to comply with Table 150.0-A or be 
controlled by vacancy sensors provided they are rated to consume no more than 5 watts of power and emit no more than 150 lumens. 

§ 150.0(k)1F: 
Lighting Integral to Exhaust Fans. Lighting integral to exhaust fans (except when installed by the manufacturer in kitchen exhaust hoods) 
must meet the applicable requirements of § 150.0(k).* 

§ 150.0(k)1G: Screw based luminaires. Screw based luminaires must contain lamps that comply with Reference Joint Appendix JA8.* 

§ 150.0(k)1H: Light Sources in Enclosed or Recessed Luminaires. Lamps and other separable light sources that are not compliant with the JA8 elevated 
temperature requirements, including marking requirements, must not be installed in enclosed or recessed luminaires. 

§ 150.0(k)1I: 
Light Sources in Drawers, Cabinets, and Linen Closets. Light sources internal to drawers, cabinetry or linen closets are not required to 
comply with Table 150.0-A or be controlled by vacancy sensors provided that they are rated to consume no more than 5 watts of power, emit no 
more than 150 lumens, and are equipped with controls that automatically turn the lighting off when the drawer, cabinet or linen closet is closed. 

§ 150.0(k)2A: Interior Switches and Controls. All forward phase cut dimmers used with LED light sources must comply with NEMA SSL 7A. 

§ 150.0(k)2B: Interior Switches and Controls. Exhaust fans must be controlled separately from lighting systems.* 

§ 150.0(k)2C: 
Interior Switches and Controls. Lighting must have readily accessible wall-mounted controls that allow the lighting to be manually 
turned ON and OFF.* 

§ 150.0(k)2D: Interior Switches and Controls. Controls and equipment must be installed in accordance with manufacturer’s instructions. 

§ 150.0(k)2E: 
Interior Switches and Controls. Controls must not bypass a dimmer, occupant sensor, or vacancy sensor function if the control is installed to 
comply with § 150.0(k). 

§ 150.0(k)2F: Interior Switches and Controls. Lighting controls must comply with the applicable requirements of § 110.9. 

2019 Low-Rise Residential Mandatory Measures Summary 
 

§ 150.0(k)2G: 
Interior Switches and Controls. An energy management control system (EMCS) may be used to comply with control requirements if it: 
provides functionality of the specified control according to § 110.9; meets the Installation Certificate requirements of § 130.4; meets the 
EMCS requirements of § 130.0(e); and meets all other requirements in § 150.0(k)2. 

§ 150.0(k)2H: 
Interior Switches and Controls. A multiscene programmable controller may be used to comply with dimmer requirements in § 150.0(k) if it 
provides the functionality of a dimmer according to § 110.9, and complies with all other applicable requirements in § 150.0(k)2. 

§ 150.0(k)2I: 
Interior Switches and Controls. In bathrooms, garages, laundry rooms, and utility rooms, at least one luminaire in each of these spaces must 
be controlled by an occupant sensor or a vacancy sensor providing automatic-off functionality. If an occupant sensor is installed, it must be 
initially configured to manual-on operation using the manual control required under Section 150.0(k)2C.  

§ 150.0(k)2J: 
Interior Switches and Controls. Luminaires that are or contain light sources that meet Reference Joint Appendix JA8 requirements for 
dimming, and that are not controlled by occupancy or vacancy sensors, must have dimming controls.* 

§ 150.0(k)2K: Interior Switches and Controls. Under cabinet lighting must be controlled separately from ceiling-installed lighting systems. 

§ 150.0(k)3A: 
Residential Outdoor Lighting. For single-family residential buildings, outdoor lighting permanently mounted to a residential building, or to other 
buildings on the same lot, must meet the requirement in item § 150.0(k)3Ai (ON and OFF switch) and the requirements in either  
§ 150.0(k)3Aii (photocell and either a motion sensor or automatic time switch control) or § 150.0(k)3Aiii (astronomical time clock), or an EMCS.   

§ 150.0(k)3B: 
Residential Outdoor Lighting. For low-rise residential buildings with four or more dwelling units, outdoor lighting for private patios, entrances, 
balconies, and porches; and residential parking lots and carports with less than eight vehicles per site must comply with either § 150.0(k)3A or 
with the applicable requirements in Sections 110.9, 130.0, 130.2, 130.4, 140.7 and 141.0. 

§ 150.0(k)3C: 
Residential Outdoor Lighting. For low-rise residential buildings with four or more dwelling units, any outdoor lighting for residential parking lots 
or carports with a total of eight or more vehicles per site and any outdoor lighting not regulated by § 150.0(k)3B or § 150.0(k)3D must comply with 
the applicable requirements in Sections 110.9, 130.0, 130.2, 130.4, 140.7 and 141.0. 

§ 150.0(k)4: 
Internally illuminated address signs. Internally illuminated address signs must comply with § 140.8; or must consume no more than 5 watts of 
power as determined according to § 130.0(c). 

§ 150.0(k)5: 
Residential Garages for Eight or More Vehicles. Lighting for residential parking garages for eight or more vehicles must comply with the 
applicable requirements for nonresidential garages in Sections 110.9, 130.0, 130.1, 130.4, 140.6, and 141.0. 

§ 150.0(k)6A: 
Interior Common Areas of Low-rise Multifamily Residential Buildings. In a low-rise multifamily residential building where the total interior 
common area in a single building equals 20 percent or less of the floor area, permanently installed lighting for the interior common areas in that 
building must be comply with Table 150.0-A and be controlled by an occupant sensor. 

§ 150.0(k)6B: 

Interior Common Areas of Low-rise Multifamily Residential Buildings. In a low-rise multifamily residential building where the total interior 
common area in a single building equals more than 20 percent of the floor area, permanently installed lighting for the interior common areas in 
that building must:  
i. Comply with the applicable requirements in Sections 110.9, 130.0, 130.1, 140.6 and 141.0; and 
ii. Lighting installed in corridors and stairwells must be controlled by occupant sensors that reduce the lighting power in each space by at least 
50 percent. The occupant sensors must be capable of turning the light fully on and off from all designed paths of ingress and egress. 

Solar Ready Buildings:  

§ 110.10(a)1: 
Single Family Residences. Single family residences located in subdivisions with 10 or more single family residences and where the 
application for a tentative subdivision map for the residences has been deemed complete and approved by the enforcement agency, which 
do not have a photovoltaic system installed, must comply with the requirements of § 110.10(b) through § 110.10(e). 

§ 110.10(a)2: 
Low-rise Multifamily Buildings. Low-rise multi-family buildings that do not have a photovoltaic system installed must comply with the 
requirements of § 110.10(b) through § 110.10(d). 

§ 110.10(b)1: 

Minimum Solar Zone Area. The solar zone must have a minimum total area as described below. The solar zone must comply with access, 
pathway, smoke ventilation, and spacing requirements as specified in Title 24, Part 9 or other parts of Title 24 or in any requirements adopted by 
a local jurisdiction. The solar zone total area must be comprised of areas that have no dimension less than 5 feet and are no less than 80 
square feet each for buildings with roof areas less than or equal to 10,000 square feet or no less than 160 square feet each for buildings with 
roof areas greater than 10,000 square feet. For single family residences, the solar zone must be located on the roof or overhang of the building 
and have a total area no less than 250 square feet. For low-rise multi-family buildings the solar zone must be located on the roof or overhang of 
the building, or on the roof or overhang of another structure located within 250 feet of the building, or on covered parking installed with the 
building project, and have a total area no less than 15 percent of the total roof area of the building excluding any skylight area. The solar zone 
requirement is applicable to the entire building, including mixed occupancy.* 

§ 110.10(b)2: Azimuth. All sections of the solar zone located on steep-sloped roofs must be oriented between 90 degrees and 300 degrees of true north. 

§ 110.10(b)3A: 
Shading. The solar zone must not contain any obstructions, including but not limited to: vents, chimneys, architectural features, and roof 
mounted equipment.* 

§ 110.10(b)3B: 
Shading. Any obstruction located on the roof or any other part of the building that projects above a solar zone must be located at least twice the 
distance, measured in the horizontal plane, of the height difference between the highest point of the obstruction and the horizontal projection of 
the nearest point of the solar zone, measured in the vertical plane.* 

§ 110.10(b)4: 
Structural Design Loads on Construction Documents. For areas of the roof designated as a solar zone, the structural design loads for roof 
dead load and roof live load must be clearly indicated on the construction documents. 

§ 110.10(c): 
Interconnection Pathways. The construction documents must indicate: a location reserved for inverters and metering equipment and a 
pathway reserved for routing of conduit from the solar zone to the point of interconnection with the electrical service; and for single family 
residences and central water-heating systems, a pathway reserved for routing plumbing from the solar zone to the water-heating system. 

§ 110.10(d): 
Documentation. A copy of the construction documents or a comparable document indicating the information from § 110.10(b) through 
§ 110.10(c) must be provided to the occupant. 

§ 110.10(e)1: Main Electrical Service Panel. The main electrical service panel must have a minimum busbar rating of 200 amps. 

§ 110.10(e)2: 
Main Electrical Service Panel. The main electrical service panel must have a reserved space to allow for the installation of a double pole circuit 
breaker for a future solar electric installation. The reserved space must be permanently marked as “For Future Solar Electric”. 

 

A-2-52Page 209 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

T - 3

LEED DOCUMENTATION

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

1

LEED v4.1 Residential: Single Family
Project Checklist

Y ? N
Credit Integrative Process 2

4 0 0 Location and Transportation 10
Y Prereq Floodplain Avoidance Required

PERFORMANCE PATH
Credit LEED for Neighborhood Development Location 10

PRESCRIPTIVE PATH
3 Credit Site Selection 6

0 Credit Compact Development 1
1 Credit Community Resources 1

0 Credit Access to Transit 2

3 0 0 Sustainable Sites 5
Y Prereq Construction Activity Pollution Prevention Required
1 Credit Heat Island Reduction 1
1 Credit Rainwater Management 2
1 Credit Non-Toxic Pest Control 2

10 0 0 Water Efficiency 15
Y Prereq Water Use Required
Y Prereq Water Metering Required

PERFORMANCE PATH
0 Credit Total Water Use 15

PRESCRIPTIVE PATH
7 Credit Indoor Water Use 11
3 Credit Outdoor Water Use 4

11 0 0 Energy and Atmosphere 40
Y Prereq Minimum Energy Performance Required
Y Prereq Energy Metering Required
Y Prereq Education of the Homeowner, Tenant, or Building Manager Required
10 Credit Annual Energy Use 36
1 Credit Efficient Hot Water Distribution System 2

0 Credit HVAC Start-Up Credentialing 1
0 Credit Refrigerant Management 1

1

Project Name: Stanley Residence - Cayucos, CA

Date: 30 Aug 23

6 0 0 Materials and Resources 12
Y Prereq Certified Tropical Wood Required
Y Prereq Durability Management Required
1 Credit Durability Management Verification 3
4 Credit Environmentally Preferable Products 5
1 Credit Construction Waste Management 2

0 Credit Material Efficient Framing 2

6 0 0 Indoor Environmental Quality 16
Y Prereq Ventilation Required
Y Prereq Combustion Venting Required
Y Prereq Garage Pollutant Protection Required
Y Prereq Radon-Resistant Construction Required
Y Prereq Air FIltering Required
Y Prereq Compartmentalization Required
1 Credit Enhanced Ventilation 3
1 Credit Contaminant Control 3
3 Credit Balancing of Heating and Cooling Distribution Systems 6
1 Credit Low Emitting Products 4

0 0 0 Innovation 6
Y Prereq Preliminary Rating Required

0 Credit Innovation  5
0 Credit LEED AP Homes 1

0 0 0 Regional Priority 4
Credit Regional Priority: Specific Credit 1
Credit Regional Priority: Specific Credit 1
Credit Regional Priority: Specific Credit 1
Credit Regional Priority: Specific Credit 1

40 0 0 TOTALS Possible Points: 110
Certified: 40 to 49 points,  Silver: 50 to 59 points,  Gold: 60 to 79 points,  Platinum: 80 to 110 

2

A-2-53Page 210 of 356



05
" P

AL
M

 4
P

G

G

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

G G G G
SSS

WET BAR

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

N
65

° 0
2'

 0
6"

E 
 6

9.
78

' ±
 R

ec
or

d

N25° 13' 30"W  49.95' ± Record

S6
5°

 0
2'

 2
5"

W
  6

9.
70

' ±
 R

ec
or

d

S25° 08' 00"E  49.96' ± Record

DECEMBER 2022

R.C.B.

R.C.B.

1"=10'

NONE

3525 Gilbert Ave - apn# 064-405-010
No. C 88309

R
IC

HA RD C. BURDE

C I V I L

RE
GI

ST
ER

ED  PROFESSIONAL  ENGINEER

STATE  OF  CA LIFORNIA

5

project location

C-1Cover Sheet

Stanley Residence
for

Grading & Drainage Plans

APN# 064-405-010
3427 Gilbert Ave 

LIMITS OF WORK
AREA  = 4,431  SF

San Luis Obispo, California
Town of Cayucos

in the

A-2-54Page 211 of 356



05
" P

AL
M

 4
P

24
" P

IN
E

OH
OH

OH
OH

OH
OH

OH
OH

OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH OH

G

G

G

G

S
S

S
S

S
S

S

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G GSSSSSSS

WET BAR

AC
-3

AC
-3

B
C-3

B
C-3

W
W

1

1

5

6

6

7

7

3
3 4

3

4

4

1
2

8

9

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

10

10

11

11

12

12

DECEMBER 2022

R.C.B.

R.C.B.

1"=10'

NONE

3525 Gilbert Ave - apn# 064-405-010
No. C 88309

R
IC

HA RD C. BURDE

C I V I L

RE
GI

ST
ER

ED  PROFESSIONAL  ENGINEER

STATE  OF  CA LIFORNIA

5
C-2Grading, Drainage, and Utility Plan 

W W

1

2

3

4

5

6

W W

7

8

9

10

11

12

A-2-55Page 212 of 356



DECEMBER 2022

R.C.B.

R.C.B.

1"=10'

NONE

3525 Gilbert Ave - apn# 064-405-010
No. C 88309

R
IC

HA RD C. BURDE

C I V I L

RE
GI

ST
ER

ED  PROFESSIONAL  ENGINEER

STATE  OF  CA LIFORNIA

5
C-3Sections and Details

A-2-56Page 213 of 356



DECEMBER 2022

R.C.B.

R.C.B.

1"=10'

NONE

3525 Gilbert Ave - apn# 064-405-010
No. C 88309

R
IC

HA RD C. BURDE

C I V I L

RE
GI

ST
ER

ED  PROFESSIONAL  ENGINEER

STATE  OF  CA LIFORNIA

5
C-4Details

A-2-57Page 214 of 356



05
" P

AL
M

 4
P

G

G

G

G

S
S

S

W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W W

G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G G GSS

WET BAR

W
W

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
G

DECEMBER 2022

R.C.B.

R.C.B.

1"=10'

NONE

3525 Gilbert Ave - apn# 064-405-010
No. C 88309

R
IC

HA RD C. BURDE

C I V I L

RE
GI

ST
ER

ED  PROFESSIONAL  ENGINEER

STATE  OF  CA LIFORNIA

5
C-5Erosion Control

TC-1

EC-4

EC-6

SE-1

SE-5

SE-4

WM-1

WM-2

WM-3

WM-4

WM-5

WM-8

WM-9

EC-1

EC-2

NS-1

NS-3

NS-8

NS-9

NS-10

NS-12

NS-13

A-2-58Page 215 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 1

16 DEC 2022

GROUND
FLOOR PLAN

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC #1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
1/4" = 1' - 0"

DW

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

1
8

'-
0

"
6

'-
0

"
2

4
'-

0
"

4
'-

0
"

8
'-

0
"

3'-112" 4'-8" 4'-7"

6R @ 6"

3
'-

1
1

"
4

'-
8

"
2

"
2

"

5T @ 11"

3'-7" 6'-4" 3'-7" 2'-0"

4'-0"

6
'-

9
1

2
"

1

8'-11"

FAMILYBDRM 1

BATHRM 1

GARAGE

LAUNDRY

CLO

ENTRY

PORCH

HALL

36'-0"

12'-0" 2'-312" 18'-5"3'-312"

4
8

'-
0

"

1
2

'-
4

"
5

'-
8

"
3

'-
7

"
5

'-
0

"
2

'-
4

1
2

"
1

1
'-

0
1

2
"

3
'-

6
"

8
'-

0
"

8
'-

0
"

3
'-

5
"

6
'-

0
"

E
Q

E
Q

2
'-

6
1

2
"

6
'-

0
"

2'-6" 6'-2" 2'-6"9'-2"

1
'-

0
"

2'-7" 1'-6" 1'-6"

6
'-

1
1

1
2

"

14'-0" 22'-0"

3'-0" 16'-0" 3'-0"6"1'-0"

3'-81
2" 3'-81

2"6'-2"

FLOOR PLAN REFERENCE NOTES
1. LINE OF CEILING HEIGHT CHANGE

2. LINE OF DECK ABOVE
3. LINE OF ROOF OVERHANG ABOVE
4. CONCRETE LANDING ON GRADE, SLOPE N.T.E. 2%
5. CONC SLAB ON GRADE, REFER TO STRUCTURAL
6. WOOD DECK W/ SINGLE-PLY DECK MEMBRANE, REFER TO STRUCT
7. 42"H RAILING W/ STEEL POSTS AND TOP RAIL
8. 36" HIGH CABINETS
9. 36" HIGH ISLAND COUNTER W/ STORAGE BELOW
10. UPPER CABINETS, SHOWN DASHED
11. 96" H PANTRY CABINET
12. A.  SINGLE-BOWL SINK WITH GARBAGE DISPOSAL

B.  BATHROOM SINK, UNDERCOUNTER, TOTO LT543G#01, OR EQ.
C. UTILITY SINK

13. DISHWASHER
14. 36"  ELECTRIC RANGE
15. 42" HOOD, CONFIRM FAN HAS MINIMUM AIRFLOW RATE OF 100 CFM

WOLF PRO WALL HOOD PW362418, OR EQ.
16. NEW 36" COUNTER-DEPTH REFRIGERATOR/FREEZER

KITCHENAID KRFC302ESS, OR EQ.
17. WALK-IN SHOWER, NEW PORCELAIN TILE ON WALLS TO MIN 7'-0" A.F.F.
18. TUB-SHOWER COMBO, KOHLER K-TS395-4-CP, PROVIDE

TILE TO 7'-0" A.F.F.
19. ELECTRIC WASHER
20. ELECTRIC DRYER
21. DRYER VENT ROUTE TO OUTSIDE AIR: HORIZONTAL.  PROVIDE  

CLEANOUT AT ELBOW. VENT SHALL BE 4"Ø METAL, SMOOTH,  WITH 
BACK DRAFT DAMPER.

22. WATER HEATER PRESSURE RELIEF LINE WITH 90º ELBOW 12" ABV. 
GRADE, POINT DOWN UNTHREAD END.

23. 200 AMP ELECTRICAL PANEL
24. ELECTRIC HEAT PUMP WATER HEATER
25. SPLIT SYSTEM CONDENSING UNIT ON 36"x60" CONC PAD
26. ZERO-CLEARANCE FIREPLACE, VALOR H5 30,000BTUH.

PROVIDE MANUFACTURER'S INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS AT JOB SITE
FOR INSPECTION, DIRECT VENT TO BACK WALL

27. TRASH AND RECYCLING BINS
28. CLOSET ROD AND SHELF
29. GARAGE DOOR TO BE 20-MINUTE FIRE-RATED 

PROVIDE WEATHERSTRIPPING AND THRESHOLD
30. HANDRAILS, REFER TO DETAIL 43/A-7
31. UNDERSIDE OF STAIRS TO HAVE MIN 1/2" GYP BOARD FINISH

FIRE BLOCKING NOTES
Provide fire blocking at the following locations per CBC Section 717:

1. Concealed spaces of stud walls including furred spaces, at ceiling and 
floor levels and at ten foot intervals horizontal.

2. Interconnections between concealed vertical and horizontal spaces at 
soffits, drop ceilings and coved ceilings.

3. Concealed spaces between stair stringers at the top and bottom of
the run, and between studs along and in line with the run, if walls under the
stairs are unfinished.

4. Openings around vents, pipes, ducts, chimneys, fireplaces, etc., which
afford a passage at ceiling and floor levels.

WALL LEGEND
PARTIAL HEIGHT WD STUD WALL

2X4 WD STUD WALL

2X6 WD STUD WALL
W/ R-21 BATT INSULATION

FLOOR PLAN GENERAL NOTES
1. It is the responsibility of the General Contractor to verify all existing 

conditions prior to construction.  Any discrepancies shall be brought 
to the immediate attention of the Architect.

2. Contractor shall provide and maintain portable 2A10BC fire 
extinguishers on site during construction.

3. All exterior walls shall shall be 5 1/2" deep studs with R-21 batt 
insulation, unless noted otherwise.

4. All plumbing walls shall be 5 1/2" deep studs with R-21 batt insul, uno
5. All roof areas above interior conditioned spaces shall have R-38 

spray foam insulation.  Floor/ceiling areas with conditioned space 
above shall have R-38 batt insulation.

6. Wall finish or backing at tub/shower and water compartment areas 
shall be an approved glass mat water-resistant gypsum board.

7. Water pressure in building shall be limited to 80 PSI or less.  An 
approved pressure regulator preceded by a strainer shall be installed. 
All plumbing fixtures & fittings shall meet the standards referenced in 
Section 4.304.1 of CALGreen.

8. All concealed plumbing joints shall be non-slip connections.
9. Water service risers shall be 1" Ø minimum, Schedule 80 PVC or type 'L' 

copper pipe.  All overhead piping and pipes located in outside walls shall 
be type 'L' rigid copper and covered with R-3 insulation min. All pipes 
exposed to freezing shall be insulated.  All hot water piping shall be 
insulated.  Refer to T-24 documentation for specific HERS 
verification.

10. Gas vents and non-combustible piping, in walls, shall be effectively draft 
stopped at each floor or ceiling.

11. In shower and tub/shower combinations, control valves shall be 
pressure balanced or thermostatic mixing valves. CPC 418.0

12. Shower head flow shall not exceed 1.8 gallons per minute at 80 PSI.
13. Toilets shall have a maximum of 1.28 gallons per flush.
14. All hose bibbs shall be provided with an approved non-removable back 

flow preventer.  An approved self draining frost proof hose bibb with 
back flow preventer shall be provided where freezing may occur.

15. Air ducts passing through wall or ceiling separating the living area from 
the garage shall be constructed of steel not less than 26 gauge with no 
openings into the garage.

16. Dryer exhaust ducts shall not exceed a combined vert & horiz length of 
14 feet, including (2) 90° elbows (unless approved by manufacturer's 
specification).  Two feet shall be deducted for each additional 90° 
elbow. Duct termination shall be no less than 3'-0" from openings into 
the building. 

17. Where a louvered door is provided for a laundry closet, a minimum 
of100 square inches of louver area shall be provided for make up air.

18. Fireplaces shall be VALOR H5 - 1100MN direct vent gas, sealed 
combustion type fireplace, 30,000 BTU/HR Rated.  Provide one layer 
of type 'x' gyp bd at the inside of the fireplace enclosure and 1/2" 
cememt board surround per manufacturer's installation instructions.

19. not used
20. Sleeves shall be provided to protect piping through concrete floors in 

accordance with CPC 312.10.
21. Gas piping shall be installed in accordance with CPC 1211.
22. not used
23. Air exhaust & intake openings that terminate outdoors shall be 

protected with corrosion-resistant screens, louvers or grilles with 
1/4" minimum and 1/2" maximum sized openings.  Openings shall be 
protected against local weather conditions.  Exhaust air shall not be 
directed onto walkways.

24. Air intake openings shall be located 10' minimum from any hazardous or 
noxious contaminant source or 2' below the contaminant source.

25. HVAC system shall have the capability to provide mechanical 
ventilation to insure window and doors may remain closed. 

26. All combustible materials exposed within the plenum space shall comply 
with CMC Section 602.2.  Materials shall have a mold, humidity, and 
erosion-resistant face that meets the requirements of UL 181.

27. not used
28. All exterior doors shall be solid core, with perimeter weather stripping 

and threshold seals
29. Required egress door (front entry) shall be openable from inside the 

dwelling without the use of a key or special knowledge or effort.
30. Landings at required egress door shall not be more than 1-1/2" below 

top of threshold.  Landings shall be equal to the width of the door or 
wider and a length in the direction of travel equal to 36 inches. Slope of 
exterior landings shall not exceed 1/4” per foot. Doors not swinging 
over landings may have a difference of 7-3/4" max below top of 
threshold.

31. All windows and sliding & swinging doors shall be dual glazed unless noted 
otherwise.  All new glazing shall be installed with certifying label showing 
the U-value.  All glazing shall be Low-E.  All window frames shall be 
Andersen Ultra Series fiberglass windows (or equal) with headers at 
+7'-0" U.N.O.  Patio doors shall be Andersen Ultra Series.  Windows and 
sliding glass doors shall be low air infiltration rated frames (5 CFM or 
less per ANSI specifications).

32. Lavatory faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of 1.2 gpm @ 60 psi.
33. Kitchen faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of 1.8 gpm @ 60 psi.
34. Water closets shall be set no closer than 15" from center of fixture to 

any side wall or obstruction.
35. Finish materials shall comply with CALGreen section 4.504.
36. All roof gutters shall be provided with the means to prevent the 

accumulation of leaves and debris in the gutter.
37. Addresses shall be plainly visible and legible from the street or road 

fronting the property.  Address numbers shall be 4" in height, 1/2" 
minimum stroke width and of contrasting color to their background.

38. Tiled shower pan shall be waterproofed with mortar bed sloped to 
shower drain at 1/4" per foot min.  Waterproofing shall terminate a min 
of 3" above the height of the shower curb.  Shower curb framing to 
slope a min of 1/4" per foot.  Provide solid backing for all vertical 
installation of shower pan waterproofing.  Tile backer board shall lap 
over the shower pan waterproofing at a min of 2". 

39. Electric heat pump water heater shall be RHEEM Performance Platinum 
50-gallon.

41. Ducts used for kitchen range installation shall be of metal and shall 
have smooth interior surfaces.

42. HVAC units shall be MITSUBISHI MSZ-GL24NA outdoor heat pumps 
with indoor ceiling mounted cassettes.

9'X18' PARKING SPACE9'X18' PARKING SPACE

UP

LINEN CLOSET

COAT CLOSET

DN

D
N

30683068

3
0

6
8

26682868

3068

3068

3
06

8

3
0

7
0

6
0

4
0

 D
B

L
 C

A
S

E
M

E
N

T
6

0
4

0
4

0
2

0

3
0

4
0

C
A

S
E

M
E

N
T

3
0

4
0

C
A

S
E

M
E

N
T6068 DBL 9068 SWING XOO

3068

5968 BYPASS

6
0

6
8

 B
Y

P
A

S
S

6
0

6
8

 B
Y

P
A

S
S

2
86

8

2

2

4

4 4

5

6
R

 @
 7

"

5
T

 @
 1

2
"

4

10 8 12
C

11 11

26

2828

41068 BYPASS

10 12
C

8

19 20 20 22

21

18

23

25

25

28

9
R

 @
 7

"

7
T

 @
 1

1
"

29

31

30

12
B

8R @ 7"

7T @ 11"

1

2

2

WINDOW SCHEDULE
SIZE

SYM WIDTH HEIGHT FRAME TYPE REMARKS
A 3'-0" 4'-0" FIBERGLASS CASEMENT

AA 6'-0" 4'-0" FIBERGLASS DBL CSMNT
B 4'-0" 2'-0" FIBERGLASS SLIDER NOTE #6
C 4'-0" 4'-0" FIBERGLASS CASEMENT

WINDOW NOTES:

1.  WINDOWS TO BE MILGARD C650 ULTRA SERIES W/ FIBERGLASS 
FRAMES, OR APPROVED EQUAL. EXTERIOR COLOR: BLACK BEAN, 
INTERIOR COLOR: WHITE.
2.  WINDOW TYPES MARKED WITH       SHALL MEET OR EXCEED 20" CLEAR 
WIDTH AND 24" CLEAR HEIGHT FOR EGRESS WITH A TOTAL OPEN AREA TO 
MEET OR EXCEED 5.7 SQ.FT.
3.  ALL WINDOWS SHALL HAVE A TESTED MINIMUM U-FACTOR OF 0.58, PER 
NFRC 100-2001, AND SHALL HAVE A NFRC IMPRINTED LABEL. ALL 
WINDOWS SHALL BE CERTIFIED TO HAVE A MAX O.3 CFM PER S.F. OF 
WINDOW AREA PER ASTM E283.
4.  ALL WINDOWS SHALL BE DUAL GLAZED WITH A MINIMUM U-FACTOR OF 
0.32 AND SHALL HAVE LOW-E COATING.
5.  ALL WINDOW FRAMES SHALL BE LOW AIR INFILTRATION RATED 0.5 CFM 
OR LESS PER ANSI SPECIFICATIONS.
6.  WINDOWS NOTED IN SCHEDULE ABOVE SHALL HAVE BOTH PANES OF 
TEMPERED GLASS.
7.  DUE TO LOCATION IN A WILDLAND-URBAN INTERFACE HIGH FIRE 
SEVERITY ZONE, ALL WINDOWS SHALL HAVE THE  EXTERIOR PANE BE 
TEMPERED GLASS.

DOOR NOTES:

1.  EXTERIOR DOORS TO BE MILGARD C650 ULTRA SERIES FIBERGLASS 
DOORS FOR SLIDING DOORS AND MILGARD C650 ULTRA SERIES 
FIBERGLASS DOORS FOR SWING DOORS. EXTERIOR COLOR: BLACK BEAN, 
INTERIOR COLOR: WHITE.
2.  INTERIOR DOORS TO BE STILE & RAIL W/ SINGLE PANELS (SIMPSON #82 
INTERIOR,  OR EQ.)
3.  ALL EXTERIOR DOORS SHALL HAVE PERIMETER WEATHER STRIPPING AND 
THRESHOLD SEALS
4.  REQUIRED EGRESS DOOR (FRONT ENTRY) SHALL BE OPENABLE FROM 
THE INSIDE WITHOUT THE USE OF A KEY OR SPECIAL KNOWLEDGE OR EFFORT.
5.  ALL EXTERIOR DOORS SHALL BE DUAL GLAZED WITH TEMPERED GLASS. 
ALL NEW GLAZING SHALL  BE INSTALLED WITH CERTIFYING LABEL SHOWING 
THE U-VALUE. ALL GLAZING SHALL HAVE LOW-E COATING. SLIDING GLASS 
DOORS SHALL BE LOW AIR INFILTRATION-RATED FRAMES (.5CFM OR LESS 
PER ANSI SPECIFICATIONS.
6.  POCKET DOOR AND SLIDING CLOSET DOORS HARDWARE SHALL HAVE 
BALL BEARING DOOR HANGERS WITH NYLON WHEELS (JOHNSON HARDWARE, 
OR EQ.)
7.  GLAZING IN DOORS AND DOOR SIDE LIGHTS SHALL HAVE BOTH PANES
OF TEMPERED GLASS.

A

A

AA

AA

4
'-

4
"

5'-0"

1

B

3070

16070

1

E

E
E

A-2-59Page 216 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 2

16 DEC 2022

SECOND
FLOOR PLAN

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC #1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

SECOND FLOOR PLAN
1/4" = 1' - 0"

D
N

UP

to
 r

o
o

f 
d

e
c

k

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

1'-6"

BDRM 3BDRM 2

BATHRM 2

LIVING

KITCHEN

CLO

DINING

DECK

HALL

BATHRM 3

36'-0"

12'-0" 2'-312" 18'-5"3'-312"

4
8

'-
0

"

1
2

'-
4

"
5

'-
8

"
3

'-
7

"
5

'-
0

"
1

3
'-

5
"

3
'-

6
"

8
'-

0
"

8
'-

0
"

3
'-

4
1

2
"

6
'-

0
"

E
Q

E
Q

2'-6" 6'-2" 2'-6"9'-2"

1
'-

1
"

2'-7" 1'-6" 1'-6"

14'-0" 22'-0"

6" 3'-0" 16'-0" 3'-0" 1'-6"

3'-31
2"

6
'-

1
1

1
2

"

4'-81
2"

2'-5" 3'-6"

4'-0"

1'-8"

1
8

'-
0

"

3
'-

1
1

"
5

'-
0

"
5

'-
8

"
3

'-
5

"
3

'-
1

0
"

3
0

'-
0

"
8

'-
0

"

4
'-

0
"

3
'-

2
"

6
'-

0
"

2
"

4
'-

8
"

2
"

4
'-

6
"

6" 35'-0" 6"

1

WALL LEGEND
PARTIAL HEIGHT WD STUD WALL

2X4 WD STUD WALL

2X6 WD STUD WALL
W/ R-21 BATT INSULATION

4
0

4
0

3
06

8

6068 9068

6
0

4
0

6
0

4
0

4
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

3
0

4
0

6
0

4
0

4
0

2
0

16070

9070

LINEN CLOSET

30683068

2
6
6

8 2
6

6
8

3068

3068

3068

3'-7" 4'-1012"

6
0

6
8

 B
Y

P
A

S
S

9'-0" 4'-0" 2'-1"3'-412"

FIRE BLOCKING NOTES
Provide fire blocking at the following locations per CBC Section 717:

1. Concealed spaces of stud walls including furred spaces, at ceiling and 
floor levels and at ten foot intervals horizontal.

2. Interconnections between concealed vertical and horizontal spaces at 
soffits, drop ceilings and coved ceilings.

3. Concealed spaces between stair stringers at the top and bottom of
the run, and between studs along and in line with the run, if walls under the
stairs are unfinished.

4. Openings around vents, pipes, ducts, chimneys, fireplaces, etc., which
afford a passage at ceiling and floor levels.

FLOOR PLAN REFERENCE NOTES
1. LINE OF CEILING HEIGHT CHANGE

2. LINE OF DECK ABOVE
3. LINE OF ROOF OVERHANG ABOVE
4. CONCRETE LANDING ON GRADE, SLOPE N.T.E. 2%
5. CONC SLAB ON GRADE, REFER TO STRUCTURAL
6. WOOD DECK W/ SINGLE-PLY DECK MEMBRANE, REFER TO STRUCT
7. 42"H RAILING W/ STEEL POSTS AND TOP RAIL
8. 36" HIGH CABINETS
9. 36" HIGH ISLAND COUNTER W/ STORAGE BELOW
10. UPPER CABINETS, SHOWN DASHED
11. 96" H PANTRY CABINET
12. A.  SINGLE-BOWL SINK WITH GARBAGE DISPOSAL

B.  BATHROOM SINK, UNDERCOUNTER, TOTO LT543G#01, OR EQ.
C. UTILITY SINK

13. DISHWASHER
14. 36"  DUAL FUEL GAS AND ELECTRIC RANGE
15. 42" HOOD, CONFIRM FAN HAS MINIMUM AIRFLOW RATE OF 100 CFM

WOLF PRO WALL HOOD PW362418, OR EQ.
16. NEW 36" COUNTER-DEPTH REFRIGERATOR/FREEZER

KITCHENAID KRFC302ESS, OR EQ.
17. WALK-IN SHOWER, NEW PORCELAIN TILE ON WALLS TO MIN 7'-0" A.F.F.
18. TUB-SHOWER COMBO, KOHLER K-TS395-4-CP, PROVIDE

TILE TO 7'-0" A.F.F.
19. ELECTRIC WASHER
20. GAS DRYER
21. DRYER VENT ROUTE TO OUTSIDE AIR: HORIZONTAL.  PROVIDE  

CLEANOUT AT ELBOW. VENT SHALL BE 4"Ø METAL, SMOOTH,  WITH 
BACK DRAFT DAMPER.

22. WATER HEATER PRESSURE RELIEF LINE WITH 90º ELBOW 12" ABV. 
GRADE, POINT DOWN UNTHREAD END.

23. 200 AMP ELECTRICAL PANEL
24. ELECTRIC HEAT PUMP WATER HEATER
25. SPLIT SYSTEM CONDENSING UNIT ON 36"x60" CONC PAD
26. ZERO-CLEARANCE FIREPLACE, VALOR H5 30,000BTUH.

PROVIDE MANUFACTURER'S INSTALLATION INSTRUCTIONS AT JOB SITE
FOR INSPECTION, DIRECT VENT TO BACK WALL

27. TRASH AND RECYCLING BINS
28. CLOSET ROD AND SHELF
29. GARAGE DOOR TO BE 20-MINUTE FIRE-RATED 

PROVIDE WEATHERSTRIPPING AND THRESHOLD
30. HANDRAILS, REFER TO DETAIL 43/A-7
31. UNDERSIDE OF STAIRS TO HAVE MIN 1/2" GYP BOARD FINISH

3

6

6 7

81014

12
A

13

151611

9

26

34
A-8

3
0

6
8

3
0

6
8

34
A-8

44
A-8

44
A-8

12
B

18

17

12
B

44
A-7

44
A-7

53
A-7

30

41068 BYPASS

2
'-

1
"

1
'-

5
"

4
'-

1
"

1/2:12

A

A

AA

AA

AA

B
B

C

1/8"/FT

1/4"/FT 1/4"/FT

1
/

2
"

1
/

2
"

1
/

4
"/

F
T

FLOOR PLAN GENERAL NOTES
1. It is the responsibility of the General Contractor to verify all existing 

conditions prior to construction.  Any discrepancies shall be brought 
to the immediate attention of the Architect.

2. Contractor shall provide and maintain portable 2A10BC fire 
extinguishers on site during construction.

3. All exterior walls shall shall be 5 1/2" deep studs with R-21 batt 
insulation, unless noted otherwise.

4. All plumbing walls shall be 5 1/2" deep studs with R-21 batt insul, uno
5. All roof areas above interior conditioned spaces shall have R-38 

spray foam insulation.  Floor/ceiling areas with conditioned space 
above shall have R-38 batt insulation.

6. Wall finish or backing at tub/shower and water compartment areas 
shall be an approved glass mat water-resistant gypsum board.

7. Water pressure in building shall be limited to 80 PSI or less.  An 
approved pressure regulator preceded by a strainer shall be installed. 
All plumbing fixtures & fittings shall meet the standards referenced in 
Section 4.304.1 of CALGreen.

8. All concealed plumbing joints shall be non-slip connections.
9. Water service risers shall be 1" Ø minimum, Schedule 80 PVC or type 'L' 

copper pipe.  All overhead piping and pipes located in outside walls shall 
be type 'L' rigid copper and covered with R-3 insulation min. All pipes 
exposed to freezing shall be insulated.  All hot water piping shall be 
insulated.  Refer to T-24 documentation for specific HERS 
verification.

10. Gas vents and non-combustible piping, in walls, shall be effectively draft 
stopped at each floor or ceiling.

11. In shower and tub/shower combinations, control valves shall be 
pressure balanced or thermostatic mixing valves. CPC 418.0

12. Shower head flow shall not exceed 1.8 gallons per minute at 80 PSI.
13. Toilets shall have a maximum of 1.28 gallons per flush.
14. All hose bibbs shall be provided with an approved non-removable back 

flow preventer.  An approved self draining frost proof hose bibb with 
back flow preventer shall be provided where freezing may occur.

15. Air ducts passing through wall or ceiling separating the living area from 
the garage shall be constructed of steel not less than 26 gauge with no 
openings into the garage.

16. Dryer exhaust ducts shall not exceed a combined vert & horiz length of 
14 feet, including (2) 90° elbows (unless approved by manufacturer's 
specification).  Two feet shall be deducted for each additional 90° 
elbow. Duct termination shall be no less than 3'-0" from openings into 
the building. 

17. Where a louvered door is provided for a laundry closet, a minimum 
of100 square inches of louver area shall be provided for make up air.

18. Fireplaces shall be VALOR H5 - 1100MN direct vent gas, sealed 
combustion type fireplace, 30,000 BTU/HR Rated.  Provide one layer 
of type 'x' gyp bd at the inside of the fireplace enclosure and 1/2" 
cememt board surround per manufacturer's installation instructions.

19. not used
20. Sleeves shall be provided to protect piping through concrete floors in 

accordance with CPC 312.10.
21. Gas piping shall be installed in accordance with CPC 1211.
22. not used
23. Air exhaust & intake openings that terminate outdoors shall be 

protected with corrosion-resistant screens, louvers or grilles with 
1/4" minimum and 1/2" maximum sized openings.  Openings shall be 
protected against local weather conditions.  Exhaust air shall not be 
directed onto walkways.

24. Air intake openings shall be located 10' minimum from any hazardous or 
noxious contaminant source or 2' below the contaminant source.

25. HVAC system shall have the capability to provide mechanical 
ventilation to insure window and doors may remain closed. 

26. All combustible materials exposed within the plenum space shall comply 
with CMC Section 602.2.  Materials shall have a mold, humidity, and 
erosion-resistant face that meets the requirements of UL 181.

27. not used
28. All exterior doors shall be solid core, with perimeter weather stripping 

and threshold seals
29. Required egress door (front entry) shall be openable from inside the 

dwelling without the use of a key or special knowledge or effort.
30. Landings at required egress door shall not be more than 1-1/2" below 

top of threshold.  Landings shall be equal to the width of the door or 
wider and a length in the direction of travel equal to 36 inches. Slope of 
exterior landings shall not exceed 1/4” per foot. Doors not swinging 
over landings may have a difference of 7-3/4" max below top of 
threshold.

31. All windows and sliding & swinging doors shall be dual glazed unless noted 
otherwise.  All new glazing shall be installed with certifying label showing 
the U-value.  All glazing shall be Low-E.  All window frames shall be 
Andersen Ultra Series fiberglass windows (or equal) with headers at 
+7'-0" U.N.O.  Patio doors shall be Andersen Ultra Series.  Windows and 
sliding glass doors shall be low air infiltration rated frames (5 CFM or 
less per ANSI specifications).

32. Lavatory faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of 1.2 gpm @ 60 psi.
33. Kitchen faucets shall have a maximum flow rate of 1.8 gpm @ 60 psi.
34. Water closets shall be set no closer than 15" from center of fixture to 

any side wall or obstruction.
35. Finish materials shall comply with CALGreen section 4.504.
36. All roof gutters shall be provided with the means to prevent the 

accumulation of leaves and debris in the gutter.
37. Addresses shall be plainly visible and legible from the street or road 

fronting the property.  Address numbers shall be 4" in height, 1/2" 
minimum stroke width and of contrasting color to their background.

38. Tiled shower pan shall be waterproofed with mortar bed sloped to 
shower drain at 1/4" per foot min.  Waterproofing shall terminate a min 
of 3" above the height of the shower curb.  Shower curb framing to 
slope a min of 1/4" per foot.  Provide solid backing for all vertical 
installation of shower pan waterproofing.  Tile backer board shall lap 
over the shower pan waterproofing at a min of 2". 

39. Electric heat pump water heater shall be RHEEM Performance Platinum 
50-gallon.

41. Ducts used for kitchen range installation shall be of metal and shall 
have smooth interior surfaces.

42. HVAC units shall be MITSUBISHI MSZ-GL24NA outdoor heat pumps 
with indoor ceiling mounted cassettes.

1

42" H

A-2-60Page 217 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 3

16 DEC 2022

ROOF PLAN

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC #1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

ROOF PLAN
1/4" = 1' - 0"54 GAS LINE SIZING DIAGRAM & TABLE

NO SCALE
1

DN

ROOF DECK

A

C

E

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

E

1/2:121/2:12

1/2:12

1/2:12

1/2:12

1/2:12

1/2:12 1/2:12

36'-0"

1
8

'-
0

"

14'-0" 22'-0"6" 2'-0"

1
8

'-
0

"
2

2
'-

0
"

2'-0"6"

2
2

'-
0

"
1

1
'-

6
"

4
'-

8
"

1
1

'-
6

"

4
'-

7
"

1
7

'-
5

"

3'-0"

3
'-

6
"

3
'-

6
"

5'-31
2"

1
9

 R
 @

 7
"

1
8

 T
 @

 1
1

"

ROOF NOTES
1. ROOFING MEMBRANE

Roofing membrane shall be Johns Manville PVC 80mil SP8RM
mechanically attached roofing system fastened, adhered and joined
per manufracturer's specifications. Underlayment to be 1/4" thick (min)

US Gypsum Co. SECUROCK Glass-Mat Roof Board (Type SGMRX) over
over 3/4" (min) roof deck. System is UL Class A fire-rated.  

UL Listing TGFU.R10167

2. FLASHING
All flashing shall be corrosion resistant metal flashing; galvanized
(zinc coated 390) steel.
Minimum gauge shall be: coping.....................................................22 GA

base........................................................24 GA
counter.................................................24 GA

3. GUTTERS & DOWNSPOUTS
GS gutters, 6" wide, 24 GA, shape sim to SMACNA Fig 1-2, Style A,  
GS downspouts, 3" Ø, 22 GA, shape per SMACNA Fig 1-31B, 
Gutter & Downspout color T.B.D.

4. RADIANT BARRIER ROOF SHEATHING
Provide radiant barrier on all roof surfaces.
 Refer to T24 Energy Compliance.

5. UNVENTED ROOFS
Unvented enclosed roof assemblies shall conform to 2019 CRC 
Section R806.5 where insulation is installed as follows:
806.5.5.1.1- Air-impermeable insulation (closed-cell spray foam) shall be
applied in direct contact with the underside of structural roof sheathing.

ROOF PLAN REFERENCE NOTES
1. SINGLE PLY ROOFING OVER SLOPING PLYWD

2. GALVANIZED STEEL GUTTERS

3. DOWNSPOUT CONNECTION BELOW

4. LINE OF BUILDING BELOW

5. FUTURE SOLAR READY ROOF AREA

6. ROOF JACK W/ RIGID CONDUIT TO ELECTRICAL PANEL
FOR FUTURE SOLAR PANEL CONNECTION

7. PANELIZED WOOD DECKING SYSTEM ON ADJUSTABLE  PLASTIC
PEDESTALS OVER SINGLE-PLY ROOFING.

5

1

1

2

4

21
A-7

44
A-7

4

DS DS

DS

DS

DS

DS

2

2

3

7

6

2'-0"

1
'-

4
1

2
"

4
'-8

1 2
"

10'
1" (190ft3)

3/
4"

 (9
5f

t3 )
10

'

DRYER
35 MBTU\H
70' TDL

10
'

1/
2"

 (3
5f

t3 )

40'
1" (130ft3)

FIREPLACE
30 MBTU\H
100' TDL

10
'

1/
2"

 (3
0f

t3 )

1/2" (30ft3)
30'

GAS RISER DIAGRAM

1"
 (1

90
ft3

)
10

'

FIREPLACE
30 MBTU\H

40' TDL

1/
2"

 (3
0f

t3 )
10

'

10
'

3/
4"

 (6
5f

t3 )

RANGE
65 MBTU\H

70' TDL

FIREPLACE
30 MBTU\H

30' TDL

GAS METER
190 MBTU\H
190 ft3
100' TDL
>2 PSI/11 IWC

CFH

50

SIZE

1/2"

LONGEST LENGTH METHOD
FROM TABLE 1215.2 (1), 2019 CPC

LOW PRESSURE LESS THAN 2 PSI, 0.5 IN. W.C. PRESSURE DROP
(FROM METER TO FARTHEST FIXTURE)

SCH. 40
METALLIC

PIPE @ 100'

1043/4"

1951"

40011/4"

60011/2"

11602"

ITEM

RANGE/
DOUBLE

OVEN

QTY.

1

LOAD
BTU\HR

65,000 BTU\H

LOAD
CFH

65

LENGTH
FEET

100'

FIREPLACE 5
30,000 BTUH EA.
30,000 x 3 = 90,000 
BTU\H

30 (EA)
90

100'

DRYER 1 35,000 BTU\H 22 100'

PIPE
SIZE

3/4"

1/2"

1/2"

TOTALS 190,000 BTU\H 190 CFH

NATURAL GAS LINE SIZING TABLE

MAIN LINE 100' 1"

A-2-61Page 218 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 4

16 DEC 2022

SECTIONS

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

1 SECTION A-A
1/4" = 1' - 0"

2 SECTION B-B
1/4" = 1' - 0"

T.O. STRUCTURE
+30'-9" (166.35')

1
1

'-
1

"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

2
9

'-
4

"

H
E

IG
H

T
 A

B
O

V
E

 A
.N

.G
.

9
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

GROUND FLOOR

GARAGE FLOOR
0'-0" (135.6')

1'-5" (96.4')
AVG NAT GRADE

3'-0" (138.6')

SECOND FLOOR
12'-3" (147.9')

LANDING
-0'-7" (135.0')

8
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

9
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

ROOF DECK
23'-6"

LAUNDRYHALLWAY
CLOSET/

ELEV

KITCHEN

MECH

HALLWAYCLOSET/
ELEV

2
'-

1
"

8
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

ROOF DECK

2'-0"

ROOF DECK
23'-6"

2
'-

1
"

GARAGE

LIVING ROOM

ENTRY
PORCH

DECK

1
0

1
2

"

3'-0"

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

GROUND FLOOR
3'-0" (138.6')

SECOND FLOOR
12'-3" (147.9')

8'-11"

5'-0"

8'-11"
5'-0"

BUILDING SECTION REFERENCE NOTES
1. ROOF FRAMING

A:  14" TJI JOISTS @ 24" O.C.
B:  ROOF BEAM
C:  2x TAPERED SLEEPERS

2. FLOOR/CEILING
A:  14" TJI JOISTS @ 24" O.C.
B: 14" LVL DECK JOISTS @ 16" O.C.
C:  2x8 JOISTS @ 16" O.C.
D:  FLOOR BEAM

3. WALL 
A:  2x4 STUDS @ 16" O.C.
B:  2x6 STUDS @ 16" O.C.

4. INSULATION
A:  R-38  CLOSED-CELL SPRAY-APPLIED FOAM 
B:  R-38  BATTS IN FLOORS OVER UNHEATED SPACES
C:  R-21  BATTS IN 2 X 6 WALLS

5. FLOOR
A:  3/4" PLYWOOD SUBFLOOR
B:  CONCRETE SLAB ON GRADE

6. DECK & ROOFING
A:  WOOD PANELS OVER RAISED DECK PEDESTAL SYSTEM
B:  FLUID-APPLIED DECK COATING WITH TRAFFIC TOP LAYER
C:  SINGLE-PLY PVC ROOFING

7. WALL FINISH
A:  5/8" GYP BOARD
B:  5/8" TYPE X GYP BOARD @ GARAGE-TO-LIVING AREA WALLS

8. 4" CONCRETE PATIO OVER 4" SAND OVER COMPACTED BASE

9. LINE OF EXISTING NATURAL GRADE

10. STRUCTURAL COLUMN - REFER TO STRUCT

11. METAL FRAMED, GLASS GUARDRAIL

FIRE BLOCKING NOTES
Provide fire blocking at the following locations per CBC Section 717:

1. Concealed spaces of stud walls including furred spaces, at ceiling and 
floor levels and at ten foot intervals horizontal.

2. Interconnections between concealed vertical and horizontal spaces at 
soffits, drop ceilings and coved ceilings.

4. Openings around vents, pipes, ducts, chimneys, fireplaces, etc., which
afford a passage at ceiling levels.

1A

3B

2A

1C

4A

4C

7A

5A 4B

5B

6C

3B 4C

2D

1B

1A

3B

2A

1C

4A

4C

7A

5A

5B

6C

3B 4C

2C

3B 4C
7A

3B

11

7B

33
A-8

14
A-7

14
A-7

34
A-8

23
A-7

23
A-7

14
A-7

21
A-7

53
A-7

44
A-7

11
A-7

21
A-7

43
A-7

44
A-7

43
A-7

14
A-7

1
'-

0
"

1
'-

1
1

"

1'-5"

7
"

A-2-62Page 219 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 5

16 DEC 2022

WEST & NORTH
ELEVATIONS

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

TYP

TYP

TYP 1

1 WEST ELEVATION STREET SIDE
1/4" = 1' - 0"

2 NORTH ELEVATION
1/4" = 1' - 0"

8
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

8
'-

0
"

9
'-

0
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

8
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

9
'-

0
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

8'-0"

5'-0"

GROUND FLOOR

GARAGE FLOOR
+0'-0" (135.6')

(138.5')
AVG NAT GRADE

+3'-0" (138.6')

SECOND FLOOR
+12'-3" (147.85')

(163.5')
HEIGHT LIMIT

GROUND FLOOR

GARAGE FLOOR
+0'-0" (135.6')

(138.5')
AVG NAT GRADE

+3'-0" (138.6')

SECOND FLOOR
+12'-3" (147.85')

(163.5')
HEIGHT LIMIT

1

ROOF DECK
23'-5"

ROOF DECK
23'-5"

ELEVATION REFERENCE NOTES
1. CEMENT PLASTER SIDING

2. HORIZONTAL LAP SIDING

3. METAL FASCIA

4. WOOD FASCIA

5. METAL RAILING W/ GLASS PANELS

6. STEEL STAIRS

7. STEEL GARAGE DOOR

8. CONCRETE STEPS, REFER TO CIVIL

9. CONCRETE RETAINING WALL, REFER TO CIVIL

10. EXHAUST VENT TERMINATION
A. DRYER EXHAUST
B. BATHROOM FAN EXHAUST

11. FIREPLACE PROJECTION

5

1

3

2

5

4

2

7

7'-8"

4'-6"

4'-0"

4'-0"

T.O. STRUCTURE
+26'-11" (162.52')

2

2

3

8

11

6

3

2

1

1

9

2

3

1

13
A8

12
A8

11
A8

32
A8

31
A8

44
A7 42

A8

41
A8

53
A8

53
A8

1

A-2-63Page 220 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 6

16 DEC 2022

EAST & SOUTH
ELEVATIONS

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 SEP 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

1 EAST ELEVATION
1/4" = 1' - 0"

2 SOUTH ELEVATION
1/4" = 1' - 0"

GROUND FLOOR
3'-0" (98.0')

SECOND FLOOR
12'-3" (98.0')

8
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

9
'-

0
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

P
R

O
P

E
R

T
Y

 L
IN

E

5'-0" 8'-11"

8
'-

1
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

9
'-

0
"

F
L

R
 T

O
 C

L
G

GROUND FLOOR

GARAGE FLOOR
+0'-0" (135.6')

(138.5')
AVG NAT GRADE

+3'-0" (138.6')

SECOND FLOOR
+12'-3" (147.85')

ROOF DECK
+23'-5"

(163.5')
HEIGHT LIMIT

T.O. STRUCTURE
+26'-11" (162.52')

T.O. STRUCTURE
+26'-11" (162.52')

8
'-

0
"

3
'-

6
"

4'-6" 3'-2"

ROOF DECK
23'-5"

3
'-

6
"

42
A8

41
A8

3

2

2

1

6
44
A7

42
A8

41
A8

43
A7

ELEVATION REFERENCE NOTES
1. CEMENT PLASTER SIDING

2. HORIZONTAL LAP SIDING

3. METAL FASCIA

4. WOOD FASCIA

5. METAL RAILING W/ GLASS PANELS

6. STEEL STAIRS

7. STEEL GARAGE DOOR

8. CONCRETE STEPS, REFER TO CIVIL

9. CONCRETE RETAINING WALL, REFER TO CIVIL

10. EXHAUST VENT TERMINATION
A. DRYER EXHAUST
B. BATHROOM FAN EXHAUST

11. FIREPLACE PROJECTION
2

14
A7

3

1

2

13
A8

12
A8

11
A8

TYP

TYP

TYP
33
A7

11

9

9

3'-8"

1

44
A7

SIM

A-2-64Page 221 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 7

16 DEC 2022

EXTERIOR
DETAILS

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

11 GUTTER
3"21 EAVE

1 1/2"

13 TYP EXTERIOR WALL
1 1/2"

22 WALL BASE @ ROOF DECK
3"

14 WALL BASE @ CONC
3"

23 WALL BASE @ DECK
3"

34

53 GAURD RAIL
3/4" 33 DECK EDGE

3"

32 FDTN WATERPROOFING
1/2" = 1' - 0"

41 1 1/2"

52

44

43

54 HAND RAIL
3/4" = 1'-0"

51

NO SCALE

WALL • RATED PIPE/CONDUIT PENETRATION  (UL # WL 1001) 

5" fascia gutter, profile t.b.d.

2x fascia

run single-ply PVC 4"
down face of fascia

3"x3" coated drip edge

5
"

screen to prevent
leaves & debris,
(complying w/ CBC
Section 705A.4)

PVC edge strip

continuous cleat

edge sealant

wood blocking

single-ply PVC roofing

sloping plywd roof deck
o/ tapered sleepers

fiber cem V-groove siding
o/ layers bldg membrane, extend
bldg paper over flashing

wd deck panels
o/ pedestal system

single-ply  PVC roofing
o/ adhesive,
extend min 6" up face of wall

structural plywd shth'g,
refer to struct dwgs

6
" m

in 3
1

2
"

cant strip

2x blocking

3
1

2
"

24 ga gsm counterflash'g

1/4"/ft

min

23
- sim

single-ply PVC roofing

sloping roof shth'g 
o/ tapered sleepers

1x cont blocking

vinyl deck membrane over
adhesive

4" x 2" pvc-coated metal 
edge flash'g, lap & seal joints,
stagger fasteners @ 6" o.c.

3/4" plywd subfloor over
sloping joists, refer to struct

2x10 Azek fascia board

structural sub-fascia

cem bd soffit
o/ bldg membrane
o/ plywd shth'g

1/4"/ft

1.9" tube steel guardrail
post w/ 6"x3.5" anchor plate, 
where occurs, refer to struct

2
"

plane top of plywood 1/8" 
@ edge flashing

1
3

4
"

waterproof vinyl decking
(Tuffdek, or appv'd eq)
o/ adhesive

bldg membrane, lap over 
counterflash'g top leg 

flr framing, refer to struct

1/4"/ft

gyp board

4" x 6" pvc-coated metal deck
flash'g, lap & seal joints

3/4" plywd subfloor on
sloped joists @ 16" o.c.

plywd sheath'g, refer to struct

3
" m

in
3

1
2

"

run waterproof'g min 8" up wall

fiber cem V-groove siding

plywd sub floor

1
3

4
"

galv stl base flashing

min

4"

two piece wall flashing, rear piece flap
to box side and solder to water proof,
top piece flaps over box top and bend
around front edge

wall flashing

scupper box

solder vertical rod at mid width,
inside box, at deck locations only

SCUPPER
NO SCALE

4
"

2"

112"

slope

6"x8" 16ga angle flashing,
cut hole for scupper
solder to scupper metal

8" wide 24ga gsm scupper
w/ 24ga gsm collar,
refer to 65/A7

single-ply vinyl deck membrane
(Tuffdek, or appv'd eq)
o/ adhesive

THRU-WALL SCUPPER
3"

cem fiber V-groove siding
o/ bldg membrane

gsm base flashing

3/4" plywd
o/ sloped 2x sleepers @ 16" o.c., 
attach w/ ring shank nails or screws

plywd sub deck,
refer to struct dwgs

self adhesive bituthane flash'g,
wrap up around vert flat bar & 
2" down over wall trim

double top plate, refer to 
struct

cem fiber siding
o/ bldg membrane

2x6 cont nailer, cut to slope
1/4", notch for rail base plates

slope

1x2 trim

gsm coping 22 ga, sim to
SMACNA Fig 3-1 & 3-4A

fasteners w/ neoprene
washers @ 18" o.c. max

WALL CAP
3"

Interior

plywood sheath'g,
refer to struct

batt insulation
min R-21 

2x6 stud wall,
refer to struct
for size & spacing

gyp board

cem bd V-groove siding

gyp. bd.

batt insulation, w.o.

pywd shthg, refer to struct

2
" m

in

conc 

wall plate

to
 c

o
nc

8" 16ga gsm embed between 
slabs, 3" min3

" 
m

in

1
2

"

Superior W-S 26 ga. gsm 
weep screed w/ weep holes

bldg membrane, lap over
weep screed leg

8
" m

in

@
 s

o
il

cem bd V-groove siding

HANDRAIL
3"

gyp board

2x stud wall

dbl 2x top plate

4
2

" @
 g

ua
rd

ra
il,

 w
he

re
 o

c
c

ur
s

3
4

" -
 3

8
" f

ro
m

 s
ta

ir
 n

o
s

e

1/4" x stud width MDF,
paint to match wall

2x blocking

1 1/2" ø nominal pipe rail

stl wall bracket @ 48" oc max, 
w/ wd screws to blocking

3/4" x (stud width +1") oak 
cap - clear finish

"L" metal w/ 5/8" leg

6
"

2x blocking

single-ply PVC roof'g

2x10 fascia

varies
see plan

exterior wall w/
cem bd V-groove siding

cem bd soffit
o/ plywd shth'g

11
-

2x8 fascia

roof framing, refer
to struct dwgs

plywd roof shth'g,
refer to struct dwgs

sloping plywd shth'g
o/ tapered sleepers

BASE LAYER
One layer 1/2" Type X gypsum wallboard applied at 
right angles to resilient channels 24" o.c. w/ 1" Type S 
drywall screws @ 8" o.c.  Gypsum boarrd end joints 
located midway between continuous channels and 
attached to additional pieces of channel 64" long w/ 
screws @ 8" o.c. Resilient channels applied at right 
angles to minimum 9-1/2" deep wood I-Joists 16" o.c., 
with 6d coated nails, 1-7/8" long, 0.085" shank, 14" 
heads, two per joist. Wood joists supporting 5/8" 
interior plywood with exterior glue subfloor and 3/8" 
particle board, 1.5 psf 3-1/2" glass fiber insulation 
batts, 0.7 psf, friction fit in joist cavities supported 
alternately every 12" by wire rods and resilient furring 
channels.

FINISH FLOOR
Ceramic tile over thinset mortar

1 HOUR FLOOR-CEILING

GA FILE NO. FC 5120               STC 50-54

CEILING

2"Ø stl top rail

1.9"Ø stl post
@ 60" o.c. max,
see elev for spacing

tempered glass panels4
2

" M
IN

ELEVATION

6"x3.5" 1/4" plate
w/ 1/2" thru bolts, refer
to struct dwgs

return hand rail to within 
1/4" of wall finish material, 
typ @ both ends

3
4

" t
o

 3
8

"

3
4

" t
o

 3
8

"

tread
hand rail shall be parallel 
with stair slope

*
widthwidth

tread

handrail support
bracket,
see 51

-

* 
3

'-
0

"

12"

33
-

1.5"Ø stl bottom rail

exterior wall

14
-

conc patio, slope
away from building

swale

drain rock &
filter fabric
3"Ø perf pipe,
drain to daylight

area drain w/
2"Ø solid pipe, 
tie in w/ downspouts

3"Ø perf pipe w/ drain rock
and filter fabric, drain to daylight

native soil

compacted fill

MiraDrain 2000
or appv'd eq.

A-2-65Page 222 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

A - 8

16 DEC 2022

DOOR & WINDOW
DETAILS

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

11 WINDOW HEAD
3"21 POCKET DOOR HEAD

3"31 DOOR HEAD INSWING
3"

12 WINDOW JAMB
3"22 POCKET DOOR JAMB

3"32 DOOR JAMB INSWING
3"

13 WINDOW SILL
3"23 INT DOOR JAMB HEAD SIM.

3"33 DOOR SILL @ CONC FLR
3"

14 GSM DOOR PAN
N.T.S.24 GSM DOOR PAN

N.T.S.34 DOOR SILL @ FRAMED FLR
3"

41 SGD HEAD
3"

42 SGD JAMB
3"

43 SGD SILL @ CONC FLR
3"

44 SGD SILL @ FRAMED FLR
3"

53 GARAGE DOOR JAMB
3"

52 GARAGE DOOR HEAD
1 1/2"

54 GARAGE DOOR SILL
3"

X

gyp. bd.

wood fram'g

window, refer to schedule

12" self-adhesive sill flash'g, 
wrap 4" into rough open'g & 8" 
min down wall, leave bot loose 
to lap over bldg membrane, 
extend horz to match jamb 
flash'g

plywd sheathing

1x wd sill

batt insulation

cem bd V-groove siding

bldg membrane

X

gyp bd

window, refer to schedule,
cont bead of sealant
behind nail fin

gyp bd return

12" self-adhesive
flash'g, run 4" into r.o.

plywd sheath'g, refer
to struct. dwgs

2x fram'g

batt insulation

bldg membrane, lap over 
vertical leg of drip flash'g

cem bd V-groove siding

drip flash by window manuf

3-9/16" window frame

gyp. bd.

gyp. bd. return

first layer 12" self-adhesive
flash'g, run 4" into r.o.

bldg membrane, lap over 
vertical leg of drip flash'g

header, refer to sturct

second layer 9" self-adhesive
flash'g, lap over window drip 
flash'g, extend horiz. over & 
beyond jamb s.a. flash'g

plywd sheath'g

batt insulation

cem bd V-groove siding

1
4

"

X

1x4 wd trim

door per schedule

gyp. board

self-adhesive flash'g run into 
rough open'g & 8" min along 
wall to match width of sill 
flash'g, extend top to 
1/2" blw top of head flash'g,
lap bot over door sill pan flash'g

over bldg membrane, 
lap  over nail fin

2x fram'g, s.s.d.

batt insulation

cem bd V-groove siding

inswing door

gyp. bd.

1x4 wd trim

shim

first layer 12" self-adhesive
flash'g, run 4" into r.o.

bldg membrane, lap over
vertical leg of drip flash'g

header, refer to struct

second layer 9" self-adhesive
flash'g, lap over window drip 
flash'g, extend horiz. over & 
beyond jamb s.a. flash'g

plywd sheath'g

batt insulation

cem bd V-groove siding

1
4

"

door, refer to plans

ADA alumin offset sill, coat 
bot to separate from pan flash'g
(Pemko #2727D,
or approved equal)

gsm pan flash'g, embed in sealant,
see 24/A7.24

"
1

2
" m

a
x

.

M
IN

conc building slab w/ epoxy finish

conc. patio slab,
slope away from bldg @ 1/4"/ft 

run pan flashing min 4" down face
of slab

1
4

"

3"

VARIES

6"

V.I.F.

6"

5/8" gyp. board,
ea. side

4-9/16" rabbeted 
door frame

1-3/8" wood door

2x framing

1x4 wood jamb trim,
miter corners

1
4

" ty
p

plywd shth'g, refer to struct

gyp board
batt insulation

2 layer bldg membrane,
lap over nail fin

sliding door frame,
cont bead of sealant
under nail fin

sealant

8" self-adhesive flashing

2x framing, refer to struct

shim

gyp board return

cem bd V-groove siding

flooring 
o/ 1/8" protection board
o/ waterproofing membrane
ALT: tile w/ thinset mortar

door track

conc. slab, refer to struct

gsm pan flash'g, embed in sealant,
see 24/A7.2

sealant

exterior concrete slab

1
2

"

sliding door, refer to plans

14"

cem bd V-groove siding

bldg membrane,
lap over drip flash'g

sliding door frame

gyp board

sealant

8" self-adhesive flashing,
lap over nail fin

header, refer to struct

7/8"x3-1/2"x1/2"gsm drip
flash'g (Stockton Metals TSF)

gyp board return

1
2

"1
4

" 1
4

"

plywd shth'g,, refer to struct

batt insulation

flr framing, refer to struct

1/4"/ft

3/4" plywd subfloor on
sloped joists @ 16" o.c.

min

single-ply vinyl decking
(Tuffdek, or appv'd eq)
o/ adhesive

3
4

"

flr framing, refer to struct

1/4"/ft

24g gsm door pan,
see 14/A8

3/4" plywd subfloor on
sloped joists @ 16" o.c.

plywd sub floor

sliding door, refer to plans

run waterproof'g over
door pan

14" flooring 
o/ 1/8" protection bd 

3
4

"

min

single-ply vinyl decking
(Tuffdek, or appv'd eq)
o/ adhesive

3"

± 3"
V.I.F.

1/2"

6"

VARIES

4"

1/2"

24g gsm door pan,
see 14/A8

plywd sub floor

inswing door, refer to plans

run waterproof'g over
door pan

flooring 
o/ 1/8" protection board

5/8" gyp. board,
ea. side

1x1 wood trim

sliding door

4x header

sliding door track

sliding door valance

81-3/4" 
above finish flr 

metal "L" bead

1x4 wood jamb

caulking

5/8" gyp. board

3/4" X 3" blocking

2x framing

sliding door

1
"

garage door w/
min 27 ga steel
ext skin

gyp. board

9" self-adhesive flash'g run into 
rough open'g, extend top to 
1/2" blw top of head flash'g

2x fram'g, s.s.d.

F

batt insulation

cem bd V-groove siding
o/ bldg membrane

1x4 nailer

3
"

adjustable roller
bracket, adjust
to maintain 1/8"
gap from door
to jamb 

24 ga stl jamb
cover

1/2" x 2"
stop moulding

F

garage door w/
min 27 ga steel
ext skin

conc slab

bottom astragal
retainer w/ 
vinyl astragal,
adjust so no
gap exists when
door is closed

plywd sheath'g,
refer to structural

header & framing,
refer to structural

gyp board

batt insulation

cem bd V-groove siding
o/ bldg membrane

1x4 nailer

5/8" gyp board @ clg

garage door w/
min 27 ga steel
ext skin

adjustable roller
bracket, adjust
to maintain 1/8"
gap from door
to jamb 

24 ga stl jamb
cover

1/2" x 2"
stop moulding

1

A-2-66Page 223 of 356



CONCRETE WALLS & COLUMNS WALLS & COLUMNS
F`c = 2500 psi F`c = 3000 psi F`c = 4000 psi

Bar 
Size

Length of Lap Hook 
Embed 

Ldh

Length of Lap Hook 
Embed 

Ldh

Length of Lap Hook 
Embed 

Ldh
Ld & Ld & Ld &

Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B
#3 15 '' 19 '' 6 '' 13 '' 17 '' 6 '' 12 '' 16 '' 6 ''
#4 19 '' 25 '' 7 '' 18 '' 23 '' 7 '' 15 '' 20 '' 6 ''
#5 24 '' 31 '' 9 '' 22 '' 28 '' 8 '' 19 '' 25 '' 7 ''
#6 29 '' 37 '' 11 '' 26 '' 34 '' 10 '' 23 '' 29 '' 8 ''
#7 41 '' 54 '' 12 '' 38 '' 49 '' 11 '' 33 '' 43 '' 10 ''
#8 47 '' 61 '' 14 '' 43 '' 56 '' 13 '' 37 '' 49 '' 11 ''

PODIUM DECK PODIUM DECK
F`c = 5000 psi F`c = 6000 psi

Bar 
Size

Length of Lap Hook 
Embed 

Ldh

Length of Lap Hook 
Embed 

Ldh
Ld & Ld &

Class A Class B Class A Class B
#3 12 '' 16 '' 6 '' 12 '' 16 '' 6 ''
#4 14 '' 18 '' 6 '' 13 '' 16 '' 6 ''
#5 17 '' 22 '' 6 '' 16 '' 20 '' 6 ''
#6 20 '' 26 '' 8 '' 19 '' 24 '' 7 ''
#7 29 '' 38 '' 9 '' 27 '' 35 '' 8 ''
#8 34 '' 44 '' 10 '' 31 '' 40 '' 9 ''

MASONRY
F`m = 1500 psi

Bar 
Size

Length 
of Lap, 

Ld

Hook 
Embed 

Ldh
#3 12 '' 5 ''
#4 20 '' 7 ''
#5 31 '' 8 ''
#6 59 '' 10 ''
#7 80 '' 11 ''
#8 121 '' 13 ''

STD. DEVELOPMENT LENGTHS & LAP SPLICES

Ld

2d
 C

lr.
M

in
.

2d
 C

lr.
M

in
.d

Stagger Adj. Class A Splices
2Ld Min., or Use Class B* Splices

*Concrete ONLY

2

PROJECT INFORMATION

ARCHITECT:

SOILS/GEO. ENGINEER:

PULTS & Associates, LLP
3592 Sacremento Dr. Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401
(805) 541 - 5604

Dan & Linda Stanley
3427 Miguelito Ct. 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401

CLIENT:

DESIGN PARAMETERS

SEISMIC DESIGN BASIS
Seismic Design Category D

Seismic Factors

Importance Factor, Ie 1.00

Design Base Shear

SS / S1
SDS / SD1  

6.5
V = 0.112W

Risk Category II

Site Class D

Resisting System: Wood Shear Walls

Analysis Procedure: Eqv. Lateral Force
(ASCE 7-16, T. 12.6-1)

0.982 / 0.364
0.725 / 0.470

Response Mod.
  Coefficient, R

WIND DESIGN BASIS
Ultimate Wind Speed, VULT 91 mph

Exposure C
Importance Factor, Iw 1.00

Nominal Wind Speed, VASD 70 mph
Risk Category II

GENERAL  PARAMETERS
2019 CBC *Building Code

Roof Loads-Typ.

Floor Loads - Typ.

Live Loads (LL) 20 psf

Dead Loads** (DL) 15 psf

Live Loads (LL) 40 psf
Dead Loads (DL) 15 psf

Floor Loads - Deck

Live Loads (LL) 60 psf
Dead Loads (DL) 30 psf

**Includes 3 psf PV Loads

Roof Loads - Deck

Live Loads (LL) 60 psf
Dead Loads (DL) 30 psf

SOILS VALUES
Bearing Pressure:

2000 psf

(Soils Report)

3000 psf
Dead Load
Live Load

SHEET INDEX

S-1.1 Structural Title Sheet 
S-1.2 Structural Specifications
S-1.3 Special Inspections

S-2.1 Foundation Plan
S-2.2 Floor Framing Plan
S-2.3 Roof Framing Plan

S-3.1 Structural Details
S-3.2 Structural Details
S-3.3 Structural Details

ABBREVIATIONS

AB Anchor Bolt
A&B Above and Below
Abv. Above
Adn. Addition (al)
Adj. Adjacent,Adjustable
Alt. Alternate (ive)
Appd. Approved
Arch. Architect(ural)
Avg. Average
Bdry. Boundary
Bldg. Building
Blk(g). Block (ing)
Bm. Beam
BN Boundary Nailing
B-O Bottom of
BO By Others
Bot. Bottom
Brg. Bearing
Btwn. Between
BW Both Ways
Cant. Cantilever(ed)
CIP Cast in Place
CJ Ceiling Joist
CJP Complete Joint

   Penetration
CL Center Line
Clg. Ceiling
CMU Conc. Masonry Unit
Col. Column
Com. Common
Comp. Component
Conc. Concrete
Conn. Connection
Const. Construction
Cont. Continue (ous)
Ctr. Center
d Penny
Dbl. Double
Defl. Deflection
Deg. Degree
Demo. Demolish(tion)
Dep. Depress(ed)
DF Douglas Fir
Dia. Diameter
Diaph. Diaphragm
Dif. Different
Dim. Dimension
Dist. Distance
DJ Deck Joist
DL Dead Load
Dwg. Drawing
(E) Existing
Ea. Each
EF Each Face
EFP Equivalent Fluid

   Pressure
Elev. Elevator, Elevation
Embed. Embed(ed), (ment)
Engr. Engineer
EOR Engineer of Record
Eq. Equal, Equivalent
ES Each Side
EW Each Way
Exp. Expand, Expansion
Ext. Exterior
Fdn. Foundation
FF Finished Floor
FJ Floor Joist
Flr(g). Floor (ing)
FOC Face of Concrete
FOM Face of Masonry
FOS Face of Studs
FOW Face of Wall
Frmg. Framing
Ft. Foot, Feet
Ftg. Footing
Ga. Gage, Gauge
Galv. Galvanized
GB Grade Beam
GC General Contractor
Gyp. Gypsum
HD Holdown
Hdr. Header
Hdw. Hardware
Hgr. Hanger
Hor(iz). Horizontal
Ht. Height
ID Inside Diameter
In. Inch(es)
Insp. Inspect(ion)
Int. Interior
Inv. Invert, Inverted
Jst. Joist
K Kips (1,000 pounds)
KLF Kips per Linear Ft.
King King Stud
KP King Post
KSF Kips per Square Ft.
KSI Kips per Square In.
Lb(s). Pound(s)
LL Live Load
Loc. Location
LW Light Weight

Mas. Masonry
Max. Maximum
MB Machine Bolt
MF Moment Frame
Mfr. Manufacture(r)
Min. Minimum, Minute
Mod. Modif(y), (ication)
Mtl. Metal
(N) New
N/A Not Applicable
Nat. Natural
NTS Not to Scale
o/ Over
oc On Center
OD Outside Diameter
Opng. Opening
Opp. Opposite
Opt. Optional
Para. Parallel
PCF Lbs per Cubic Ft.
Pen. Penetrate, (tion)
Perf. Perforated
Perim. Perimeter
Perp. Perpendicular
PI Panel Index
PJP Partial Joint Pen.
PL Plate
PLF Lbs per Linear Ft.
Ply. Plywood
Prep. Prepare, (ation)
Press. Pressure
Proj. Project
Prop. Property
PSF Lbs per Square Ft.
PSI Lbs per Square In.
PT Pressure-Treated
PV Photovoltaic (Solar 

   Panels)
R Radius
Rec(s). Recommendation(s)
Rect. Rectangular
Ref. Reference
Reinf. Reinforce(d),

   (ment),(ing)
Req(d). Require(d)
Reqs. Requirements
Ret. Retain(ing)
RJ Roof Joist
RR Roof Rafter
RW Redwood
SAD See Arch Dwg's
Sched. Schedule
Sgl. Single
Shtg. Sheathing
Sim. Similar
SIP Str. Insulated Panel
SM Sheet Metal
SMS Sheet Metal Screw
SOG Slab on Grade
Spec. Specifi(ed),(cations)
Sq. Square
SS Structural Steel
Std. Standard
Stgr. Stagger(ed)
Stl. Steel
Struc. Structure, (al)
SW Shear Wall
Sym. Symmet(ry), (rical)
T&B Top and Bottom
T&G Tongue and Groove
Temp. Temporary
Thk. Thick(ness)
Thru Through
TN Toe-Nail
TP Top Plate
T-O Top of
TOB Top of Beam
TOC Top of Concrete
TOG Top of Grade
TOM Top of Masonry
TOS Top of Steel
TOW Top of Wall
TRU To Remain

   Unchanged
Trmr. Trimmer Stud
Typ. Typical
UNO Unless Noted

   Otherwise
Vert. Vertical
VIF Verify in Field
VWA Verify with Arch
w/ With
w/n Within
w/o Without
WS Wood Screw
Wndw. Window
Wt. Weight
WWF Welded Wire Fabric
Yd. Yard

@ At
º Degrees
Ø Diameter
> Greater Than
< Less Than
# Number, Pound(s)
/ Per
% Percent(age)
± Plus or Minus

STANDARD DETAILS

TYPICAL REINFORCING BAR BENDS

STANDARD TIES & STIRRUPS STANDARD END HOOKS
Bar Size D

#3 1-1/2"
2"#4

4-1/2"

H (Approx.)

3"
3"

2-1/2"#5 3-3/4"

5-1/4"#7
6"#8

4-1/2"
5-1/4"

6"

Bar Size D

2-1/4"
3"

4-1/2"

J

3"
4"

3-3/4" 5"

5-1/4"
#8 6"

6"
7"
8"

D

D

D

d

d

d D

12d for #6 & Larger
6d for #5 & Smaller

6d3" Min.

12
d

J

4d
2-1/2" Min.

Dimension per Details

Dimension per Details

Note:
All Bar Bend Diameters & End Lengths Must 
Conform to the CRSI Manual of Standard Practice

#6

#3
#4
#5

#7
#6

1

H

Ties:
Ftg. Reinf. = (1) Bar T&B, Use
#3 Vert. w/ 180º Hook ea. End
Ftg. Reinf. > (1)  Bar T&B, Use
#3 Stirrup w/ 135º Hooks @ Top

TYP. PENETRATION THROUGH FOUNDATION

D
(p

er
 P

la
ns

 &
 D

et
ai

ls
)

Pe
n.

 Ø
D

/2
 M

ax
.

1
6 Min. 2" C

lr.

Ftg. Reinf. per Plan & 
Details

Provide Sleeve Provide Dbl. Ties @ ea. 
Bot. Reinf. Bend Loc.

DO NOT Locate Pen. w/n
24" of Any Holdowns

2"
Clr.

5

Duct or Pipe Penetration
per Mech. or Plumb. Plans

COLD JOINT

1st Pour

SAWCUT JOINT

EXPANSION JOINT

3/4"

1st Pour 2nd Pour

2nd Pour

Notes:
1. Pour Slab in Alt. Bays, 12'-0" Sq. Max.
2. Slab May be Poured Monolithically if 

Sawcut @ 12'-0" Max. Ea. Way
3. Exp. Joints per Plan.
4. Loc. Adnl. Joints. @ Inside Corner & 

Other Changes in SOG Dims.

1/8"

2"

1/
4 

D

Exp. Joint

3'-0" Long Dowel to Match
Size & Spcg. of Slab Reinf.

D
ep

th
"D

"Fill w/ Joint Sealant

4 TYPICAL CONCRETE SLAB JOINTSTYPICAL NOTCHING & BORING

Space Notches
@ 72" o.c., Min.

4x

6x

8x

1-1/4"Ø Max. Bored Holes

3-1/2"
Max.

1'-0" Min. 1'-0" Min.

1-
1/

2"
M

in
.

5-1/2"
Max.

1'-0" Min. 1'-0" Min.

2-
1/

2"
M

in
.

2" M
ax

.
1-

1/
2"

M
ax

.
3" M

ax
.

5-1/2"
Max.

1'-0" Min. 1'-0" Min.

3-
1/

2"
M

in
.

2"Ø Max. Bored Holes

3"Ø Max. Bored Holes

Space Notches
@ 72" o.c., Min.

Space Notches
@ 72" o.c., Min.

MSTA36, Center
on Notch

MSTA36, Center
on Notch

MSTA36, Center
on Notch

PENETRATIONS IN TOP PLATES & SILL PLATES

NOTCHING LIMITS FOR WOOD STUDS BORING LIMITS FOR WOOD STUDS

Non-Bearing
Interior Wall

Bearing &/or
Exterior Wall

0.6w
Max.

5/8"
Min.

0.4w
Max.

5/8"
Min.

w w

1'
-6

" M
in

.

1'
-6

" M
in

.

ww

1.
5w

M
ax

.

1.
5w

M
ax

.

0.4w
Max.

0.25w
Max.

9

Non-Bearing
Interior Wall

Bearing &/or
Exterior Wall

TYPICAL 2x TOP PLATE SPLICE

Before Next Splice:
2x4 - (30) 16d Nails
2x6 - (46) 16d Nails

2x4 Dbl. TP - 4'-0" Splice w/ (30) 16d Nails
2x6 Dbl. TP - 5'-4" Splice w/ (46) 16d Nails

NAIL SPLICE

Strap ES Break in TP
2x4 - MSTA24
2x6 - MSTA36

STRAP SPLICE

(2) 16d @ 16" oc

Splice TP over
Stud, Typ.

7

HD & Post as 
Occurs per Plan

SW BN, Typ.

16d or SDS Transfer 
per SW Sched.

"T" INTERSECTION
TYPICAL OR WITH HD HD Strap & Post as 

Occurs per Plan

SW BN, Typ.

16d or SDS Transfer 
per SW Sched.

"T" INTERSECTION, HD STRAP

HD & Post per Plan

SW BN, Typ.

16d or SDS Transfer 
per SW Sched.

"L" INTERSECTION, 2x4 WALLS "L" INTERSECTION, 2x6 WALLS

HD Strap & Post as 
Occurs per Plan

HD & Post per Plan
SW BN, Typ.

16d or SDS Transfer 
per SW Sched.

HD Strap & Post as 
Occurs per Plan

Cont. Dbl. 2x Top 
Plate, Splice per 
7/S-1.1

Length of SW
per Plan

SW BN Reqd. @ 
Panel Edges & 
Entire Perim. of SW

12" oc Field Nailing 
Reqd. @ Int. of 
Panel

HD Post per Plan & 
HD Sched.

Cont. Stud or Blkg. 
@ Panel Edges, 
Frmg. Size per SW 
Sched.

HD as Occurs per 
Plan

PT Sill Plate, Size 
per SW Sched.

HD Anchor per HD 
Sched.

AB Size,Spacing, 
and Pl. Washer per 
SW Sched.

SHEAR WALL ELEVATION

1. Single sided shear walls may be placed on EITHER side of the framed wall.
2. Sill plates on masonry or concrete to be pressure treated per Timber / Lumber specifications. Sill plate thickness per SW Sched.
3. Wall studs and blkg. are required at all adjoining panel edges. Thickness of wall studs and blkg. at panel edges per SW Sched.
4. Where plywood is applied on both faces of a wall, edge nails shall be staggered on adjacent panel edges OR panel joints shall be

offset to fall on different framing members. Plywood joint and sill plate nailing shall be staggered in all cases. 
5. Plywood panels shall butt along centerlines of framing members.  Minimum plywood dimension for shearwall shall be 12".
6. Nails shall be located at least 3/8" from all panel edges.
7. The use of pneumatic nail guns for shear wall nailing is subject to continued satisfactory jobsite performance and subject to the

review and approval by the Engineer of Record and/or Building Inspector.  If the nail heads penetrate the outer ply more than
would be normal for a hand held hammer, or if the minimum edge distances are not maintained, the performance will be deemed
as unsatisfactory and the continued use of pneumatic nail for shear wall nailing will not be permitted.

8. At all bearing walls (both exterior and interior walls) not noted as shear walls, continuous full depth blocking shall be provided 
between joists and rafters with LTP4 or A35 to top plates @ 32" oc at floors and 48" oc at roofs, unless notedotherwise per plan.

9. Refer to material specifications for additional framing requirements.

TYPICAL SHEAR WALL FRAMING NOTES:

Shtg. Panel

SHEAR WALL SECTION

Roof Shtg. per Plan

Roof BN

Solid Blkg. per Details

Blkg. to Top Pl. Shear 
Transfer Hdw. per SW 
Sched.

Upper SW per Plan

Sill Pl. to Blkg./Rim 
Shear Transfer Hdw. 
per SW Sched.

SW BN to Sill Pl.

Solid Blkg. or Rim per 
Details

Blkg. to Top Pl. Shear 
Transfer Hdw. per SW 
Sched.

Lower SW per Plan

PT Sill Plate & 
Anchorage per Specs. 
& SW Sched.

Floor Shtg. per Plan

Floor BN

Retighten AB's Prior
to Closing in Hdw.

Roof Frmg. per Plan

SW BN to Top Pl.

SW BN to Top Pl.

TYPICAL SHEAR WALL INTERSECTIONS10

TYPICAL SHEAR WALL FRAMING8

4 4'
0"

A
1

1
A

SHEAR WALL LEGEND

HD Strap from Abv., Align 
w/ HD Post Blw.

HD to Blw.

Length of SW (Min.)

SW Type, Refer to SW 
Sched. for Shtg., Nailing, 
AB's, Transfer Hdw., Etc.

HD Strap from Abv., NOT 
Cont. to Level Blw., Align 
Post Blw. to Match HD Post 
Abv. & BN per SW Type

HD to Blw.

Refer to Plans for Specific Transfer & 
Connection Detail at each Shear Wall Location

as
 O

cc
ur

s
pe

r P
la

n

C
ol

le
ct

or
/D

ra
g

pe
r P

la
n

Fl
oo

r/R
oo

f F
rm

g.

6

44'
0"

1

TYPICAL FLOOR / ROOF NAILING

Boundary Nailing @ Edge
of Floor/Roof Frmg.

Edge Nailing Along Edge of
ea. Panel

Cont. Panel Joint 
Perp. to Frmg.

Nailing per Plan w/ Spcg.
Denoted as @ A", B", C"
A = Boundary Nailing
B = Edge Nailing
C = Field

Field Nailing Typ. to 
All Frmg. Members

This Panel Joint Not Cont.

Provide BN @ SW's & 
Collector/Drag Members as 
Occurs per Plan 

Provide Blkg. & Edge
Nailing at Perp. Panel

Joints as Occurs per Plan
SW as Occurs per Plan

TYPICAL WOOD FRAMED OPENING

A35 Reqd. @ Top
of Dbl. King Stud,

Typ.

All Nailing to Conform 
w/ the Governing 
Building Code Table 
2304.10.1, Typ.

Dbl. 2x Sill @ Wndw. 
Opng.

A35 Reqd. @ Bot.
of Dbl. King Stud,

Typ.

Use Dbl. King Stud
@ Spans > 8'-0",

UNO per Plan

Use Dbl. Trmr. Stud
@ Headers 6x10,

4x12, or Larger,
UNO per Plan

Dbl. TP per Specs.

Sill Pl. per Specs.

Typ. Door Typ. Wndw.

Span 2x4 Wall

< 4'-0" Dbl. 2x4 Flat

4x4

Span in Feet Equals Beam 
Depth in Inches

Recommended Non-Str. Int. Wall Hdr.

< 6'-0"

4x6< 8'-0"

> 8'-0"

2x6 Wall

Dbl. 2x6 Flat

4x6 Flat

6x6

Header per Plan

3

Earth Systems Pacific
4378 Santa Fe Road
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401
(805) 544-3276

* The 2019 California Building Code (CBC), based 
on the 2018 International Building Code (IBC), is 
the governing code in the State of California.

St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

STRUCTURAL
TITLE SHEET

NTS

S-1.1

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

Stanley Residence
3525 Gilbert Ave.

Cayucos, CA 93430

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
12

:5
3 

PM

A-2-67Page 224 of 356



Elements f'c (28 days) Slump Max w/c Ratio Insp. Req'd?
SOG & Ftg. 2500 psi 5" 0.55 No

Metal Deck Fill 2500 psi 5" 0.55 Yes
Foundations 4000 psi 5" 0.60 Yes

Walls/Columns 4000 psi 5" 0.55 Yes
Beam/Podium 2500 psi 5" 0.55 Yes

CONCRETE
1. All concrete shall have:

(a) an ultimate compressive strength (f'c) of 3,000 psi at 28 days (UNO).
(b) a maximum slump of 5" at point of placement.
(c) a W/C ratio of 0.55 or less for all slabs, walls, and columns, and 0.60 or less for all

foundations.
(d) a normal dry-weight density (UNO). 

2. Special inspection is NOT required as the foundations have been designed with f'c = 2,500
psi in accordance with the Governing Building Code, section 1705.3, exceptions 1, 2.1, and
2.3, unless explicitly specified herein, on the structural plans, or by the Building Department.
As a minimum, special inspection is always required on:

(a) structural slabs, flat plates
(b) walls, columns, beams
(c) piles, caissons
(d) welding of reinforcement, installation of mechanical bar splice devices, epoxy

application
When required or specified, special inspection services shall conform to the Governing
Building Code, Chapter 17 and shall be provided by an ICC certified inspector or Building
Department approved engineer. The Building Department reserves the right to waive or
require the special inspection requirements [Section 1704.1 and 1704.4] . Nothing in these
plans waives the Building Department's right to require special inspection at any point and on
any material.

3. Testing of materials used in concrete construction must be performed as noted on structural
plans or at the request of the Building Department to determine if materials are quality
specified. Tests of materials and of concrete shall be made by an approved agency and at
the expense of the contractor; such tests shall be made in accordance with the standards
listed in the Governing Building Code, Table 1705.3. When testing of concrete is required,
four (4) test cylinders shall be taken from each 150 yards, or fraction thereof, poured in any
one day. One (1) cylinder shall be tested at seven (7) days; two (2) at 28 days; one (1) shall
be held in reserve. Where 4x8 cylinders are used, (5) test cylinders shall be taken, with (3) 
cylinders tested at 28 days. If Contractor elects to have additional tests performed for 
"early-break" results, additional test cylinders must be taken. At no time shall the Contractor 
instruct the testing agency to perform tests on a schedule different than above without the 
prior authorization of the Engineer. Contractor is responsible for complying with applicable 
testing requirements of theBuilding Department. Copies of all test reports shall be provided to
Engineer and Building Department for review in a timely manner.

4. The Contractor shall remove and replace any concrete which fails to attain specified 28 day
compressive strength if so directed by the Engineer. Any defects in the hardened concrete
shall be repaired to the satisfaction of the Engineer and/or Architect or the hardened
concrete shall be replaced at the Contractor's expense.

5. All concrete work shall conform with the Governing Building Code, Chapter 19.
6. All cement shall be Portland Cement Type I or II and shall conform to ASTM C 150.
7. All aggregates shall conform to ASTM C33. Maximum aggregate sizes:

(a) Footings: 1-1/2"
(b) All other work: 3/4"

8. Where not specifically detailed, the minimum concrete cover on reinforcing steel shall be:
(a) Permanently exposed to earth or weather

i. Cast against earth: 3"
ii. Cast against forms: 2"

(b) Not exposed to earth or weather
i. Slabs, walls, joists: 3/4"
ii. Beams, girders, columns: 1-1/2"

9. The minimum lap splice length for all reinforcing steel shall be as noted in the typical details
on sheet S-1.1. All lap splices to be staggered.

10. All reinforcing steel, anchor bolts, dowels, inserts, and any other hardware to be cast in
concrete shall be well secured in position prior to foundation inspection. All hardware to be
installed in accordance with respective manufacturer's specifications. Refer to architectural
and structural plans for locations of embedded items.

11. Locations of all construction joints, other than specified on the structural plans, shall be
approved by the Architect and Engineer prior to forming. Construction joints shall be
thoroughly air and water cleaned and heavily roughened so as to expose coarse aggregates.
All surfaces to receive fresh concrete shall be maintained continuously wet at least three (3)
hours in advance of concrete placement. Unless specifically detailed or otherwise noted,
construction and control joints shall be provided in all concrete slabs-on-grade. Joints shall
be located such that the area does not exceed 400 sq. feet.

12. The Architect, Engineer and appropriate inspectors shall be notified in a timely manner for a
reinforcement inspection prior to the placement of any concrete.

13. The Contractor shall obtain approval from the Architect and the Engineer prior to placing
sleeves, pipes, ducts, chases, coring and opening on or through structural concrete beams,
walls, floors, and roof slabs unless specifically detailed or noted on the plans. All piles or
conduits passing through concrete members shall be sleeved with standard steel pipe
sections.

14. The Contractor is responsible for design, installation, maintenance and removal of all
formwork. Forms shall be properly constructed, sufficiently tight to prevent leakage,
sufficiently strong, and braced to maintain their shape and alignment until no longer needed
for concrete support. Joints in formwork shall be tightly fitted and blocked, and shall produce
a finished concrete surface that is true and free from blemishes. Forms for exposed concrete
shall be pre-approved by the Architect to ensure conformance with design intent.

15. Remove formwork in accordance with the following schedule:
(a) Forms at slab edge: 1 day
(b) Side forms at footings: 2 days
(c) All other vertical surfaces: 7 days
(d) Beams, columns, girders: 15 days
(e) Elevated slabs: 28 days

Engineer reserves the right to modify removal schedule above based on field observations,
concrete conditions, and/or concrete test results.

16. Retaining walls shall not be backfilled until concrete has set a minimum of 14 days. Refer to 
structural plans for slab and/or framing installation sequencing.

17. All concrete (except slabs-on-grade 6" or less) shall be mechanically vibrated as it is placed.
Vibrator to be operated by experienced personnel. The vibrator shall be used to consolidate
the concrete. The vibrator shall not be used to convey concrete, nor shall it be placed on
reinforcing and/or forms.

18. Concrete shall be maintained in a moist condition for a min. of five (5) days after placement.
19. Concrete shall not be permitted to free fall more than six (6) feet. For heights greater than six

(6) feet, use tremie, pump or other method consistent with applicable standards.
20. When specified ultimate compressive strength is greater than 2500 psi, Contractor shall

submit mix designs to Architect and Engineer for approval seven (7) days prior to placement.
Mix designs shall be prepared by an approved testing laboratory. Sufficient data must be
provided for all admixtures.

21. Refer to Architectural plans for locations of all dimensions, slab depressions, slopes, drains,
curbs, and control joints.

TIMBER / LUMBER 
1. All structural lumber shall be Douglas Fir-Larch, S4S and shall conform to the Governing

Building Code, section 2303.1.1.
2. The minimum lumber grade of each member shall be as follows (unless specifically

noted otherwise on plans and details) :
(a) 2x studs, blocking, plates:Stud
(b) 2x joists #2 or better
(c) 4x4, 4x6, or 6x6 beams or posts #2 or better
(d) 4x8, 6x8, or larger beams or posts #1 or better

It is recommended (but not required) that all exposed members be Select Structural or better
and free of heart center due to visual characteristics.

3. All lumber in contact with concrete or masonry shall be pressure treated Douglas Fir.
Whenever it is necessary to cut, notch, bore or splice pressure treated material, all newly cut
surfaces shall be thoroughly painted with the same preservative.

4. Maximum moisture content for all structural members shall not exceed 19%.
5. All plywood sheathing shall be CDX grade (or better) Douglas Fir with exterior glue. All

sheathing shall conform to the Governing Building Code and grade-marked by
the American Plywood Association (APA). Panel index to be 40/20 for floors and 24/0 for
roofs unless specifically noted otherwise on the plans and details.

ENGINEERED LUMBER
1. Glu-laminated Beams (GLB):

(a) shall have the following properties:

(b) shall not be notched, cut or drilled without prior approval from the Engineer
(c) shall have exterior glue and weather-treatment prior to installation
(d) shall be fabricated by an approved manufacturer & in accordance with ANSI A 190.1
(e) shall have factory standard camber of 3,500-5,000 ft on beams UNO per Plan

2. Laminated Veneer Lumber (LVL) :
(a) shall be 1-3/4" minimum thickness with the following minimum properties:

i. E = 2000 ksi
ii. Fb = 2600 psi
iii. Fv = 285 psi
iv. Fc (parallel) = 2500 psi
v. Fc (perp.) = 750 psi 
vi. Ft (parallel) = 1500 psi
vii. Specific Gravity = 0.50

(b) shall be fabricated by an approved manufacturer
(c) shall bear a minimum of 3-1/2" on specified supports. Provide full depth solid

blocking at all bearing points
(d) shall be nailed in accordance with mfg's specifications. Unless otherwise approved,

nailing into the top edge shall not be spaced any closer than:
i. 16d @ 6" oc, 10d @ 4" oc, and 8d @ 3" oc
ii. When nailing must be reduced, stagger rows a minimum of 1/2" apart while

maintaining proper edge distances.
(e) shall be, when comprised of multiple members, connected with 16d nail, 1/2" bolts or

1/4" lag screws in accordance with manufacturer's specifications.
(f) shall not be cut, notched or drilled without specific written approval of the EOR.

3. Laminated Strand Lumber (LSL) :
(a) shall be 1-1/4" minimum thickness with the following minimum properties:

i. E = 1550 ksi
ii. Fb = 2325 psi
iii. Fv = 310 psi
iv. Fc (parallel) = 2500 psi
v. Fc (perp.) = 800 psi 
vi. Ft (parallel) = 1070 psi
vii. Specific Gravity = 0.50

(b) shall be fabricated by an approved manufacturer
(c) shall bear a minimum of 3-1/2" on specified supports. Provide full depth solid

blocking at all bearing points
(d) shall be nailed in accordance with mfg's specifications. Unless otherwise approved,

nailing into the top edge shall not be spaced any closer than:
i. 16d @ 6" oc, 10d @ 4" oc, and 8d @ 3" oc
ii. When nailing must be reduced, stagger rows a minimum of 1/2" apart while

maintaining proper edge distances.
(e) shall be, when comprised of multiple members, connected with 16d nail, 1/2" bolts or

1/4" lag screws in accordance with manufacturer's specifications.
(f) shall not be cut, notched or drilled without specific written approval of the EOR.

4. Parallel Strand Lumber (PSL) :
(a) shall be 2-1/2" minimum thickness with the following minimum properties:

i. E = 2200 ksi
ii. Fb = 2900 psi
iii. Fv = 290 psi
iv. Fc (parallel) = 2900 psi
v. Fc (perp.) = 750 psi 
vi. Ft (parallel) = 2025 psi
vii. Specific Gravity = 0.50

(b) shall be fabricated by an approved manufacturer
(c) shall bear a minimum of 3-1/2" on specified supports. Provide full depth solid

blocking at all bearing points
(d) shall be nailed in accordance with manufacturer's specifications. Unless otherwise

approved, nailing shall not be spaced any closer than:
i. Narrow face: 16d @ 6" oc, 10d @ 4" oc, and 8d @ 3" oc
ii. Wide Face: 16d @ 8" oc, and 10d & 8d @ 6" oc
iii. When nailing must be reduced, stagger rows a minimum of 1/2" apart while

maintaining proper edge distances
(e) shall not be cut, notched or drilled without specific written approval of the EOR.

5. Plywood I Joists:
(a) type and manufacturer shall be clearly noted on the plans. Substitutions shall not be

permitted without prior approval of the Engineer.
(b) shall be installed in accordance with applicable code approvals and mfg's spec's.
(c) shall bear a minimum of 1-3/4" at all end supports, and 3-1/2" at intermediate

supports. Provide full depth solid blocking at all bearing points.
(d) shall be installed with intermediate blocking or bridging as specified by the Mfr. Only

omit intermediate blocking when specifically allowed by the Mfr.
(e) shall not be cut, notched or drilled without specific written approval of the EOR.

ROUGH CARPENTRY
1. Refer to latest edition of the Governing Building Code, Table 2304.10.1. for all minimum

nailing requirements.
2. Refer to individual sections for applicable material specifications.
3. Fabricate, size, install, connect, fasten, bore, notch, and cut wood and plywood with joints

true, tight, and well-nailed, screwed or bolted as required, all members to have solid bearing
without being shimmed, unless noted otherwise. Set horizontal members subject to bending
with the crown up. Install framing plumb, square, true and cut for full bearing. Splices are not
permitted between bearings. Use full lengths unless otherwise specified. 

4. Metal framing angles, anchor, clips, straps, ties, holdowns, etc. shall be mfg by Simpson
Strong-Tie Co. No substitutions shall be permitted without prior approval of the Engineer.

5. All walls are to have continuous double 2x top plates spliced as followings unless specifically
noted otherwise on the plans and details.

6. Wall Studs:
(a) Unless specifically noted on the plan and details, use the following guidelines for wall

framing:
i. Use 2x4 studs at 16" oc for walls less than 9'-0" tall.
ii. Walls 9'-0" to 16'-0" tall shall be constructed of 2x6 studs at 16" oc
iii. Request specifically engineered wall details for walls greater than 16'-0" tall. 

7. Blocking:
(a) Provide min. one row of nominal 2" thick blocking of same width as stud, fitted snugly

and spiked into studs at mid-height of partitions or walls over 8' high.
(b) All foundation cripple walls (or "pony walls") less than 14" in height shall be solid

blocking.
(c) Refer to shearwall section for additional blocking requirements.

8. Notching:
(a) Is not permitted of any structural member without prior approval
(b) In exterior and bearing walls, notches shall not exceed 25% of the stud depth.
(c) Non-bearing partition walls, notches shall not exceed 40% of the stud depth.
(d) Successive notches in the same member shall be spaced a min of 18" apart.

9. Boring:
(a) Is not permitted of any structural member without prior approval
(b) In exterior and bearing walls, holes shall not exceed 40% of the stud depth.
(c) Non-bearing partition walls, may be drilled not greater than 60% of stud depth.
(d) Successive holes in the same member shall be spaced a minimum of 18" apart.

10. Bearing:
(a) Provide a min. of 1-1/2" of bearing for all 2x joists and hdrs 4x10 / 6x8 & smaller.
(b) Provide a min. of 3" of bearing for all beams and hdrs 4x12 / 6x10 & larger, UNO on

plans.
(c) Members bearing on prefabricated hangers are to have full bearing and nailing per

manufacturer's specifications.
11. Posts:

(a) Posts inside walls shall bear on sill plates and shall be continuous between top and
bottom plates, unless specifically noted otherwise.

(b) Provide posts under all beams, girders or double joists equal to the width of the
supported member.

(c) Posts on upper levels are to be stacked on posts of equal size at levels below,
unless a larger post is specified on the plans.

(d) Vertically oriented blocking ("squash blocking") shall be used to fully transfer the post
area through floors to foundation. Vertical blocking shall be equal to floor thickness
plus 1/16".

(e) Headers framing into continuous posts without trimmer studs shall be supported in
Simpson HUC hangers unless noted otherwise on the plans.

(f) Posts when isolated, shall be seated in Simpson post or column bases, unless noted
otherwise on the plans

12. Roof Framing:
(a) Provide wood joists, as specified, laid with the crown up and spaced as indicated.
(b) Provide a minimum of 1-1/2" end bearing unless otherwise shown.
(c) Provide full depth solid 2x blkg or cross-bridging between the joists at 8' oc max.
(d) Provide all cricket framing required to achieve positive drainage per Arch.
(e) Install plywood panels with the face grain across the framing and close joints and nail

at each support. Fully nail with common nails per the plans.
(f) Plywood panels shall not be less than 4' x 8' except at boundaries and changes in

framing direction, where the minimum panel dimension shall be no less than 24",
unless all edges of undersized panels are supported by and fastened to framing
members or blocking.

(g) Provide Simpson "PSCL" clips at all plywood joints perpendicular to framing. Provide
clips midway between framing members at the unsupported edges of plywood when
members are spaced at 24" oc or greater. If clips are not used, provide solid blocking
for joints perpendicular to framing.

13. Floor Framing:
(a) Provide wood joists, as specified, laid with the crown up and spaced as indicated.
(b) Provide a minimum of 1-1/2" end bearing unless otherwise shown.
(c) Provide full depth solid 2x blkg or cross-bridging between the joists at 8' oc max. For

floors framed with I joists, refer to the mfg's spec's for blkg requirements.
(d) Provide full depth solid 2x blocking between the joists under all walls and partitions

where the wall or partition is perpendicular to the floor framing (including floors
framed with I joists) 

(e) Install plywood sheathing with the face grain across supports, end supports
staggered, and the edges of sheets centered over supports. If T&G plywood is used,
blocking need not be provided at all plywood edges (UNO per plan). If T&G plywood
is not used, blocking shall be provided at all plywood edges. Glue plywood to joists
and fully nail with common nails per the plans.

(f) Plywood panels shall not be less than 4' x 8' except at boundaries and changes in
framing direction, where the minimum panel dimension shall be no less than 24",
unless all edges of undersized panels are supported by and fastened to framing
members or blocking.

14. Shear Walls:
(a) Refer to plans for all shearwall locations, length type and nailing.
(b) Refer to Shearwall Schedule on title sheet for additional information.
(c) Shear wall lengths specified on plans are minimum required.
(d) Shear walls to be nailed with common nails. All nails to have minimum 3/8" edge

distance to panel or framing member.
(e) Where 3x framing is required per the shear wall schedule, stagger edge nailing. 
(f) Oriented Strand Board (OSB) may be used in lieu of plywood.

GENERAL NOTES
1. The following notes, details, schedules & specifications shall apply to all phases of this

project unless specifically noted otherwise. Notes and details on the structural plans shall
take precedence over general notes and typical details. Where no details are given,
construction shall be as shown for similar work.

2. All drawings are considered to be part of the contract documents. The Contractor shall be
responsible for the review and coordination of all drawings and specifications prior to the start
of construction. Any discrepancies shall be brought to the attention of the Engineer prior to
the start of construction so that a clarification can be issued. Any work performed in conflict
with the contract documents or any applicable code requirements shall be corrected by the
Contractor at no expense to the Owner or Engineer.

3. All information on existing conditions shown on the structural plans are based on best
present knowledge available, but without guarantee of accuracy. The Contractor shall be
responsible for the verifications of all dimension and conditions at the site. Any discrepancies
between actual site conditions and information shown on the drawings or in the specifications
shall be brought to the attention of the EOR prior to the start of construction.

4. Refer to the Architectural plans for the following:
(a) Dimensions
(b) Size and location of all interior and exterior wall locations.
(c) Size and location of all floor, roof and wall openings
(d) Size and location of all drains, slopes, depressions, steps, etc.
(e) Specification of all finishes & waterproofing
(f) All other non-structural elements

5. Refer to the mechanical, electrical and plumbing plans for the following:
(a) Size and location of all equipment
(b) Pipe runs, sleeves, hangers and trenches
(c) All other mechanical, electrical or plumbing related elements

6. DO NOT scale structural plans. Contractor shall use all written dimensions on Architectural
plans.

7. Construction materials shall be uniformly spread out if placed on floor or roof so as to not
overload the framing. Load shall not exceed the design live load per square foot. It is the
Contractor's responsibility to provide adequate shoring and/or bracing as required.

8. Specifications and detailing of all waterproofing and drainage items, while sometimes shown
on the structural plans for general information purposes only, are solely the design
responsibility of others.

9. The Engineer will not be responsible for and will not have control or charge of construction
means, methods, techniques, sequences or procedures, or for safety precautions and
programs in connection with the construction delineated by these plans. It should be
understood that the Contractor or his/her agent(s) shall supervise and direct all work and
shall be solely and completely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques,
sequences, procedures and conditions on the job site, including safety of all persons and
property during the entire period of construction. Periodic observations by the Engineer, his
staff or representatives are not intended to include verification of dimensions or review the
adequacy of the Contractor's safety measures on or near the construction site.

10. Modifications of the plans, notes, details and specifications shall not be permitted without
prior approval from the Engineer.

11. All workmanship shall conform to the best practice prevailing in the various trades performing
the work. The Contractor shall be responsible for coordinating the work of all trades.

12. It is the Contractor's responsibility to ensure that only approved structural plans are used
during the course of construction. The use of unapproved documents shall be at the
contractor's own risk. Corrections of all work based on such documents shall be performed at
the Contractor's expense.

13. These plans and specifications represent the structural design only. No information nor
warranty is provided for the work of any other Consultant (Architect, Mechanical, Electrical,
etc.). This includes, but is not limited to, waterproofing, drainage, ventilation, accessibility, or
dimensions.

REINFORCEMENT
1. Reinforcing steel shall be deformed, clean, free of rust, grease or any other material likely

to impair concrete bond.
2. All bars shall conform to ASTM A615, Grade 60 minimum (UNO on structural plans). All weld

wire fabric (WWF) shall conform to ASTM A185.
3. Reinforcing steel that is to be welded shall conform to ASTM A706. All welding of 

reinforcement shall be subject to special inspection.
4. Contractor shall take necessary steps (standard ties, anchorage devices, etc.) to secure all

reinforcing steel in their true position and prevent displacement during concrete placement.
5. Fabrication, placement and installation of reinforcing steel shall conform to:

(a) Concrete Reinforcing Steel Institute (CRSI) Manual of Standard Practice
(b) the Governing Building Code.

6. Shop drawings for fabrication of reinforcing steel shall be approved by the Contractor and
submitted to the Architect and Engineer for review and approval prior to fabrication. Shop
drawings are not required for slabs-on-grade or foundations unless specifically noted on the
structural plans.

7. Heating of reinforcing steel to aid in bending and shaping of bars is not permitted. All bends
in reinforcing steel are to be made cold. All bend radii shall conform to CRSI Manual of
Standard Practice.

8. Refer to Concrete and Masonry notes for specific minimum splice length and splice
staggering requirements. Lap welded wire fabric (WWF) reinforcement two (2) modules
minimum (UNO). All splices are to be staggered.

FASTENERS
1. Nails:

(a) shall be with "common" nails unless noted otherwise.
(b) shall not be driven closer than 1/2 their length nor closer than 1/4 of their length to

the edge or end of a member, except for sheathing.
(c) shall be installed in pre-drilled lead holes if necessary to avoid splitting.
(d) shall be hot-dipped zinc-coated galvanized steel, stainless steel, silicon bronze, or

copper when in contact with preservative-treated wood.
i. When used in exterior applications, nails shall have coating types and weights in

accordance with the treated wood or bolt manufacturer's Recs. A Min. of ASTM
A653, type G185 zinc-coated galvanized steel (or equiv.) shall be used.

ii. When used in an interior, dry environment in SBX/DOT or zinc borate
preservative-treated wood, plain carbon nails shall be permitted.

(e) All nailing shall conform to the Governing Building Code, Table 2304.10.1.
2. Lag screws:

(a) shall be installed into pre-drilled lead holes. Lubricant (or soap) shall be used to
facilitate installation and prevent damage to the screws.

(b) shall be hot-dipped zinc-coated galvanized steel or stainless steel when in contact
with preservative-treated wood.
i. When used in exterior applications, bolts shall have coating types and weights in

accordance with the treated wood or bolt manufacturer's rec's. A minimum of
ASTM A653, type G185 zinc-coated galvanized steel (or equal) shall be used.

ii. When used in dry interior environments in SBX/DOT or zinc borate preservative-
treated wood, plain carbon screws, nuts, and washers shall be permitted.

3. Bolts:
(a) shall conform to ASTM A307, UNO specifically on plans and details.
(b) shall be installed in pre-drilled holes a max of 1/16" larger than the specified bolt dia.
(c) when installed against wood surfaces, shall have standard washers under the heads

and nuts.
(d) shall be hot-dipped zinc-coated galvanized steel or stainless steel when in contact

with preservative-treated wood.
i. When used in exterior applications, bolts shall have coating types and weights in

accordance with the treated wood or bolt manufacturer's rec's. A minimum of
ASTM A653, type G185 zinc-coated galvanized steel (or equal) shall be used.

ii. When used in dry interior environments in SBX/DOT or zinc borate preservative-
treated wood, plain carbon screws, nuts, and washers shall be permitted.

4. Anchor Bolts:
(a) shall be installed at all exterior walls and all interior shear and/or bearing walls.
(b) shall be 5/8" diameter with 3x3x0.229" steel plate washers at shearwalls.
(c) shall be 5/8" diameter with 2x2x3/16" steel plate washers at non-shearwalls.
(d) shall have 7" minimum embedment. (Contractor to coordinate length of bolts with sill

plate thicknesses).
(e) shall conform to ASTM F1554, Grade 36.
(f) shall be hot-dipped zinc-coated galvanized steel or stainless steel when in contact

with preservative-treated wood.
i. When used in exterior applications, bolts shall have coating types and weights in

accordance with the treated wood or bolt manufacturer's rec's. A minimum of
ASTM A653, type G185 zinc-coated galvanized steel (or equal) shall be used.

ii. When used in dry interior environments in SBX/DOT or zinc borate preservative-
treated wood, plain carbon screws, nuts, and washers shall be permitted.

(g) shall not be spaced greater than 72" oc Refer to shearwall schedule for specific
anchor bolt spacing requirements.

(h) shall be placed a maximum of 12" from wall corners, wall ends, and sill plate splices
(but not less than 7 dia.) , and a min. of two bolts per piece of sill plate is required.

(i) shall be secured in place prior to foundation inspection.
5. Powder Actuated Shot Pins:

(a) shall be installed at all interior non-bearing, non-shearwalls.
(b) shall be 0.145x3" with 1.5" diameter steel washers.
(c) shall not be spaced greater than 32" o.c.

FOUNDATIONS
1. Refer to Structural Design Parameters section on sheet S-1.1 for all soil design values used

in calculations.
2. Soils values per geologic/geotechnical report (or "soils report") by ,Earth Systems Pacific 

Inc., Project No.SL-16139-SA, dated January 22, 2010. This report and all recommendations
contained therein are to be considered a part of these plans.

3. It is the Contractor's responsibility to obtain a copy of the soils report from the Owner. A copy
of the soils report shall be on the job site during the course of construction.

4. Unexpected Soil Conditions: Allowable values and subsequent foundation designs are based
on soil conditions which are shown by test borings. Actual soil conditions which deviate
appreciably from that shown in the test borings shall be reported to the EOR and/or soils 
engineer immediately.

5. All compaction, fill, backfilling and site preparation shall be performed in accordance with
project soils report or the Governing Building Code Chapter 18 & Appendix J. All such work
shall be performed per the recommendations of the project soils engineer.

6. Excavate to required depths and dimensions (as indicated in the drawings), cut square and
smooth with firm level bottoms. Care shall be taken not to over-excavate foundation at lower
elevation and prevent disturbance of soils around high elevation.

7. Foundations shall be poured in neat excavations.
8. Excavate all foundations to required depths into compacted fill or natural soil (as per plans

and details) and as verified by the building official and/or soils engineer.
9. All foundations shall be inspected and approved by the appropriate building official and/or a

representative of the soils engineer prior to forming and placement of reinforcing or concrete.
10. Foundations shall not be poured until all required reinforcing steel, framing hardware,

sleeves, inserts, conduits, pipes, etc. and formwork is properly placed and inspected by the
appropriate building official/inspector(s).

11. It is the responsibility of the contractor in charge of framing to properly position all holdown
bolts, anchor bolts, column bases, and all other cast-in-place hardware. Refer to typical
details. All hardware to be secured prior to foundation inspections.

12. The sides and bottoms of dry excavations must be moistened to optimum moisture content 
or just above, just prior to placing concrete. Conversely, de-water footings as required to 
remove standing water and to maintain optimum working conditions.

13. The Contractor shall be solely responsible for all excavation procedures including lagging,
shoring, and the protection of adjacent property, structures, streets, and utilities in
accordance with all federal, state and local safety ordinances. The Contractor shall provide
for the design and installation of all cribbing, bracing and shoring required.

Use
EWS 

Combination 
Symbol

Species / 
Grade

Flexural 
Stress, Fb 

(psi)

Modulus of 
Elasticity, E 

(ksi)

Horiz. Shear 
Stress, Fv 

(psi)

Compression
Fc para. Fc perp.
(psi) (psi)

Simple Span Bm. 24F-V4 DF +2,400/-1,850 1,800 265 1,650 650
Continuous or 
Cantilever Bm. 24F-V8 DF +/- 2,400 1,800 265 1,650 650

Columns 2 DF / L2 +/- 1,800 1,600 265 1,650 650

St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

STRUCTURAL
SPECIFICATIONS

NTS

S-1.2

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
12

:5
4 

PM

STRUCTURAL STEEL
1. All structural steel and connections shall be fabricated and erected in accordance with AISC

specifications, Seismic Provisions Supplements No. 1 and 2, and Code of Standard Practice
as amended to date.

2. Steel fabrication shop drawings shall be submitted for review by the Architect and Engineer
prior to fabrication.

3. Special Inspection: Continuous special inspection of structural welding is required by an
inspector pre-qualified by the Building Department. The following exceptions are permitted 
for welds not in Special Moment-Resisting Frames:

(a) Welding performed in an approved fabricator's shop in accordance with latest edition
of the Governing Building Code, Section 1704.2.

(b) The inspector need not be continuously present during welding of the following
items, provided the materials, welding procedures, and welders qualifications are
verified prior to the start of work; Periodic inspections are made of work in progress;
and visual inspection of all completed welds is made prior to shipment:
i. Single-pass fillet welds not exceeding 5/16"
ii. Floor and roof steel deck welding
iii. Welded studs (for nailers, diaphragms or composite deck systems) 
iv. Welded light gauge cold-formed framing members (studs, joists, etc.) 
v. Welding of stairs and railing systems

4. Testing Procedures: All complete joint penetration welds (aka full penetration, FP, or CJP)
groove or butt welded joints and splices in Special Moment-Resisting Frames shall be tested
100 percent in accordance with AISC Seismic Part I, Section 16 by either ultrasonic testing
("UT") or radiography (x-ray). The following exceptions are permitted:

(a) Ultrasonic or radiographic testing is not required for all complete joint penetration
welds on material less than 5/16" thick; continuous visual inspection is required.

(b) At the discretion of the Building Official, the ultrasonic or radiographic testing rate for
an individual welder may be reduced to 25% provided the reject rate is no more than
5% for all welds tested for that individual welder.

(c) At the discretion of the Building Official, the ultrasonic or radiographic testing may be
performed in the shop of an approved fabricator by a qualified inspector of their
employ.

(d) It is the responsibility of the Contractor to verify all the testing requirements of the
local Building Department as the requirements vary with each governing agency. The
testing procedures outlined above apply only to those complete joint penetration 
welds specified in Special Moment-Resisting Frames only; Ordinary 
Moment-Resisting Frames are exempt.

5. Materials:
(a) Wideflange (W) sections shall conform to ASTM A992.
(b) Hollow Steel Sections (HSS) shall conform to ASTM A500 Gr. B.
(c) Pipe sections shall be welded seamless pipe conforming to ASTM A53 Gr. B.

i. STD indicates Standard Wall
ii. EXT indicates Extra Strong
iii. DBL indicates Double Extra Strong

(d) All other material (plate, bars, etc.) shall conform to ASTM A36, UNO specifically.
(e) All plate material specified in steel moment frame connections shall conform to

ASTM A572 Gr. 50.
6. Bolts:

(a) All bolts shall be ASTM A307 Gr. A, UNO specifically on the structural plans.
(b) High strength bolts complying with ASTM A325 and A490, when specified, shall

require special inspection in accordance with the Governing Building Code, Section
1705.2.6.

(c) Threaded rod, where specified, shall conform with ASTM A307 unless specifically
noted otherwise on the structural plans.

(d) Bolt holes shall be drilled 1/32" to 1/16" larger than the specified bolt diameter.
7. Welding:

(a) All welding shall be performed using SMAW, GMAW or FCAW processes.
(b) All welded connections to be in accordance with the latest edition of the AWS D1.1.
(c) All welding shall be performed by certified welders.
(d) All welding shall be performed with E70XX electrodes with a minimum CVN

toughness of 20 ft-lb at -20ºF.
(e) Weld lengths specified on the plans are the net effective length required. Where fillet

weld symbol is given without indication of size, use the minimum size welds as
specified in section 1.17.2 of the AISC Manual of Steel Construction 15th Ed.

(f) No field welding shall be permitted, UNO specifically on the plans or details.
8. No holes other than those specifically detailed shall be allowed through structural steel

members. Burning or torching of holes is not permitted under any circumstances.
9. All structural steel shall be painted one shop coat and touched-up in the field with red lead

(or approved zinc chromate primer) as necessary.
10. Any steel member interfacing with wood framing shall have 1/2" diameter studs welded at 24"

oc for attachment of wood nailers. Thru-bolting of nailers shall not be permitted unless
specifically noted on the plans or details.

11. Provide hot dip galvanizing or 3" min. concrete cover around all structural steel below grade.
12. The filler metal for all welding shall have a notch toughness of net less than 20 ft-lbs at 0

degrees F, as measured by a standard Charpy V-Notch test, ASTM E-23, in accordance with
the applicable filler metal specification referenced in AWE D1.1 and Seismic Supplement
AWS D1.8.

A-2-68Page 225 of 356



SCHEDULE OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS                                                                                       
Column Header Notation Used in Table:

C Indicates continuous inspection is required.
P Indicates periodic inspections are required. The notes and/or contract documents should

clarify.
Box Entry Notation Used in Table:

X Is placed in the appropriate column to denote either "C" continuous or "P" periodic
inspections.

-- Denotes a one-time activitiy or one whose frequency is defined in some other manner.
Additional details regarding inspections are provided in the project specifications or notes on the 
drawings.

SCHEDULE OF TESTING AGENCIES & SPECIAL INSPECTORS                                                
The following are the testing agencies and special inspectors that will be retained to conduct 
tests and inspection on this project.

Firm Address, Telephone, EmailResponsibility

1. Special Inspection
(Except for Geotechnical)

TBD Street
City, State
Ph: XXX.XXX.XXXX
Email: 

2. Materials Testing TBD Street
City, State
Ph: XXX.XXX.XXXX
Email: 

3. Geotechnical Inspection TBD Street
City, State
Ph: XXX.XXX.XXXX
Email: 

* TBD Street
City, State
Ph: XXX.XXX.XXXX
Email: 

* Additional inspections may be required at the discretion of the Building Official.

SEISMIC REQUIREMENTS (Section 1705.12)

Description of seismic-force-resisting system and designated seismic systems subject to
special inspections per Section 1705.12:
Light-framed walls sheathed with wood structural panels rated for shear resistance or steel 
sheets (ASCE 7, Table 12.2-1, Line A.15)

The extent of the main seismic-force-resisting system is defined in more detail in the 
construction documents.

WIND REQUIREMENTS (Section 1705.11)

Description of main wind-force-resisting system and designated seismic systems subject to 
special inspections per Section 1705.11:

Not Applicable

The extent of the main wind-force-resisting system is defined in more detail in the construction 
documents.

STATEMENT OF SPECIAL INSPECTIONS, 2019 CBC                                                                  
1. This Statement of Special Inspection is submitted in fulfillment of the requirements of the

Governing Building Code, section 1704 and 1705. 
2. Special Inspections and Testings will be preformed in accordance with the approved plans

and specifications, this statement and the Governing Building Code, Section 1704 , 1705 ,
1707 , and 1708.

3. The schedule of Special Inspections summarizes the Special Inspections and tests required.
Special Inspectors will refer to the approved plans and specifications for detailed special
inspection requirements. Any additional tests and inspections required by the approved plans
and specifications will also be performed.

4. Interim reports will be submitted to the Building Official and the Registered Design
Professional in Responsible Charge in accordance with the Governing Building Code Section
1704.2.4.

5. A Final Report of Special Inspections documenting required Special Inspections, testing and
correction of any discrepancies noted in the inspections shall be submitted prior to issuance
of a Certificate of Use and Occupancy (Section 1704.2.4). The Final Report will document:

(a) Required special inspections.
(b) Correction of discrepancies noted in inspections.

6. The Owner recognizes his or her obligation to ensure that the construction complies with the
approved permit documents and to implement this program of special inspections. In partial
fulfillment of these obligations, the Owner will retain and directly pay for the Special
Inspections as required in the Governing Building Code, Section 1704.2.

7. 1704.4 Contractor responsibility.  Each contractor responsible for the construction of a main
wind- or seismic force-resisting system, designated seismic system or a wind- or seismic 
force-resisting component listed in the statement of special inspections shall submit a 
written statement of responsibility to the building official and the owner or the owner's 
authorized agent prior to the commencement of work on the system or component. The 
contractor's statement of responsibility shall contain acknowledgement of awareness of the 
special requirements contained in the statement of special inspection.

CVerification & Inspection NotesP

1705.2 - Steel

5. Inspection of Welding:
a. Structural Steel

X1. Material verification of high-strength bolts, nuts, and 
washers

Notes

Xa. Identification markings to conform to ASTM 
standards specified in the approved construction 
documents

Xb. Manufacturer's certificate of compliance required

2. Inspection of high-strength bolting:

Xa. Bearing-type connections

Xb. Slip-critical connections

3.  Material verification of structural steel:

----a. Identification markings to conform to ASTM 
standards specified in the approved construction 
documents

----b. Manufacturer's mill test reports

4.  Material verification of weld filler materials:

----a. Identification markings to conform to AWS 
designation listed in the WPS

----b. Manufacturer's certificate of compliance required

4) Single-pass fillet welds < 5/16" X

X9. Welding of stairs and railing systems

----

PC

1704.2.5 - Inspect fabricator's fabrication and quality 
control procedures.

Verification & Inspection Notes

Notes

C NotesPVerification & Inspection

1705.6 - Soils

NotesX1. Verify materials below shallow footings are adequate
to achieve the desired bearing capacity

2. Verify excavations are extended to proper depth and  
have reached proper material

X

3. Perform classification and testing of compacted fill 
materials

4. Verify use of proper materials, densities, and lift 
thicknesses during placement and compaction of 
compacted fill

5. Prior to placement of compacted fill, inspect subgrade 
and verify that site has been prepared properly

X

X

X

CVerification & Inspection NotesP

1705.8 - Cast-in-Place Deep Foundations

1. Inspect drilling operations and maintain complete and
accurate records for each element

X

2. Verify placement locations and plumbness, confirm
element diameters, bell diameters (if applicable),
lengths, embedment into bedrock (if applicable) and
adequate end-bearing strata capacity. Record
concrete or grout volumes

X

----

Notes

3. For concrete elements, perform tests and additional
inspections in accordance with Section 1705.3

CVerification & Inspection NotesP

1705.12.2 - Seismic Resistance - Structural Wood

2. Inspect nailing, bolting, anchoring, and other fastening
of elements of the main seismic force-resisting
system, including wood shear walls, wood
diaphragms, collectors (drag struts), braces, shear
panels, and hold-downs

X Inspection of shear walls 
and diaphragms with 
fasteners spaced greater 
than 4” oc is not required

St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

SPECIAL
INSPECTIONS

NTS

S-1.3

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
12

:5
6 

PM

A-2-69Page 226 of 356



A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

FOUNDATION PLAN

1/4"=1'-0"

S-2.1

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
12

:5
7 

PM

15/32" CDX Plywood6 2x 10d 6" 48"N 2x 10" 17" 13" 5"13"

SHEARWALL SCHEDULE

NAILING1 TRANSFERS2DESCRIPTION

SIZE SPC'GPANEL
B'DRY

5/8"Ø3

AB
MATERIALSNO. DBL.

SIDED
SILL

PLATE
SDS4

Screw
A35, LTP4,6,7,8

or LTP5
RBC 16d9SDWS5

Screw

15/32" CDX Plywood4 2x 10d 4" 38"N 3x 7" 12" 9" 3"9"

15/32" CDX Plywood3 2x 10d 3" 29"N 3x 6" 9" 7" -10 7" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood2 2x 10d 2" 23"N 3x 4" 7" 5" -10 5" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood44 3x 10d 4" 24"Y 3x 4" 6" - -10 4" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood33 3x 10d 3" 18"Y 3x 3" 5" - -10,11 3" 10,11

22 3x 10d 2" 14"Y 3x 2" 4" - -10,1115/32" CDX Plywood 2" 10,11

1.   All nails to be COMMONS. DO NOT use box type nails. All "field" nailing to be 12"oc, UNO. Penetration shall be 1-1/2" Min. in framing.
2.   All transfers to be installed into min. 1-1/2" thick members, UNO. Where clips are spaced less than 6" oc, stagger clips on each

side of wall.
3.   All shear walls to have 5/8" anchor bolts, embeded 7" into concrete foundations, with  3"x3"x0.229" thick plate washers,

minimum. Washers may be slotted (slot length not to exceed 1-3/4") w/ standard cut washer placed between nut and plate
washer. Washers shall extend within 1/2" of the edge of the bottom plate on the sheathed side.  At walls sheathed on 2 sides,
plate washers shall be alternated to each side of plate. [Governing Bulding Code, Section 2308.3.2] [AF&PA SDPWS 4.3.6.4.3]

4. Simpson SDS 1/4"x5" Screws through 2x sill, or SDS 1/4"x8" Screws through 3x sill or double plates. Install into minimum
1-3/4" thick members (rim and/or blocking). [ICC ESR 2236]

5. Simpson SDWS 0.22"x5" Screws through 2x sill, or SDWS 0.22"x8" Screws through 3x sill or double plates. Install into minimum
1-3/4" thick members (rim and/or blocking). [ICC ES AC233]

6. See details for permitted transfer clip types and locations.
7. Orient LTP4 and LTP5 clips such that the long dimension is horizontal.
8. Where LTP4 clips are installed over shear wall sheathing, fasten with full length 8d common nails.
9. 16d common nails through the sill plate to rim member or blocking.
10. Install screws into 3-1/2" wide continuous member, staggered 1-1/2" apart.
11. Install screws into Glulams or solid sawn member.  LSL, LVL, or PSL members are NOT acceptable, UNO.

FOOTNOTES:

Not Used

Not Used

Not Used

Not Used

A CS14 (2) 2x N/A

B CMSTC16 (2) 2x N/A

C CMST14 4x N/A

D CMST12 4x N/A

E (2) 2x N/AMSTC66B3

1 HDU4 (2) 2x

2 HDU8

3 HDU11

4 HDU14

5 HD19

5/S-3.2

SSTB24 /
21" Min. 5/S-3.1

4x

6x6 or 4x8

6x6 or 4x8

SSTB28L /
25" Min.
SB1x30 /
24" Min.
SB1x30 /
24" Min.

6x6 or 4x8 PAB10 x 36" /
30" Min.

5/S-3.2

Not Used

5/S-3.1

5/S-3.1

FOOTNOTES:
1.  Shared holdowns to be installed per detail 10/S-1.1, Typical Shearwall
     Intersections, (UNO)
2.  All holdowns shown shall be continued down to the foundation with the
     same size holdowns and post, (UNO)

HOLDOWN SCHEDULE

TYPE HOLDOWN MIN. POST ANCHOR /
EMBEDMENT DETAILS1,2

Foundation per Details

See General Notes & Specifications for additional
requirements and material specifications.
All dimensions per Architectural plans
Contractor to VERIFY all dimensions w/ Architectural 
plans PRIOR to commencement of construction.

Please see Soils Report for additional specifications and
recommendations.  It is the contractor's responsibility to obtain a
copy of the soils report from the owner or owners representative.

GENERAL FOUNDATION NOTES

Building pad was prepared in accordance with soils report

Prior to the contractor requesting a Building Department 
foundation inspection, the Soils Engineer shall advise the 
building inspector in writing that:
a)

Utility trenches have been properly backfilled and compacted, 
and

c)

b)

Foundation excavations, the soil's expansive characteristics 
and bearing capacity conform to the soils report.

15" Wide x 33" Min. Embedment Below Lowest
Adjacent Grade & 12" Min. into Approved Soil

w/ (2) #5 Top & Bot. (UNO)

Denotes Step in Slab-on-Grade
Step Ht. & Extent per Arch.

Wood Framed Wall Above (See S-2.2)

4" Slab-on-Grade w/
#4 @ 18" oc, per Details

Pad Foundation, Size per Plan
w/ 33" Embedment & #5 @ 12" oc EW, 
(3) Min.

Flatwork By Others

Concrete Retaining Wall per Details

UP

D
N

DN

FAMILY ROOM

BEDROOM
3

BATHROOM
3

LAUNDRY

MECH

ENTRY

GARAGE

CLOSET/
ELEVATOR

PORCH

4'
-0

"
Sq

.

Bump Fdn. Out as Required

1

6
S-3.1

1
S-3.1

1
S-3.1

6
S-3.1

1
S-3.1

1
S-3.1

1
S-3.1

1
S-3.1

3
S-3.1

1
S-3.1

2
S-3.1

11
S-3.1

8
S-3.1

4
S-3.1

3
S-3.1

3
S-3.1 7

S-3.1

6

6
19

'6
"

A1
6

44
'0

"

A A
2 24

2'11" A A
2 24

2'11"

6
18'6"

B
2 33

4'0"B
3 23

4'0"

4
40

'0
"

9
S-3.1

4
S-3.1

4x
82x8 DF #2 

@ 16" oc 
in HU Hgrs.

HU
  

10
S-3.1

Typ.

3'
-6

"
Sq

.

Provide 6" Thck. 
Slab at Elevator Pit

2
S-3.1

12
S-3.1

3'
-0

"
Sq

.

Approximate Location of Property Line. 
See Civil Plans

1

1 2 3

16
'-0

" M
ax

. 
Fo

ot
in

g 
Sp

ac
in

g 
Ty

p.

20
S-3.1

20
S-3.1

20
S-3.1

4'-0" oc Max. 
Pier Spacing

Site Retaining Wall By Others. 
Do Not Connect to House 
Foundation

18
S-3.1

Typ. @ 
Stepped Fdn.

14
S-3.1

17
S-3.1

2'-0"
Min.

A-2-70Page 227 of 356



A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

16
S-3.3

19
S-3.2

CMSTC16

(17
'-0

") 
 

FAMILY ROOM

BEDROOM
3

BATHROOM
3

LAUNDRY

MECH

ENTRY

GARAGE

CLOSET/
FUTURE ELEV

PORCH

St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

FLOOR FRAMING
PLAN

1/4"=1'-0"

S-2.2

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
12

:5
8 

PM

15/32" CDX Plywood6 2x 10d 6" 48"N 2x 10" 17" 13" 5"13"

SHEARWALL SCHEDULE

NAILING1 TRANSFERS2DESCRIPTION

SIZE SPC'GPANEL
B'DRY

5/8"Ø3

AB
MATERIALSNO. DBL.

SIDED
SILL

PLATE
SDS4

Screw
A35, LTP4,6,7,8

or LTP5
RBC 16d9SDWS5

Screw

15/32" CDX Plywood4 2x 10d 4" 38"N 3x 7" 12" 9" 3"9"

15/32" CDX Plywood3 2x 10d 3" 29"N 3x 6" 9" 7" -10 7" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood2 2x 10d 2" 23"N 3x 4" 7" 5" -10 5" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood44 3x 10d 4" 24"Y 3x 4" 6" - -10 4" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood33 3x 10d 3" 18"Y 3x 3" 5" - -10,11 3" 10,11

22 3x 10d 2" 14"Y 3x 2" 4" - -10,1115/32" CDX Plywood 2" 10,11

1.   All nails to be COMMONS. DO NOT use box type nails. All "field" nailing to be 12"oc, UNO. Penetration shall be 1-1/2" Min. in framing.
2.   All transfers to be installed into min. 1-1/2" thick members, UNO. Where clips are spaced less than 6" oc, stagger clips on each

side of wall.
3.   All shear walls to have 5/8" anchor bolts, embeded 7" into concrete foundations, with  3"x3"x0.229" thick plate washers,

minimum. Washers may be slotted (slot length not to exceed 1-3/4") w/ standard cut washer placed between nut and plate
washer. Washers shall extend within 1/2" of the edge of the bottom plate on the sheathed side.  At walls sheathed on 2 sides,
plate washers shall be alternated to each side of plate. [Governing Bulding Code, Section 2308.3.2] [AF&PA SDPWS 4.3.6.4.3]

4. Simpson SDS 1/4"x5" Screws through 2x sill, or SDS 1/4"x8" Screws through 3x sill or double plates. Install into minimum
1-3/4" thick members (rim and/or blocking). [ICC ESR 2236]

5. Simpson SDWS 0.22"x5" Screws through 2x sill, or SDWS 0.22"x8" Screws through 3x sill or double plates. Install into minimum
1-3/4" thick members (rim and/or blocking). [ICC ES AC233]

6. See details for permitted transfer clip types and locations.
7. Orient LTP4 and LTP5 clips such that the long dimension is horizontal.
8. Where LTP4 clips are installed over shear wall sheathing, fasten with full length 8d common nails.
9. 16d common nails through the sill plate to rim member or blocking.
10. Install screws into 3-1/2" wide continuous member, staggered 1-1/2" apart.
11. Install screws into Glulams or solid sawn member.  LSL, LVL, or PSL members are NOT acceptable, UNO.

FOOTNOTES:

Not Used

Not Used

Not Used

Not Used

A CS14 (2) 2x N/A

B CMSTC16 (2) 2x N/A

C CMST14 4x N/A

D CMST12 4x N/A

E (2) 2x N/AMSTC66B3

1 HDU4 (2) 2x

2 HDU8

3 HDU11

4 HDU14

5 HD19

5/S-3.2

SSTB24 /
21" Min. 5/S-3.1

4x

6x6 or 4x8

6x6 or 4x8

SSTB28L /
25" Min.
SB1x30 /
24" Min.
SB1x30 /
24" Min.

6x6 or 4x8 PAB10 x 36" /
30" Min.

5/S-3.2

Not Used

5/S-3.1

5/S-3.1

FOOTNOTES:
1.  Shared holdowns to be installed per detail 10/S-1.1, Typical Shearwall
     Intersections, (UNO)
2.  All holdowns shown shall be continued down to the foundation with the
     same size holdowns and post, (UNO)

HOLDOWN SCHEDULE

TYPE HOLDOWN MIN. POST ANCHOR /
EMBEDMENT DETAILS1,2

See General Notes & Specifications for additional 
requirements and material specifications.
All dimensions per Architectural plans
Contractor to VERIFY all dimensions w/ Architectural plans 
PRIOR to commencement of construction.

Beams (per Call-out)

(N) Floor Joists -- 14" TJI 210 @ 24" oc
in Simpson ITS Hangers, Typ. (UNO)

(N) LVLV Deck Joists -- Per Call Out
in Simpson U Hangers. (UNO)

Waterproofing, flashing, & finish details per Architecturals.

GENERAL FRAMING NOTES

Denotes Step in Framing.
Step Ht. & Extent per Arch.

All Lumber 4x6, 6x6 and Smaller to be DF #2 UNO
All Lumber 4x8, 6x8 and Larger to be DF #1 UNO
All Beams to Bear on Plates w/ Indicated
Post or Doubler Below UNO

Provide wall length continuous full depth solid blocking 
(where floor joists perpendicular) or double floor joist
(where joists parallel) for all walls above.

All Hangers Shall be Installed w/ Max. Nailing per Mfr. & 
Sized for Full Width & Depth of Supported Members, UNO
Floor sheathing to be 1-1/8" plywood or OSB, T & G,
PI 60/32,  glued and nailed w/ 10d commons at 6", 6", 12"
Floor sheathing to be 3/4" plywood or OSB, T & G,
PI 40/20,  glued and nailed w/ 10d commons at 6", 6", 12"

Typical built up beams shall be per Detail 9/S-3.3

Walls above

 (shown for clarity)

Struc. Wood-Framed Wall, Thk. per Arch.

2x6 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.

Non-Struc. Wood-Framed Wall, Thk. per Arch.
 

2x6 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.

Stud wall locations per Architecturals.

WALL SCHEDULE

All Walls to have Continuous Double Top 
Plates, All Splices to be per Detail 7/S-1.1

Low Walls Ht. & Thk. per Arch.

2x6 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.

(N) Struc. Balloon-Framed Wall, Thk. per Arch.

2x6 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.

UP

D
N

6x
8 

H
dr

.
6x

8 
H

dr
.

6x
8 

H
dr

.
6x

8 
H

dr
.

6x
8 

H
dr

.

5¼ x 9½ LVL Hdr.6x8 Hdr.

7"
 x

 1
4"

 P
S

L 
Fl

us
h,

N
ot

ch
ed

 &
 R

ip
pe

d 
to

Sl
op

e 
(M

ai
nt

ai
n 

11
½

"
M

in
. a

t N
ot

ch
 &

 9
" M

in
. a

t
E

nd
 o

f B
ea

m
)

5¼" x 14" 
PSL Flush

B
m

. P
er

 A
bo

ve

3½" x 14"
LVL Flush

6

6

A1
6

A
A2
24

A A
2 24

6

B

2

3

3

B
3

23

Provide Dbl.
Joists Blw.

Island Above

3½
" x

 1
4"

LV
L 

Fl
us

h

HUS
  

6x
8 

H
dr

.

5½" x 13½" GLB Flush,
Exterior Grade

7" x 14" 
PSL Flush

5½" x 16½" 
GLB Hdr.

5¼
" x

 1
4"

LV
L 

Fl
us

h

Per Above

4x
6

  

6x
6

  

6x6
  

4x
6

  

6x
6

  

6x6
  

6x
6

  

6x
6

  

4x6
  4x

6
  

4x
6

  

4x
4  

6x6
  

6x6
  

6x6EPCZ  
6x

6

EPCZ  

Per Above

6x
6

  4x
6

  4x
6

  

4x4
 

6x6
  

4x
6  

B B

A

Al
ig

ne
d 

Jo
is

t
BN

 E
nt

ire
 L

en
gt

h

4x
8

4x8

1¾
" x

 1
4"

LV
L 

Fl
us

h

1¾" x 14"
LVL Flush

1¾ x11⅞ " LVL 
Joists @ 16" oc 
Below Curbless 
Shower

B
m

. P
er

 A
bo

ve

20
S-3.2

1
S-3.2

1
S-3.2

3
S-3.2

18
S-3.2

2
S-3.2 Sim. 2

S-3.2Sim.
18

S-3.2

1
S-3.2

10
S-3.3

3
S-3.2

2
S-3.2

4
S-3.2

HU
  

9
S-3.2

9
S-3.2

19
S-3.2

18
S-3.3Sim.

7
S-3.2

10
S-3.2 6

S-3.2

2
S-3.2

11
S-3.2Typ.

11
S-3.2 Typ.

7
S-3.2

7
S-3.27

S-3.2

4

CMSTC16   

15
S-3.2

16
S-3.2

CS16
 

8
S-3.3

Aligned Joist
BN Entire Length

7
S-3.3

3½
" x

 1
4"

LV
L 

Fl
us

h

13
S-3.2

HUC
  

HUC
  

HUC W
eld

to Post 

See Detail
17/S-3.2 For

Add'l Elevator
Framing Req's

2x8 DF #2 @
16" oc in LUS

Hgr's to 2x
Ledger w/ (3)
16d Ea. Stud

3½" x 14"
LVL Flush8

S-3.2

12
S-3.2

6x
8

D
ro

pp
ed

HUC
  9

S-3.2

9
S-3.2

4x8 Hdr.

HUC
  

CMSTC16   

HUS
  

4'
-6

" M
ax

. 
C

an
til

ev
er

8'
-0

" M
ax

. 
C

an
til

ev
er

3½
" x

 1
4"

 L
V

L
@

 1
6"

 o
c

1 Al
ig

ne
d 

Jo
is

t B
el

ow
Fr

on
t o

f F
ire

pl
ac

e

3
S-3.2

2
S-3.3

17
S-3.3

1¾
" x

 1
4"

 L
VL

@
 1

6"
 o

.c
.

1¾" x 9½" LVL
@ 16" oc

Deck Drainage
Per Arch.

1¾" x 9½" LVL @ 16" oc

20
S-3.2

A-2-71Page 228 of 356



A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

ROOF FRAMING
PLAN

1/4"=1'-0"

S-2.3

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
12

:5
9 

PM

15/32" CDX Plywood6 2x 10d 6" 48"N 2x 10" 17" 13" 5"13"

SHEARWALL SCHEDULE

NAILING1 TRANSFERS2DESCRIPTION

SIZE SPC'GPANEL
B'DRY

5/8"Ø3

AB
MATERIALSNO. DBL.

SIDED
SILL

PLATE
SDS4

Screw
A35, LTP4,6,7,8

or LTP5
RBC 16d9SDWS5

Screw

15/32" CDX Plywood4 2x 10d 4" 38"N 3x 7" 12" 9" 3"9"

15/32" CDX Plywood3 2x 10d 3" 29"N 3x 6" 9" 7" -10 7" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood2 2x 10d 2" 23"N 3x 4" 7" 5" -10 5" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood44 3x 10d 4" 24"Y 3x 4" 6" - -10 4" 10

15/32" CDX Plywood33 3x 10d 3" 18"Y 3x 3" 5" - -10,11 3" 10,11

22 3x 10d 2" 14"Y 3x 2" 4" - -10,1115/32" CDX Plywood 2" 10,11

1.   All nails to be COMMONS. DO NOT use box type nails. All "field" nailing to be 12"oc, UNO. Penetration shall be 1-1/2" Min. in framing.
2.   All transfers to be installed into min. 1-1/2" thick members, UNO. Where clips are spaced less than 6" oc, stagger clips on each

side of wall.
3.   All shear walls to have 5/8" anchor bolts, embeded 7" into concrete foundations, with  3"x3"x0.229" thick plate washers,

minimum. Washers may be slotted (slot length not to exceed 1-3/4") w/ standard cut washer placed between nut and plate
washer. Washers shall extend within 1/2" of the edge of the bottom plate on the sheathed side.  At walls sheathed on 2 sides,
plate washers shall be alternated to each side of plate. [Governing Bulding Code, Section 2308.3.2] [AF&PA SDPWS 4.3.6.4.3]

4. Simpson SDS 1/4"x5" Screws through 2x sill, or SDS 1/4"x8" Screws through 3x sill or double plates. Install into minimum
1-3/4" thick members (rim and/or blocking). [ICC ESR 2236]

5. Simpson SDWS 0.22"x5" Screws through 2x sill, or SDWS 0.22"x8" Screws through 3x sill or double plates. Install into minimum
1-3/4" thick members (rim and/or blocking). [ICC ES AC233]

6. See details for permitted transfer clip types and locations.
7. Orient LTP4 and LTP5 clips such that the long dimension is horizontal.
8. Where LTP4 clips are installed over shear wall sheathing, fasten with full length 8d common nails.
9. 16d common nails through the sill plate to rim member or blocking.
10. Install screws into 3-1/2" wide continuous member, staggered 1-1/2" apart.
11. Install screws into Glulams or solid sawn member.  LSL, LVL, or PSL members are NOT acceptable, UNO.

FOOTNOTES:

Not Used

Not Used

Not Used

Not Used

A CS14 (2) 2x N/A

B CMSTC16 (2) 2x N/A

C CMST14 4x N/A

D CMST12 4x N/A

E (2) 2x N/AMSTC66B3

1 HDU4 (2) 2x

2 HDU8

3 HDU11

4 HDU14

5 HD19

5/S-3.2

SSTB24 /
21" Min. 5/S-3.1

4x

6x6 or 4x8

6x6 or 4x8

SSTB28L /
25" Min.
SB1x30 /
24" Min.
SB1x30 /
24" Min.

6x6 or 4x8 PAB10 x 36" /
30" Min.

5/S-3.2

Not Used

5/S-3.1

5/S-3.1

FOOTNOTES:
1.  Shared holdowns to be installed per detail 10/S-1.1, Typical Shearwall
     Intersections, (UNO)
2.  All holdowns shown shall be continued down to the foundation with the
     same size holdowns and post, (UNO)

HOLDOWN SCHEDULE

TYPE HOLDOWN MIN. POST ANCHOR /
EMBEDMENT DETAILS1,2

Roof sheathing to be 1/2" plywood or OSB, PI 24/0,  
nailed w/ 10d commons at 6", 6", 12"

Beams (per Call-out)

See General Notes & Specifications for additional 
requirements and material specifications.
All dimensions per Architectural plans
Contractor to VERIFY all dimensions w/ Architectural plans 
PRIOR to commencement of construction.

Waterproofing, flashing, & finish details per Architecturals.

GENERAL FRAMING NOTES

All Lumber 4x6, 6x6 and Smaller to be DF #2 UNO
All Lumber 4x8, 6x8 and Larger to be DF #1 UNO
All Beams to Bear on Plates w/ Indicated
Post or Doubler Below UNO
All Hangers Shall be Installed w/ Max. Nailing per Mfr. & 
Sized for Full Width & Depth of Supported Members, UNO
Roof sheathing to be 5/8" plywood or OSB, PI 40/20,
nailed w/ 10d commons at 6", 6", 12"

(N) Roof Joists -- 14" TJI 110 @ 24" oc
in Simpson ITS Hangers, Typ. (UNO)

(N) Deck Joists -- 1-3/4" x 14" LVL @ 16" oc
in Simpson U Hangers. (UNO)

Typical built up beams shall be per Detail 9/S-3.3

Struc. Wood-Framed Wall, Thk. per Arch.

2x4 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.

Non-Struc. Wood-Framed Wall, Thk. per Arch.
 

2x4 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.

Stud wall locations per Architecturals.

WALL SCHEDULE

All Walls to have Continuous Double Top 
Plates, All Splices to be per Detail 7/S-1.1

Low Walls Ht. & Thk. per Arch.

2x4 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.

(N) Struc. Balloon-Framed Wall, Thk. per Arch.

2x4 D.F. Stud @ 16" oc, Min.
BEDROOM

1

BATHROOM
1

BEDROOM
2

BATHROOM
2

PANTRY

CLOSET/
FUTURE ELEV

DINING

KITCHEN

LIVING

DECK

WALK-IN
CLOSET

DN

6x
6 

H
dr

.
6x

6 
H

dr
.

6x
6 

H
dr

.
6x

6 
H

dr
.

6x
6 

H
dr

.
6x

6 
H

dr
.

6x
6 

H
dr

.

6x8 Hdr.6x8 Hdr.

6x12 Hdr.

6x10 Hdr.

6x
6 

H
dr

.

4x6 Hdr.

3½
 x

14
 L

VL
 F

lu
sh

12¼ x 13½" GLB Flush

H
SS

2x
12

x3
/1

6

(2
) 1

¾
"x

14
" L

VL

6

A
A

4

A A6 A A6

6

12¼ x 13½" GLB Flush

B
B2 B

B
2

6x
6

  

6x
6

  

6x
6  

HSS 3½
x3

½x⅜  

HSS 3½
x3

½x⅜  

4x
6

  

4x
6

  

 P
er

 A
rc

h.
3'

-6
" M

ax
. 

10
'-0

" M
in

. 
Ba

ck
sp

an

Pe
r A

rc
h.

3'
-6

" M
ax

. 
10

'-0
" M

in
.

Ba
ck

sp
an

1¾
" x

 1
4"

 L
V

L
C

an
til

ev
er

ed
 R

im
1¾

" x
 1

4"
 L

V
L

C
an

til
ev

er
ed

 R
im

4'-0" Backspan 
Typ.

H
SS

2x
12

x3
/1

6

4
S-3.3

14
S-3.3

3
S-3.3

14
S-3.3

3
S-3.3

3
S-3.3

1
S-3.3

13
S-3.3

1
S-3.3

3
S-3.3

10
S-3.3Typ.

11
S-3.3

5
S-3.3

18
S-3.2

4
S-3.3

4
S-3.3

15
S-3.3

7
S-3.3

11
S-3.2Typ.

11
S-3.2 Typ.

6

12
S-3.3

3½
 x

14
LV

L 
Fl

us
h

5¼ x14 LVL Flush

CMSTC16 TP to TP.
Nailing & End Length per

Schedule in Detail 16/S-3.2

(2
) 1

¾
"x

14
" L

VL
(2

) 1
¾

"x
14

" L
VL

(2
) 1

¾
"x

14
" L

VL

4
S-3.3

Chimney to Rafters w/ 
CS14 Strap Ea. Side

8
S-3.3 CS14

 

3½ x14 LVL Flush

Align Joist w/ SW &
BN Entire Length

8
S-3.3 CS14

 

HUS  

HUS  

HUS
 

HUS  

Sheathe All Sides of 
Chimney per Type 6 
SW per Schedule

Align Roof Joist with
Edge of Chimney A

A

A

A

CS14   

8
S-3.3

20
S-3.2

18
S-3.3

A-2-72Page 229 of 356



Ext. Flatwork BO

St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

STRUCTURAL
DETAILS

NTS

S-3.1

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
12

:5
9 

PM

17 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

1418

20

SHOVEL FOUNDATION WITH STEP

SOG Thk. & Reinf. per Plan
& Details

#3 Vert. @ 18" oc

Subgrade BO

1
6 Min.

#4 Nose Bar Typ.

12"
#4 Cont. @ Bot.

6" M
in

.

3" C
lr.

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per 
Specs.

Wall as Occurs per Plan

Note: Provide Thickened 
Slab at Elevator Pit, Per 
Plan

Step per Arch. & Elevator 
Mfr.

3" C
lr.

Top & Bot. Reinf. per Plan

Dowels to Match Size &
Spcg. of SOG Reinf.
(Not Req'd if Poured

Monolithically)

18" 18"

SW as Occurs per Plan

TYPICAL INTERIOR FOUNDATION

Subgrade BO

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per
Specs. & SW Sched.

SOG per Plan

Opt. Cold Joint
Shear Wall BN

Ftg. Width
per Plan

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

 P
la

n,
Bl

w
. L

ow
es

t o
f P

ad
Su

bg
ra

de
 o

r A
dj

.
G

ra
de

Top & Bot. Reinf. per Plan

3" C
lr.

Dowels to Match Size &
Spcg. of SOG Reinf.
(Not Req'd if Poured

Monolithically)

18" 18"

SW as Occurs per Plan

STEP AT INTERIOR FOUNDATION

Subgrade BO

#4 Cont.

Step per Arch. & Elevator 
Mfr.

Shear Wall BN

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per
Specs. & SW Sched.

SOG per Plan

Opt. Cold Joint

Ftg. Width
per Plan

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

 P
la

n,
Bl

w
. L

ow
es

t o
f P

ad
Su

bg
ra

de
 o

r A
dj

.
G

ra
de

Note: Provide 6" Thick Slab 
at Elevator Pit

Adj. Ftg. Beyond
per Plan & Details,

Cont. Reinf. Thru
Pad as Shown

3" C
lr.

Pad Ftg. Per Plan
Center on Post Above

A34 ea. Side of Post to Sill
Plate, UNO per Plan

Shear Wall BNSOG per Plan

Subgrade BO

Opt. Cold Joint

SW as Occurs per Plan

WOOD POST TO INTERIOR PAD FOOTING

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per
Specs. & SW Sched.

Pad Ftg. Reinf.
per Plan

Post per Plan
Ft

g.
 E

m
be

d.
 p

er
 P

la
n,

Bl
w

. L
ow

es
t o

f P
ad

Su
bg

ra
de

 o
r A

dj
.

G
ra

de

Top & Bot. Reinf. per Plan

3" C
lr.

Dowels to Match Size &
Spcg. of SOG Reinf.
(Not Req'd if Poured

Monolithically)

18" 18"

Shear Wall BN

SW as Occurs per Plan

STEP AT INTERIOR FOUNDATION WALL

Subgrade BO Eq.Eq.

#4 Cont.

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per
Specs. & SW Sched.

SOG per Plan

90º Hook @ Bot. of Verts,
Alt. Direction

12" Conc. Stem w/ 
#4 @ 18" oc EW

SOG per Plan

3'
-0

" M
ax

.

Opt. Cold Joint

Ftg. Width
per Plan

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

 P
la

n,
Bl

w
. L

ow
es

t o
f P

ad
Su

bg
ra

de
 o

r A
dj

.
G

ra
de

Waterproofing
& Drainage BO

TYP. LSL STAIR CONSTRUCTION

Simpson HU Hanger to Beam per
Plan or Solid Rim Joist

Tread Rise & Run
per Arch.

Solid 2x Material or
3/4" Ply, Index 40/20

Use Exterior Grade at
Exterior Conditions

2x14 or 1-3/4x14 LSL Stringers 
@ 24"oc Max. 3-Stringers Min. 
Notches Shall be Clean & 
Neat, DO NOT OVER-CUT. 
Where Stringer is Adjacent to 
Wall, Attach w/3-16d Ea. Stud

A35 Stringer to Plate Typ. 
0.145"Ø x 3" Shot Pins @ 
16" o.c. Max. 3 Pins Min. 
to Concrete Where Occurs

PT Pl. When on Concrete

Per Arch.

6" M
in.

PIPE COLUMN TO PAD

Reinf. Per Plan

Column per Plan

(4) 5/8" AB w/ 8"
Min. Embedments

SOG Per Plan Deepen
to Meet Pad at Column

Base as Req'd

Per Plan

18
" M

in
.

3"
 M

in
.

24" Sq. Slab Blockout

Z bar to match size
& spacing of slab

reinforcement w/8"
min. end lengths

5/8" dia. 
anchor bolts

1/2" thick 
base plate

12
"

1 
1/

2"

1 1/2"

3/16"

Dry Pack Grout

Cont. Footing Through
Pad

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

Pl
an

, B
lw

. L
ow

es
t

of
 P

ad
 S

ub
gr

ad
e

or
 A

dj
. G

ra
de

Shear Wall per Plan

HD Post per Plan

Holdown per Plan
(Install per Mfr. Specs.)

HOLDOWN TO FOUNDATION

1-3/4" Edge
Distance Min.

Foundation & Reinf. Per 
Plan (Deepen As Req'd 
12" Min. Ea. Side of HD)

Simpson AB (Size & 
Embed per HD Sched.)

3" C
lr.

NOTE: Holdown May be Installed 6" Max. Above Top of Concrete.

SHOVEL FOUNDATION

SOG Thk. & Reinf. per Plan
& Details

Subgrade BO

3" C
lr.

#4 Cont. @ Bot.

6"

12"

Wall as Occurs per Plan
PT Sill Pl. & AB's per

Specs.

TYP. SLAB ON GRADE

8" Gravel with Pipes 
per Soils Report

15 Mil. Class A Vapor
Barrier, Stego Type or
Sim. per Soils Report

Slab-On-Grade 
Per planReinf. Per Plan Placed

@ Mid-Depth of Slab
4" Min. Clean Sand Layer

Refer to Soils Report for
Adnl. Reqs. & Recs.

Pe
r

P
la

n

Note: See Soils Report for More Information 
on Subslab Drainage System Requirements

18" Imported
Nonexpansive Material.
22" If Sand is Ommitted

Subgrage Sloped Per
Soils Report

Permeable Synthetic 
Geotextile Filter 
Fabric

PIPE COLUMN TO EXTERIOR PAD

Rebar per Plan

Column per Plan

(4) 5/8" AB w/ 8"
Min. Embedments

Slab on Grade Per Plan,
Deepen to Meet Pad at
Column Base as Req'd

Per Plan

18
" M

in
.

3"
 M

in
.

Provide 6" Wide by 18" 
Long Bump Out at Fdn. 
Edge. Center on Column 

Z bar to match size
& spacing of slab

reinforcement w/8"
min. end lengths

5/8" dia. 
anchor bolts

1/2" thick 
base plate

12
"

1 
1/

2"

1 1/2"

3/16"

Dry Pack Grout

Cont. Footing Beyond

8"
 M

in
.

24
" M

ax
.

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

Pl
an

, B
lw

. L
ow

es
t

of
 P

ad
 S

ub
gr

ad
e

or
 A

dj
. G

ra
de

Ext. Flatwork BO

3" C
lr.

Top & Bot. Reinf. per Plan

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per
Specs. & SW Sched.

Shear Wall BN

SOG per Plan

Opt. Cold Joint

TYPICAL EXTERIOR FOUNDATION

#4 Cont. SW as Occurs per Plan

Ftg. Width
per Plan

Dowels to Match Size &
Spcg. of SOG Reinf.
(Not Req'd if Poured

Monolithically)

18" 18"

Subgrade BO

18"

18
"#4 Dowels

@ 18" oc

8"
 M

in
.

24
" M

ax
.

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

 P
la

n,
Bl

w
. L

ow
es

t o
f P

ad
Su

bg
ra

de
 o

r A
dj

.
G

ra
de

1

TYPICAL STEPPED FOUNDATION

NOTE: No Foundation Shall Exceed a 1:10 
Slope, Step Foundation as Req'd in Field

"H
" =

 1
'-6

"

 2 x "D" Min.

2 x "H" Min.

Top Reinforcing 
as Occurs

15" Hook, Typ. as Shown

M
ax

.

"D
"=

 F
oo

tin
g 

D
ep

th

"D" Min.

Class A Lap, Typ.
Ea. End of Z-Bar

Z-Bar to Match Footing 
Rebar in Size and 
Quantity, Typ.

3"
 C

lr.
 T

yp
.

Top & Bot. Reinf. per Plan

3" C
lr.

Top & Bot. Reinf. per Plan

3" C
lr.

Dowels to Match Size &
Spcg. of SOG Reinf.
(Not Req'd if Poured

Monolithically)

18" 18"

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per
Specs. & SW Sched.

Shear Wall BN

#4 Cont. @ Top

SOG per Plan

Opt. Cold Joint

SW as Occurs per 
Plan

RETAINING CURB AT EXT. FOUNDATION

6" Wide Conc.
Curb, Ht. per Plan

8" M
in

.
3'

-0
"

M
ax

.

#4 Vert. @ 18" oc w/ 90º 
Hook @ Bot.

2"
Clr.Subgrade BO

Ftg. Width
per Plan

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

 P
la

n,
Bl

w
. L

ow
es

t o
f P

ad
Su

bg
ra

de
 o

r A
dj

.
G

ra
de

Waterproofing
& Drainage BO

#4 Horiz. @ 18" oc

Ext. Flatwork BO

3" C
lr.

Top & Bot. Reinf. per Plan

PT Sill Pl. & AB's per
Specs. & SW Sched.

STRUCTURAL WALL TO FOUNDATION

Ftg. Width
per Plan

Ft
g.

 E
m

be
d.

 p
er

 P
la

n,
Bl

w
. L

ow
es

t o
f P

ad
Su

bg
ra

de
 o

r A
dj

.
G

ra
de

Non-Structural Furring
Walls Per Arch.

Structural Wall Per Plan

Foundation Per Plan

Width per Arch.

(2) #4's Vert. @ 18" oc

(2) #4's Horiz. @ 10" oc

As Req'd to Match
Wall Width 8" Min.

3'
-0

" M
ax

.

12
" M

in
.

Finished Grade

4'
-0

" 
M

ax
.

12" Gravel Backfill to 
Within 18" of TOW, 
Typ. Ea. Wall

Waterproofing By 
Others

4" Perforated 
Pipe Drain to 
Outlet by Others

#6 @ 12" oc 
w/ 90° Hook 
as Shown

8" Thk. Concrete Retaining
Wall

3"
Clr. Typ.

2"
Clr.

1 1/2" x 3 1/2" Keyway, 12"
Long, @ 24" o.c., Typ.

Class B Lap Splice,
per 2/S-1.1

4'
-0

"

18"
Typ.

14
'-0

" E
m

be
d.

 D
ep

th
In

to
 F

irm
 S

oi
ls

 p
er

 S
oi

ls
 E

ng
in

ee
r

Double Ties

Line of Bedrock/Firm Soil as 
Verified by Soils Engineer at 
Time of Drilling

3" Clr.
to Ties

RETAINING WALL ON PIERS 

Note: Gravel Backfill 
at 1:1 per Soils Report

#6 @12" oc

#5 @ 16" o.c. Horiz., Typ.

(6) #6 vertical bars

3" Clr.
to Ties

Refer to S-1.2 for Required 
Materials Specifications

#4 Cont. at Top

Embed Top of Pile 
2" Into Footing

Spiral Ties Per
ElevationA A

Section A-AStaggered Piers @ 
4'-0" oc Max. See 
Plan

12"
Typ.

Site Slab (By Others)

15
" M

in

**
Es

tim
at

ed
 T

ot
al

 P
ile

 D
ep

th
 =

 2
1'

-0
" 

**Total Pile Depth May Vary Depending on 
Depth to Competent Material as Determined by 
Soils Engineer During Time of Drilling

#3 Spiral Ties @ 3½" oc for 
Top 4'-6" Below Bot. of 
Footing

#3 Spiral Ties @ 6" 
oc

1'-8"
Heel

4'-6" 

A-2-73Page 230 of 356



St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

STRUCTURAL
DETAILS

NTS

S-3.2

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
13

:0
0 

PM

17 1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

15

16

18

19

20

13

Upper SW as Occurs per
Plan

SHEAR TRANSFER: FLOOR AT EXT. WALL

Lower SW as Occurs per
Plan

Upper SW Transfer per
Sched.

Upper Shear Wall BN

Floor BN

OK to Omit SW Transfer
Hdw. Where Sheathing

Cont. Over & BN to Rim

Lower SW Transfer per SW
Sched. (LTP4, A35, etc.)

Lower Shear Wall BN

Solid Rim or Blkg. per 
Specs. & SW Sched.

Floor Frmg. & Orientation 
per Plan

Solid Blkg. @ 48" oc Where 
Flr. Frmg. Para. to Wall

Floor BN to Blkg.

SHEAR TRANSFER: FLOOR AT INT. WALL

Upper SW as Occurs per
Plan

SW as Occurs per Plan

Upper Shear Wall BN

Floor BN

Lower SW Transfer per
Sched.

Lower Shear Wall BN

Solid Rim or Blkg. per 
Specs. & SW Sched.

Floor Frmg. & Orientation 
per Plan

Upper SW Transfer per 
Sched. (SDS, SDWS, or 
16d)

Solid Blkg. @ 48" oc Where 
Flr. Frmg. Para. to Wall

Floor BN to Blkg.

FLOOR-TO-FLOOR HOLDOWN

Squash Blkg. to Match Wall 
Thickness Above. Cut 1/16" 
Taller Than Floor Framing

Post per Plan, 
2-2x Min. U.N.O., 
Typ. Post to 
Recieve B.N. 
Where Plywood 
Occurs

Holdown Strap
per Plan

CL Strap &
Clear Span

Nails Not Req'd.
In 'Clear Span' Floor Framing per Plan, Type & 

Orientation May Vary From That Shown

At Single Sided Locations, Strap May 
Be Installed Either Side of Post

Notch Plywood As Required 
at Interior Installations

Strap 'N' 10d/16d

CS14 -
MST48 16
MST60 23

CMST14 28
CMST12 37

2-CMST14 28
2-CMST12 37

End Length
CS22 10
CS20 12
CS18 16
CS16 20

15 in.
-
-

26 in.
33 in.
26 in.
33 in.

7 in.
8 in.
9 in.
11 in.

-
-
-
-

30
-
-
-
-
-
-

'N
' 1

0d
/1

6d
E

nd
 L

en
gt

h
'C

le
ar

 S
pa

n'
18

" M
ax

.
'N

' 1
0d

/1
6d

E
nd

 L
en

gt
h

1-
5/

8"
 T

yp
.

@
 C

S/
C

M
ST

Wall per Plan

Floor Boundary Nailing, Typ.

2x Ledger w/ 3-16d Ea. Stud

LUS Hanger to Fit, Typ.

Landing Framing 2x8
D.F. #2 @ 16" o.c.

Floor Sheathing per Plan

Beam per Plan, 4x8 Min.

Stair Framing per Details

STAIR LANDING FRAMING

Simpson HU Hanger
to Beam per Plan
or Solid Rim Joist

Tread Rise & Run
per Arch.

Solid 2x Material or
3/4" Plywood, Index

40/20 Use Ext. Grade
@ Ext. Conditions

2x14 or 1-3/4x14 LSL Stringers 
@ 24"oc Max. 3-Stringers Min. 
Notches Shall be Clean & Neat, 
DO NOT OVER-CUT. Where 
Stringer is Adjacent to Wall, 
Attach w/3-16d Ea. Stud

A35 to Plate
Each Side Typ.

TYP. WOOD STAIR

Double Joist or
Beam per Plan

Blkg. @ Stringers
Where Joists

Parallel Occur

6" M
in.

16d @ 12"oc

Per Arch

Floor Joist Per Plan, 
Typ. Type May Vary 
from That Shown

RECESSED FRAMING

Floor Joist and Hanger 
Per Plan, Typ. Type May 
Vary from That Shown

2x Blkg. Between Joists 
w/16d @6"o.c. Into Beam

Floor Boundary Nailing, 
Typ.

Floor Sheathing Per Plan, 
Typ. (Type May Vary From 
That Shown)

Beam per Plan (or Rim/ 
Blkg. at Wall Below)

JOISTS PERPENDICULAR

Floor Boundary Nailing, 
Typ.

Step In Floor per Arch.

JOISTS PARALLEL

2x Ledger w/16d @6"o.c. 
Into Beam

Beam Per Plan (or Rim/ 
Blkg. at Wall Below)

FLOOR FRAMING AT CANTILEVERED DECK

Floor Sheathing per Plan, Typ.

Shearwall, as Occurs, Typ.

Floor Joist per Plan

Plate Connection per 
SW Schedule

Framing Clip per SW Schedule

Wall Per Plan, Typ.

Floor 
Boundary 
Nailing, Typ.

Floor Boundary Nailing, Typ.

Blkg. per SW Schedule

2x6 Blkg. Between 
Joists w/2-Rows 16d@ 
12"o.c. Stagger Rows

Rip Joist for Step & 
Slope per Arch. (1½" 
Max) Maintain 11-1/2" 
Min. Joist Depth. at 
Step & 9" Min. At Joist 
Ends. DO NOT 
OVERCUT 

TYPICAL OPENINGS IN SHEARWALLS

Window Opening,
Verify Sill and

Header Elevations
w/ Arch.

2x Blkg. Typ.

Strap per Schedule,
10' Into Ea. Pier or 
to Next Adjacent Opening
Whichever Occurs First 

King Post per Plan
Ea. Side of Opening,
Typ., 2-2x Min. UNO

Trimmer Per Plan
or Typ. Details

Total Shearwall Length per Plan

Edge Nail King
Post Full Height

of Wall, Typ.

NOTE:
1)Condition Similar at Walls With Sloping 
Top Plates
2) Opening Qty/Configuration May Vary 
From That Shown 

Post and Holdown per
Plan, Typ. (Hardware May

Vary From that Shown)

Shearwall per Plan, Sheath
and Nail per SW Schedule Above,

Below and Ea. Side of Opening(s)

End Length
Per Sched.

Shearwall Pier,
Per Plan Typ.Qty.

May Vary From That Shown

Header per Plan 
Typ.

Door Opening,
Verify Hdr.
Elevations
w/ Arch.

Typ. Where
Hdr. Span

Allows

SW Type Strap
4
3

CS16
CS14

'N' 10d/16d End Length

-
20

15 in.
12 in.-

30
2 CMSTC16 - 15 in.30

Potential Framing Typ.
Not Included in Extent
of Shearwall Per Plan
Sheathing/Straping not Required.

10' or Full Length of Pier

Interior Holdowns
w/in Extent of Shearwall Length
Only Where Occurs Per Plan

2'-0" Min. Pier
Length Typ.
Contractor to
Verify in Field

1'-0" Min. Above/Below
Openings Where Occurs,
Typ. Contractor to VIF 

Door/Window
Opening Ht. to
Not Exceed
3.5x the Adj.
Pier Length
Contractor to
Verify in Field

WINDOW IN SHEARWALL

Header per Plan

Double Blocks Typ.

ST22 Strap Each Side 
Typ. UNO (Or Per Plan)

Block and Boundary 
Nail Full Length of Wall 

Post & Holdown per Plan, Typ.

Shearwall per Plan

Window
Opening

Full Depth Blkg. (2x @
CS, 4x @ CMST/CMSTC

Strap per Plan Lap o/Wall
as Shown, Extend Into

Framing as Indicated per
Plan

SW per Plan, as Occurs

Framing per Plan, Type
and Orientation May

Vary From That Shown
Sheathing per Plan

Plywood BN o/
Length of Blkg.

Strap 'N' 10d/16d

CS14 -
CMST16 25
CMST14 28
CMST12 37

End Length
CS22 10
CS20 12
CS18 16
CS16 20

15 in.
20 in.
26 in.
33 in.

7 in.
8 in.
9 in.
11 in.

-
-
-
-

30
-
-
-

End Length

'N' Nails o/Wall per Sched.

per Schedule

DRAG STRAP TO WALL

DRAG STRAP TO BEAM

Strap per Plan Fully
Nailed, Lap o/ Wall

as Shown

Hgrs. per Plan, Typ.

Beam or Floor Joist
per Plan, Typ. (May

be 4x to
Accommodate

Strap Width)

Note: Contractor 
Option to Place Strap 
Above Sheathing If 
Desired

End Length
per Sched.

Plywood BN o/ Entire
Length of Members, Typ.

Strap per Plan Lap o/Wall
as Shown, Extend Into

Framing as Indicated per
Plan

SW per Plan, as Occurs

Framing per Plan, Type
and Orientation May

Vary From That Shown
Sheathing per Plan

Strap 'N' 10d/16d

CS14 -
CMST16 25
CMST14 28
CMST12 37

End Length
CS22 10
CS20 12
CS18 16
CS16 20

15 in.
20 in.
26 in.
33 in.

7 in.
8 in.
9 in.
11 in.

-
-
-
-

30
-
-
-

End Length

'N' Nails o/Wall per Sched.

per Schedule

Rim Joist

Countersunk 5/8" MB
w/ Washers 

Solid Block w/ U Hangers

SECTION

PLAN VIEW

4x4 Posts @ 
48" o.c. Max.

RAILING CONNECTION

A35 Typ.

Deck Joists
per Plan

(2x10 Min.)

2"
 T

yp
.

5"
 M

in
.

SHEARWALL TO BALLOON FRAMED WALL

Shearwall per Plan

Dbl 2x or 3x Solid Blocking 
o/ Length of Strap

CMSTC16 TP to TP Across 
Balloon Wall. Fully Nail to TP's, 
Nail Every Other Hole to Blkg.

Post per Plan
or (2) 2x

20" End Length
Fully Nailed

Floor Framing Above Ommited for 
Clarity

STEEL COLUMN IN BALLOON WALL

Balloon Framwed Wall 
per Plan & Details

Roof Framing Above 
Ommited for Clarity

AA

Section A-A

Strap & Blkg. Per Detail 
13/ S-3.2

Column per Plan, w/ Full 
Height Stud Ea. Side

TP Connection Per 
Detail 11/S-3.3

Column Base Connection 
Per Detail 11/ S-3.1

First Floor TP Height

Wall per Plan, Typ.

Full Height Column per 
Plan

CMSTC16 TP to TP 
Nailing and End Length 
per Detail 15, S-3.2

STEEL COLUMN BRACE AT TOP PLATES

Stud Ea. Side of
Column, Typ.

1/2" Ø Threaded Studs @ 
24" oc

Hatch Indicates 
Balloon Framed 
Wall Per Plan

Full Height 4x4 Post w/ 
Stud Ea. Side Nailed 
with 16d @ 6" oc & 
A34 Ea. Side T&B

Full Height 1¾ x 
9½ LVL w/ Stud 
Ea. Side Nailed 
with 16d @ 6" oc 

Full Height 4x6 Post 
w/ A34 T&B. Nail 
Adjacent Stud with 
16d @ 6" oc 
Full Height 4x6 Post w/ 
A34 Ea. Side T&B

Elevator Cab & 
Connections By 
Others. Refer to 
Mfr. Specifications 
For Information not 
Shown

ELEVATOR SUPPORT DETAIL

Full Height 4x6 Post 
w/ A34 T&B. Nail 
Adjacent Stud with 
16d @ 6" oc 

GLASS GUARDRAIL CONNECTION 

Framing per Plan

(4) 3/8" Lag
Screws w/ 4" Min.

Penetration

2x Rim

3'
-6

" M
ax

. T
yp

.

Decking Per Arch

Solid Blkg. Between 
Joists, 6x8 Min. 

Simpson A35 Top &
Bot. Ea. End, (4) total
(LTP4 Where Blkg. is

Flush w/ Frmg)

Guardrail & Facemount 
Bracket By Others

4"
 

M
in

.

Rim Joist

Solid Blkg. (6x8
Min) w/ A35  A35
T&B Ea. End, (4)

total (LTP4
Where Blkg. is
Flush w/ Frmg)

SECTION

PLAN VIEW

RAILING CONNECTION

A35 Typ.

See Detail 19/ S-3.2 
For Railing & 
Connection Info.

Deck Joist Per Plan

BEAM SUPPORT AT WALL

Solid 2x Blocking

Beam per Plan

Post per Plan
(2-2x UNO)

A35 Each Side
Shim as req'd

A-2-74Page 231 of 356



St
an

le
y 

R
es

id
en

ce

Nick Vincent

16 Dec. 2022

I. Shoebridge

150

116

STRUCTURAL
DETAILS

NTS

S-3.3

22941

35
25

 G
ilb

er
t A

ve
.

C
ay

uc
os

, C
A

 9
34

30

1 Plan Check Revisions 06 Oct. 2023

As
hl
ey

Va
nc
e

&
E

N
N

E
E

G
I

NI
G

R
NI

C
.

,

C
 I 

V 
I L

S 
T 

R
 U

 C
 T

 U
 R

 A
 L

w
w

w
.a

sh
le

yv
an

ce
.c

om

The use of these plans and specifications shall be 
restricted to the original site for which they were prepared 
and publication thereof is expressly limited to such use.  
Reproduction or publication by any method, in whole or in 
part, is prohibited.  Title to these plans and specifications 
remain with Ashley & Vance Engineering, Inc.  without 
prejudice.  Visual contact with these plans and 
specifications shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
acceptance of these restrictions.

Engineer of Record:

DO NOT SCALE THESE DRAWINGS.  Refer to Architectural plans for all dimensions.

Date:

A&V Job No.:

Scale:

Proj. Engr.:

Proj. Mngr.:

Phone Ext.:

Phone Ext.:

Revision:

12
29

 C
ar

m
el

 S
tr

ee
t

Sa
n 

Lu
is

 O
bi

sp
o,

 C
A 

93
40

1
(8

05
) 5

45
-0

01
0

ESSIONAL ENGINEER

FORPDERETSI
GE

R

CALIFORNIA

FO
TATS

E

S 6293

EG
DI

RBEOHSJ.

NAI

CUTR
S

U AR
L

T

2 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

3 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

4 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

5 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

6 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

7 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

8 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

9 Plan Check DD Mon. YYYY

 O
ct

 6
, 2

02
3

4:
13

:0
0 

PM

17 1

2

3

4

5

7

8

9

10

11

12

14

15

16

18

19

20

13

NOT USED

NOT USED

Steel Column
per Plan

Wood Beam
per Plan

Simpson CCQ

Wood Beam 
per Plan

WOOD BEAM TO STEEL COLUMN

3-16

TYPICAL BUILT-UP BEAMS

Alternate direction of end-grain
of outside members of built-up

beam to reduce warping

(3) rows of 
10d @ 12"oc

Double 
per Plan

4-PLY BEAMS
(Sim at >4-2x, 2-4x, 6x,7x, etc)

1/2"Ø M.B. Spaced
Staggered As Shown 
With Washers
Under Head/Nut

2"
 T

yp
.

6" Typ. 12" Typ.

Pe
r P

la
n

Quadruple 
per Plan

2-Bolts Located at
End of Beam, Typ.

Triple
per Plan

(2) rows of SDS
1/4"x3-1/2" Screws @

16"oc, Alternating Sides

ROOF FRAMING AT EXTERIOR WALL

Full Depth Blkg. @ 
48"o.c. w/4-10d, UNO

Roof Sheathing per Plan

Roof Boundary Nailing

Roof Framing per Plan

Shearwall per Plan, as 
Occurs. Cont. to Top of 
Curb as Desired

Shearwall Boundary 
Nailing

Framing Clip per 
Shearwall Schedule

Solid Rim per SW 
Schedule, UNO 
Per Details

** Install Clips at 48" o.c. at
Non-Shearwall Conditions

**

Wall Per Plan

Built Up Eave Per 
Arch Where 
Occurs. Attach w/ 
SDWS Screw, 
1½" Embed Min.

ROOF FRAMING AT CANTILEVER

Wall Per Plan

SW Boundary Nailing

Roof Framing and Hanger 
per Plan, Type May Vary 
From That Shown

Roof Sheathing per Plan

Roof Boundary 
Nailing, Typ.

Shearwall per Plan, as Occurs

Framing Clip per SW 
Schedule

Solid Blkg. per SW Schedule, 
UNO Per Details

** Install Clips at 48" o.c. at
Non-Shearwall Locations

**

Fascia per Plan/Arch.
(Where No Size 
Noted, Use 1⅛" TJ 
Rim Board or 1½" 
LSL) 

Varies, See Plan. 

Hanger per Plan, 
Inverted. Only 
Required at 
Cantilevered Rim

@ LVL RJ: H1 @ 48 " oc
@ TJI RJ: 8d Ea. Side of 
Joist @ Angle to TP

@ TJI's: Nail (1)-10d 
at top and bottom 
flanges 
@ LVL's: Nail (3)-10d 

SHEAR TRANSFER: ROOF AT INT. WALL

Roof BN

Solid Rim or Blkg. per 
Specs. & SW Sched.

Roof Frmg. & Orientation 
per Plan

Solid Blkg. @ 48" oc Where 
Flr. Frmg. Para. to Wall

Roof BN to Blkg.

SW as Occurs per Plan

SW Transfer per Sched.
(LTP4 or A35)

Shear Wall BN

Guardrail By Others, Where Occurs

3x3x3/16 Angle

Stringer per Plan

Section

L3x2x3/16 Angle Below 
Ea. Tread (7" Min. Length)

Stair Tread by Others

Stringer per Plan

3/16"

Note: Refer to Architectural Plans
For Finish Requirements.  All
Exposed Welds to be Ground

Smooth. Verify  Final Tread and
Railing Requirements Prior to

Creating Shop Drawings

Stair Tread by 
Others

STRINGER DETAILS

3/16

½" Threaded Stud 
w/ Nut & Washer to 
Face Mount 
Bracket Per Mfr.

Stringer per Plan

Beam per Plan

Floor Framing per Plan

Full Depth Blkg. @
48"o.c. Where
Framing Para.

Floor Sheathing
per Plan

STRINGER TO FRAMING
Tread Attachment per 
Detail 7/S-3.3

3/16"

Stringer per Plan

3/16" Beam per Plan

Floor Framing per Plan

Tread Attachment per 
Detail 7/S-3.3

Full Depth Blkg. @ 
48"o.c. Where 
Framing Para.

Floor Sheathing 
per Plan

Refer to Architectural Plans For
Finish Requirements.  All Exposed

Welds to be Ground Smooth.

1/4" Steel Mounting 
Plate

5/8"Ø Thru Bolt w/ 
Washers Against All 
Wood Surfaces

1½"
Typ.

1½
"

Ty
p.

4" Ty
p.

3/16"2½
" E

dg
e

D
is

t. 
M

in
.

Ty
p.

1½"
Typ.

1½
"

Ty
p.

4" Ty
p.

3/16"

2½
" E

dg
e

D
is

t. 
M

in
.

Ty
p.

OR

Beam or Joist per Plan
(May be 4x Member to

Accomodate Strap)

Strap per Plan Fully Nailed,
Center on End of Wall

SW per Plan, as Occurs

Framing per Plan, Type
and Orientation May

Vary From That Shown

Sheathing per Plan

Plywood BN o/ Entire
Length of Member

End Length
Per Sched.

End Length
Per Sched.

Strap 'N' 10d/16d

CS14 -
CMSTC16 25
CMST14 28
CMST12 37

End Length

15 in.
20 in.
26 in.
33 in.

30
-
-
-

CS16 - 11 in.20

DRAG STRAP TO WALL

STEEL COLUMN TO TOP PLATES

(2) 2x Top Plates

Steel Column per Plan

1" Typ.

2" Typ.
3-16

3/8" Steel Plate

1" Min,
Typ.

(8) 3" SDS Screws 

TYP. CHIMNEY POP-OUT

Sheathe & Nail per Type 6 SW

4x4 Post Min.

PLAN

Block & Strap Around Opening
per Typ. Opening-in-SW Detail

Sheathe & Nail per
Type 6 SW

A34 Clip to Top
& Bot. Plate

Top Rail Per Arch 

Cont. (2) 2x

DECK WALL TO RAIL RIM JOIST

Rim Joist

2x6 Cripple Wall 
Beyond, Sheath, & 
Nail Ea. Side per 
Type 6 SW

(2) 4" SDWS Screws at 48" 
oc into Rim and Blkg.

Pedestal System,
Decking, and Water
Proofing Per  Arch.

SW Below Per Plan

Tapered 
Sleeper Per 
Arch.

12
" M

ax
.

3'
-6

" M
ax

., 
Ty

p.

Full Depth Blkg. @ 48" oc. 
Offset from Squash Blkg.

6x6 Post @ 48" oc,  
Provide CS14 Strap 
Ea. Side of Post & 
Lap with Stud Below. 
Min. End Length to 
Stud & Post Per 
Sched. on 8/S-3.3 

4x Squash Blk. 
Aligned Below Posts

DECK WALL TO ROOF

3'
-6

" M
ax

., 
Ty

p.

Pedestal System, 
Decking, and Water 
Proofing Per  Arch.

Deck Framing & Per Plan

Cont. (2) 2x

2x6 Cripple Wall 
Beyond, Sheath, & 
Nail Ea. Side per 
Type 6 SW

HRS416Z Ea. Side, 
Ea. Post

Top Rail Per Arch

Tapered 
Sleeper Per 
Arch.

6x6 Post @ 48" oc

(2) 4" SDWS Screws at 48" 
oc into Blkg.12

" M
ax

.

Wall Below (Where 
Occurs)

Beam Per Plan or Full 
Depth 6x Blkg. Below 
Deck Wall w/ A35 E. Side 
& Ea. End (4 Total) @ 6x 
Posts

Beam per Plan

Strap Per Plan Nailing & End 
Length Per Detail 8/S-3.3

Post per Plan 

STRAP AT DROP BEAM 

SW per Plan, as Occurs

Hanger per Plan 

Cantilevered Beam & Deck 
Framing Per PlanFloor Framing per Plan 

GUARD RAIL TO ROOF

3'
-6

" M
ax

 T
yp

.

Pedestal System, 
Decking, and Water 
Proofing Per  Arch.

Framing & Hangers 
Per Plan

Guard Rail Post 
& Mounting 
Bracket By 
Others

Beam Per Plan

Shim as Req'd

Tapered 
Sleeper Per 
Arch.

HSS2x2x¼ Post @ 
4'-0" o.c betwewn 
stud bays

(4) 1/2" Lag Screws 
w/ 4" Min. Embed into 
Bm.

½" Welded Threaded Stud 
w/ Nut & Washer to Face 
Mount Bracket Per Mfr.

2x6 Cripple Wall, Height 
Per Arch. Sheath and 
Nail per Type 6 SW per 
Schedule on Plan

Wood Filler as 
Req'd

¼" Plate to Match 
Dims of Guardrail 
Bracket

Wall Below As 
Occurs

(4) 3" SDS Screws 

AA

A A

3/16
3/16

5"x5"x¼"
Plate

1/2" Typ.

3/16

A-A

4"
 M

in
.

Ty
p.

LEDGER AT STAIR WALL

Balloon Frame per Plan

Simpson H2.5A @ 
32" oc to FJ and 
Studs

4'
-0

"
M

ax
.

2x Ledger w/ (2) SDS 
Screws Ea. Stud. 
Provide 3" Embed Min. 
Into Studs

Gyp. Per Arch.

1-
1/

2"
 

M
in

.

4"
 

Floor BN

Hgr. & Framing Per 
Plan

LOW WALL/RAILING CONNECTION

Flush Beam Per Plan

A35 Ea. Side

(2)-2x Min. w/ A35 T&B

Full Depth 4x Blkg.

Floor BN 
Along Length 
of Bm.

Floor Sheathing 
Per Plan

Low Wall Per Arch. 
2x4 studs @ 16" oc 
Min.

DECK WALL TO BEAM

3'
-6

" M
ax

., 
Ty

p.

Pedestal System, 
Decking, and Water 
Proofing Per  Arch.

Deck Framing & Per Plan

Cont. (2) 2x

2x6 Cripple Wall 
Beyond, Sheath, & 
Nail Ea. Side per 
Type 6 SW

HRS416Z Ea. Side, 
Ea. Post

Top Rail Per Arch

Tapered 
Sleeper Per 
Arch.

6x6 Post @ 48" oc

(2) 4" SDWS Screws at 48" 
oc into Blkg.12

" M
ax

.

Beam Per Plan 

A-2-75Page 232 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

E - 1

16 DEC 2022

GROUND FLOOR
ELECTRICAL PLAN

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

GROUND FLOOR ELECTRICAL PLAN
1/4" = 1' - 0"

DW

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

FAMILY

BDRM 1

BATHRM 1

GARAGE

LAUNDRY

CLO

ENTRY

PORCH

HALL

20. Carbon monoxide alarms shall receive their primary power from the 
building wiring where such wiring is served from a commercial source
and shall be equipped with a battery backup. Wiring shall be permanant and
without a disconnecting switch other than a required for overcurrent 
protection.

21. Single- and multiple-station carbon monoxide alarms shall be listed to comply
with UL 2034. Carbon monoxide detectors shall be listed to comply with 
UL 2075. Installation shall be in accordance with NFPA 720 and the 
manufacturer's installation instructions.

22. Each multiwire branch circuit shall be provided with a means that will 
simultaneously disconnect all ungrounded conductors at the point 
where the branch circuit originates, per CBC. 210.4(B)

23. All electric services shall have a single main disconnect to disconnect 
all conductors in a building or structure. In all new construction and 
remodels involving fifty percent or more of the total square footage 
of the building, when the required disconnect is located within the 
building or in an area not readily accessible, an emergency disconnect 
shall be provided in a readily accessible location on the exterior of the 
building as designated by the fire chief The disconnecting device shall 
be located within an enclosed security enclosure (such as a Knox Box) 
and a key provided the fire department.

24. Luminaires providing outdoor lighting, including for private patios, 
entrances, balconies, porches, etc., which are permantently mounted to 
a residential building shall be high efficacy and shall be controlled by ON 
and Off switch, which does not override to On motion sensor and 
photocontrol, motion sensor without override, photocontrol without 
override. (CEnC 150(k)9)

25 Lighting in laundry room and utility room shall be high efficacy luminaires and
controlled by vacancy sensors. (CEnC 150(k)6)

26. All lighting shall be high efficacy and at least one light shall be controlled 
with a vacancy sensor.

ELECTRICAL NOTES
1. Electrical system ground shall be provided per CEC 250.50.

2. Hot water, cold water, and gas piping shall be bonded to the main
service panel with one continuous, unbroken #1/0 bare copper
conductor.

3. Panels shall be sized to provide four full-size spare circuit spaces for 
future expansion.

4. No branch circuit panel or protective devices shall be installed in
bathrooms, pantries, clothes, janitor, laundry, or similar closets, or
water heater/furnace compartments.

5. Not used

6. All branch circuits that supply 120-volt, single-phase, 15 and 20 amp
outlets installed in dwelling unit family rooms, dining rooms, living rooms,
parlors, libraries, dens, bedrooms, sunrooms, recreations rooms, closets,
hallways or similar rooms shall be protected by a listed combination-type
arc-fault circuit interrupter, installed to provide protection of the
branch circuit. (CEC 210.12(A))

7. Light switches shall be grounded, per CEC 404.9(B).

8. Bathroom receptacles shall be supplied by at least one 20-amp
branch circuit.  Such circuits shall have no other outlets.  Receptacle
outlets shall not be installed in a face-up position in the countertops.

9. Provide GFI outlets at locations within 6'-0" of the outside edge of sink, 
at all locations within kitchen where receptacles are installed to serve
the countertop surfaces, and at all bathroom outlets.

10. Provide WP/GFI outlets at all exterior locations.

11. Kitchen and bathroom convenience outlets shall be +8" above
countertops, u.n.o.

12. Receptacles in the kitchen, dining room, pantry, or other similar areas shall
be supplied by at least two 20-amp, small appliance branch circuits.
At least one 20 amp branch circuit shall be provided to supply laundry
receptacle outlets. Such circuits shall have no other outlets.

13. Refrigerator outlet shall be at +48" AFF.

14. Smoke detectors shall receive their primary power from building wiring 
with battery back-up.  Such wiring shall be permanent.  Detectors shall
sound an audible alarm in all sleeping areas and in corridors serving
sleeping rooms.  Provide detectors in sleeping rooms & every room
in the egress path from each sleeping room.  In dwelling units that are
more than one story, a detector will be located in each level.  Detectors
shall be interconnected.

15. All fluorescent fixtures shall have only high efficiency lamps, and shall not
contain a medium screw base socket.  Ballasts for lamps rated 13 watts 
or greater shall be electronic.  Lamp efficiency minimum shall be as:

15 watts or less- 40 lumens per watt
over 15 watts to 40 watts- 50 lumens per watt
over 40 watts- 60 lumens per watt

16. Recessed light fixtures installed in areas to receive insulation shall be
"IC" rated for zero clearance, and be sealed with gaskets or caulked btwn
housing and ceiling.  No penetration or removal of insulation allowed.

17. Thermostat shall be a set-back type, Honeywell T-8082A or equal.

18. Exhaust fans in toilet/shower areas shall be Energy Star compliant 
and exhaust 50 cfm per and shall be controlled by a humidistat. ASHRAE 
Standard 62.2. Ducts to be sized per ASHRAE 62.2, Table 5.2 and  
terminate outside the building.

19. Bathroom fans shall be Panasonic Whisper Recessed FV-08VRL1m
80cfm or approved equal.

27. In every habitable room, an electrical outlet shall be installed so that no point 
along the floor line in any wall space more than six feet measured horizontally 
from any outlet in that space, including any wall space two feet or more in width, 
the wall space occupied by fixed panels in exterior walls, and fixed room 
dividers such as a bar or peninsula. (CEC 210.52 (A)(1)(2) & (3)

28. All areas specified in 210.52 all 125-volt, 15-and 20- ampere 
receptacles shall be listed tamper-resistant receptacles. (CEC406.12)

29. Dishwasher shall be GFCI protected.

30. All receptacle outlets serving countertops in kitchens of dwelling units
to be GFCI protected.

31. Carbon monoxide detectors shall be installed outside sleeping areas in the 
vicinity of bedrooms. (CBC 420.6, R315)

32. Kitchen shall have an exhaust fan ducted to the outside with a minimum
ventilation rate of 100cfm. The ducting shall be sized according to 
ASHRAE Standard 62.2 Table 7.1.

33. Means of interrupting the electrical supply to the air conditioning equip-
ment shall be provided within sight of and not over 50ft from the air
conditioner and cooling tower.

34. Electrical boxes in membrane penetrations of fire-resistive walls (garage
to house) shall be listed and separated horizontally by a distance in the listing.

35. Provide a conduit system from the main electrical panel to an accessible
location for future renewable energy generation to accommmodate a point of
connection on the load side of the electrical service disconnecting means. The
conduit system shall be sized per Table 19.08.040(H)(1). Conduit shall be sized
to accommodate a branch circuit sized at 20% of the rating busbar. 

36. Install a listed raceway to accommodate a dedicated 208/240-volt branch 
circuit not less than trade size 1 (1" inside diameter). Raceway shall originate 
at the main subpanel and terminate at a listed cabinet, box ore other enclosure 
near the proposed EV charger location. The subpanel shall provide capacity to 
install a 40-amp minimum dedicated branch circuit and space(s) to permit 
installation of a branch circuit overcurrent protective device.

ELECTRICAL LEGEND

220V OUTLET

WEATHERPROOF OUTLET W/
GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTOR

SINGLE SWITCH

3-WAY SWITCH

ELECTRICAL PANEL
RECESSED

SMOKE DETECTOR

SUSPENDED LED FIXTURE

LED STRIP
LENGTH VARIES, SEE PLAN

J-BOX

CEILING SURFACE-MOUNTED 
LED LIGHT FIXTURE

WALL MOUNTED LED SCONCE

110V DUPLEX OUTLET W/
GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTOR

110V DUPLEX FLOOR OUTLET

EXHAUST FAN W/ MOTION
& HUMIDITY SENSOR

110V FOUR-PLEX OUTLET

1/2 HOT-1/2 SWITCHED OUTLET

110V DUPLEX OUTLET

DIMMER SWITCH

FAN TIMER

WALL MOUNTED LED SCONCE 
W/ MOTION SENSOR & 
INTEGRAL PHOTO CONTROL 220

s
3s

Ts

GFI

WP/
GFI

WR

s D

MS
PC

COMBINATION SMOKE/CARBON 
MONOXIDE DETECTORS/CD

RECESSED CEILING LED
LIGHT FIXTURE

RECESSED CEILING LED
WATER RESISTANT FIXTURE

24"

LED UNDERCOUNTER STRIP 
LENGTH VARIES, SEE PLAN

24"

SWITCH W/ HUMIDISTATs H
RECESSED STEP LIGHT

SUSPENDED LED FIXTURE W/ 
MOTION SENSOR & INTEGRAL 
PHOTO CONTROL

MS
PC

SD

J

THERMOSTAT

EQUIPEMENT SHUT OFF

T

E

VACANCY SENSORs V

24"

GFI
@42"

J
@CLG

s 3

200amp
PANEL

WR WR

WR WR

S/CDSD SD

M
S

P
C M
S

P
C

GFI
@42"

220
@48"

GFI
@42"

GFI
@42"

24
"s

ss ss

48
"

48
"

24"

J
@CLG

sHGFI
@44" sV

s3

48
"

48
"

48
"

48
"

s
3

WR WR

WR WRWR WR

ss

s
3 V

sV
3

s

MS
PC

s V

24
0V

 
30

 A
M

P

E

A/C CLG
CASSETTE

A/C CLG
CASSETTE

A/C CLG
CASSETTE

s

ss

s H

24
0V

 
30

 A
M

P

E

240V 
30 AMP

E
HEAT
PUMP

WH

WP/
GFI

WP/
GFI

GFI
@42"

1

GFI
@42"

GFI
@42"

GFI
@42"

GFI
@42"

GFI
@42"

GFI
@42"

GFIGFI

GFI
@42"

GFI
@42"

1

WP/
GFI

WP/
GFI

1 1

W
P

/
G

F
I

s

s3

s
3

A-2-76Page 233 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

E - 2

16 DEC 2022

SECOND FLOOR
ELECTRICAL PLAN

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 SEP 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

SECOND FLOOR ELECTRICAL PLAN
1/4" = 1' - 0"

D
N

UP

to
 r

o
o

f 
d

e
c

k

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

BEDROOM
1

BATHRM 2

LIVING

KITCHEN

CLO

DINING

DECK

HALL

BEDROOM
2

BATHRM 1

s
3

1

20. Carbon monoxide alarms shall receive their primary power from the 
building wiring where such wiring is served from a commercial source
and shall be equipped with a battery backup. Wiring shall be permanant and
without a disconnecting switch other than a required for overcurrent 
protection.

21. Single- and multiple-station carbon monoxide alarms shall be listed to comply
with UL 2034. Carbon monoxide detectors shall be listed to comply with 
UL 2075. Installation shall be in accordance with NFPA 720 and the 
manufacturer's installation instructions.

22. Each multiwire branch circuit shall be provided with a means that will 
simultaneously disconnect all ungrounded conductors at the point 
where the branch circuit originates, per CBC. 210.4(B)

23. All electric services shall have a single main disconnect to disconnect 
all conductors in a building or structure. In all new construction and 
remodels involving fifty percent or more of the total square footage 
of the building, when the required disconnect is located within the 
building or in an area not readily accessible, an emergency disconnect 
shall be provided in a readily accessible location on the exterior of the 
building as designated by the fire chief The disconnecting device shall 
be located within an enclosed security enclosure (such as a Knox Box) 
and a key provided the fire department.

24. Luminaires providing outdoor lighting, including for private patios, 
entrances, balconies, porches, etc., which are permantently mounted to 
a residential building shall be high efficacy and shall be controlled by ON 
and Off switch, which does not override to On motion sensor and 
photocontrol, motion sensor without override, photocontrol without 
override. (CEnC 150(k)9)

25 Lighting in laundry room and utility room shall be high efficacy luminaires and
controlled by vacancy sensors. (CEnC 150(k)6)

26. All lighting shall be high efficacy and at least one light shall be controlled 
with a vacancy sensor.

ELECTRICAL NOTES
1. Electrical system ground shall be provided per CEC 250.50.

2. Hot water, cold water, and gas piping shall be bonded to the main
service panel with one continuous, unbroken #1/0 bare copper
conductor.

3. Panels shall be sized to provide four full-size spare circuit spaces for 
future expansion.

4. No branch circuit panel or protective devices shall be installed in
bathrooms, pantries, clothes, janitor, laundry, or similar closets, or
water heater/furnace compartments.

5. Not used

6. All branch circuits that supply 120-volt, single-phase, 15 and 20 amp
outlets installed in dwelling unit family rooms, dining rooms, living rooms,
parlors, libraries, dens, bedrooms, sunrooms, recreations rooms, closets,
hallways or similar rooms shall be protected by a listed combination-type
arc-fault circuit interrupter, installed to provide protection of the
branch circuit. (CEC 210.12(A))

7. Light switches shall be grounded, per CEC 404.9(B).

8. Bathroom receptacles shall be supplied by at least one 20-amp
branch circuit.  Such circuits shall have no other outlets.  Receptacle
outlets shall not be installed in a face-up position in the countertops.

9. Provide GFI outlets at locations within 6'-0" of the outside edge of sink, 
at all locations within kitchen where receptacles are installed to serve
the countertop surfaces, and at all bathroom outlets.

10. Provide WP/GFI outlets at all exterior locations.

11. Kitchen and bathroom convenience outlets shall be +8" above
countertops, u.n.o.

12. Receptacles in the kitchen, dining room, pantry, or other similar areas shall
be supplied by at least two 20-amp, small appliance branch circuits.
At least one 20 amp branch circuit shall be provided to supply laundry
receptacle outlets. Such circuits shall have no other outlets.

13. Refrigerator outlet shall be at +48" AFF.

14. Smoke detectors shall receive their primary power from building wiring 
with battery back-up.  Such wiring shall be permanent.  Detectors shall
sound an audible alarm in all sleeping areas and in corridors serving
sleeping rooms.  Provide detectors in sleeping rooms & every room
in the egress path from each sleeping room.  In dwelling units that are
more than one story, a detector will be located in each level.  Detectors
shall be interconnected.

15. All fluorescent fixtures shall have only high efficiency lamps, and shall not
contain a medium screw base socket.  Ballasts for lamps rated 13 watts 
or greater shall be electronic.  Lamp efficiency minimum shall be as:

15 watts or less- 40 lumens per watt
over 15 watts to 40 watts- 50 lumens per watt
over 40 watts- 60 lumens per watt

16. Recessed light fixtures installed in areas to receive insulation shall be
"IC" rated for zero clearance, and be sealed with gaskets or caulked btwn
housing and ceiling.  No penetration or removal of insulation allowed.

17. Thermostat shall be a set-back type, Honeywell T-8082A or equal.

18. Exhaust fans in toilet/shower areas shall be Energy Star compliant 
and exhaust 50 cfm per and shall be controlled by a humidistat. ASHRAE 
Standard 62.2. Ducts to be sized per ASHRAE 62.2, Table 5.2 and  
terminate outside the building.

19. Bathroom fans shall be Panasonic Whisper Recessed FV-08VRL1m
80cfm or approved equal.

27. In every habitable room, an electrical outlet shall be installed so that no point 
along the floor line in any wall space more than six feet measured horizontally 
from any outlet in that space, including any wall space two feet or more in width, 
the wall space occupied by fixed panels in exterior walls, and fixed room 
dividers such as a bar or peninsula. (CEC 210.52 (A)(1)(2) & (3)

28. All areas specified in 210.52 all 125-volt, 15-and 20- ampere 
receptacles shall be listed tamper-resistant receptacles. (CEC406.12)

29. Dishwasher shall be GFCI protected.

30. All receptacle outlets serving countertops in kitchens of dwelling units
to be GFCI protected.

31. Carbon monoxide detectors shall be installed outside sleeping areas in the 
vicinity of bedrooms. (CBC 420.6, R315)

32. Kitchen shall have an exhaust fan ducted to the outside with a minimum
ventilation rate of 100cfm. The ducting shall be sized according to 
ASHRAE Standard 62.2 Table 7.1.

33. Means of interrupting the electrical supply to the air conditioning equip-
ment shall be provided within sight of and not over 50ft from the air
conditioner and cooling tower.

34. Electrical boxes in membrane penetrations of fire-resistive walls (garage
to house) shall be listed and separated horizontally by a distance in the listing.

35. Provide a conduit system from the main electrical panel to an accessible
location for future renewable energy generation to accommmodate a point of
connection on the load side of the electrical service disconnecting means. The
conduit system shall be sized per Table 19.08.040(H)(1). Conduit shall be sized
to accommodate a branch circuit sized at 20% of the rating busbar. 

36. Install a listed raceway to accommodate a dedicated 208/240-volt branch 
circuit not less than trade size 1 (1" inside diameter). Raceway shall originate 
at the main subpanel and terminate at a listed cabinet, box ore other enclosure 
near the proposed EV charger location. The subpanel shall provide capacity to 
install a 40-amp minimum dedicated branch circuit and space(s) to permit 
installation of a branch circuit overcurrent protective device.

ELECTRICAL LEGEND

220V OUTLET

WEATHERPROOF OUTLET W/
GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTOR

SINGLE SWITCH

3-WAY SWITCH

ELECTRICAL PANEL
RECESSED

SMOKE DETECTOR

SUSPENDED LED FIXTURE

LED STRIP
LENGTH VARIES, SEE PLAN

J-BOX

CEILING SURFACE-MOUNTED 
LED LIGHT FIXTURE

WALL MOUNTED LED SCONCE

110V DUPLEX OUTLET W/
GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTOR

110V DUPLEX FLOOR OUTLET

EXHAUST FAN W/ MOTION
& HUMIDITY SENSOR

110V FOUR-PLEX OUTLET

1/2 HOT-1/2 SWITCHED OUTLET

110V DUPLEX OUTLET

DIMMER SWITCH

FAN TIMER

WALL MOUNTED LED SCONCE 
W/ MOTION SENSOR & 
INTEGRAL PHOTO CONTROL 220

s
3s

Ts

GFI

WP/
GFI

WR

s D

MS
PC

COMBINATION SMOKE/CARBON 
MONOXIDE DETECTORS/CD

RECESSED CEILING LED
LIGHT FIXTURE

RECESSED CEILING LED
WATER RESISTANT FIXTURE

24"

LED UNDERCOUNTER STRIP 
LENGTH VARIES, SEE PLAN

24"

SWITCH W/ HUMIDISTATs H

RECESSED STEP LIGHT

SUSPENDED LED FIXTURE W/ 
MOTION SENSOR & INTEGRAL 
PHOTO CONTROL

MS
PC

SD

J

THERMOSTAT

EQUIPEMENT SHUT OFF

T

E

VACANCY SENSORs V

GFI
@48"

J
@CLG

s
3

WR WR

WR WR

S/CD

SD SD

M
S

P
C M
S

P
C

48" 220

GFI
@42"

ss
48

"

J
@CLG

sHGFI
@44" sV

s
3

WR WR

WR WRWR WR

s

A/C CLG
CASSETTE

A/C CLG
CASSETTE

A/C CLG
CASSETTE

ss

WP/
GFI

WP/
GFI

A/C CLG
CASSETTE

GFI
@48"

s

s

s
H

s
V

s

s

s
H
s

V

WR

s
GFI

@42"

s
3

s
3

s3

s
3

s
3

s
3
s
D

s
3

s D

GFI
@48"

GFI
@48"

s

G
F

I
@

34
"

G
F

I
@

34
"

J
@72"

WP/
GFI

WP/
GFI

11

1

s

A-2-77Page 234 of 356



No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

E - 3

ROOF DECK
ELECTRICAL PLAN

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

30 AUG 2023 PC#1

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

1

1

ROOF DECK ELECTRICAL PLAN
1/4" = 1' - 0"

DN

A

B

C

D

E

F

G

1 3

1 2 3

A

C

F

G

ROOF DECK

ELECTRICAL NOTES - ROOF DECK
1. Provide WP/GFI outlets at all exterior locations.

2. Light switches shall be grounded, per CEC 404.9(B).

3. Luminaires providing outdoor lighting, including for private patios, entrances, 
balconies, porches, etc., which are permantently mounted to a residential building 
shall be high efficacy and shall be controlled by ON and Off switch, which does not 
override to On motion sensor and photocontrol, motion sensor without override, 
photocontrol without override. (CEnC 150(k)9)

4. Provide a conduit system from the main electrical panel to an 
accessiblelocation for future renewable energy generation to accommmodate a 
point ofconnection on the load side of the electrical service disconnecting 
means. Theconduit system shall be sized per Table 19.08.040(H)(1). Conduit shall be sized
to accommodate a branch circuit sized at 20% of the rating busbar. 

5. Provide a FIRE MAGIC 3-hr automatic shut-off timer Model 3090 at the gas 
connection to the exterior gas fireplace.

ELECTRICAL LEGEND

220V OUTLET

WEATHERPROOF OUTLET W/
GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTOR

SINGLE SWITCH

3-WAY SWITCH

ELECTRICAL PANEL
RECESSED

SMOKE DETECTOR

SUSPENDED LED FIXTURE

LED STRIP
LENGTH VARIES, SEE PLAN

J-BOX

CEILING SURFACE-MOUNTED 
LED LIGHT FIXTURE

WALL MOUNTED LED SCONCE

110V DUPLEX OUTLET W/
GROUND FAULT INTERRUPTOR

110V DUPLEX FLOOR OUTLET

EXHAUST FAN W/ MOTION
& HUMIDITY SENSOR

110V FOUR-PLEX OUTLET

1/2 HOT-1/2 SWITCHED OUTLET

110V DUPLEX OUTLET

DIMMER SWITCH

FAN TIMER

WALL MOUNTED LED SCONCE 
W/ MOTION SENSOR & 
INTEGRAL PHOTO CONTROL 220

s
3s

Ts

GFI

WP/
GFI

WR

s D

MS
PC

COMBINATION SMOKE/CARBON 
MONOXIDE DETECTORS/CD

RECESSED CEILING LED
LIGHT FIXTURE

RECESSED CEILING LED
WATER RESISTANT FIXTURE

24"

LED UNDERCOUNTER STRIP 
LENGTH VARIES, SEE PLAN

24"

SWITCH W/ HUMIDISTATs H

RECESSED STEP LIGHT

SUSPENDED LED FIXTURE W/ 
MOTION SENSOR & INTEGRAL 
PHOTO CONTROL

MS
PC

SD

J

THERMOSTAT

EQUIPEMENT SHUT-OFF

T

E

VACANCY SENSORs V

WP/GFI
@24"

s
3

SO

GAS SHUT-OFF TIMERso

WP/GFI
@24"

W
P

/G
F

I
@

24
"

W
P

/G
F

I
@

24
"

A-2-78Page 235 of 356



CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 1 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

GENERAL INFORMATION

01 Project Name Stanley Residence

02 Run Title Title 24 Analysis

03 Project Location 3525 Gilbert Avenue

04 City Cayucos 05 Standards Version 2019

06 Zip code 93430 07 Software Version EnergyPro 8.3

08 Climate Zone 5 09 Front Orientation (deg/ Cardinal) 225

10 Building Type Single family 11 Number of Dwelling Units 1

12 Project Scope NewConstruction 13 Number of Bedrooms 3

14 Addition Cond. Floor Area (ft2) 0 15 Number of Stories 2

16 Existing Cond. Floor Area (ft2) n/a 17 Fenestration Average U-factor 0.3

18 Total Cond. Floor Area (ft2) 2780 19 Glazing Percentage (%) 22.48%

20 ADU Bedroom Count n/a 21 ADU Conditioned Floor Area n/a

22 Is Natural Gas Available? No

COMPLIANCE RESULTS

01 Building Complies with Computer Performance

02 This building incorporates features that require field testing and/or verification by a certified HERS rater under the supervision of a CEC-approved HERS provider.

03 This building incorporates one or more Special Features shown below

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 2 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

ENERGY DESIGN RATING

Energy Design Ratings Compliance Margins

Efficiency¹ (EDR) Total² (EDR) Efficiency¹ (EDR) Total² (EDR)

Standard Design 46.2 25.7

Proposed Design 43.1 22.6 3.1 3.1

RESULT: 3: COMPLIES

1: Efficiency EDR includes improvements to the building envelope and more efficient equipment
2: Total EDR includes efficiency and demand response measures such as photovoltaic (PV) systems and batteries
3: Building complies when efficiency and total compliance margins are greater than or equal to zero

• Standard Design PV Capacity: 2.59 kWdc
• PV System resized to 2.59 kWdc (a factor of 2.593) to achieve 'Standard Design PV' PV scaling

ENERGY USE SUMMARY

Energy Use (kTDV/ft2-yr) Standard Design Proposed Design Compliance Margin Percent Improvement

Space Heating 15.42 13.81 1.61 10.4

Space Cooling 0 0 0

IAQ Ventilation 3.3 3.3 0 0

Water Heating 13.54 9.95 3.59 26.5

Self Utilization/Flexibility Credit n/a 0 0 n/a

Compliance Energy Total 32.26 27.06 5.2 16.1

REQUIRED PV SYSTEMS - SIMPLIFIED

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12

DC System Size
(kWdc) Exception Module Type Array Type Power Electronics CFI Azimuth

(deg)
Tilt

Input
Array Angle

(deg)
Tilt: (x in

12)
Inverter Eff.

(%)

Annual
Solar Access

(%)

2.59 NA Standard Fixed none true 150-270 n/a n/a <=7:12 96 98

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 3 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

REQUIRED SPECIAL FEATURES

The following are features that must be installed as condition for meeting the modeled energy performance for this computer analysis.

• Variable capacity heat pump compliance option (verification details from VCHP Staff report, Appendix B, and RA3)
• Northwest Energy Efficiency Alliance (NEEA) rated heat pump water heater; specific brand/model, or equivalent, must be installed

HERS FEATURE SUMMARY

The following is a summary of the features that must be field-verified by a certified HERS Rater as a condition for meeting the modeled energy performance for this computer analysis. Additional
detail is provided in the buildng tables below. Registered CF2Rs and CF3Rs are required to be completed in the HERS Registry

Building-level Verifications:
• Indoor air quality ventilation
• Kitchen range hood
Cooling System Verifications:
• Verified EER
• Verified Refrigerant Charge
• Airflow in habitable rooms (SC3.1.4.1.7)
Heating System Verifications:
• Verified heat pump rated heating capacity
• Wall-mounted thermostat in zones greater than 150 ft2 (SC3.4.5)
• Ductless indoor units located entirely in conditioned space (SC3.1.4.1.8)
HVAC Distribution System Verifications:
• -- None --
Domestic Hot Water System Verifications:
• -- None --

BUILDING - FEATURES INFORMATION

01 02 03 04 05 06 07

Project Name Conditioned Floor Area (ft2)
Number of Dwelling

Units Number of Bedrooms Number of Zones Number of Ventilation
Cooling Systems

Number of Water
Heating Systems

Stanley Residence 2780 1 3 1 0 1

ZONE INFORMATION

01 02 03 04  05 06 07

Zone Name Zone Type HVAC System Name Zone Floor Area (ft2) Avg. Ceiling Height Water Heating System 1 Water Heating System 2

Living Area Conditioned HVAC System1 2780 8 DHW Sys 1 N/A

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 4 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

OPAQUE SURFACES

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08

Name Zone Construction Azimuth Orientation Gross Area (ft2)
Window and Door

Area (ft2) Tilt (deg)

Front Wall Living Area R21 Wall 225 Front 112 42 90

Left Wall Living Area R21 Wall 315 Left 320 56 90

Rear Wall Living Area R21 Wall 45 Back 288 100 90

Right Wall Living Area R21 Wall 135 Right 224 24 90

Front Wall 2 Living Area R21 Wall 225 Front 324 175 90

Left Wall 2 Living Area R21 Wall 315 Left 432 32 90

Rear Wall 2 Living Area R21 Wall 45 Back 324 100 90

Right Wall 2 Living Area R21 Wall 135 Right 432 96 90

Interior Surface Living
Area>>__Garage__ R21 Wall1 n/a n/a 250 18 n/a

Raised Floor Living Area R-19 Floor No Crawlspace n/a n/a 224 n/a n/a

Front Wall 3 __Garage__ R-0 Wall 225 Front 176 0 90

Left Wall 3 __Garage__ R-0 Wall 315 Left 168 0 90

Rear Wall 3 __Garage__ R-0 Wall 45 Back 176 0 90

Right Wall 3 __Garage__ R-0 Wall 135 Right 168 0 90

OPAQUE SURFACES - CATHEDRAL CEILINGS

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11

Name Zone Construction Azimuth Orientation Area (ft2)
Skylight Area

(ft2)
Roof Rise (x in

12)
Roof

Reflectance Roof Emittance Cool Roof

Roof Living Area R-30 Roof No
Attic 0 n/a 1607 0 0 0.1 0.85 No

Roof 2 __Garage__ R-0 Roof No
Attic 0 n/a 435 0 4 0.1 0.85 No

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 5 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

FENESTRATION / GLAZING

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14

Name Type Surface Orientation Azimuth Width
(ft)

Height
(ft) Mult.

Area
(ft2)

U-factor U-factor
Source SHGC

SHGC
Sourc

e

Exterior
Shading

Glass Door Window Front Wall Front 225 1 42 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window Window Left Wall Left 315 1 24 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 2 Window Left Wall Left 315 1 8 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 3 Window Left Wall Left 315 1 24 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

French Door Window Rear Wall Back 45 1 40 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

French Door 2 Window Rear Wall Back 45 1 60 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 4 Window Right Wall Right 135 1 12 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 5 Window Right Wall Right 135 1 12 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window - SGD Window Front Wall 2 Front 225 1 112 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window - SGD 2 Window Front Wall 2 Front 225 1 63 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 6 Window Left Wall 2 Left 315 1 8 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 7 Window Left Wall 2 Left 315 1 24 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

French Door 3 Window Rear Wall 2 Back 45 1 40 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

French Door 4 Window Rear Wall 2 Back 45 1 60 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 8 Window Right Wall 2 Right 135 1 12 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 9 Window Right Wall 2 Right 135 1 12 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 10 Window Right Wall 2 Right 135 1 8 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 11 Window Right Wall 2 Right 135 1 16 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 12 Window Right Wall 2 Right 135 1 24 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

Window 13 Window Right Wall 2 Right 135 1 24 0.3 NFRC 0.35 NFRC Bug Screen

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 6 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

OPAQUE DOORS

01 02 03 04

Name Side of Building Area (ft2) U-factor

Door Interior Surface 18 0.5

SLAB FLOORS

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08

Name Zone Area (ft2) Perimeter (ft) Edge Insul. R-value
and Depth

Edge Insul. R-value
and Depth Carpeted Fraction Heated

Slab-on-Grade Living Area 1173 0.1 none 0 80% No

Slab __Garage__ 435 86 none 0 0% No

OPAQUE SURFACE CONSTRUCTIONS

01 02 03 04  05 06 07 08

Construction Name Surface Type Construction Type Framing Total Cavity
R-value

Interior / Exterior
Continuous

R-value
U-factor Assembly Layers

R-0 Wall Exterior Walls Wood Framed Wall 2x4 @ 16 in. O. C. R-0 None / None 0.361
Inside Finish: Gypsum Board

Cavity / Frame: no insul. / 2x4
Exterior Finish: 3 Coat Stucco

R21 Wall Exterior Walls Wood Framed Wall 2x6 @ 16 in. O. C. R-21 None / None 0.066

Inside Finish: Gypsum Board
Cavity / Frame: R-21 / 2x6

Exterior Finish: Wood
Siding/sheathing/decking

R-0 Roof No Attic Cathedral Ceilings Wood Framed
Ceiling 2x4 @ 16 in. O. C. R-0 None / None 0.484

Roofing: Light Roof (Asphalt Shingle)
Roof Deck: Wood

Siding/sheathing/decking
Cavity / Frame: no insul. / 2x4
Inside Finish: Gypsum Board

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 7 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

OPAQUE SURFACE CONSTRUCTIONS

01 02 03 04  05 06 07 08

Construction Name Surface Type Construction Type Framing Total Cavity
R-value

Interior / Exterior
Continuous

R-value
U-factor Assembly Layers

R-30 Roof No Attic Cathedral Ceilings Wood Framed
Ceiling 2x12 @ 16 in. O. C. R-30 None / None 0.036

Roofing: Light Roof (Asphalt Shingle)
Roof Deck: Wood

Siding/sheathing/decking
Cavity / Frame: R-30 / 2x12
Inside Finish: Gypsum Board

R21 Wall1 Interior Walls Wood Framed Wall 2x6 @ 16 in. O. C. R-21 None / None 0.064
Inside Finish: Gypsum Board
Cavity / Frame: R-21 / 2x6

Other Side Finish: Gypsum Board

R-19 Floor No
Crawlspace Exterior Floors Wood Framed Floor 2x10 @ 16 in. O. C. R-19 None / None 0.047

Floor Surface: Carpeted
Floor Deck: Wood

Siding/sheathing/decking
Cavity / Frame: R-19 / 2x10

BUILDING ENVELOPE - HERS VERIFICATION

01 02 03 04

Quality Insulation Installation (QII) High R-value Spray Foam Insulation Building Envelope Air Leakage CFM50

Not Required Not Required Not Required n/a

WATER HEATING SYSTEMS

01 02 03 04  05 06 07

Name System Type Distribution Type Water Heater Name (#) Solar Heating System Compact Distribution HERS Verification

DHW Sys 1 Domestic Hot Water
(DHW)

Standard Distribution
System DHW Heater 1 (1) n/a None n/a

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 8 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

WATER HEATERS

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12

Name
Heating
Element

Type
Tank Type # of

Units

Tank
Vol.
(gal)

Energy
Factor or
Efficiency

Input Rating
or Pilot

Tank
Insulation

R-value
(Int/Ext)

Standby Loss
or Recovery

Eff

1st Hr. Rating
or Flow Rate

NEEA Heat Pump
Brand or Model

Tank Location or
Ambient Condition

DHW Heater 1 Heat Pump n/a 1 80 NEEA Rated <= 12 kW n/a n/a n/a Rheem\XE80T10H4
5U0 (80 gal) Garage

WATER HEATING - HERS VERIFICATION

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08

Name Pipe Insulation Parallel Piping Compact Distribution Compact Distribution
Type Recirculation Control Central DHW

Distribution
Shower Drain Water

Heat Recovery

DHW Sys 1 - 1/1 Not Required Not Required Not Required None Not Required Not Required Not Required

SPACE CONDITIONING SYSTEMS

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11

Name System Type Heating Unit
Name

Cooling Unit
Name Fan Name Distribution

Name

Required
Thermostat

Type
Status

Verified
Existing

Condition

Heating
Equipment

Count

Cooling
Equipment

Count

HVAC System1 Heat pump heating cooling Heat Pump
System 1

Heat Pump
System 1 n/a n/a Setback New NA 2 2

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11

HVAC - HEAT PUMPS

Name System Type Number of Units
Heating Cooling Zonally

Controlled
Compressor

Type HERS Verification
HSPF/COP Cap 47 Cap 17 SEER EER/CEER

Heat Pump System 1 VCHP-ductless 2 8.2 24000 22800 14 12.5 Not Zonal Single
Speed

Heat Pump System
1-hers-htpump

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                      (Page 9 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

HVAC HEAT PUMPS - HERS VERIFICATION

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09

Name Verified Airflow Airflow Target Verified EER Verified SEER Verified Refrigerant
Charge Verified HSPF Verified Heating

Cap 47
Verified Heating

Cap 17

Heat Pump System
1-hers-htpump Not Required 0 Required Not Required Yes No Yes Yes

VARIABLE CAPACITY HEAT PUMP COMPLIANCE OPTION - HERS VERIFICATION

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10

Name
Certified

Low-Static
VCHP System

Airflow to
Habitable

Rooms

Ductless Units
in Conditioned

Space

Wall Mount
Thermostat

Air Filter Sizing
&amp; Pressure

Drop Rating

Low Leakage
Ducts in

Conditioned
Space

Minimum
Airflow per
RA3.3 and
SC3.3.3.4.1

Certified
non-continuous

Fan

Indoor Fan not
Running

Continuously

Heat Pump System 1 Not required Required Required Required Not required Not required Not required Not required Not required

IAQ (INDOOR AIR QUALITY) FANS

01 02 03 04 05 06 07

Dwelling Unit IAQ CFM IAQ Watts/CFM IAQ Fan Type IAQ Recovery
Effectiveness - SRE

IAQ Recovery
Effectiveness - ASRE HERS Verification

SFam IAQVentRpt 107 0.35 Exhaust n/a n/a Yes

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

T24-1

16 DEC 2022

ENERGY COMPLIANCE
DOCUMENTS

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

A-2-79Page 236 of 356



RESIDENTIAL MEASURES SUMMARY                               RMS-1 
Project Name Building Type     o Single Family o Addition Alone Date 

                         o Multi Family o Existing+ Addition/Alteration  
Project Address California Energy Climate Zone Total Cond. Floor Area Addition # of Units 

     

INSULATION  Area   
Construction Type Cavity (ft2) Special Features  Status 
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
      
FENESTRATION  Total Area:  Glazing Percentage:  New/Altered Average U-Factor:  
Orientation   Area(ft2) U-Fac SHGC Overhang Sidefins Exterior Shades Status 
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
        
HVAC SYSTEMS      
Qty. Heating Min. Eff Cooling Min. Eff Thermostat Status 

       
       
       

HVAC DISTRIBUTION   Duct  
Location Heating Cooling Duct Location R-Value Status 
      
      
      
WATER HEATING     
Qty. Type Gallons Min. Eff Distribution Status 
      
      
      
   
 

Stanley Residence

3525 Gilbert Avenue   Cayucos

12/20/2022
✔

CA Climate Zone 05 2,780 1

Wood Framed w/o Crawl Space

Wall

Slab

Floor

Roof

Wood Framed

Unheated Slab-on-Grade

Wood Framed Rafter

2,063

1,173

224

1,607R 30

R 21

- no insulation -

R 19

New

New

New

New

Perim = 0'

n/a

Front (SW)

Left (NW)

Rear (NE)

Right (SE)

217.0

88.0

200.0

120.0

0.300

0.300

0.300

0.300

0.35

0.35

0.35

0.35

none

none

none

none

none

none

none

none

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

New

New

New

New

14.0 SEER2 Split Heat Pump Split Heat Pump8.20 HSPF NewSetback

n/aHVAC System DuctlessDuctless / with Fan Newn/a

Standard1 Heat Pump 3.2080 New

ID: 22-122017 Page 13 of 18EnergyPro 8.3 by EnergySoft SoftwareUser Number: 6249

625 22.5 % 0.30

ROOM LOAD SUMMARY 

Project Name Date 

  

System Name Floor Area 
  

ROOM LOAD SUMMARY 

   ROOM COOLING PEAK COIL COOLING PEAK COIL HTG. PEAK 

Zone Name Room Name Mult. CFM Sensible Latent CFM Sensible Latent CFM Sensible 

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

PAGE TOTAL       

TOTAL *       

* Total includes ventilation load for zonal systems. 

 

Stanley Residence 12/20/2022

HVAC System 2,780

1st Floor

2nd Floor

Living Area 451

863

1

1

9,710

18,572

455

623

162

320

451

863

455

623

9,710

18,572

6,458

12,750

483

483

1,315

1,315

1,077

1,077

28,283

28,283

19,209

19,209

ROOM LOAD SUMMARY 

Project Name Date 

  

System Name Floor Area 
  

ROOM LOAD SUMMARY 

   ROOM COOLING PEAK COIL COOLING PEAK COIL HTG. PEAK 

Zone Name Room Name Mult. CFM Sensible Latent CFM Sensible Latent CFM Sensible 

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

           

PAGE TOTAL       

TOTAL *       

* Total includes ventilation load for zonal systems. 

 

Stanley Residence 12/20/2022

HVAC System 2,780

1st Floor

2nd Floor

Living Area 451

863

1

1

9,710

18,572

455

623

162

320

451

863

455

623

9,710

18,572

6,458

12,750

483

483

1,315

1,315

1,077

1,077

28,283

28,283

19,209

19,209

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE                                                                                                                                                                                                                                             CF1R-PRF-01E

Project Name: Stanley Residence Calculation Date/Time: 2022-12-20T11:12:32-08:00                                    (Page 10 of 10)

Calculation Description: Title 24 Analysis Input File Name: Stanley Residence (Gilbert Ave).ribd19x

Registration Number: Registration Date/Time:     HERS Provider:

CA Building Energy Efficiency Standards - 2019 Residential Compliance Report Version: 2019.2.000
Schema Version: rev 20200901

Report Generated: 2022-12-20   11:13:38

DOCUMENTATION AUTHOR'S DECLARATION STATEMENT

1. I certify that this Certificate of Compliance documentation is accurate and complete.
Documentation Author Name: Documentation Author Signature:

Company: Signature Date:

Address: CEA/ HERS Certification Identification (If applicable):

City/State/Zip: Phone:

RESPONSIBLE PERSON'S DECLARATION STATEMENT
I certify the following under penalty of perjury, under the laws of the State of California:

1. I am eligible under Division 3 of the Business and Professions Code to accept responsibility for the building design identified on this Certificate of Compliance.
2. I certify that the energy features and performance specifications identified on this Certificate of Compliance conform to the requirements of Title 24, Part 1 and Part 6 of the California Code of Regulations.
3. The building design features or system design features identified on this Certificate of Compliance are consistent with the information provided on other applicable compliance documents, worksheets,

calculations, plans and specifications submitted to the enforcement agency for approval with this building permit application.
Responsible Designer Name: Responsible Designer Signature:

Company: Date Signed:

Address: License:

City/State/Zip: Phone:

 

Easy to Verify
at CalCERTS.com

Timothy Carstairs

Carstairs Energy Inc.

2238 Bayview Heights Drive, Suite E

Los Osos, CA 93402

2022-12-20 14:41:43

r160610042

805-904-9048

Frances F Gibbs

Steven D Pults AIA & Associates LLP

3592 Sacramento Drive, Ste 140

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401

2022-12-20 15:11:11

C-26942

805-541-5604

Digitally signed by CalCERTS.  This digital signature is provided in order to secure the content of this registered document, and in no way implies

Registration Provider responsibility for the accuracy of the information.

222-P010248065A-000-000-0000000-0000 2022-12-20 15:11:11 CalCERTS inc.

No. C-26942

3427 MIGUELITO CT
SAN LUIS OBISPO

CA  93401

(805) 541 - 4509

3525 GILBERT AVE
CAYUCOS
CA  93430

2214

T24-2

16 DEC 2022

ENERGY COMPLIANCE
DOCUMENTS

Date:

Revised:

Job No:

Sheet:

Project:

Client:

Sheet Contents:

STANLEY
RESIDENCE

DAN & LINDA
STANLEY

c/o
CAROL FLORENCE
OASIS ASSOCIATES

These drawings are instruments of service and are
property of Pults & Associates, LLP.

All design and other information on the drawings
are for use on the specified project

and shall not be used otherwise without the
expressed written permission of

Pults & Associates, LLP.

Architecture, Planning & Graphics

3592 Sacramento Dr, Suite 140
San Luis Obispo, California 93401

805/541-5604   voice

A-2-80Page 237 of 356



Attachment F 
Conditional Intent to Serve Letter 

from the CSD

A-2-81Page 238 of 356



CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT
CONDITIONAL INTENT-TO-SERVE LETTER 

(REVISED)

Date: 
To: 
From: 

Applicant Name: 
Mailing Address: 
City, State, Zip: 

December 18, 2023 
San Luis Obispo County Planning & Building Department 
Cayucos Sanitary District 

Daniel & Linda Stanley 
2227 Monterey Blvd.    
Hermosa Beach, CA 90254 

Project Address: 3525 Gilbert Ave.  
SLO County Permit #: RBLD2022-00295 
Project Description: SFR New 
APN: 064-405-010  Tract: MS1    Block: 10   Lot: 12, 13 

We have reviewed the proposed project and are aware of its potential effects upon the facilities and 
property controlled by the District. 

This Conditional Intent-to-Serve Letter is contingent upon Zoning Clearance approval by SLO County 
and the following conditions:  

1. All parcels in this area shall be annexed into the District with LAFCO approval.

2. As a condition of annexation into the District, there will be a "buy-in cost" in addition to the regular
Will-Serve Fees and Connection and Inspection Fees. The buy-in cost will have to be determined
through a reimbursement agreement between the applicant and the District.

3. This parcel and the adjacent parcels will need to install private force mains to get to the
sewer.

4. For this parcel, a small private force main will connect directly into the manhole at the intersection
of Day and Chaney Ave.

Once the above conditions have been met, the applicant shall submit a Will-Serve Application to the District 
including construction plans with all District conditions reflected on the plans. 

 Approved By: ________________________________________________ 
 Rick Koon, District Manager

Board President 
Robert Enns 

Vice President 
Shirley Lyon 

Directors
Hannah Miller 
Robert Frank 
John Curti 

District Manager 
Rick Koon 

Mailing Address: 
P.O. Box 333 
Cayucos, CA 93430 

Office:
200 Ash Avenue 
Cayucos, CA 93430 

WRRF: 
800 Toro Creek Road 
Morro Bay, CA 93442 

Phone: 
(805) 995-3290
Fax:
(805) 995-3673

A-2-82Page 239 of 356

Anelson

Anelson

Anelson
Highlight

Anelson
Highlight



Attachment G 
Plan for Services

A-2-83Page 240 of 356



CAYUCOS SANITARY DISTRICT 
PLAN FOR SERVICES  

 
Date:    December 19, 2023 
To:    San Luis Obispo LAFCO  
From:    Cayucos Sanitary District 
 
Applicant Name:   Daniel & Linda Stanley 
Mailing Address:   2227 Monterey Blvd. 
City, State, Zip:   Hermosa Beach, CA 90254 
 
Project Address:   3525 Gilbert Ave. 
SLO County Permit #:  RBLD2022-00295 
Project Description:  SFR New 
APN:    064-405-010   Tract: MS1  Block: 10  Lot: 12, 13 
 
 
 

1.  AN ENUMERATION AND DESCRIPTION OF THE SERVICES CURRENTLY PROVIDED OR  
TO BE EXTENDED TO THE AFFECTED TERRITORY. 

The District charges users of the sewer system a flat rate sewer use fee based on EDUs (“Equivalent Dwelling 
Units”). 1 EDU is equivalent to 1 single family residence, and 1 single family residence is estimated to utilize 
approximately 4,137 gallons of water per month. 1 EDU is charged at the Sewer Use Fee rate of $98.00 per 
month. 
After annexation but prior to connection to the District’s infrastructure, each parcel will be charged at the Vacant 
Lot Fee rate of $7.50 per month. Once connected, the District expects to see an increase in flow of 
approximately 4,137 gallons per month per parcel. The 7 parcels proposed to be annexed equals a total 
increase in flow of approximately 28,959 gallons per month. The District’s existing infrastructure is more than 
capable of handling this increased flow. 
 

2.  THE LEVEL AND RANGE OF THOSE SERVICES. 
Sewer service from this lot will be through a 4-inch lateral installed from the applicant’s property line, which will 
then connect to the District’s sewer main at the existing manhole at Day and Chaney Ave.  
 

3.  AN INDICATION OF WHEN THOSE SERVICES CAN FEASIBLY BE EXTENDED TO THE  
AFFECTED TERRITORY, IF NEW SERVICES ARE PROPOSED. 

The services can be installed after the applicant submits a complete Will-Serve Application Package to the 
District.  
 

4.  AN INDICATION OF ANY IMPROVEMENT OR UPGRADING OF STRUCTURES, ROADS,  
SEWER OR WATER FACILITIES, OR OTHER CONDITIONS THE LOCAL AGENCY WOULD  
IMPOSE OR REQUIRE WITHIN THE AFFECTED TERRITORY IF THE CHANGE OF  
ORGANIZATION OR REORGANIZATION IS COMPLETED. 

The applicant’s private force main shall connect directly into the District’s existing manhole at Day and 
Chaney Ave. All force mains shall be privately installed and maintained. The District will accept the 
existing manhole. 
 

5. INFORMATION WITH RESPECT TO HOW THOSE SERVICES WILL BE FINANCED. 
There will be no expenditure of District monies, and the District will expect an increase in property tax 
revenue equitable to existing percentages received from other parcels within our service area as a result of 
the annexation of this property. The applicant shall also pay a “buy-in cost” in addition to the regular Will-
Serve Application and Connection/Inspection Fees. The revenue from the 7 newly annexed parcels would 
equal $686.00 per month once connected to the District’s infrastructure.  

 

 

 

 

 

Board President 
Robert Enns 
 
Vice President 
Shirley Lyon 
 
Directors 
Hannah Miller 
John Curti 
Michael Shopshear 

 
District Manager 
Rick Koon 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mailing Address: 
P.O. Box 333 
Cayucos, CA 93430 
 
Office: 
200 Ash Avenue 
Cayucos, CA 93430 

 
WRRF: 
800 Toro Creek Road 
Morro Bay, CA 93442 

 
Phone: 
(805) 995-3290 
Fax: 
(805) 995-3673 

 

A-2-84Page 241 of 356



Attachment H 
Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Reports 

Stanley Residence, 
January 2010, April 2014, and December 2022

A-2-85Page 242 of 356



SOILS ENGINEERING AND 
GEOLOGIC HAZARDS REPORT 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 

GILBERT A VENUE 
CAYUCOS, CALIFORNIA 

APN 064-405-010 

January 22, 2010 

Prepared for 

Linda and Dan Stanley 

Prepared by 

Earth Systems Pacific 
4378 Old Santa Fe Road 

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

Copyright © 2010 

A-2-86Page 243 of 356



January 22, 2010 

Linda and Dan Stanley 
2227 Monterey Blvd. 
Hermosa Beach, CA 90254 

PROJECT: 

SUBJECT: 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
GILBERT A VENUE 
CA YU COS, CALIFORNIA 
APN 064-405-010 

Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401-8116 

(805) 544-3276 • FAX (805) 544-1786
E-mail: esc@earthsys.com

FILE NO.: SL-16139-SA 

CONTRACT 
REF.: Proposal to Provide a Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report, 

Proposed Stanley Residence, Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California, 
APN 064-405-010, by Earth Systems Pacific, Doc. No. 0910-144.PRP, 
dated October 27, 2009 

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Stanley: 

In accordance with your authorization of the above-referenced proposal, this soils engineering 
and geologic hazards repo1t has been prepared for use in the development of plans and 
specifications for the single-family residence to be constructed on Gilbert Avenue in Cayucos, 
California. This report is based upon a review of geologic maps and literature, a site 
reconnaissance and subsurface exploration, laboratory testing, and geotechnical engineering and 
engineering geologic evaluation of the information obtained. In it we describe the general 
geologic characteristics, we identify existing and potential geologic hazards at the site, and we 
discuss impacts that the geologic conditions may have upon the project. Preliminary 
geotechnical recommendations for site preparation, grading, utility trenches, foundations, slabs
on-grade and exterior flatwork, retaining walls, drainage around improvements, a maintenance 
program, and observation and testing are also provided. Two paper copies and one electronic 
copy (.pdfformat) of this report are furnished for your use. 

A-2-87Page 244 of 356



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

COVER LETTER ...................................................................................................................... ii 

1.0 INTRODUCTION ......................................................................................................... 1 
Planned Development .............................................................................................. 1 
Purpose and Scope of Work ..................................................................................... 1 
Site Setting ............................................................................................................... 3 

2.0 INVESTIGATION METHODOLOGY AND LABORATORY TESTING ................. 3 
Site Reconnaissance ................................................................................................. 3 
Air Stereo Photograph Review ............................................................................... .3 
Subsurface Exploration ............................................................................................ 3 
Laboratory Testing .................................................................................................. .4 

3.0 GEOLOGY ................................................................................................................... .4 
Geologic Site Setting .............................................................................................. .4 
Subsurface Geologic Profile ................................................................................... .4 
Faulting .................................................................................................................... 5 
Groundwater ............................................................................................................ 5 
Slope Stability .......................................................................................................... 5 

4.0 SEISMICITY - SEISMIC HAZARDS ......................................................................... 6 
Earthquake History .................................................................................................. 6 
Seismic Hazards ....................................................................................................... 7 
Naturally Occurring Asbestos .................................................................................. 8 
Erosion and Flooding ............................................................................................... 8 

5.0 CONCLUSIONS ............................................................................................................ 8 
Engineering Geology ............................................................................................... 8 
General ..................................................................................................................... 8 
Slope Stability .......................................................................................................... 9 
Seismicity ............................................................................................................... 10 
Natural Occurring Asbestos ................................................................................... 10 
Erosion and Flooding ............................................................................................. 10 
Geotechnical Engineering ...................................................................................... 1 O 
General ................................................................................................................... 10 
Surface and Subsurface Water ............................................................................... 11 
Differential Settlement.. ......................................................................................... 11 
Expansive Soils ...................................................................................................... 11 
Erosion Potential .................................................................................................... 12 

6.0 PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL RECOMMENDATIONS ................................. 12 
Site Preparation ...................................................................................................... 12 
Grading .................................................................................................................. 13 
Utility Trenches ..................................................................................................... 16 
Foundations ............................................................................................................ 18 
Slabs-on-Grade and Exterior Flatwork .................................................................. 19 
Retaining Walls ...................................................................................................... 22 
Drainage Around Improvements ............................................................................ 25 
Maintenance Program ............................................................................................ 27 
Observation and Testing ........................................................................................ 27 

7.0 CLOSURE ................................................................................................................... 29 

TECHNICAL REFERENCES ..................................................................................... 31 

iii 

A-2-88Page 245 of 356



TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED) 

APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A Vicinity Map 
San Luis Obispo County Geological Study Area Map 
Site Photograph 
Air Stereo Photographs 
Engineering Geologic Site Map 
Boring Log 
Trench Logs 
Boring & Trench Log Legend 

APPENDIX B Laboratory Test Results 

APPENDIX C Geologic Map 
Historical Earthquake/ Fault Map 
Circular Slope Stability Plot 
Block Slope Stability Plot 
EQSEARCH Data Results 
3D Site Aerial Photograph 

APPENDIX D Typical Detail A: Pipe Placed Parallel to Foundations 

iv 

A-2-89Page 246 of 356



TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONTINUED) 

APPENDICIES 

APPENDIX A Vicinity Map 
San Luis Obispo County Geological Study Area Map 
Site Photograph 
Air Stereo Photographs 
Engineering Geologic Site Map 
Boring Log 
Trench Logs 
Boring & Trench Log Legend 

APPENDIX B Laboratory Test Results 

APPENDIX C Geologic Map 
Historical Earthquake/ Fault Map 
Circular Slope Stability Plot 
Block Slope Stability Plot 
EQSEARCH Data Results 
3D Site Aerial Photograph 

APPENDIX D Typical Detail A: Pipe Placed Parallel to Foundations 

iv 

A-2-90Page 247 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

Planned Development 

January 22, 2009 

The proposed Stanley residence on Gilbert Avenue, in Cayucos, California (see the Vicinity Map 

in Appendix A) will be two-story, of conventional stud construction, with a footprint of 

approximately 2,400 square feet. The residence is planned to be supported by conventional 

continuous and spread (pad) foundations; floor loads will be carried by concrete slabs-on-grade 

and raised wood floors. Maximum continuous loads of 3 kif and maximum isolated loads of 50 

kips have been assumed for the purposes of this report The lower floor will have a garage and 

living space on two levels, while the upper floor will contain living space and decks. Retaining 

walls up to 5 feet tall may be utilized for site work and/or as part of the structure. Cuts and fills 

of 3 feet or less from the existing topography are anticipated. Landscaping and flatwork are 

planned around the exterior of the residence. The driveway is expected to be paved with either 

hot mix asphalt (HMA) or Portland cement concrete (PCC). The site will be served by the 

municipal utility systems, and no drainage basins are planned. 

Purpose and Scope of Work 

The purpose of this report is to evaluate and define the geotechnical conditions and potential 

geologic hazards that could affect the proposed residence. The requirement for analysis of 

geologic hazards is based on the site's location within a San Luis Obispo County Geological 

Study Area (see the San Luis Obispo County Geological Study Area Map in Appendix A). The 

analysis and subsequent recommendations were based on information provided by John 

MacDonald, architect, and a site topographic map (Danny Hom Land Surveys, 2009). 

This report and recommendations are intended to comply with the following: the considerations 

of Sections 1804.2 through 1804.6 of the 2007 California Building Code (CBC); Chapter 33 of 

the 2001 CBC, as adopted by San Luis Obispo County; the Guidelines for Engineering Geology 

Reports (2005), as required by the San Luis Obispo County Department of Planning and 

Building; and common geotechnical engineering and engineering geology practice in this area 

under similar conditions at this time. The test procedures were accomplished in general 

conformance with the standards noted, as modified by common geotechnical engineering 

practice in this area under similar conditions at this time. 

SL-16139-SA 1001-089.SER A-2-91Page 248 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

Preliminary geoteclmical recommendations for site preparation, grading, utility trenches, 

foundations, slab-on-grade and exterior flatwork, retaining walls, drainage around 

improvements, a maintenance program, and observation and testing are presented to guide the 

development of project plans and specifications. As there may be geologic and/or geoteclmical 

matters yet to be resolved, this firm should be retained to provide consultation as the design 

progresses, and to review project plans as they near completion, to assist in verifying that 

pertinent geologic and geoteclmical issues have been addressed and to aid in conformance with 

the intent of this report. 

It is our intent that this report be used exclusively by the client to form the geoteclmical and 

geologic basis of the design of the project, and in the preparation of plans and specifications. 

Application beyond this intent is strictly at the user's risk. If future property owners wish to use 

this report, such use will be allowed to the extent the report is applicable, only if each nser agrees 

to be bound by the same contractual conditions as the original client, or by contractual conditions 

that may be applicable at the time of the report's use. 

This report does not address issues in the domain of contractors such as, but not limited to, site 

safety, loss of volume due to stripping of the site, shrinkage of soils during compaction, 

excavatability, dewatering, shoring, temporary slope angles, construction means and methods, 

etc. Analyses of the soil for lead or mold potential, man-made asbestos, corrosivity, 

radioisotopes, hydrocarbons, or chemical properties are beyond the scope of this report. 

Ancillary features such as access roads, fences, flag and light poles, signage, drainage basins, 

and nonstructural fills are not within our scope and are also not addressed. 

In the event that there are any changes in the nature, design, or location of improvements, or if 

any assumptions used in the preparation of this report prove to be incorrect, the conclusions and 

recommendations contained in this report shall not be considered valid unless the changes are 

reviewed and the conclusions presented in this report are verified or modified in writing. The 

criteria presented in this report are considered preliminary until such time as any peer review or 

review by any jurisdiction has been completed, conditions are observed by the soils 

engineer/engineering geologist in the field during construction, and the recommendations have 

been verified as appropriate, or modified. 

SL-16139-SA 2 1001-089.SER 

A-2-92Page 249 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

Site Setting 

January 22, 2010 

The site is on the northeast side of Highway 1, in Cayucos, California. Locally, the site is on the 

upslope (northeast) side of Gilbert Avenue, north of the intersection with Chaney Avenue. The 

site slopes to the southeast at a gradient of approximately 12: 1 (horizontal to vertical). The 

adjacent lots to the northeast, east and southeast are vacant, while the lots to the north and south 

are developed with single-family residences. At the time of our field investigation, the site was 

vacant and covered with a moderate growth of grass and weeds (see the Site Photograph in 

Appendix A). The locations and dispositions of ntility lines on or adjacent to the site are 

nnknown. 

2.0 INVESTIGATION METHODOLOGY AND LABORATORY TESTING 

Site Reconnaissance 

A site reconnaissance was performed by an engineering geologist to observe the geologic surface 

conditions on and adjacent to the site; geomorphic features were also observed to evaluate 

stability. 

Air Stereo Photograph Review 

Air stereo photographs (Golden State Aerial Surveys, 2002) were reviewed to observe the 

geomorphology of the general area with respect to slope stability. Copies of the Air Stereo 

Photographs are included in Appendix A. 

Subsurface Exploration 

To assess the soil conditions and geologic units underlying the site, a subsurface exploration was 

performed on November 25, 2009. One boring was drilled at the site utilizing a truck-mounted 

Mobile Drill rig, Model B-53, equipped with an 8-inch outside diameter hollow stem auger. 

Three exploratory trenches were also excavated at the site with a backhoe equipped with a 24-

inch wide bucket. The approximate locations of the boring and the trenches are shown on the 

Engineering Geologic Site Map in Appendix A. 

Soils encountered in the boring and the trenches were categorized and logged in general 

accordance with the Unified Soil Classification System and ASTM D 2488-09a. Soil samples 

were taken at various depths in the boring and the trenches using a ring-lined barrel sampler 

(ASTM D 3550-01/07, with shoe similar to D 2937-04). Standard penetration tests (ASTM D 

I 586-08a) were also performed in the boring. Bulk soil samples were obtained from the auger 

cuttings and the trench spoils. Logs of the boring and trenches, and a Boring & Trench Log 

SL-16139-SA 3 1001-089 .SER 

A-2-93Page 250 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbe1t Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

Legend are presented in Appendix A. The subsurface conditions are also presented with respect 

to the proposed residence in Cross Section A-A', on the Engineering Geologic Site Map in 

Appendix A. In reviewing the boring and trench logs and legend, the reader should recognize 

that the legend is intended as a guideline only, and there are a number of conditions that may 

influence the soil characteristics as observed during trenching. These include, but are not limited 

to, the presence of cobbles or boulders, cementation, variations in soil moisture, presence of 

groundwater, and other factors. Consequently, the logger must exercise judgment in interpreting 

soil characteristics, possibly resulting in soil descriptions that vary somewhat from the legend. 

Laboratory Testing 

The ring samples were tested for unit weight and moisture (ASTM D 2937-04, as modified for 

ring liners). A bulk soil sample was tested for expansion index (ASTM D 4829-08a) and 

maximum density/optimum moisture (ASTM D 1557-09). Direct shear testing (ASTM 

D 3080-04) was performed on a bulk sample remolded to approximately 90 percent of the 

maximum dry density. Direct shear testing (ASTM D 3080-04, as modified for consolidated, 

undrained conditions) was also performed on three ring samples. The results of the laboratory 

tests are presented in Appendix B. 

3.0 GEOLOGY 

Geologic Site Setting 

The site lies within a northeast trending, relatively broad drainage swale. According to the 

geologic map of the Cayucos-San Luis Obispo Region (Hall and Prior, 1975) the site is underlain 

by Holocene slide debris (see the Geologic Map in Appendix C). 

Subsurface Geologic Profile 

The subsurface geologic profile encountered in the boring and the trenches consisted of 7 to 10 

feet of sandy fat clay alluvial soil with varying percentages of volcanic and serpentinite gravel 

and cobbles, which originated from the shallow soil slumps located in the head scarp area of the 

ancient landslide. Below the alluvium, ancient landslide debris was encountered; this material 

consisted of sandy lean clay with volcanic gravel, and sandy fat clay with a trace of volcanic 

gravel. The sandy lean clay with gravel an.cient landslide debris also contained occasional to 

abundant caliche deposits. Serpentinite and volcanic boulders and cobbles were observed along 

the alluvium/ancient landslide contact in Trench 3 which indicates a transition in the 

geomorphology at the site. 

SL-16139-SA 4 1001-089.SER 

A-2-94Page 251 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

As noted in the Conclusions section of this report, the site is on the margins of an ancient 

landslide, and it is not certain if the materials underlying this site are ancient landslide debris or 

in-place decomposed meta-volcanic rock and decomposed serpentinite. For the purposes of this 

report, the term ancient landslide debris will be utilized. 

Faulting 

The closest active fault to the site is the Hosgri fault, located approximately 8.0 miles west. The 

closest fault to the site (regardless of activity) is the Cambria fault. The Cambria fault is 

approximately 1,100 feet northeast of the site (see the Historical Eaiihquake/Fault Map in 

Appendix C). 

Groundwater 

Subsurface water was not encountered in the trenches or the boring to the maximum depth 

explored of 36.5 feet below the ground surface. However, due to the abundant caliche deposits 

observed during the field exploration it is likely that groundwater would be present in the 

alluvium during a wet winter. 

Slope Stability 

General 

During the site reconnaissance, no evidence of recent landsliding was observed on or upslope, or 

immediately adjacent to the site. Slope stability analyses were performed to evaluate the 

stability of the general site area with respect to the proposed site development and site 

topography, per Cross Section A-A' on the Engineering Geologic Site Map in Appendix A. The 

slope stability termination limits on Cross Section A-A' were not taken to the very northern end 

of the section or to the top of slope, as this area slopes away from the general site area in a 

northwestern direction, then the lower southwest trending slope. 

Method of Analysis 

The slope stability analyses were conducted with the PCSTABLS computer program, using the 

Modified Bishop method of slices for circular failure surfaces and the Modified Janbu method of 

slices for block failure surfaces. The common geotechnical standards for minimum factor of 

safety values are 1.5 for static slope stability and 1.1 for seismic slope stability. For 

conservatism, the site vicinity slope stability analyses were conducted with a piezometric water 

level along the ground surface, thus simulating total soil saturation conditions. 

SL-16139-SA 5 1001-089.SER 

A-2-95Page 252 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

Soil Strengths 

January 22, 2010 

The soil strengths shown in the following table and used in the analyses were obtained from 

direct shear tests performed on ring samples from the ancient landslide debris and the alluvium 

obtained during the field exploration. 

Seismic Coefficient 

ologic Unit 

Sandy fat clay 
alluvium 

Sandy lean clay 
(ancient 

landslide debris 

602 

394 (residual) 

akAngle o 
rnal Fri 

19°

21 ° (residnal) 

To simulate the accelerations produced by an earthquake, a horizontal seismic acceleration of 

0.15g was used in the pseudostatic stability analysis. This acceleration is recommended in 

"Special Publication 117" (California Division of Mines and Geology, 1997) and in 

"Recommended Procedures for Implementation of Division of Mines and Geology (DMG), 

Special Publication 117: Guidelines for Analyzing and Mitigating Landslide Hazards in 

California" (Blake, et al, 2002). 

Results 

The slope stability analyses indicated that, considering the proposed development, the site is 

grossly stable under static and seismic conditions, for both the circular and the block stability 

conditions. Factors of safety above the accepted minimums of 1.5 for static conditions and 1.1 

for seismic conditions were calculated for all four cases. The slope stability plots are included in 

Appendix C. 

4.0 SEISMICITY-SEISMIC HAZARDS 

Earthquake History 

The historic seismicity in the site region was researched using EQSEARCH (Blake, 2000, 

updated 2008) and the Boore and others (1997) method of analysis for stiff soil sites (So, CBC, 

2007). EQSEARCH is a computer program that performs automated searches of a custom 

catalog of historical Central California earthquakes. As the program searches the catalog, it 

computes the epicentral distance from the selected site to each of the earthquakes within the 

specified search area. The epicentral distances should be considered estimates, particularly for 

SL-16139-SA 6 1001-089.SER 

A-2-96Page 253 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-0 I 0 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

earthquake data prior to 1932, when instruments were first used to record earthquake data. The 

parameters used for the search consisted of earthquake Richter magnitudes ranging from 5.0 to 

9.0 that occurred within a 65-mile radius from the site from 1800 to 2008. 

Results of the search indicated that within the search parameters, 54 earthquakes have occurred. 

The highest peak horizontal ground acceleration estimated to have occurred at the site from those 

historical earthquakes is 0.15g. The earthquake that produced this acceleration had a 7.5 

magnitude and occurred in 1927; it was located approximately 3 7 miles southwest of the site, on 

the south.em end of the Hosgri-San Simeon fault, and is known as the 1927 "Lompoc" 

earthquake. The eaiihquake that occurred closest to the site had a magnitude of 5.9 and 

produced a peak horizontal ground acceleration of 0.14g; it was centered approximately 13.0 

miles north of the site. The earthquake magnitudes and locations returned by the search are 

plotted on the Historical Earthquake/Fault Map in Appendix C. The earthquake search data 

results (EQSEARCH) are also included in Appendix C. 

Seismic Hazards 

Ground Acceleration Parameters 

The site is in a region of generally high seismicity ai1d has the potential to experience strong 

ground shaking from earthquakes on regional or local causative faults. To characterize the 

seismicity at the site and to provide seismic design parameters for the architect/engineer, a 

Seismic Hazard Analysis was performed, using United States Geological Survey, Earthquake 

Hazards Program website (2009). The Design Response Acceleration Parameters are included in 

the following table: 

SUMMARY OF DESIGN RESPONSE ACCELERATION PARAMETERS 

Mapped 2007 CBC Site Coefficients and General Procedure Adjusted MCE 
Acceleration Values Spectral Response Acceleration Parameters 

for Site Class B For Site Class D 
Site Coordinates: 35.4237; -120.8759 

Seismic Value Site Seismic Value Seismic Value 

Parameter (g) Coefficients Value Parameter (g) Parameter (g) 

Ss 1.157 F, 1.037 SMs 1.20 Sos 0.800 

s, 0.458 F, 1.542 SM! 0.707 S01 0.471 

SL-16139-SA 7 1001-089.SER 

A-2-97Page 254 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

Surface Ground Rupture 

January 22, 2010 

The site is not in a State Earthquake Fault Zone, and there are no mapped faults crossing the 

building area. The closest active fault to the site is the Hosgri-San Simeon fault, located 8.0 

miles west. The closest fault to the site, regardless of activity, is the Pliocene-age Cambria fault, 

which is approximately 1,100 feet northeast of the site. As surface ground rupture requires the 

presence of a fault, the potential for surface fault rupture to occur at the site is considered to be 

very low to nil. 

Liquefaction and Lateral Spreading 

Due to the presence of predominantly clayey soils and gravel underlying the site, the potentials 

for seismically induced liquefaction and lateral spreading a.re nil. 

Naturally Occurring Asbestos 

There am no naturally occurring asbestos-bearing rock formations (serpentinite or ultramafic 

rock) exposed along the near ground surface of the site. The site is underlain predominantly by 

alluvium, and ancient landslide debris, which are not asbestos-bearing geologic units. 

Serpentinite gravels were found in the alluvium; however the quantity is not significant enough 

to be considered a hazard. 

Erosion and Flooding 

Surface water runoff on site is by sheet flow over the gently sloping terrain. No evidence of 

erosion damage such as rilling or gullying was observed on the site. The thread of a drainage 

swale trends along the northwest property boundary (see the Site Photograph in Appendix A) and 

has the potential to transmit a high drainage flow along this area during an intense rainstorm. If 

significant flow does occur, there is a high potential for flooding of the residence. 

5.0 CONCLUSIONS 

Engineering Geology 

General 

In our opinion, the site is suitable, from an engineering geology standpoint, for the proposed 

project, provided the recommendations contained herein are implemented in the design and 

construction. 

SL-16139-SA 8 1001-089.SER 

A-2-98Page 255 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

According to the geologic map of the Cayucos-San Luis Obispo Region (Hall and Prior, 1975) 

the site is underlain by Holocene slide debris (see the Geologic Map in Appendix C). Our 

subsurface exploration encountered a relatively thick layer of sandy fat clay alluvium underlain 

by sandy lean clay with gravel and sandy fat clay, which is either ancient landslide debris or in

place decomposed meta-volcanic rock. However, the geomorphology within the vicinity does 

not appear to exhibit slide conditions. The 3D Site Aerial Photograph in Appendix C depicts 

landslides in the vicinity of the site, as well as the approximate extent of the landslide per Hall 

and Prior (1975); in our opinion, the geomorphology of the area indicates that the site is not 

within the landslide. The well-developed blocky soil structure observed in the alluvium also 

suggests that the area has been in a low energy (i.e., stable) state for at least 2,500 years. 

Ancient landslides are common in the Morro Bay and Cayucos areas. Geomorphically, they are 

elongated earthflow-type slides. Over time, the foot of the slide becomes stable due to the large 

mass of soil and rock that accumulates at the toe and the gently sloping terrain that underlies it. 

The head of the slide still remains active in the form of isolated, shallow soil slumps that occur 

along the head walls. This is the case with the ancient landslide on the north side of this site. 

The slide debris that accumulates from these shallow soil slun1ps along the head scarp walls of 

this ancient slide flows downslope to the upper main body of the slide, or along the two side 

drainages that bound the slide to the north and south. Due to the small sizes of these soil slumps, 

it is unlikely that they could reach the site or the toe of the slide. Based on observations made 

during the site reconnaissance, it appears that the majority of the soil slump debris gets eroded or 

washed into the north and south side drainages as alluvium, which was encountered during the 

subsurface field exploration (see the 3D Site Aerial Photograph in Appendix C). The drainage 

that bounds the southern flank of the ancient landslide and lies along the northern property 

boundary of the site is the active thread of this relatively broad drainage swale that extends to 

Chaney Avenue. Based on previous studies in this area (Earth Systems Pacific, 2004a, 2004b, 

2009a and 2009b ), the south ridge generally consist of a large block of Cretaceous sandstone that 

is absent of landsliding. It includes most of the northern part of Chaney Avenue and the eastern 

end of Gilbert Avenue. At the southwestern end of Chaney Avenue serpentinite was 

encountered. 

Slope Stability 

No evidence of recent landsliding was observed on or immediately adjacent to the site. The 

gross slope stability analyses of the site vicinity with the proposed development indicated 

stability under both static and seismic conditions. 

SL-16139-SA 9 1001-089.SER 

A-2-99Page 256 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

Seismicity 

January 22, 2010 

The highest peak horizontal ground acceleration estimated to have occurred at the site from 

historical earthquakes is 0.15g, from the 7.5 magnitude 1927 "Lompoc" earthquake. The seismic 

parameters calculated in accordance with the 2007 CBC site modified spectral acceleration of 

0.800g at 0.20 second and a peak ground acceleration of 0.32g. The site is not in a State 

Earthquake Fault Zone, and there are no mapped faults crossing it. As surface ground rupture 

requires the presence of a fault, the potential for surface fault rupture to occur at the site is 

considered to be very low to nil. Due to the presence of predominantly clayey soil underlying 

the site, the potentials for seismically induced lateral spreading and liquefaction on site are nil. 

Naturally Occurring Asbestos 

There are no naturally occurring asbestos bearing rock formations (serpentinite or ultramafic 

rock) on site. Serpentinite gravels were found in the alluvium, however the quantity is not 

significant enough to be considered a hazard. 

Erosion and Flooding 

A potential for flooding and deposition of erosional debris does exist on the north and east sides 

of the proposed residence, from the drainage along the north property line. To reduce the 

potential for flooding and erosional debris to affect the residence, a debris retaining wall with a 

minimum height of 4 feet above the adjacent ground surface should be constructed along the 

north and east property lines. Maintenance of this drainage path and removal of accumulated 

debris will be necessary for protection of the residence. 

Geotechnical Engineering 

General 

In our opinion, the site is suitable for the proposed residence from a geotechnical engineering 

standpoint, provided that the recommendations contained herein are implemented in the design 

and construction. The primary concerns, from a geotechnical engineering standpoint, are the 

need to control both surface and subsurface water, the potential for differential settlement, the 

expansion potential of the soil, and the erosion potential of the soil. 

SL-16139-SA 10 1001-089.SER 

A-2-100Page 257 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-0 I 0 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

Surface and Subsurface Water 

January 22, 2010 

Although subsurface water was not found in the trenches, it is known to exist in this general area, 

particularly during the wetter months of the year. As noted previously, the abundant caliche 

deposits observed during the field exploration are an indicator that groundwater would be present 

in the alluvium during a wet winter. Consequently, control of surface and subsurface water on 

this site will be critical. All surface water should be directed to appropriate collection points, and 

drainage should not be allowed to flow over the tops of any slopes or retaining walls. All 

retaining walls (structure and sitework) should be fully drained, and subslab blanket drains 

should be provided below the lower level slabs-on-grade. 

Differential Settlement 

Differential settlement can occur when a foundation system spans materials with differences in 

compression characteristics, such as the alluvium that was noted as being soft at the surface and 

very stiff at depth. Differential settlement can stress and damage foundations, often resulting in 

severe cracks and displacement. To reduce the potential for differential settlement and to 

provide more uniform bearing conditions, all foundations should extend through any soft upper 

soils and a minimum of I foot into the underlying very stiff material. The recommended 

deepening of foundations to mitigate the expansive soil potential, per the following paragraph, 

should expose very stiff bearing soils in all areas, and only localized deepening of foundations 

may be needed. 

Expansive Soils 

The result of expansion index testing on a sample of the upper soils was 134. Therefore, per 

CBC 1802.3.2, the site soils are expansive; this particular value is considered to be highly 

expansive. Expansive soils tend to swell with seasonal increases in soil moisture and shrink 

during the dry season as soil moisture decreases. The volume changes that the soils undergo in 

this cyclical pattern can stress and damage slabs and foundations if precautionary measures are 

not incorporated into the design and construction. A minimum overall foundation depth of 3 3 

inches below lowest adjacent grade is recommended to mitigate the expansive soil potential. 

Grade beams should be added to interconnect isolated spread footings. It is also recommended 

that reinforcement be provided for foundations in addition to typical minimum amounts. 

Imported nonexpansive soils, and premoistening of the underlying native soils, are recommended 

to provide protection for all slabs-on-grade. For the lower level slab-on-grade, the imported 

nonexpansive soils are in addition to the subslab drain system previously discussed. 

SL-16139-SA 11 1001-089.SER 

A-2-101Page 258 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

Erosion Potential 

January 22, 2010 

The on-site soils are considered to be erodible. All finished slopes or other surfaces ( cut or fill) 

disturbed by construction and not covered by permanent improvements should be covered with 

erosion matting placed according to the recommendations of the manufacturer and re-vegetated, 

as per the requirements of the architect/engineer. Maintenance of irrigation and vegetation is 

critical to the long-term surficial stability of the site. 

6.0 PRELIMINARY GEOTECHNICAL RECOMMENDATIONS 

These recommendations are applicable for the residence as described in the "Introduction" 

section of this report. If locations, elevations, structural loads, etc., change, the 

reconm1endations contained herein may require modification. In developing the following 

recommendations it was assumed that irrigated landscaping, pavement, flatwork or other 

provisions that would keep the soils at relatively uniform, year-round moisture, will be installed 

for a zone of at least five feet around the perimeter of the structure and all other improvements. 

The "building area" is defined as the area within the perimeter of the proposed residence. The 

building area includes the footprint of any retaining walls, canopies or other features that are 

attached to the residence and are expected to perform in a marrner similar to it The "pavement 

area" is defined as the area within and extending a minimum of 1 foot beyond the perimeter of 

areas to receive HMA or PCC pavement. The "grading area" is the entire area to be graded, 

including the building and pavement areas. 

Site Preparation 

1. The ground surface in the grading area should be prepared for construction by removing

all vegetation, large roots, debris, and other deleterious materials. Existing utility lines

that will not be serving the new residence should be either removed or abandoned. The

appropriate method of utility abandonment will depend upon the type and depth of the

utility. Recommendations for abandonment can be made as necessary.

2. Voids created by the removal of materials or utilities described above and extending

below the recommended depth of overexcavation should be called to the attention of the

soils engineer. No fill should be placed unless the underlying soil has been observed by a

representative of the soils engineer.

SL-16139-SA 12 1001-089.SER 

A-2-102Page 259 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

Grading 

January 22, 2010 

1. Following site preparation and excavations to grade, soil in building areas to receive

slabs-on-grade should be removed to a level plane at a depth of 24 inches below bottom

of-slab elevation. The resulting soil surface should be scarified to a minimum depth of 1

foot, moisture conditioned to at least 2 percent above optimum moisture content, and

recompacted.

2. Prior to placement of fill or following any excavations to grade in pavement areas and the

balance of the grading area, the prepared soil surface should be scarified to a minimum

depth of 1 foot, moisture conditioned to, or just above, optimum moisture content, and

recompacted.

3. Previously removed soils and appropriate imported soils, once cleared of any vegetation

and deleterious materials and thoroughly mixed to a reasonably uniform consistency, may

be used as fill beyond the building area to finish grade or to the bottom of the pavement

section, and up to 24 inches below bottom-of-slab elevation in areas to receive slabs-on

grade. The final 24 inches below bottom-of-slab elevation for the lower level of the first

floor (the garage level) should consist of a subslab drainage system, imported

nonexpansive materials and a clean sand layer (if utilized) as per the "Slabs-on-Grade

and Exterior Flatwork" section of this report. The final 24 inches below bottom-of-slab

elevation for any other areas above the lower level of the first floor (the garage level) to

receive slabs-on-grade should consist of imported nonexpansive materials and a clean

sand layer (if utilized) as per the "Slabs-on-Grade and Exterior Flatwork" section of this

report.

4. A subslab drain system should be installed below the slabs-on-grade of the lower level

(the garage level). The subslab drain system should consist of a minimum thickness of 8

inches of clean, free draining, crushed gravel placed over the excavated subgrade. Prior

to placement of the gravel, the subgrade should be sloped at a minimum of 1 percent to a

low point or flow line, or a series of low points or flow lines. The spacing of the low

points or flow lines in the subgrade need not be uniform across the slab area; they can be

adjusted as needed to avoid interior footings, utility lines, etc. Also, prior to placement of

the gravel, the excavated soil surface should be moistened to at least 2 percent above

optimum moisture content and no desiccation cracks should be present. Minimum 2-inch

diameter, rigid perforated PVC collection pipes should be placed (perforations downward)

SL-16139-SA 13 1001-089.SER 

A-2-103Page 260 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 20 I 0 

at the flow lines, or drainage inlets should be provided at the low points, to collect 

drainage. The collection pipes should be extended at a minimum 0.5 percent gradient and 

connected to a solid rigid PVC pipe. The solid pipe should be extended through the 

perimeter foundation, and discharged at an appropriate outlet. The gravel layer should be 

compacted in two orthogonal directions using a heavy vibrating plate compactor. A 

permeable synthetic geotextile filter fabric conforming to Standard Specifications Section 

88-1.03 for Underdrains (Caltrans, 2006) should be placed on top of the gravel layer,

followed by a minimum of 12 inches of imported nonexpansive material and the 

minimum 4-inch clean sand layer and vapor retarder, (if utilized) as per the "Slabs-on

Grade and Exterior Flatwork" section of this report. If the clean sand layer and vapor 

retarder, as per the "Slabs-on-Grade and Exterior Flatwork" section of this report, is not 

utilized, the imported nonexpansive material layer should be increased to a minimum 

thickness of 16 inches. The filter fabric is intended to reduce the poteutial for the 

imported uonexpansive material to migrate into the void spaces in the gravel layer. 

5. Nonexpansive materials am defined as belonging in the GW, GP, GM, GC, SP, SW, SC

and SM categories per ASTM D 2487-06, and that have an expansion index of 10 or less

(ASTM D 4829-08a). Proposed imported nonexpa11sive materials should be reviewed by

the soils engineer before being brought to the site, and on an intermittent basis during

placement. The subslab sand layer (if utilized) described in the "Slabs-on-Grade and

Exterior Flatwork" section of this report is considered to be part of the minimum 24

inches of impo1ted nonexpansive material, not in addition to it.

6. Prior to placement of any fill, the underlying soil surfaces should be moisture conditioned

to at least 2 percent above optimum moisture content, and no desiccation cracks should

be present.

7. Voids created by dislodging rocks and/or debris during scarification should be backfilled

and recompacted, and the dislodged materials should be removed from the work area.

8. All materials used as fill should be cleaned of all debris, and any rocks larger than 3

inches in diameter. If fill material includes rocks, the rocks should be placed in a

sufficient soil matrix to ensure that voids caused by nesting of the rocks will not occur

and that the fill can be properly compacted.

SL-16139-SA 14 1001-089.SER 

A-2-104Page 261 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

9. All highly expansive site soils used as fill should be placed with moisture contents at

least 2 percent above optimum moisture content. All other materials used as fill should

be placed with moisture contents at, or just above, optimum moisture content. Moisture

contents well in excess of optimum should be avoided, as unstable conditions could result

and mitigating measures (as noted in the following paragraph) could be needed.

10. Depending on in situ soil moisture content at the time of construction, there is a potential

for the site soils to become unstable during grading. Unstable soils would be difficult to

properly compact and are unsuitable for the placement of additional lifts of fill. Methods

to correct instability include scarification and aeration of the soils in place, or the

placement of gravel layers or geotextiles. The appropriate method to be utilized should

be determined by a representative of this firm based on the conditions observed at the

time of construction.

11. The recommended soil moisture content should be maintained throughout construction,

and during the life of the residence. Failure to maintain the soil moisture content can

result in desiccation cracks and disturbance, which are an indication of degradation of

soil compaction. If desiccation cracks are allowed to develop, or if soils desiccate near

improvements such as foundations and flatwork, damage to those improvements may

result. Soils that have cracked due to desiccation or are otherwise disturbed should be

removed, moisture conditioned, and recompacted.

12. Foundations, curbs, pavement and other improvements should be set back a minimum

distance of 5 feet from the top of any slopes, to reduce the potential for movement and

edge cracking due to seasonal expansion and contraction of expansive soils. If this

setback distance can not be maintained, then the curbs should be deepened or cut-off

walls should be installed. The soils engineer should address deepening of improvements

on an individual case basis.

13. In general, all fill should be placed in maximum lifts of 8 inches in loose thickness and

compacted to a minimum of 90 percent of the maximum dry density. The upper 12

inches of subgrade and all aggregate base in areas to be paved with HMA or PCC

pavement should be compacted to a minimum of 95 percent of maximum dry density.

Aggregate base and subgrade should be firm and unyielding when proofrolled by heavy

rubber-tired equipment prior to paving.

SL-16139-SA 15 1001-089.SER 

A-2-105Page 262 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

14. The subfloor area below any raised wood floors should be graded to a low point or a

series of low points, and drain inlets should be provided at the low points to direct any

accumulated water to an appropriate outlet. As an alternative to surface drain inlets in the

subfloor area, gravel drains or prefabricated panel-type intercept drains can be provided

in the subfloor area to collect and discharge accumulated water. The gravel drains should

be a minimum of 12 inches wide and 12 inches deep, and drained with a rigid perforated

PVC pipe.

15. Cut and fill slopes (if any) should be constructed no steeper than 2: 1 (horizontal to

vertical). All fill slopes should be constructed by overfilling and trimming back to the

design gradient.

16. All areas disturbed by construction should be compacted and covered with erosion

matting (Greenfix America CFO72-RP erosion matting or equivalent). Disturbed areas

should be seeded and irrigated to maintain the vegetation; however care should be taken

to not over-irrigate the slopes, so that erosion or surficial instability does not occur.

Utility Trenches 

l. Utility trenches adjacent to footings should not be excavated within the zone of

foundation influence, as shown in Typical Detail A in Appendix D.

2. Utilities that must pass beneath a foundation should be placed with properly compacted

utility trench backfill and the foundation should be designed to span the trench.

3. A select, noncorrosive, granular, easily compacted material should be used as bedding

and shading immediately around utilities. The site soil or imported nonexpansive soil

may be used for trench backfill above the select material. Within areas to receive slabs

on-grade, the final 24 inches of trench backfill below bottom-of-slab elevation should

consist of the subslab drain layer (for the lower floor garage level), imported

nonexpansive material and the clean sand layer (if utilized), as per the "Grading" section

of this report. Within areas to receive pavement, that portion of any utility trench in the

aggregate base zone should also be backfilled with aggregate base.

SL-16139-SA 16 1001-089.SER 

A-2-106Page 263 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

4. In general, trench backfill should be compacted to a minimum of 90 percent of maximum

dry density. A minimum of 95 percent of maximum dry density should be maintained for

all trenches in the upper 12 inches of subgrade and in aggregate base in pavement areas.

A minimum of 85 percent of maximum dry density will generally be sufficient where

trench backfill is located in landscaped or other unimproved areas where settlement

would not be detrimental.

5. Trench backfill should be placed in level lifts not exceeding 6 inches in loose thickness

and compacted to the minimums noted above. Trench backfill should be moisture

conditioned to at least optimum moisture content prior to application of compactive

effort.

6. For compaction of trench backfill soils by jetting to be successful, a free drainage path

must be provided that will allow the water to dissipate very rapidly without causing

erosion within the trench. Due to the clay on this site, drainage of trench backfill may not

occur rapidly and/or the trench backfill may erode. Therefore, jetting of utility trench

backfill should only be attempted with extreme caution, and only for such utilities as joint

trenches with multiple, closely spaced pipes and trenches for corrugated storm drains,

where compaction by conventional means would be difficult. Any jetting operation

should be subject to review by the soils engineer.

7. Where utility trenches will slope steeper than 10 percent, sand-cement slurry or lean

concrete plugs (seepage collars) should be placed in the trenches on maximum 25-foot

centers. The plugs should extend a minimum of 1 foot into the sidewalls and 1 foot

below the bottom of the trench. The top of the plug should be a minimum of 1 foot above

the top of the utility. A gravel pocket drain should be constructed up gradient of each

plug. Each drain should consist of a minimum of 1 cubic foot of free-draining gravel per

foot of trench width. The gravel should be wrapped in a permeable synthetic filter fabric

conforming to Standard Specifications Section 88-1.03 for Underdrains (Caltrans, 2006).

A minimum 1.5-inch diameter rigid PVC pipe should extend from the gravel drain at a

minimum 1 percent slope to an appropriate outlet.

8. The recommendations of this section are minimums only, and may be superseded by the

requirements of pipe manufacturers, utility companies or the governing jurisdiction.

SL-16139-SA 17 1001-089.SER 

A-2-107Page 264 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

Foundations 

January 22, 2010 

1. Continuous and spread footings bearing a minimnm of 12 inches into very stiff allnvium,

and with a minimnm embedment of 33 inches below lowest adjacent grade, may be used

to suppo1i the residence. Foundation excavations should be horizontal and stepped to

accommodate any slope of the very stiff alluvinm and to maintain the minimnm overall

embedment relative to changes in lowest adjacent grade. Foundation excavations that

have been deepened to follow the slope of the alluvium or the adjacent grade should be

completely backfilJed with structural concrete.

2. Spread footings should be a minimnm of 2 feet square. Spread footings should be

interconnected with grade beams to the perimeter foundations on at least two sides to

create a foundation system that acts as a unit. The grade beams should be a minimum of

12 inches wide and 33 inches deep. A similar grade beam should be provided across the

vehicle opening for the garage.

3. Continuous footings and grade beams should be reinforced, at a minimum, by four No. 5

rebar, two at the top and two at the bottom, or as required by the architect/engineer.

Spread footings should be reinforced in accordance with the requirements of the

architect/engineer.

4. Foundations should not bear in retaining wall backfill. All foundations adjacent to

retaining walls should be extended through any backfill to bear in the very stiff aJJuvium

as previously described.

5. Footings bearing as previously recommended may be designed using maximum

allowable bearing capacities of 2,000 psf dead load and 3,000 psf dead plus live loads.

Using these criteria, maxim nm settlement and differential settlement are expected to be

¾-inch and ½-inch in 25 feet, respectively.

6. Allowable bearing capacities may be increased by one-third when transient loads such as

wind or seismicity are included. Foundations may be designed using the following 2007

CBC seismic parameters, as calculated by the USGS Earthquake Hazards program

website (August, 2009) for coordinates of35.4237 N and 120.8759 W:

SL-16139-SA 18 1001-089 .SER 

A-2-108Page 265 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

Site Classification (CBC Table 1613.5.2) 

Mapped Spectral Accelerations (Site Class B) 

D 

0.2 second period- Ss 1.157 g 

1.0 second period- S1 0.458g 

Design Response Spectral Acceleration Parameters 

0.2 second period- SDs 0.800g 

1.0 second period- SDI 0.471g 

January 22, 2010 

7. Lateral loads may be resisted by friction and by passive resistance of the soil acting on

foundations. Lateral capacity is based on the assumption that backfill adjacent to

foundations is properly compacted. Please refer to the "Retaining Walls" section of this

report for criteria.

8. Footing and grade beam excavations should be observed by the soils engineer during

excavation, and prior to placement of reinforcing steel or concrete. The soil in the

footing and grade beam excavations should be moistened to at least 2 percent above

optimum moisture content, and there should be no desiccation cracks present, prior to

concrete placement.

Slabs-on-Grade and Exterior Flatwork 

I. Interior slabs-on-grade and exterior pedestrian flatwork should have a minimum thickness

of 4 full inches. Reinforcement size, placement, and dowels should be as directed by the

architect/engineer; minimum slab reinforcement should consist of No. 4 rebar placed at 18

inches on-center each way. At a minimum, slabs should be doweled to footings and grade

beams with No. 4 dowels lapped to the slab rebar at 18-inches on center.

2. Exterior slabs to support vehicles should have a minimum thickness of 5 full inches, and

should be designed by the architect/engineer. Design of exterior slabs to support vehicles

may be based on a modulus of subgrade reaction (K30) 150 psi/inch (pci). If a minimum

of 12 inches of Class 2 aggregate base (AB) per Standard Specifications Section 26

(Caltrans, 2006), compacted to a minimum of 95 percent of maximum dry density, is

provided below exterior slabs to support vehicles, the design modulus of subgrade

reaction (K3o) value may be increased to 350 psi/inch (pci). If the modulus of subgrade

reaction for 12 inches of AB is utilized in the design, a clean sand layer should not be

SL-16139-SA 19 1001-089.SER 

A-2-109Page 266 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venne, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

utilized below the slab, as the modulus of subgrade reaction will be reduced. 

Reinforcement size, placement, and slab dowels for exterior slabs to support vehicles 

should be as directed by the architect/engineer; minimum reinforcement for slabs to 

support vehicles should consist of No. 4 rebar placed at 18 inches on-center each way. 

3. Due to the current use of impermeable floor coverings, water-soluble flooring adhesives,

and the speed at which buildings are now constructed, moisture vapor transmission

through slabs is a much more common problem than in past years. Where moisture vapor

transmitted from the underlying soil would be undesirable, such as where interior slabs

are planned, the slabs should be protected from subsurface moisture vapor. A number of

options for vapor protection are discussed below; however, the means of vapor

protection, including the type and thickness of the vapor retarder, if specified, are left to

the discretion of the architect/engineer.

4. Several recent studies, including those of ACI Committees 302 and 306, have concluded

that excess water above the vapor retarder increases the potential for moisture damage to

floor coverings and could increase the potential for mold growth or other microbial

contamination. The studies also concluded that it is preferable to eliminate the typical

sand layer beneath the slab and place the slab concrete in direct contact with a "Class A"

vapor retarder, particularly during wet weather construction. However, placing the

concrete directly on the vapor retarder requires special attention to using the proper vapor

retarder (see discussion below), a very low water-cement ratio in the concrete mix, and

special finishing and curing techniques.

5. Probably the next most effective option would be vapor-inhibiting admixtures and/or

surface sealers. This would also require special concrete mixes and placement

procedures, depending upon the recommendations of the admixture or sealer

manufacturer.

6. Another option that may be a reasonable compromise between effectiveness and cost

considerations is the use of a subslab vapor retarder protected by a sand layer. If a Class

A vapor retarder (see discussion below) is specified, the retarder can be placed directly

on the (nonexpansive) soil. The retarder should be covered with a minimum 2 inches of

clean sand. If a less durable vapor retarder is specified (i.e. ASTM E 1745-97/04, Class

B or C), a minimum of 4 inches of clean sand should be provided, and the retarder should

SL-16139-SA 20 1001-089.SER 

A-2-110Page 267 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

be placed in the center of the clean sand layer. Clean sand is defined as a well or poorly 

graded sand (ASTM D 2488-09a) of which less than 3 percent passes the No. 200 sieve. 

Clean sand, if utilized, is considered to be part of the minimum 24-inch thickness of 

nonexpansive imported materials recommended in the "Grading" section of this report to 

be placed below slabs-on-grade, not in addition to it. 

7. Where specified, vapor retarders should conform to ASTM Standard E 1745-97/04. This

standard specifies properties for three performance classes; Class A, B and C. The

appropriate class should be selected based on the sensitivity of floor coverings to

moisture intrusion and the potential for damage to the vapor retarder during placement of

slab reinforcement and concrete.

8. Regardless of the underslab vapor retarder selected, proper installation of the retarder is

critical for optimum performance. Where utilized, the vapor retarder should be placed a

minimum of 1 inch above the flow line of the drainage path surrounding the structure, or

1 inch above the area drain grates if area drains are used to collect runoff around the

structure. Care should be taken to properly lap and seal the retarder, particularly around

utilities, and to protect it from damage during construction.

9. The nonexpansive material beneath slabs, and the sand between the vapor retarder and

the slab (if utilized) should be moistened only as necessary to promote concrete curing;

saturation of any sand that lies above the vapor retarder should be avoided, as the excess

moisture atop the vapor retarder could result in vapor transmission through the slab for a

period of months or years.

10. In conventional construction, it is connnon to use a minimum of 4 inches of sand beneath

exterior flatwork. Due to the expansive soil conditions, there is a serious risk of

movement and damage to such flatwork if conventional measures are used. Heaving and

cracking are likely to occur. This movement could be reduced by the placement of

additional nonexpansive material beneath the flatwork. If the performance of the

flatwork is intended to be similar to the structure, then up to 24 inches of nonexpansive

material should be provided below it. If it is acceptable for the flatwork to experience

minor movement, then the thickness of the nonexpansive soil can be reduced. The

thickness of the layer should be determined by the client and/or architect/engineer.

SL-16139-SA 21 1001-089.SER 

A-2-111Page 268 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

11. Another measure that can be taken to reduce the risk of movement of flatwork due to

expansive soils is to provide thickened edges or grade beams around the perimeters of the

f!atwork. If the performance of the flatwork is intended to be similar to the structure,

then the thickened edges or grade beams could be up to 33 inches deep. Ifit is acceptable

for the flatwork to experience minor movement, then the thickened edges or grade beams

can be reduced. The thickened edges or grade beams should also be reinforced by at least

two No. 5 rebar, one at the top and one at the bottom.

12. Flatwork should be constructed with frequent joints to allow articulation as the flatwork

moves in response to seasonal soil moisture variations.

13. Where it is desired to maintain the elevation of flatwork at doorways and other areas, the

flatwork should be doweled to the perimeter foundations or adjacent improvements, at a

minimum, by No. 4 dowels lapped to the flatwork rebar at 18 inches on-center. In other

areas, the flatwork may be doweled to the foundation or the f!atwork may be allowed to

"float free," at the discretion of the architect/engineer. Flatwork that is intended to float

free should be separated from foundations by a felt joint or other means.

14. To reduce shrinkage cracks in concrete, the concrete aggregates should be of appropriate

size and proportion, the water/cement ratio should be low, the concrete should be

properly placed and finished, contraction joints should be installed, and the concrete

should be properly cured. Concrete materials, placement, and curing specifications

should be at the direction of the architect/engineer; ACI 302.1 R-04 is suggested as a

resource for the architect/engineer in preparing such specifications.

Retaining Walls 

1. Footings for all retaining walls should bear a minimum of 12 inches into the very stiff

alluvium, with a minimum overall depth (not including the keyway) of 33 inches below

lowest adjacent grade. Retaining wall footings should be reinforced, at a minimum, by

four No. 5 re bar, two at the top and two at the bottom, or as required by the engineer.

SL-16139-SA 22 1001-089.SER 

A-2-112Page 269 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

2. Retaining wall design should be based on the following parameters:

Active equivalent fluid pressure (imported sand or gravel) ........ 35 pcf 

At-rest equivalent fluid pressure (imported sand or gravel) ........ 50 pcf 

Passive equivalent fluid pressure .............................................. 225 pcf 

Maximum toe pressure ............................................................ 3,000 psf 

Coefficient of sliding friction .......................................................... 0.30 

3. No surcharges are taken into consideration in the above values. The maximum toe

pressure is an allowable value; no factors of safety, load factors or other factors have

been applied to the remaining values. With the exception of the maximum toe pressure,

these values will require application of appropriate factors of safety, load factors, and/or

other factors as deemed appropriate by the architect/engineer.

4. The soils encountered in the upper 7 to 10 feet across the site were classified by the

Unified Soil Classification System (ASTM D 2488-09a) as sandy fat clay (CH); per 2007

CBC Section 1610.1 and Table 1610.1, these soils are not suitable for retaining wall

backfill, and therefore they should not be used for this purpose. With the exception of the

upper foot of sitework retaining wall backfill, as described in Paragraph 9 of this section,

all retaining walls should be backfilled with imported sand or gravel.

5. To accommodate seismic loads of imported sand or gravel backfill on retaining walls, a

seismic active pressure of 29 pcf, and a seismic at-rest pressure of 46 pcf should be used

in addition to the static equivalent fluid pressures noted in Paragraph 2. These seismic

pressures should be considered as uniformly distributed, and may be analyzed like any

other uniform surcharge, with the resultant acting at one-half the height of the retaining

wall.

6. The active and at-rest pressures noted in the previous paragraphs are applicable to a

horizontal retained surface behind the wall. Walls having a retained surface that slopes

upward from the wall should be designed for an additional equivalent fluid pressure of 1

pcf for the active case and 1.5 pcf for the at-rest case, for every degree of slope

inclination. It is assumed that wall heights will not exceed 5 feet.

SL-16139-SA 23 1001-089.SER 

A-2-113Page 270 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

7. Long-term settlement of properly compacted sand or gravel retaining wall backfill should

be assumed to be about 0.25 to 0.5 percent of the depth of the backfill. Improvements

that are constructed near the tops of retaining walls should be designed to accommodate

the estimated settlement.

8. Foundations should not bear in retaining wall backfill. All foundations should be

extended through any backfill, to match the bearing conditions of the balance of the

structure. Alternately, foundations may be designed to span from the retaining wall to a

point behind a 1: 1 plane extended from the base of the wall upward.

9. As noted in Paragraph 4 of this section, all retaining walls should be backfilled with

imported sand or gravel; the imported sand or gravel should be utilized exclusively above

a 1: 1 plane from the base of the wall to 1 foot below finish grade behind any wall that

does not have a slab-on-grade or pavement abutting the top of the wall. To reduce the

potential for surface drainage to enter the retaining wall drain system, the upper foot

should be backfilled with on-site soil; this is the only condition where the on-site soils

may be utilized as retaining wall backfill. Where slabs-on-grade or pavement will abut

the top of the wall, the sand or gravel backfill should extend to the nonexpansive material

or AB below the slab-on-grade or pavement.

10. All retaining walls should be drained with perforated pipe encased in a free draining

gravel blanket. The pipe should be placed perforations downward and should discharge

in a nonerosive manner away from foundations and other improvements. Cleanouts

should be provided for the drains on maximum 25-foot centers. The gravel blanket

should have a width of approximately 1 foot and should extend upward to approximately

1 foot from the top of the wall backfill. As noted in Paragraph 9 of this section, the upper

foot should be backfilled with native soil, except in areas where slabs-on-grade or

pavement will abut the top of the wall. In such cases, the gravel should extend to the

nonexpansive material or the AB below the slabs-on-grade or pavement. To reduce

infiltration .of the soil into the gravel, a permeable synthetic fabric conforming to Caltrans

Standard Specifications, Section 88-1.03 for under drains, should be placed between the

two. Manufactured synthetic drains such as Miradrain or Enkadrain are acceptable

alternatives to the use of gravel, provided that they are installed in accordance with the

recommendations of the manufacturer. Where weep hole drainage can be properly

SL-16139-SA 24 1001-089.SER 

A-2-114Page 271 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

discharged, the perforated pipe may be omitted in lieu of weep holes on maximum 4-foot 

centers. A filter fabric as described above should be placed between the weep holes and 

the drain gravel. 

11. Walls facing habitable areas or areas where moisture transmission through the wall would

be undesirable should be thoroughly waterproofed in accordance with the specifications

of the architect/engineer.

12. The architect/engineer should bear in mind that retaining walls by their nature are flexible

structures, and that surface treatments on walls often crack. Where walls are to be

plastered or otherwise have a finish applied, the flexibility should be considered in

determining the suitability of the surfacing material, spacing of horizontal and vertical

control joints, etc. The flexibility should also be considered where a retaining wall will

abut or be co1111ected to a rigid structure, and where the geometry of the wall is such that

its flexibility will vary along its length.

Drainage Around Improvements 

Considering the expansive soils on the site, the goal of finish grading, landscaping, and finish 

improvements should be to maintain the soils near the foundations at as uniform a moisture 

content as practicable. This will entail providing proper surface drainage so that runoff flows 

freely away from foundations and does not stand or pond near improvements. Maintaining 

uniform moisture near foundations will also entail protecting soils from prolonged drying that 

would result in desiccation and soil shrinkage. 

1. Unpaved ground surfaces should be graded during construction, and finish graded to

direct surface runoff away from foundations, retaining walls and other improvements at a

minimum 2 percent grade for a minimum distance of 5 feet. If this is not practicable due

to the terrain, proximity of property lines, etc., swales with improved surfaces, area

drains, or other drainage facilities should be provided to divert drainage away from these

areas.

2. Finished pavement surfaces should be sloped to freely drain toward appropriate drainage

facilities. Water should not be allowed to stand or pond on or adjacent to pavement as it

could infiltrate into the aggregate base and subgrade, causing premature pavement

deterioration.

SL-16139-SA 25 1001-089 .SER 

A-2-115Page 272 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

3. Any raised planter boxes constructed adjacent to the residence should be installed with

drains, and sealed sides and bottoms to prevent planter drainage from gaining access to

subslab or subfloor areas. Drains should also be provided in all areas adjacent to

foundations that would not otherwise drain freely.

4. All eaves of the residence should be provided with roof gutters. Runoff from roof

gutters, downspouts, area drains, weep holes, etc., should discharge to an appropriate

outlet in a nonerosive manner away from foundations and other improvements in

accordance with the requirements of the governing agencies. Erosion protection should

be placed at drainage outlets unless discharge is to an asphalt or concrete surface.

5. The sub floor area below any raised wood floors should be graded to a low point or a

series of low points, and drain inlets should be provided at the low points, to direct any

accumulated water to an appropriate outlet. As an alternative to surface drain inlets in the

subfloor area, gravel drains or prefabricated panel-type intercept drains can be provided

in the subfloor area to collect and discharge accumulated water. The gravel drains should

be a minimum of 12 inches wide and 12 inches deep, and drained with a rigid perforated

PVC pipe.

6. To reduce the potential for flooding and erosional debris to affect the residence, a debris

retaining wall with a minimum height of 4 feet above the adjacent ground surface should

be constructed along the north and east property lines. A V-ditch should be constructed

behind the debris retaining wall along the east property line. At a minimum, the V-ditch

should be lined with synthetic revegetation matting, such as Miramat or Enkamat. To

provide added protection against erosion, the V-ditch can be lined with asphalt concrete

(AC) or PCC. Drainage accumulated from the V-ditch should be directed to an

appropriate, nonerosive outlet beyond the residence and other improvements.

7. All finished slopes or other surfaces ( cut or fill) disturbed by construction and not

covered by pennanent improvements should be covered with erosion matting placed

according to the recommendations of the manufacturer and re-vegetated, as per the

requirements of the architect/engineer

SL-16139-SA 26 1001-089.SER 

A-2-116Page 273 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

8. The on-site soils are erodible. Stabilization of surface soils, paiticularly those disturbed

during construction, by vegetation or other means during and following construction is

essential to protect the site from erosion damage. Care should be taken to establish and

maintain vegetation. The landscaping should be installed to maintain the surface

drainage recommended above. Drainage should not be allowed to flow over any soils

that have not been protected from erosion.

Maintenance Program 

Maintenance of drainage paths, the debris retaining wall and other improvements will be critical 

to the long-term stability of the site and the integrity of the residence. The following site 

improvements should be inspected and maintained, as needed, on a regular basis. 

1. All exterior drains, all roof gutter downspouts and all retaining wall drains should be

cleaned and repaired as necessary to maintain free-flowing conditions.

2. Vegetation and erosion matting placed on areas disturbed by construction should be

maintained and repaired or supplemented as needed. Irrigation systems should be

maintained and adjusted so that the soils are not over-watered or allowed to desiccate.

3. To reduce migration of surface drainage into the subgrade, maintenance of pavement

areas is critical. Any cracks that develop in the pavement should be promptly sealed.

4. To reduce the potential for undermining of foundations, flatwork and other

improvements, all rodent activity should be aggressively controlled and kept to an

absolute minimum.

5. Maintenance of the V-ditch behind the debris retaining wall along the east property line,

the natural drainage along the north property line, and removal of accumulated debris

behind the debris retaining wall will be necessary for protection of the residence.

Observation and Testing 

1. It must be recognized that the recommendations contained in this report are based on a

limited number of trenches and a single boring completed at the site, and rely on

continuity of the subsurface conditions encountered.

SL-16139-SA 27 1001-089.SER 

A-2-117Page 274 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

2. Unless otherwise stated, the terms "compacted" and "recompacted" refer to soils placed

in level lifts not exceeding 8 inches in loose thickness and compacted to a minimum of 90

percent of maximum dry density.

3. Unless otherwise stated, "moisture conditioning" refers to the moistening or drying of

soils to, or just above, optimum moisture content, prior to application of compactive

effort.

4. The standard tests used to define maximum dry density and field density should be

ASTM D 1557-09 and ASTM D 6938-0Sa, respectively, or other methods acceptable to

the soils engineer and jurisdiction.

5. At a minimum, the soils engineer should be retained to provide:

• Review of final grading, utility, and foundation plans.
• Professional observation during grading, foundation excavation, and trench and

retaining wall backfill.

• Oversight of special inspection of soils.

6. Compaction of soils, and backfill of excavations, retaining walls and trenches, should be

considered to fall under Section 1704. 7 "Soils" of the CBC. Special inspection of

grading/backfill should be provided as per Section 1704. 7 and Table 1704. 7 of the CBC.

The special inspector should be under the direction of the soils engineer.

7. In our opinion, due to the scale of this project and with the approval of the building

official, periodic special inspections can be performed in lieu of continuous inspection to

verify use of proper materials, densities and lift thicknesses during placement and

compaction of backfill.

8. A program of quality control should be developed prior to beginning grading. The

contractor or project manager should determine any additional inspection items required

by the architect/engineer or the governing jurisdiction.

SL-16139-SA 28 1001-089.SER 

A-2-118Page 275 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, Califomia 

January 22, 2010 

9. In accordance with CBC Section 1803.5 the following locations and frequency of tests

are recommended. At a minimum, the special inspector should verify that:

• A minimum of two compaction tests are taken for each 1,000 square feet or

fraction thereof in areas to receive slabs-on-grade at pad grade and for every 1.5

feet of fill or recompacted soil.

• A minimum of two compaction tests are taken for every 1.5 feet of retaining wall

backfill, for every 25 linear feet of wall, or fraction thereof.

A minimum of one compaction test is taken in each site utility trench for every

1.5 feet above the pipe, for every 25 linear feet of trench, or fraction thereof.

• A minimum of two compaction tests are taken in the pavement areas at subgrade

and aggregate base grade for every 500 square feet of pavement or fraction

thereof.

10. The above recommendations relative to special inspection, and test location and

frequency may be subject to modification by the soils engineer, based upon soil, rock or

moisture conditions encountered, size and type of equipment used by the contractor, the

general trend of the results of compaction tests, or other factors.

11. A preconstruction conference between the owner, the soils engmeer, the special

inspector, the architect/engineer, and contractors is recommended to discuss plarmed

construction procedures and quality control requirements.

12. The soils engineer should be notified at least 48 hours prior to begiiming construction

operations. If Earth Systems Pacific is not retained to provide construction observation

and testing services, it shall not be responsible for the interpretation of the information by

others or any consequences arising therefrom.

7.0 CLOSURE 

Our intent was to perform the investigation in a marmer consistent with the level of care and skill 

ordinarily exercised by members of the profession currently practicing in the locality of this 

project and under similar conditions. No representation, warranty, or guarantee is either 

expressed or implied. This report is intended for the exclusive use by the client as discussed in 

the "Purpose and Scope of Work" section of this report. Application beyond the stated intent is 

strictly at the user's risk. 

SL-16139-SA 29 1001-089.SER 

A-2-119Page 276 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

This report is valid for conditions as they exist at this time for the type of project described 

herein. The conclusions and recommendations contained in this report could be rendered 

invalid, either in whole or in part, due to changes in building codes, regulations, standards of 

geotechnical or construction practice, changes in physical conditions, or the broadening of 

knowledge. 

If changes with respect to development type or location become necessary, if items not addressed 

in this report are incorporated into plans, or if any of the assumptions used in the preparation of 

this report are not correct, this firm shall be notified for modifications to this report. Any items 

not specifically addressed in this report should comply with the CBC and the requirements of the 

governing jurisdiction. 

The preliminary recommendations of this soils report are based upon the geotechnical conditions 

encountered at the site and may be augmented by additional requirements of the architect/ 

engineer, or by additional recommendations provided by this firm based on conditions exposed 

at the time of construction. 

This document, the data, conclusions, and recommendations contained herein are the property of 

Earth Systems Pacific. This report shall be used in its entirety, with no individual sections 

reproduced or used out of context. Copies may be made only by Earth Systems Pacific, the 

client, and the client's authorized agents for use exclusively on the subject project. Any other 

use is subject to federal copyright laws and the written approval of Earth Systems Pacific. 

Thank you for this opportunity to have been of service. If you have any questions, please feel 

free to contact this office at your convenience. 

End of Text. 

SL-16139-SA 30 1001-089.SER 

A-2-120Page 277 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

TECHNICAL REFERENCES 

January 22, 2010 

Blake, T. F., EQSEARCH: A Computer Program for the Estimation of Peak Horizontal 
Acceleration from California Historical Earthquake Catalogs, User's Manual, 2000, 
database updated 2008. 

Blake, et al, "Recommended Procedures for Implementation of Division of Mines and Geology 
(DMG), Special Publication 117: Guidelines for Analyzing and Mitigating Landslide 
Hazards in California," 2002. 

Boore, D. M., Joyner, W. B., and Furna!, T.E, "Empirical Near-Source Attenuation Relations for 
Horizontal and Vertical Components of Peak Ground Acceleration, Peak Ground 
Velocity, and Pseudo-Absolute Acceleration Response Spectra," Seismological Research 
Letters, 68-1, 1997. 

California Building Code (CBC), California Building Standards Commission, 2007 Edition. 

California Building Code (CBC), California Building Standards Commission, 2001 Edition. 

California Department of Transportation (Caltrans), "Standard Specifications," May 2006. 

California Division of Mines and Geology, "Special Publication 117," 1997. 

Danny Hom Land Surveys, Topographic Survey of APN 064-405-010, Gilbert Avenue, 
Cayucos, California, 2009. 

Earth Systems Pacific, Soils Engineering Report Update, Davis Residence, Lots 26 and 27, 
Chaney Avenue, Cayucos, California, doc. No. 0412-109.SER, dated December 20, 2004 
(a) 

Earth Systems Pacific, Geologic Hazards Report Update, Davis Residence, Lots 26 and 27, 
Chaney Avenue, Cayucos, California, doc. No. 0406-018.RPT, dated June 4, 2004 (b) 

Earth Systems Pacific, Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report, 3440 Davies Avenue, 
Cayucos, California, APN 064-431-015, Doc. No. 0902-039.SER, dated February 9, 2009 
(a) 

Earth Systems Pacific, Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report, Kanzler Residence, 
Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California, APN 064-405-013, Doc. No. 0908-137.SER, dated 
August 31, 2009 (b) 

Golden State Aerial Surveys, Aerial Photos GS00999-8-18 and GS 00999-8-19, November 11, 
2002. 

SL-16139-SA 31 1001-089.SER 

A-2-121Page 278 of 356



Stanley Residence, APN 064-405-010 
Gilbert A venue, Cayucos, California 

January 22, 2010 

Hall, C. A., and Prior, S. W., "Geologic Map of the Cayucos-San Luis Obispo Region, 
California," United States Geological Survey (Map MF-68), 1975. 

Jennings, C. W., "Fault Activity Map of California and Adjacent Areas," California Division of 
Mines and Geology Geologic Map 6, 1994. 

San Luis Obispo Connty, Department of Planning and Building, Guidelines for Engineering 
Geology Reports, January 2005. 

San Luis Obispo County, Geologic Study Area Database, 2009. 

United States Geologic Survey (USGS), Earthquake Hazards Program Website, August 2009. 

United States Geologic Survey (USGS), Cayucos Quadrangle Map, 1965 

Date Scale 
2002 l"= 1000' 

SL-16139-SA 

Air Stereo Photographs 

Source 
Golden State 

Aerial Surveys 

32 

Flight No. 
GS-00999-8-18 & 19 

1001-089.SER 

A-2-122Page 279 of 356



APPENDIX A 

Vicinity Map 
San Luis Obispo County Geological Study Area Map 

Site Photograph 
Air Stereo Photographs 

Engineering Geologic Site Map 
Boring Log 
Trench Logs 

Boring & Trench Log Legend 

A-2-123Page 280 of 356



Site Coordinates 

Lat.: 35.4237 
Long.: -120.8759 

Approx. Scale: 1" = 2000' 

VICINITY MAP 
STANLEY RESIDENCE 

Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 
Cayucos, California 

Extract from: USGS Cayucos Quadrangle, 1965 

0 EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC 

r .,,, 4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
Cr Januaiy 2010 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786

www.earthsys.com - email: esc@eaithsys.com 
SL-16139-SA 

A-2-124Page 281 of 356



0 

SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY GEOLOGICAL STUDY AREA MAP 
STANLEY RESIDENCE 

Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 
Cayucos, California 

EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
January 2010 

LEGEND 

D 
Selected Prope,rty

� 

• 

□ 

Streets 
Highways ! 
Parcel.s i 

I 

Geo1ogjc Study Area -1 
Fault Lines I 

I 

Geologic Study Area • I 
Landslide Risk I 

I 

Adjacent Counties I 
I 

San Luis Obis,po 
County 

REF.: SLO County Geologic Study Area Database, 2009 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786

www.earthsys.com - email: esc@earthsys.com 
SL-16139-SA A-2-125Page 282 of 356



... � 

0 

SITE PHOTOGRAPH 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

Thread of drainage swale 
� -� ,.� -�<=�

EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC 

, 
.-,-'1'}; .. ,Q4,,I'· �,.--,,c., '' .• , 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786

4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
January 2010 

www.earthsys.com - email: esc@earthsys.com 
SL-16139-SA 

A-2-126Page 283 of 356



STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 
AIR STEREO PHOTOGRAPHS: GS00999; 8-18 & 19 January 2010 SL-16139-SA 

A-2-127Page 284 of 356



160 

150 

140 

130 

120 

110 

100 

90 

80 

70 

60 

50 

40 

30 

FRANCISCAN MELANGE 
(sandstone) 

RANCI CAN ANGE 

NOTE: Base map provided by Danny Hom Land Surveys, 2009. 
Additional topographic data by Earth Systems Pacific, January 2010. 

/G\ Earth Systems Pacific

January 22, 2010 RLW 

t 
10 �-- I 

2,0

Scale: I" = 20' 

\�-- _ ALLUVIUM 
\ ....___ -- (sandy fat clay) 

30 
·j

\ 
-

" 
"' 

ANCIENT SLIDE DEBRIS 
(sandy lean clay with gravel) 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401-8116 

(805) 544-3276 • FAX (805) 544-1786
E-mail: esc@earthsys.com

SL-16139-SA 

'""" 

- !!

LEGEND 
B-1 J-...

T Boring Location (Approx.)

T-3 cg) Backhoe Trench Location (Approx.) 

-- -- -- Geologic Contact (Approx.) 

T-1 

PROPOSED RESIDENCE 

B-1 

---

ESIDENCE 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

160 

150 

140 

130 

CROSS SECTION A-A' 
120 

110 

90 

80 

70 

60 

_______ ,. 

w 
::::> 
z 
w 
> 
<( 

1-
0::'. 
w 
m 
_J 

A-2-128Page 285 of 356



¢: 0 o_ m
w-1! 
o-

12 

13 

" 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

24 

25 

26 

Earth Systems Pacific 

LOGGED BY: R. Wagner 
DRILL RIG: Mobile B-53 
AUGER TYPE: 8" Hollow Stem 

U) 

5 
(.) 

U) 
(.) >-
U) 

U) 

:::, 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-01 0 

Cayucos, California 

Alluvl!,Jm 
SANDY FAT CLAY: dork brown/block mottled, 

\ soft, slightly moist, trace volcanic and
�C,Q_e_o_tJD�_C..QP..!J3� ..9.rovel and cobbles 
stiff 

very stiff, moist 

Ancient Landslide Debris 
SANDY LEAN CLAY WITH GRAVEL: red brown, 
very stiff, moist, fine to coarse volcanic 
grovel 

gray/red brown mottled, occosiono! caliche 
deposits 

hard 

increasing grovel content 

Boring No. 1 
PAGE 1 OF2 

JOB NO.: SL-16139-SA 
DATE: 11/25/09 

SAMPLE DATA 

--' � w 
U) z

�p 
w U) 
--'W z c- :::,_ :s: ;; er: m (l_ (l_ w u t;; e'.:-�� �['.: 0 .$ 0 er: 

--'w 
U) 6'. 2 "' (l_ 

0 

0.0-3.0 0 

14 
3.0-4.5 111!!11 NOR "TURN 17 

28 

19 
5.0-6.5 - 106.8 18.1 16 

20 

5 
10.0-11.5 ll!1illil 102.4 22.4 13 

22 
9.0-110 0 

11 
15.0-16.5 Bl 92.5 20.9 23 

35 

15 
20.0-21.5 B 105.5 18.5 30 

34 

5 
25.0-26.5 � 10 

20 

� SPT LEGEND: i!llll Ring Sample Q Grab Sample D Shelby Tube Sample 
NOTE: This log of svbsurfoce conditions is o sirnplifico\ion of octuol conditions encountered. 
StJbsurfoce condiUons moy differ ol other locotions ond times. 

1t opplies ot the locotion ond lime of dril!lng. A-2-129Page 286 of 356



I f- C
0. ©
UJ JI! 
o-

-27 

-
28 

-
29 

-
30 

-
3' 

. 

32 

-

33 

-
" 

-

35 

-
36 

-
37 

-
38 

-
39 

-
40 

-
" 

-

" 

-
" 

-
" 
-

'5 

-
" 

. 

" 

-
48 

-
49 

-
50 

. 

51 

-
52 

-
53 

-

Earth Systems Pacific 

LOGGED BY: R. Wagner 
DRILL RIG: Mobile B-53 
AUGER TYPE· 8" Hollow Stem 

,_J 
'.5 0 
0 a, 

:. Cf) >-0 CJ) 

_Ck_ 
� CH 

� 
---

� 

� 

� 

� 
---

� 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 

Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

®@O[b @ITa:®©lfillll?'iJ'O@OO 

SANDY LEAN CLAY WITH kRAVEL: os above __ • 
SANDY FAT CLAY: dork brown, hard, moist, 

lroce volcanic fine grovel 
------------

dork gray to block 

------------

olive gray 

End of Boring @ 365'

No subsurface water encountered. 

LEGEND: 1i!11!! Ring Sample Q Grab Sample O Shelby Tube Sample 
NOTE: This log of subsurface conditions is o simplificoUon of octvol conditions encountered. 
Subsurface conditions may differ ot other locations and times. 

,_J 
<t 
>c
a: ©  
�� 
;,:: 

30.0-31.5 

35.0-36.5 

9SPT 

Boring No. 1 
PAGE2OF2 

JOB NO.: SL-16139-SA 
DATE· 11/25/09 

SAMPLE DATA 

t UJ 
UJ Cf) a: (J)Z 
,_J UJ Zc ::, - $ ;;; 0. 0. UJ " l;j � :. >- o-9, 0 a: 
<t f- 0 ,_J UJ 
CJ) � :. a, 0. 

10 

lm,l!I 108.6 19.6 27 

40 

6 

• 15 

20 

It applies ot the location ond time of drilling. A-2-130Page 287 of 356



Earth Systems Pacific 

C LOG GED B Y: R. G01man 
EQUIPMENT: 4x4 Backhoe 
BUCKET SIZE: 24-inch 

Trench No.: 1 
JOB NO.: SL-16139-SA 
DATE: 11/25/09 

SAMPLE DATA 

'ii' Bl STANLEY RESIDENCE >< 
� <r: 0...:i Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 ....i � t:: i '-' ...:i �,...._ ,..:i�cn 

� � � Cayucos, California � � � >= lffit; o 

l1< u � � � � E-<108 � � rg r/J 1-------------------------'2:i r/J � � 

SOIL/ROCK DESCRIPTION o 
1 CH 
2 
3 
4 
5 

Alluvium: 
SANDY FAT CLAY, mottled dark brown to black, very stiff, moist, 
5 to 15% volcanic and serpentinite cobbles and gravel, well-developed 
blocky soil structure, soft in upper 1 to 1.5 feet 

6 - -- --------------
7 
8 

Caliche deposits in a two foot thick soil layer 
------------------

101--�-1-----------------------------I 
11 CL Ancient Landslide Debris: 

SANDY LEAN CLAY WITH GRAVEL, light reddish 12 brown, very stiff to hard, moist, volcanic gravel, occasional caliche 
13 deposits 
14 
15 
16 
17 
18 
19 1:::::::::::1=::t.l 

2 
4 
6 
8 
10 
12 
14 
16 
18 
20 
22 
24 
26 
28 
30 

\ 

BOTTOM OF TRENCH@ 19.0'. 
No subsurface water encountered. 

I I 

SAN�IE AT lg_L{\.Y
: (Alluvium) I 

! I I I 

J,Jw LEAN CLAY �f H bRAvEL /i 1 (Ancient bandslitle Deb
1
lis) 

_J ! � 
i I 

LEGEND: 
Ring Sample Shelby Tube Sample Grab Sample 

1111 CJ 0 

SPT 

-

4-5 - 78.8 26.7 

Scale 1" = 8 ft. 
A-2-131Page 288 of 356



-0 

p... 
.!.l 
C\ 

1 
2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
1 

2 

4 
5 
6 
7 
8 
9 
10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

Earth Systems Pacific 

Cl) 

j 
u 

� 
Cl) 

u 
Cl) Cl) 0

CH 

CL 

--

-

LOGGED BY: R. Go1man 
EQUIPMENT: 4x4 Backhoe 
BUCKET SIZE: 24-inch 

Trench No.: 2 

JOB NO.: SL-16139-SA 
DATE: 05/25/09 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

SAMPLE DATA 

>-

....:l .!.l r' � 
�,-,. �.!.l ui 0 
� i �s:'� � 
r- e � r- i::iE �

I----------------------__J25 Cl) ?J � 

SOIL/ROCK DESCRIPTION o 
Alluvium: 
SANDY FAT CLAY, mottled dark brown to black, very stiff, moist, 
5 to 15% volcanic and serpentinite cobbles and gravel, abundant caliche 
deposits, well-developed blocky soil structure, soft in upper 1 foot 

Ancient Landslide Debris: 
SANDY LEAN CLAY WITH GRAVEL, light reddish 
brown to medium brown, very stiff to hard, moist, volcanic gravel, 

abundant caliche deposits 

I 

\ 

BOTTOM OF TRENCH@ 15.0'. 
No subsurface water encountered. 

S�NDr__F�T rLAY 
(Alluvium) 

1/i \-\-----I ---,---...... ,�, ...... ,-----11 
SANDY LEAN CLAYjWITH GRAVEL 

I 
(Ancient Landslitle Deb lis) 

\ 1--- ----r-1 I 

2-4 0 

5-6 - 109. 19.4

LEG END: 
Ring Sample 
-

Shelby Tube Sample Grab Sample 
CJ 0 

SPT Scale 1" = 4 ft.- A-2-132Page 289 of 356



0
Earth Systems Pacific 

,-.. Cl) ..... 
Cl) 

� �
.._, �u 

�
Cl) i:i... u U-l Cl) C/) 

Q � 

1
CH 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 
8 

9 

10 CL

11 
12 
13 
14 
15 
1 

2 
3 
4 
5 
6 
7 �

8 

9 

10 
11 
12 
13 
14 
15 

LOG GED BY: R. G01man 
EQUIPMEN T: 4x4 Backhoe 
BUCKET SIZE: 24-inch 

Trench No.: 3 

JOB NO.: SL-16139-SA 
DATE: 05/25/09 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

SAMPLE DATA 

>-

� ,-.. ::5�� �esi �!;:iW�
SOIL/ROCK DESCRIPTION 

E-< ;:3, � E-< o,e � 
i------------------------�� C/) � � 

Alluvium: 
SANDY FAT CLAY, mottled dark brown to black, very stiff, moist, 
5 to 15% volcanic and serpentinite cobbles and gravel, well-developed 
blocky soil structure, soft in upper 1 to 1.5 feet 

Serpentinite and volcanic boulders and cobbles along contact 

Ancient Landslide Debris: 
SANDY LEAN CLAY WITH GRAVEL, light reddish 
brown to medium brown, ve1y stiff to hard, moist, volcanic gravel, 

abundant caliche deposits 

-

BOTTOM OF TRENCH@ 13' 
No subsurface water encountered. 

I I 

I I 
SA��I FAT 

1
c_L{\.Y 

(Alluviur 11) 

e::> O � 0 c:::>O o::>CD Oo C::>o 
I I I I I 

SANDY LEAN CLAY IWITH GRAVEL

: 
(Ancient Landslitle ?ebl1 is) 

....__ I 

I 

I 

I 

I 

LEGEND: 
Ring Sample Shelby Tube Sample Grab Sample 

1111 CJ 0 

S PT Scale 1" = 4 ft. 
- A-2-133Page 290 of 356



IC Earih •-m• Pacific

SO!l ClASSilfilCATilON SYSTEM 

MAJOR GROUP TYPICAL DESCRIPTIONS GRAPH. 
DIVISIONS SYMBOL SYMBOL 

(I) GW WELL GRADED GRAVELS, GRAVEL-SAND MIXTURES, LITTLE OR 000000 
-' NO FINES o�o�o0 

0 �w!!J 

C� 
'I? 

�
r

g
.e�
.. 

I 

f 

BORING GP POORLY GRADED GRAVELS, GRAVEL-SAND MIXTURES, ) V Q \ 
(/) O:::ID oo 

LITTLE OR NO FINES " 

& TRENCH 0 i�� GM SIL TY GRAVELS, GRAVEL-SANO.SILT MIXTURES, NON�PLASTIC ilitfl w w- FINES 
z 11-C) fl') 

GC CLAYEY GRAVELS, GRAVEL--SANDMCLAV MIXTURES, PLASTIC £?o Ooo 

LOG � i� !i FINES 

C) fl 
SW WELL GRADED SANDS, GRAVELLY SANDS, LITTLE OR NO FINES 

LEGEND w §� 
SP POORLY GRADED SANOS, GRAVELLY SANOS, LITTLE OR NO 

Cl) w� & FINES ,· 

� g�� SM SIL TY SANOS, SAND-SILT MIXTURES, NON�PLASTIC FINES 

ISAMPLE/ SUBSURFACE 
0 

SC GRAPH. 0 CLAYEY SANDS, SANDMCLAY MIXTURES, PLASTIC FINES 
SYMB01 

. 

WATER SYMBOLS 
ML INORGANIC SILTS AND VERY FINE SANOS, SILTY, CLAYEY 

CALIFORNIA MODIFIED - �� �
FINE SANDS, CLAYEY SILTS WITH SLIGHT PLASTICllY 

5 CL INORGANIC CLAYS OF LOW TO MEDIUM PLASTICITY, GRAVELLY 
STANDARD PENETRATION TEST (SPT) • (I) �gw 

10� OL 

CLAYS, SANDY CLAYS, SILTY CLAYS, LEAN CLAYS 
ORGANIC SIL TS AND ORGANIC SILTY CU\ VS OF LOW 

� � 
- . -

0 wm 
SHELBY TUBE D w .� iz g� 

BULK 0 � 
•�z ooi 

PLASTICITY 

MH INORGANIC SILTS, MICACEOUS OR DIATOMACEOUS FINE 
SANDY, SIL TY SOILS, ELASTIC SIL TS 

CH INORGANIC CLAYS OF HIGH PLASTICITY, FAT CLAYS 

. - .. -- . - . -' - . - . 

II II 
SUBSURFACE WATER ;f: CJ �;� 0 w �DURING DRILLING w " �

��i
OH ORGANIC CLA VS OF MEDIUM TO HIGH PLASTICITY, ORGANIC 

SILTS 
los••----i.:�··-··z ··-··-

SUBSURFACE WATER 
¥ u: PT p v v AFTER DRILLING PEAT AND OTHER HIGHLY ORGANIC SOILS 

-

OBSERVED MOISTURE CONDITION 

DRY I SLIGHTLY MOIST I MOIST I VERY MOIST I wEf 

LITTLE/NO MOISTURE JUDGED BELOW OPTIMUM J JUDGED ABOUT OPTIMUM I JUDGED OVER OPTIMUM I SATURATED 

TYPICAL CONSISTENCY 

COARSE GRAINED SOILS FINE GRAINED SOILS 

BLOWS/FOOT DESCRIPTIVE TERM BLOWS/FOOT DESCRIPTIVE TERM SPT CA SAMPLER SPT CA SAMPLER 
0-10 0-16 LOOSE 0-2 0-3 VERY SOFT 

11-30 17-50 MEDIUM DENSE 3-4 4-7 SOFT 
31-50 51-83 DENSE 5-8 8-13 MEDIUM STIFF 

OVER50 OVER83 VERYDt::.NSE 9-15 14-25 STIFF 
16-30 26-50 VERYSTIFr-

OVER30 OVER50 HARD 

GRAIN SIZES 

U-S. STANDARD SERIES SIEVE I CLEAR SQUARE SIEVE OPENING 

#200 #40 #10 #4 3/4" 3" 12" 

SAND GRAVEL 
SILT&CLAY 

I I I 
COBBLES BOULDERS 

FINE MEDIUM COARSE FINE COARSE 

TYPICAL ROCK HARDNESS 

MAJOR DIVISIONS TYPICAL DESCRIPTIONS 

EXTREMELY HARD COREj:[RAGMENi:.i OR EXPOSURE CANNOT BE SCRATCHED WITH KNIFE OR SHARP PICK; CAN ONLY BE CHIPPED 
WITH EPEATED EAVY HAMMER BLOWS 

VERY HARD CANNOT BE SCRATCHED WITH KNIFE OR SHARP PICK; CORE OR FRAGMENT BREAKS WITH REP EA TED HEAVY 
HAMMER BLOWS 

HARD CAN BE SCRATCHED WITH KNIFE OR SHARP PICK WITH DIFFICULTY (HEAVY PRESSURE); HEAVY HAMMER BLOW 
REQUIRED TO BREAK SPECIMEN 

MODERATELY HARD CAN BE GROOVED 1/16 INCH DEEP BY KNIFE OR SHARP PICK WITH MODERATE OR HEAVY PRESSURE; CORE 
OR FRAGMENT BREAKS WITH LIGHT HAMMER BLOW OR HEAVY MANUAL PRESSURE 

SOFT CAN BE GROOVED OR GOUGED EASILY BY KNIFE OR SHARP PICK WITH LIGHT PRESSURE, CAN BE SCRATCHED WITH 
FINGERNAIL; BREAKS WITH LIGHT TO MOD ERA TE MANUAL PRESSURE 

VERY SOFT CAN BE READILY INDENTED, GROOVED OR GOUGED WITH FINGERNAIL, OR CARVED WITH KNIFE; BREAKS WITH 
LIGHT MANUAL PRESSURE 

TYPICAL ROCK WEATHERING 

MAJOR DIVISIONS TYPICAL DESCRIPTIONS 

FRESH NO DISCOLORATION, NOT OXIDIZED 

SLIGHTLY WEATHERED DISCOLORATION OR OXIDATION IS LIMITED TO SURFACE OF, OR SHORT DISTANCE FROM; SOME FRACTURES 
PRESENT; FELDSPAR CRYSTALS ARE DULL 

MODERATELY DISCOLORATION OR OXIDATION EXTENDS FROM FRACTURES, USUALLY THROUGHOUT; Fe-Mg MINERALS ARE 
WEATHERED "RUSlY"; FELDSPAR CRYSTALS ARE "CLOUDY" 

j INTENSELY WEATHERED DISCOLORATION OR OXIDATION THROUGHOUT; FELDSPAR AND Fe-Mg MINERALS ARE ALTERED TO CLAY 
TO SOME EXTENT OR CHEMICAL ALTERATION PRODUCES IN SITU DISAGGREGATION 

,- DECOMPOSED DISCOLORATION OR OXIDATION THROUGHOUTilLUT RESISTANT MINERALS SUCH AS QUARTZ MAY BE UNALTERED; 
)" FELDSPAR AND Fe-Mg MINERALS ARE COMPLE Y ALTERED TO CLAY A-2-134Page 291 of 356



APPENDIX B 

Laboratory Test Results 

A-2-135Page 292 of 356



Stanley Residence 

BULK DENSITY TEST RESULTS 

BORING DEPTH MOISTURE 

NO. feet CONTENT,% 

6.0 - 6.5 18. 1

1 11.0 - 11.5 22.4 

16.0 - 16.5 20.9 

21.0 - 21.5 18.5 

31.0-31.5 19.6 

TRENCH DEPTH MOISTURE 

NO. feet CONTENT,% 

1 4.0 - 4.5 26.7 

2 5.0 - 5.5 19.4 

EXPANSION INDEX TEST RESULTS 

BORING 

NO. 

DEPTH 

feet 

0.0 - 3.0 

EXPANSION 

INDEX 

134 

SL-16139-SA 

ASTM D 2937-04 (modified for ring liners) 

December I 5, 2009 

WET DRY 

DENSITY,pcf DENSITY, pcf 

126.1 106.8 

125.3 102.4 

111.9 92.5 

125.1 105.5 

129.8 108.6 

WET DRY 

DENSITY, pcf DENSITY, pcf 

99.8 78.8 

130.3 109.1 

ASTM D 4829-0Sa 

A-2-136Page 293 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

MOISTURE-DENSITY COMPACTION TEST ASTM D 1557-09 (Modified) 

PROCEDURE USED: A 

PREPARATION METHOD: Moist 

RAMMER TYPE: Mechanical 

SPECIFIC GRAVITY: 2.70 (assumed) 

SIEVE DATA: 

Sieve Size 

3/4" 

. 3/8" 

#4 

% Retained 

0 

0 

0 

December 15, 2009 

Boring #1 @ 0.0 - 3.0' 

Mottled Brown to Black Sandy Fat Clay (CH) 

MAXIMUM DRY DENSITY: 112.8 pcf 

OPTIMUM MOISTURE: 16.8% 

2 3 4 5 6 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 !9 20 21 22 23 24 25 26 27 

MOISTURE CONTENT, percent 

Compaction Curve Zero Air Voids Curve 

A-2-137Page 294 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR ASTM I) 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 

December 15, 2009 

Boring #I @ 0.0 - 3.0' 
Sandy Fat Clay (CH) 

INITIAL DRY DENSITY: 101.5 pcf 
INITIAL MOISTURE CONTENT: 16.8 % 

PEAK SHEAR ANGLE (0): 18° 

COHESION (C): 651 psf 
Compacted to 90% RC, saturated 

SHEAR vs. NORMAL STRESS 

1-+--l-+---+--+--+-+--+-1··-- - --- --l--lf---1-----

2,500 +-+-+-+-+-++-++++-+-+-+-+-+-+-+-+--+--+--+-+-+-+--l 
-l--+--+-+-+--+--l-1- e--+-+--+--+--l--11-----1--•-1-

2,000 +-+-+-+-+++-+-++-++-+-++-+-+-+-+--+--+--+-+-+-+� 

1,500 
L--

1,000 

+--+-+-+-+----I . - - . 
,...-

--
c,:..:

� ··-� ___ ,,,, "-- - .. --'-1-1-- 1-----+-+-+-+----I ... ---·-- ..

··· _ _,_ -·--,_,__,_____,......., __ _, ___ , ·····-1-----+-+-+-+---+---f--+--+---+--l-- ------ --

500 +-+-+-+++-+++-+++++-+-+-+--+--+--+-+-+-+-+--l--l 

1-+--l-+-+--+--+-+-+-···· -.. · 1-+--l-+--+--+-�
' .... --1-1-----1---, --------� ----\-1 ,., .. 

0 -J-..l.-..l.-.L-.L-.f.--L.L.L..L...!i--J--'--'--1-+--1--'---'-.....L-I-......L--'--......L....L-a 

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 

NORMAL STRESS, psf 

A-2-138Page 295 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR continued ASTM D 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 

Boring #I @ 0.0 - 3.0' December 15, 2009 

Sandy Fat Clay (CH) 

Compacted to 90% RC, saturated SPECIFIC GRAVITY: 2.70 (assumed) 

SAMPLE NO.: 

INITIAL 

WATER CONTENT,% 

DRY DENSITY, pcf 

SATURATION,% 

VOID RATIO 

DIAMETER, inches 

HEIGHT, inches 

ATTEST 

WATER CONTENT,% 

DRY DENSITY, pcf 

SATURATION,% 

VOID RATIO 

HEIGHT, inches 

2,000 -· ·-···- -·--- --- .,,, .. , 

1,500 

1,000 

, ________ ,. 1 .. , ... 

·-· -··---·--- ' ' . 

.. ·- ---, -·---- ' '  ..... 

1 2 3 

16.8 16.8 16.8 

101.5 101.5 101.5 

68.8 68.8 68.8 

0.659 0.659 0.659 

2.375 2.375 2.375 

1.00 1.00 1.00 

32.0 32.2 32.0 

104.2 105.8 106.3 

100.0 100.0 100.0 

0.616 0.593 0.585 

0.97 0.96 0.96 

f---t--t--+-+-+-+---l•- -· ,.. "" ·-

- - -- -- ---------- - r-
···1;;,;" •---- --�----

500 

0.00 0.05 

. . .. . . -· ---- -··-· -r--·. 1-J---j----j 
_., __ --- ------1-1------. -·- - -··i··-- · 

+--+--+--l--l---+---1 ... -- ··-· . · I·--+--+--+--+--+--+--+ 
I••·-····--

0.10 0. 15 0.20 0.25 

HORIZONTAL DEFORMATION, inches 

AVERAGE 

16.8 

101.5 

68.8 

0.659 

---500psf 

- - - 1,000 psf

- - - - - -2,000psf

A-2-139Page 296 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR ASTM D 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 

December 15, 2009 

Trench #1 @ 4.0 -5.0' 

Sandy Fat Clay (CH) (Alluvium) 

Ring sample, saturated 

INITIAL DRY DENSITY: 86.8 pcf 

INITIAL MOISTURE CONTENT: 26.7 % 

PEAK SHEAR ANGLE (0): 19°

COHESION (C): 602 psf 

SHEAR vs. NORMAL STRESS 

. - - . ---- "" - ,. ----1----� --·-1---+--+-+-l·- +--+--+--l 
---�-·-· -�---1-+-+--'--'-_J_-'- ....... . 

······-•.-�----,+-+--+--+--+-+-l--··' +-+--+--+-+-+-+-j-•-·- -- ··-
__ , ···-·-··· ·-··f--t--+-+-+--1--+--,

2,500 +--+-+-+-+-+-+-++++++--+--+--+--+--+--+-+-+-+-+-+-+--! 

f--t--+-+-+--l--f-7··-···-- ---······

2,000 +--+-+-+-+-++++++++--+--+--+--+--+-+-+-+-+-+-+-+--1 
+--+-+-+-!---+-+- -··-- ----1---···· --·- ------

1-+-+-+--l---+-+- ---- -·-· '"' 
C-C-1--.L-+-+--l--+· ,., - - '" 

·-----·· -� ---1···-

1,500 +-+-+++++++--+--+--+--+-+-+-+-+-+-+-+-+-+-+-+--+--+ 

- �-······- ----- ---· .. ,, , .  -- --

----- ·- .... "' 

_v 
. ·b.-1":::+-+-l· - ·- .... ······1--f--11--l 

-
--

1,000 +--+--t-t-t-t-HH-l-l-::!M9-+-+-+-+-+-+-+++++-l-_.,. 
..
..

. c::-=-- . 

········: �k,ct?_:-:.:-..... . 
vv .. __ _ _____ ······•-------

--· -- ---- -------
- - -- -- 1- ""' -- ......•• ---- -·· 

1 · +-+-+-+--1 --·" -- ---·

500 +-+--+--+-+-+-+--1--,f--l--t--+-+-+--+--+-+-+-+-+--l-f--1--+-+--I 

' 

.... ...... --- ···-· ., . ' -
•" -- . . .. , 

,- - - . -----�----------

.. - - . ··----·-- • ' ·•· ----�-·· 

, .... 1-,---·-··· -- ·-·--- ., . 

0 +--'--'--L--'--+--'--'-''--'--+-+-.L..-'--'---+--'---'---L....J.--f-J'-1-+-.L..-j 

0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 

NORMAL STRESS, psf 

A-2-140Page 297 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR continued ASTM D 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 

Trench #l @ 4.0 -5.0' December 15, 2009 

Sandy Fat Clay (CH) (Alluvium) 

Ring sample, saturated SPECIFIC GRAVITY: 2.70 (assumed) 

SAMPLE NO,: 1 2 3 

INITIAL 

WATER CONTENT,% 26.7 26.7 26.7 

DRY DENSITY, pcf 86.5 86.8 87.l

SATURATION,% 76.! 76.6 77.2 

VOID RATIO 0.947 0.941 0.933 

DIAMETER, inches 2.375 2.375 2.375 

HEIGHT, inches 1.00 1.00 1.00 

ATTEST 

WATER CONTENT, % 43.2 43.4 41.2 

DRY DENSITY, pcf 87.9 89.2 90.7 

SATURATION,% 100.0 100.0 100.0 

VOID RATIO 0.918 0.888 0.858 

HEIGHT, inches 0.99 0.97 0.96 

- ·----

>·+-1---1----l---l---+ ----r·-+---- I 

1,500 ----- --- -- --- -----,----;-------;-------; +--+---+----+---+--+-·---- __ , 

•···· --- � ---" _,._ -·---�--- --·- ····- ----· ·-·-··t---<-+--+---+-
- - - · " - -

·····-- ---1------ ···-�-�- -�-;-!,,.-.- -�-"---�.:.:-.....:. ....: .. �.:. :_ .. _._ - • ""'' - ., __ ------·· -------·--· ·-· 

---- ---·--·· ·-�---·· .. ·_.,_._ """"•-----·-·····-----.--,-- ..• ,.,,+.-- •• ' 

500 ;) , __ _ ...... , .. ,. -···· 

. -

.. ···-1-------+----+-+---1

0 -+-�+-+--+---+--+��----;-t---��+-+---+--+��----;-1-------��+-+--� 

0.00 0.05 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.25

HORIZONTAL DEFORMATION, inches 

AVERAGE 

26.7 

86.8 

76.7 

0.940 

---500psf 
- - - 1,000 psf
· - · - - · 2,000 psf

A-2-141Page 298 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR ASTM D 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 

December 15, 2009 

Boring #1 @ 16.0 - 16.5' 

Sandy Lean Clay with Gravel (CL) (Ancient Landslide Debris) 

Ring Sample, Saturated 

PEAK SHEAR ANGLE (0): 22° 

COHESION, peak (C): 740 psf 

RESIDUAL SHEAR ANGLE (0): 21 ° 
COHESION, residual (C): 394 psf Initial Dry Density: 97.3 pcf 

Initial Moisture Content: 20.9 % 

SHEAR STRESS vs. NORMAL STRESS 

-· ··"·· -- • 1-·-·· 

l--+--t--+----f-f--1- ·--I· .. ...

----11-----1-0----1- - - ~·· ... 

2,500 +-+-+-+-+-f--11-+-+-+-+-+-+-f--1-f-+-+-+-+-+-+-l-l-+--l 

2,000 

1,500 

-----J ...... . 

1,000 

0 

J ,., .... -�- -•-

. . .. . ----11---1--1--+--l ··-

- -f�-t-+--+--J..,,,jc; v .. ...

./ .. 

., ...... ----· ··· ··-

;;, - ----�- ····-"•·--•-,--·•·· 

· · ·· � � _,_ -� -d :' � �- _ ---,-+--+-_1..----+,,-tv""·· ..,..--
ve-v 

• I·-,. 

500 

..... 1, .,1.,...... 1., .. 

1,000 

I-•·· ,.,_ -• 

1,500 

NORMAL STRESS, psf 

I"··•- i •.• ·-·. 

... . . 

2,000 

. .. .... . 

. . .... 

2,500 

A-2-142Page 299 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR continued ASTM D 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 

Boring #I @ 16.0- 16.5' December 15, 2009 

Sandy Lean Clay with Gravel (CL) (Ancient Landslide Debris) 
Ring Sample, Saturated SPECIFIC GRAVITY: 2.70 (assumed) 

SAMPLE NO.: 

WATER CONTENT,% 

DRY DENSITY, pcf 

SATURATION,% 

VOID RATIO 

DIAMETER, inches 

HEIGHT, inches 

ATTEST 

WATER CONTENT,% 

DRY DENSITY, pcf 

SATURATION,% 

VOID RATIO 

HEIGHT, inches 

2,000 

I.500

<' - - --- -- .. · ----�-

. --- - ··"r--+-+--+---t-----1 

1 

20.9 

100.4 

83.1 

0.679 
2.375 

1.00 

27.6 

101.4 

100.0 

0.662 

0.99 

2 

20.9 

96.8 
76.2 

0.740 

2.375 
1.00 

28.4 

99.5 

100.0 

0.693 

0.97 

3 AVERAGE 

20.9 20.9 

94.8 97.3 

72.6 77.3 

0.777 0.732 

2.375 
1.00 

29.5 

98.2 

100.0 

0.715 

0.97 

-----"---, -

- -;:;·•'"'~-"-+--+--+..-j-i----i--- - , ... .,, __ >---+-+-+-+----+----1 
---500psf 

1,000 psf 

· · · · · · 2,000 psf

- t-1--t-+--+-,,-+" � -----�-- __ , -·

0.00 0.05 0.10 0.15 

HORIZONTAL DEFORMATION, inches 

- � - H not used 

0.20 025 

A-2-143Page 300 of 356



SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR ASTM D 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 
December 15, 2009 

Boring # l @ 31.0 - 31.5' 
Sandy Fat Clay (CH) 
Ring Sample, Saturated 
Initial Dry Density: I 05 .2 pcf 
Initial Moisture Content: 19.6 % 

PEAK SHEAR ANGLE (0): 29° 

COHESION, peak (C): 1,080 psf 
RESIDUAL SHEAR ANGLE (0): 37° 

COHESION, residual (C): 159 psf 

SHEAR STRESS vs. NORMAL STRESS 

l--+-+-++--+-+---1-,,-----,- __ , ___ _ - ----1---· '""
-··--- _____ .,. ·--••--.-- .. -l-+-+-++-1---�-· -- - "' , .. ------

2,500 +-+-+--+-+--1---ll--+--+-+--+--+-+-+---l'--+--+-+-+-+--+-+---l-+--+-l 
1--1--+--+-+-+--1 · ........ -·-1--+-+-+-+--+---+-

. ---- ____ 1 _____ ,, • 

... ' .......... , ... ,,.,1 .,,c.+--+-+-+--+---J,-. ......... ····· ....... ,,ic.../+-+--+--1-H ... - ... . 
V I/ 

, _ ✓·.··_v_·. ·_-_· · _1.,.,-:_ ..... - ...... -· .. , .. I/--------- --- ,_ .. ----
I," ·-···. f.-+-+--+---1· .. .. .... / .......... ·

/ 
1,000 +--+++++++-1--+......+/-,,fL..J-l---+-+-+-+--++++++-1-......J 

I~•·"· ·-· . 
,_ ----7 ..

..

. 
1 ... ,,-- __ . __ ,,_ ------1 ____ ., ___ v�-- ... ---- -·· 

/ I / .... 
.) "--if--!- ....... ..

. .. - ,7 �----1--1--+--� - .. -
I·· ~--�--1-+-+-+--+

. .. 

•• • -e- -

500 -l-++-J..-+A-l---+---+++--+--+--!-i---+.---1--+..+-+-J..-+--J-J.--1---1 

0 

" -- .. 

...... 

500 

·--··--�-�--·- ""'" , . .. 

1,000 

. .. - -

1,500 

NORMAL STRESS, psf 

-··· '"" ,.

2,000 2,500 

A-2-144Page 301 of 356



Stanley Residence SL-16139-SA 

DIRECT SHEAR continued ASTM D 3080-04 (modified for consolidated, undrained conditions) 

Boring #1 @ 31.0 - 31.5' December 15, 2009 

Sandy Fat Clay (CH) 

Ring Sample, Saturated SPECIFIC GRAVITY: 2.70 (assumed) 

SAMPLE NO.: 1 2 3 

WATER CONTENT,% 19.6 19.6 19.6 
DRY DENSITY, pcf 104.l 105.2 106.4 
SATURATION,% 85.6 88.0 90.7 
VOID RATIO 0.618 0.602 0.583 
DIAMETER, inches 2.375 2.375 2.375 
HEIGHT, inches 1.00 1.00 1.00 

ATTEST 

WATER CONTENT,% 28.1 23.9 25.3 
DRY DENSITY, pcf 104.4 106.3 112.0 
SATURATION,% 100.0 100.0 100.0 
VOID RATIO 0.613 0.586 0.504 
HEIGHT, inches 1.00 0.99 0.95 

2,500 ·--- -
,..I--· . . .... ----·'"· 

-- - --- - - -1-t-+---l
.. ,. - ---·- ·-··"· ,, ___ �- _ _. __ _ 

2,000 

1,500 

1,000 

500 

.... . ,o,.�- --• H H •-H•-o>�oK•-,,•-- ••--• •---••--•••~--- ••- --- -

--+.-.-+----+-+· ··-·· - - . .. .\'" - . - . "' -- - -- - ...
--- .,.,_.,.�.:.�. 

- - ------ ·--- --f----l--c-"'f----t-+--+---l 
1----t-+-+---I· -� --- -•'-•- ----1----t-+--+---+--+-+-+-----t-----J�f----'f---'+--+---· -

- •'••· ·•----- - ' -- .. __ ::-;-; ��:: ��'.:\·�:. =��- -= ---'+,-+--+--1--------+....... 
--·-----�--..-y-- -··-·------- - . ··--·--

.... , ,,,,., 

- .. , ........ ---�::::: ________ ····--, .... l·····--j--;""i· -=+�=-\_t·-=1-1:=t::1··· ... ·-- -·-·--·•··"·1- ·-·-· .. -----
- A --- � �-----

I 

- - .. , --·- ..

1•-•··-

0.00 0.05 0.10 0.15 0.20 0.25 

HORIZONTAL DEFORMATION, inches 

AVERAGE 

19.6 
105.2 
88.l
0.601

---500psf 

1,000 psf 

· - · - - - 2,000 psf

- - - - not used

A-2-145Page 302 of 356



APPENDIX C 

Geologic Map 
Historical Earthquake/ Fault Map 

Circular Slope Stability Plot 
Block Slope Stability Plot 
EQSEARCH Data Results 
3 D Site Aerial Photograph 

A-2-146Page 303 of 356



REF.: Geologic Map of the Cayucos-San Luis Obispo Region, Califmnia, by Hall and Prior, 1975 

0
Earth Systems Pacific 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
January 2010 

GEOLOGIC MAP 
STANLEY RESIDENCE 

Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 
Cayucos, California 

EXPLANATION 

Geologic Units 

Landslide debris 
-Rock and mudflow debris, derived

from rock units upslope. 
Holocene 

Marine terrace deposits 
-loosely consolidated white to orangish

brown sandstone and conglomerate.
Approx. 3 to 18 feet thick. 

Late Pleistocene 

KJfmv I KJfme I 
Franciscan complex 

KJme - Melange (me), graywacke, largely 
composed of sheared greenish black claystone, 

includes exotic clasts of graywacke (gw); 
metavolcanic rocks (mv) primarily basalt and 

diabase; and other rocks. 
KJmv - metavolcanic rocks, primarily greenstone 

(metamorphosed from basalt), and diabase 
commonly associated with red chert ( ch) 

Cretaceous or Jurassic 

Serpentinite 
-locally serpentinized ultramafic rocks

Geologic Symbols 

-------------

Contact 
D ashed where opproximotely located or inferred 

High-an gl e fa u l t  
Dashed where approximately lo cated or inf erred; dotted where concealed 

......_ _ __...__ - -"'-- - -- ........ 

Thr ust o r  reverse fault 
Dashed where opproximotely located or inferred; dotted where concealed, 

Saw-teeth on upper plate. Dip of fault plane between 30° and 80° 

Anticline 
Showin g axis at surface. Dashed where opproximotely located; dotted where concealed 

Syn cline 
Showing oxis ot surface. Dashed where approximately located; dotted where concealed 

90_..... 

Ho rizo nta l Incli ne d Ve r tical 
Strike ond dip o f  bed s 

Approx. Scale: I" = 600' 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786 Fax

www.earthsys.com - e-mail: esc@eaiihsystems.com 
SL-16139-SA 

A-2-147Page 304 of 356



0
Earth Systems Pacific 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
January 2010 

HISTORICAL EARTHQUAKE/ 

FAULT MAP 
STANLEY RESIDENCE 

Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 
Cayucos, California 

LEGEND 

Historic rupture ( <200 years) 
--- Holocene fault (<10,000 years) 

Late Quaternary (<700,000 years) 
Quaternary fault ( <1.6 million) 

HISTORICAL EARTHQUAKE MAGNITUDE 

■ 5.0 to 5.9 D 6.0 to 6.9 □ 7.0 to 7.9

FAULTS 

1 San Andreas 
2 San Juan 
3 Rinconada 
4 East Huasna 
5 Oceanic 
6 Cambria 
7 West Huasna 
8 Los Osos 
9 Hosgri-San Simeon 
10 San Luis Range 

REFERENCES 

11 Casmalia 
12 Lions Head 
13 Oceana 
14 La Panza 
15 South Cuyama 

Blake, T.F., EQSEARCH, 2000, updated 2009 
Jennings, C.W, 1994 

(Approximate Scale: I"= 6 miles) 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786 Fax

www.ea1thsys.com - e-mail: esc@eaithsystems.com 
SL-16139-SA 

A-2-148Page 305 of 356



CIRCULAR SLOPE STABILITY PLOT 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

210 r.=====i======i=====::::::;;i======i==:;-----r-----r-----r-----,-----,------,

180 

150 

120 

Sou SOD Total Saturate!! Cohesion Friction Plez. 
I 

Load Value 
Oesc. Type Untt WI. Un� WI. Intercept Angle Surface Hor!z Eqk 0.1 SO g< 

No. (pcf) (pcf) (psi) (deg) No. 
anuvium 1 99.8 127.9 602.0 19.0 W1 

volcanic 2 111.9 127.7 394.0 21.0 W1 

Static Factor of Safety: 2.00 

Seismic Factor of Safety: 1.17 

Gilbert Ave. Building area 

2 
.., - 1 .........,0 90 � � 2 

2 -.....:: 2 

60 

30 

0., 
0 

0 

30 60 90 120 

EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
January 2010 

150 180 210 

-2-2 

'-----------------------------.,.,_

240 270 300 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786

www.earthsys.com - email: esc@earthsys.com 
SL-16139-SA A-2-149Page 306 of 356



BLOCK SLOPE STABILITY PLOT 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 
Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

210 r.======:i:======:i:=====;,=====:::;::::::::;-----,------,-----,-----,--------r------,

180 

150 

120 

Son Soil Total Soturated Cohesion Friction Piez. 
I 

Load Value 
Oesc. Type Unit 1/11!. UM Wt. Intercept Angle Surface Horiz Eqk 0.150 II< 

No. (pcf) (pcf) (psf) (de9) No. 
allwium 1 99.8 127.9 602.0 19.0 W1 
volcanic 2 111.9 127.7 394.0 21.0 W1 

Static Factor of Safety: 2.36 

Seismic Factor of Safety: 1.37 

Gilbert Av

1

e. Building area

_ __..-:-� 

� � 

�, ,_ 

' 

go -.� "':S.. 1 z I v--z JC 
_. 

60 

30 

�2-2 

2_, __ .. _____________________ ---------- ·w1 

0 •• 1c-,-----'-------'-------'-------'-----__JL--____ L_ ____ .,___ ____ _.___�----'-------

o 30 60 90 120 150 180 210 240 270 300 

C
EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
January 2010 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786
www.earthsys.com - email: esc@earthsys.com 

SL-16139-SA A-2-150Page 307 of 356



TEST.OUT 

************************* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

EQS E A R C H  

version 3.00 

* 

* 

* 

* 

* 

************************* 

ESTIMATION OF 
PEAK ACCELERATION FROM 

CALIFORNIA EARTHQUAKE CATALOGS 

JOB NUMBER: SL-16139-SA 
DATE: 01-22-2010 

JOB NAME: Stanley Residence 

EARTHQUAKE-CATALOG-FILE NAME: ALLQUAKE.DAT 

SITE COORDINATES: 
SITE LATITUDE: 35.4237 
SITE LONGITUDE: 120.8759 

SEARCH DATES: 
START DATE: 1800 
END DATE: 2009 

SEARCH RADIUS: 
65. 0 mi
104.6 km

ATTENUATION RELATION: 3) Boore et al. (1997) Horiz. - NEHRP 
UNCERTAINTY (M=Median, S=Sigma): M Number of sigmas: 
ASSUMED SOURCE TYPE: DS [SS=Strike-slip, DS=Reverse-slip, 

D (250) 
0.0 

BT=Blind-thrust] 
SCOND: 0 Depth source: A 
Basement Depth: 5. 00 km campbe 11 SSR: Campbell SHR: 
COMPUTE PEAK HORIZONTAL ACCELERATION 

MINIMUM DEPTH VALUE (km): 0.0 

Page 1 

A-2-151Page 308 of 356



TEST.OUT 

-------------------------

EARTHQUAKE SEARCH RESULTS 
-----------------------

--

Page 1 
-----------------------------------------------------

--------------------------

I I I I TIME I I I SITE !SITE! APPROX. 
FILE! LAT. I LONG. I DATE I (UTC) IDEPTHIQUAKEI ACC. I MM I DISTANCE 
CODE! NORTH I WEST I I H M Sec I ( km) I MAG . I g I INT. I mi [km] 
----+-------+--------+----------+--------+-----+-----+-------+----+------------

MGI 35.3000 120.7000 12/07/1906 640 0.0 o.o 5.90 0.145 VIII 13.1( 21.0)
MGI 35.5000 120.6000 01/01/1830 0 0 o.o 0.0 5 .oo 0.077 VII 16.4( 26.4) 
T-A 35.2500 120.6700 00/00/1830 0 0 0.0 o.o 5.70 0.109 VII 16.7( 26.8) 
T-A 35.2500 120.6700 12/17/1852 0 0 0.0 0.0 5.70 0.109 VII 16.7( 26.8) 
MGI 35.6000 121.1000 02/01/1853 21 0 0.0 0.0 5 .oo 0.073 VII 17.5( 28.2) 
MGI 35.1700 120.7500 12/01/1916 2253 0.0 o.o 5.70 0.100 VII 18.9( 30.4) 
GSG 35. 7060 121.1020 12/22/2003 191556.0 7.0 6.40 0.123 VII 23.3( 37.4) 
MGI 35.2500 120.5000 07/10/1917 045 0.0 o.o 5.30 0.067 VI 24.3( 39.2) 
MGI 35.2500 120.5000 07/09/1917 2222 o.o o.o 5.00 0.057 VI 24.3( 39.2) 
MGI 35.2500 120. 5000 07/09/1917 2238 0.0 0.0 5.30 0.067 VI 24.3( 39.2) 
MGI 35.2500 120. 5000 07/10/1917 043 0.0 o.o 5.30 0.067 VI 24.3( 39.2) 
DMG 35.7300 121. 2000 11/22/1952 74637.0 0.0 6.00 0.087 VII 27.9( 44.9) 
MGI 35.0000 120.5000 11/19/1927 332 0.0 0.0 5.00 0.042 VI 36.1( 58.1) 
DMG 34.9000 120.7000 11/04/1927 135053.0 o.o 7.50 0.152 VIII 37.5( 60.3)
GSB 35.8280 121.3230 09/17/1991 211029. 3 8.0 5.10 0.043 VI 37.5( 60.4) 
DMG 35.7500 120.3300 08/18/1922 512 0.0 0.0 5.00 0.040 V 38.0( 61.2) 
BRK 35. 8400 121. 3300 08/29/1983 101031. 0 o.o 5.20 0.045 VI 38. 4( 61. 8) 
GSB 35. 8190 120.3640 09/28/2004 171524.2 8.0 6.00 0.066 VI 39.6( 63.8) 
DMG 36.0000 120.9200 11/02/1955 1940 6.0 0.0 5.20 0.043 VI 39.9( 64.2) 
DMG 35.8000 120. 3300 06/08/1934 430 o.o 0.0 5.00 0.039 V 40. 2 C 64. 6)
DMG 35.8000 120. 3300 06/08/1934 447 0.0 0.0 6.00 0.066 VI 40.2( 64.6) 
DMG 35.8000 120.3300 12/28/1939 121538. 0 0.0 5 .00 0.039 V 40. 2 C 64. 6)
DMG 35.8000 120. 3300 06/05/1934 2148 o.o 0.0 5 .00 0.039 V 40. 2 C 64. 6)
DMG 36.0000 121. 0000 02/26/1932 1658 0.0 0.0 5 .00 0.039 V 40.4( 65.0)
GSB 35.9170 120.4650 12/20/1994 102747.2 8.0 5 .00 0.038 V 41.1( 66. 2)
DMG 35.9500 120.5300 06/29/1966 195325.9 0.0 5.00 0.038 V 41.2( 66.3)
DMG 35.9300 120.4800 12/24/1934 1626 0.0 0.0 5.00 0.038 V 41.4( 66.6)
DMG 35.7500 120.2500 03/10/1922 112120.0 0.0 6. 50 0.083 VII 41.7( 67.2) 
DMG 35.9500 120. 5000 06/28/1966 42613 .4 o.o 5.50 0.049 VI 42.0( 67.6) 
GSB 35.9530 120.5020 09/29/2004 171004.0 11.0 5 .10 0.039 V 42.1( 67.8) 
DMG 35.9500 120.4700 11/16/1956 323 9.0 0.0 5.00 0.037 V 42.9( 69.0) 
DMG 35.9700 120. 5000 06/28/1966 4 856.2 o.o 5.10 0.039 V 43.2( 69.5) 
DMG 36.0000 120. 5000 02/02/1881 011 o.o 0.0 5.60 0.049 VI 45.0( 72.5) 
DMG 36.0000 120. 5000 03/03/1901 745 0.0 0.0 5.50 0.046 VI 45.0( 72.5) 
MGI 34.9000 120.4000 03/29/1928 625 o.o 0.0 5.30 0.041 V 45.0( 72.5) 
MGI 34.8000 120.4000 12/12/1902 0 0 o.o 0.0 5.70 0.047 VI 50.8( 81.7) 
DMG 36.2300 120.6500 02/05/1947 614 0.0 o.o 5.00 0.029 V 57.1( 91.9) 
DMG 34.7000 120.3000 07/31/1902 920 0.0 0.0 5.50 0.037 V 59.6( 96.0) 
DMG 34.7000 120.3000 01/12/1915 431 0.0 o.o 5.50 0.037 V 59.6( 96.0) 
BRK 36.2000 120.4000 07/22/1983 343 2.0 0.0 5.00 0.028 V 59.9( 96.3) 
DMG 36.1700 120.3200 12/27/1926 919 o.o 0.0 5.00 0.028 V 60.2( 96.9) 
BRK 36. 2100 120.3800 07/25/1983 223140.0 0.0 5.10 0.030 V 61. 0( 98 .1) 
BRK 36. 2200 120.4000 07/22/1983 23955.0 0.0 6.00 0.047 VI 61.1( 98.3) 
DMG 35.3000 119.8000 01/09/1857 16 0 o.o 0.0 7.90 0.129 VIII 61. 2( 98. 4)
BRK 36.2500 120.4700 06/11/1983 3 954.0 0.0 5.10 0.029 V 61. 4( 98. 8) 
PAS 36.1820 120. 2680 02/14/1987 72650.8 6.0 5.10 0.029 V 62.4(100.5) 
MGI 34.6000 120.4000 07/28/1902 657 o.o 0.0 6.30 0.054 VI 62. 9 (101. 2)

Page 2 

A-2-152Page 309 of 356



TEST.OUT 
MGI 34.6000 120.4000 08/01/1902 330 o.o o.o 6. 30 0.054 VI 62. 9 (101. 2)
BRK 36. 2600 120.4000 07/09/1983 74052.0 0.0 5.30 0.032 V 63.6(102.3)
BRK 36.2200 120.2900 05/02/1983 2346 6.0 o.o 5.60 0.037 V 64. 0 (103. 0)
BRK 36.2200 120.2900 05/02/1983 234239.0 0.0 6. 70 0.066 VI 64. 0 (103. 0)
DMG 34.6090 121.4350 11/05/1969 1754 7.9 10.0 5.60 0.037 V 64.5(103.8)
BRK 36.2200 120.2600 09/09/1983 91614.0 0.0 5 .40 0.033 V 64.9(104.4)

EARTHQUAKE SEARCH RESULTS 

Page 2 

I I TIME I I I SITE I SITE I APPROX. 
FILE! LAT. I LONG. I DATE (UTC) iDEPTHjQUAKEI ACC. I MM I DISTANCE 
CODE! NORTH I WEST I I H M  Seel (km)I MAG. I g !INT. I mi [km] 
----+-------+--------+----------+----- --+-----+-----+-------+----+------------

PAS l36.2860l120.4130l10/25/1982l2226 4.01 6.01 5.601 0.037 I V I 64.9(104.5) 

******************************************************************************* 

-END OF SEARCH- 54 EARTHQUAKES FOUND WITHIN THE SPECIFIED SEARCH AREA. 

TIME PERIOD OF SEARCH: 

LENGTH OF SEARCH TIME: 

1800 TO 2009 

210 years 

THE EARTHQUAKE CLOSEST TO THE SITE IS ABOUT 13.1 MILES (21.0 km) AWAY. 

LARGEST EARTHQUAKE MAGNITUDE FOUND IN THE SEARCH RADIUS: 7.9 

LARGEST EARTHQUAKE SITE ACCELERATION FROM THIS SEARCH: 0.152 g 

COEFFICIENTS FOR GUTENBERG & RICHTER RECURRENCE RELATION: 
a-value= 0.936
b-value= 0. 347
beta-value= 0.799

TABLE OF MAGNITUDES AND EXCEEDANCES: 

Earthquake I Number of Times I cumulative 
Magnitude I Exceeded I No. / Year 

-----------+-----------------+------------

4.0 54 0.25837 
4.5 54 0.25837 
5.0 54 0.25837 
5.5 24 0.11483 
6.0 11 0.05263 
6. 5 4 o. 01914
7.0 2 0.00957
7.5 2 0.00957

Page 3 

A-2-153Page 310 of 356



0 

•--:\. 
,;. 

3D SITE AERIAL 

STANLEY RESIDENCE 

Gilbert Avenue, APN 064-405-010 

Cayucos, California 

-0

EARTH SYSTEMS PACIFIC 

REF.: Photograph from Google Earth website, 2009 

(805) 544-3276 - (805) 544-1786

4378 Old Santa Fe Road, San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 
January 2010 

www.earthsys.com - email: esc@earthsys.com 
SL-16139-SA 

A-2-154Page 311 of 356



APPENDIX D 

Typical Detail A: Pipe Placed Parallel to Foundations 

A-2-155Page 312 of 356



TYPICAL DETAIL A: 

PIPE PLACED PARALLEL TO FOUNDATIONS 

Compacted backfill 

All trench excavation to be 
above 1: 1 plane as shown 1 

11/ 

(c\ Earth Systems Pacific

Foundation 

Zone of foundation influence l 
No excavation allowed 
below 1:1 plane as shown 

Compacted sand bedding and shading 
per project specifications 

SCHEMATIC ONLY 

NOTTO SCALE 

4378 Santa Fe Road 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401-8116 

(805) 544-3276 • FAX (805) 544-1786
E-mail: esc@earthsys.com 

TRENCH-002P..VD2,0"'9 A-2-156Page 313 of 356



April 18, 2014 

Linda and Dan Stanley 

2227 Monterey Blvd. 

Hermosa Beach, CA 90254 

PROJECT: STANLEY RESIDENCE 

GILBERT AVENUE 

CAYUCOS, CALIFORNIA 

APN 064-405-010 

4378 Old Santa Fe Road 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401-8116 

(805) 544-3276" FAX (805) 544-1786
E-mail: esp@earthsys.com

FILE NO.: SL-16139-SA 

SUBJECT: Response to San Luis Obispo County Reviewer Comments on Soils Engineering and 

Geologic Hazards Report 

REF: See Attached List 

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Stanley: 

In accordance with your authorization of our change order (ESP 2014), the comments presented in 

the review letter by LandSet Engineers, Inc. (LandSet 2013, copy attached) are addressed herein. 

LandSet Engineers, Inc. is the geologic reviewer for the County of San Luis Obispo. In their review of 

the Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report proposed by this firm (ESP 2010), LandSet 

Engineers, Inc. indicated that, in their opinion, additional information or clarifications regarding 

updating the report were needed, as required by the San Luis Obispo County Guidelines for 

Engineering Geology Reports. 

Our response to the comments is based on a site reconnaissance performed on March 27, 2014, a 

review of geologic site maps and a review of the current building code (CBSC 2013). Our responses 

to the County Guideline Checklist items in the LandSet review that refer to our scope of services are 

as follows: 

Checklist Item #30. Summary Sheet 

Based on the site reconnaissance, the geologic site conditions have not changed since the Soils 

Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report was issued. Therefore, the conclusions and 

recommendations presented in the Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report {ESP 2010), with 

the modification noted in the following paragraph, are still considered to be valid with respect to 

the proposed development. 

Checklist Item #31. Age of Report 

Due to the age of the report, the earthquake ground motion parameters for the site required 

updating to the current building code {CBSC 2013). The following section should replace that 

shown on Pages 7 and 8 of the Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report (ESP 2010). 

A-2-157Page 314 of 356



Stanley Residence 

Cayucos California 

Ground Acceleration Parameters 

2 April 18, 2014 

The site is in a region of generally high seismicity and has the potential to experience strong ground 

shaking from earthquakes on regional and/or local causative faults. Considering the alluvial 

deposits found in the field exploration program, the site is characterized per Site Classification "D" 

category (ASCE 2010). To characterize the seismicity at the site and to provide the seismic design 

acceleration parameters, a seismic hazard analysis was performed utilizing this Site Classification. 

The deterministic ground motions that could occur at the site were analyzed based on the California 

Building Code (CBSC 2013) and a General Procedure Ground Motion Analysis (ASCE 2010). The site 

coordinates used in this analysis was latitude 35.4237N and longitude 120.8759W. Methods 

available on the United States Geological Survey Earthquake Hazards Program website (USGS 2013) 

were used. The results of the seismic hazard analysis are: 

SUMMARY OF SEISMIC ACCELERATION SITE PARAMETERS 

Mapped Spectral Adjusted MCE Design Spectral 

Response Site Coefficients for Spectral Response Response 

Acceleration Site Class D Accelerations for Accelerations for 

for Site Class B Site Class D Site Class D 

Seismic Value Site Seismic Value Seismic Value 

Parameter (g) Coefficient Value Parameter (g) Parameter (g) 

Ss 1.139 Fa 1.044 SMs 1.189 Sos 0.793 

S1 0.418 Fv 1.582 SM1 0.661 So1 0.441 

The site has a Design Response Peak Ground Acceleration of 0.32g. 

END OF RESPONSES TO COMMENTS 

Thank you for the opportunity to have been of service. If you have any questions, or if we can be of 

further assistance, please do not hesitate to contact the undersigned at your convenience. 

Sincerely, 

Earth Systems Pacific 

� -7:-.,....,-_,...��� 
Richard T. Gorman, CEG 

Associate Geologist 

Attachments: Reference List 

LandSet 2013 (5 pages) 

ESP 2010 (71 pages) 

Copy to: LandSet Engineers, Inc., Attn.: Mr. Brian Papurello, 

Doc. No.: 1404-099.LTR/tf A-2-158Page 315 of 356



Stanley Residence 

Cayucos California 

3 

REFERENCES 

April 18, 2014 

ASCE (American Society of Civil Engineers). 2010. Minimum Design Loads for Buildings and other 

Structures (7-10, third printing). Standards ASCE/SEI 7-10. 

CBSC (California Building Standards Commission). 2013. California Building Code (CBC}. 

Change Order No. 1 for a Response to San Luis Obispo County Report Review Comments, 

Stanley Residence, Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, California, (APN 064-405-010) by Earth 

Systems Pacific, Doc. No. 1403-113.COl, dated March 25, 2014 

Review of Soils Engineering Geologic Hazards Report, Stanley Residence, Lots 12 & 13, Block 21, 

Paso Robles Beach #1, Gilbert Avenue (APN 076-231-063), Cayucos Area of San Luis 

Obispo County, California, by LandSet Engineering, Inc., dated November 21, 2013 

Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report, Stanley Residence, Gilbert Avenue, Cayucos, 

California, (APN 064-405-010) by Earth Systems Pacific, Doc. No. 1001-089.SER, dated 

January 22, 2010. 

USGS (United States Geological Survey). 2014. "Earthquake Hazards Program." United States 

Geological Survey. Retrieved from: http://earthquake.usgs.gov/hazards/designmaps/ 

A-2-159Page 316 of 356



ENGINEERS , INC . 

ENGINEERING - LAND PLANNING 

SURVEYING - ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTING 

November 21, 2013 

Mr. & Mrs. Dan & Linda Stanley 
c/o John MacDonald, Architect 
2813 Santa Barbara A venue 
Cayucos, California 93430 

Attention: Mr. John MacDonald 

File No.: 0916-01 
SLO Co. File No. PMT2013-01171 

Subject: Review of Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report 

Project: Stanley Residence, Lots 12 & 13, Block 21, Paso Robles Beach #1 
Gilbert Avenue (APN 064-405-010) 
Cayucos Area of San Luis Obispo County, California 

References: 1. Soil Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report, Stanley Residence, Gilbert 
Avenue, Cayucos, California, File No. SL-16139-SA, Doc. No. 1001-089.SER, 
prepared by Earth Systems Pacific, dated January 22, 2010. 

2. Architectural Plans, Proposed Residence for Linda & Dan Stanley, Gilbert
Avenue, Cayucos California, Sheets T-1, A-1, A-2, A-3 A-4, A-5 & A-6,
prepared by John MacDonald, Architect, dated August 2011.

3. Project Structural Plans, Stanley Residence, Gilbert Ave., Cayucos, CA, Sheets
S-1.0, S-1.1, S-2, S-5 & S-6, Job No. 11445, prepared by Taylor & Syfan
Consulting Engineers, Inc., dated October 19, 2011.

Dear Mr. & Mrs. Stanley: 

The purpose of this letter is to summarize our findings of a site reconnaissance performed on 

November 18, 2013 and review of the above referenced soil engineering and geologic hazards 

report (Reference 1 ). 

We reviewed the report for conformance with the San Luis Obispo County Coastal Zone Land 

Use Ordinance (CZLUO) and the San Luis Obispo County Guidelines for Engineering Geology 

Reports. It is our opinion that the report prepared Earth Systems Pacific (Reference 1) presents a 

comprehensive outline, modeling the site engineering geology and constraints. However, certain 

specific information as required per the San Luis Obispo County Guidelines for Engineering 

Geology Reports is either incomplete or requires clarification. 

520-B Crazy Horse Canyon Road, Salinas, CA 93907 • (831) 443-6970 • Fax (831) 443-3801 A-2-160Page 317 of 356



November 21, 2013 File No. 0916-01 
SLO Co. File No. PMT2013-01171 

Your engineering geologist and soils engineer will need to respond to the review comments 

attached to this letter and prepare an addendum report. Once the additional information requested 

is received, the report will be reconsidered for acceptance per CZLUO ordinance requirements. I 

recommend that you have your Engineering Geologist contact us to discuss specific details of the 

proposed project. We will be happy to review the required engineering geology addendum report 

when it is available. 

Please contact me at (831) 443-6970 or bpapurel1o@landseteng.com if you have questions 

regarding this matter. 

Respectfully, 
LandSet Engineers, Inc. 

Brian Papurello, CEG 222f 

Doc. No. 1311-115.REV 

Copies: Addressee (2) 
Mr. & Mrs. Dan and Linda Stanley (1) 
Ms. Susan Callado, San Luis Obispo County Planning & Building Dept. (1) 
Messer's. Richard T. Gorman & Fredrick T. Potthast, Earth Systems Pacific (1) 
SLO County Geology files (1) 

- 2 -

A-2-161Page 318 of 356



November 21, 2013 File No. 0916-01 

SLO Co. File No. PMT2013-01171 

SAN LUIS OBISPO COUNTY ENGINEERING GEOLOGY REPORT REVIEW FORM 

The San Luis Obispo County Planning and Building Department uses the following checklist as part of reviewing 

engineering geology reports. Explanatory notes are appended and keyed to each numbered item. 

Adequately Additional data 

described: needed: 

Checklist item within consulting report satisfactory unsatisfactory 

1. Project Description X 
2. SLO County Geological Study Area Map X 
3. Site Location X 
4. Regional Geologic Map X 
5. Original engineering geologic map of site X 
6. Aerial photograph interpretation X 
7. Subsurface site geology X 
8. Geologic cross sections X 
9. Active faulting and coseismic deformation across the site X 
10. Landslides X 
11. Flooding, severe erosion, deposition X 
12. On-site septic systems NIA 

13. Hydrocollapse of alluvial fan soils NIA 

14. Evaluation of historical seismicity and regional faults X 
15. Characterize and classify geologic site class X 
16. Probabilistic evaluation of earthquake ground motion X 
17. Peak ground acceleration for MCE levels of ground motion X 
18. Site coefficients Fa & fv and spectral accelerations Ss, S 1 , SMs, SM1 Sos & S01 X 
19. Geologic setting for liquefaction analysis X 
20. Liquefaction methodology NIA 

21. Bluff erosion NIA 

22. Tsunami or seiche potential X 
23. Expansive soil X 
24. Naturally occurring asbestos X 
25. Radon and other hazardous gasses X 
26. Geologic constraints anticipated during grading operations X 
27. Areas of cut and fill, preparation of the ground, and depth of removals X 
28. Subdrainage plans for groundwater NIA 

29. Final grading report and as-built map NIA 

30. Summary sheet X 
31. Age of report X 
32. Engineering geology report signed by CEG X 

- 3 -

A-2-162Page 319 of 356



November 21, 2013 File No. 0916-01 

SLO Co. File No. PMT2013-01171 

EXPLANATORY NOTES KEYED TO CHECKLIST 

30. Summary sheet
The report does present a statement regarding potential hazards, itemized conclusions and

itemized recommendations as required. However, given the age of the report and proceeding 

itemized report deficiency, a new summary statement along with updated conclusions and 

recommendations must be provided. 

31. Age of report
The report must be prepared within one year prior to submittal to the Planning Department

for verification of compliance with County codes and policies. Since the submitted report· 

reviewed is more than one-year old, an update report/letter is required to verify the validity 

and applicability of the original report (Reference 1). 

- 4 -

A-2-163Page 320 of 356



November 21, 2013 File No. 0916-01 
SLO Co. File No. PMT2013-01171 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Report Suitability. The soils engineering and geologic hazards report prepared by Earth

Systems Pacific, dated January 22, 2010 requires additional information and must be

updated with respect to the itemized deficiencies as noted in the preceding pages of this

review in order to satisfy the requirements of the San Luis Obispo County Coastal Zone

Land Use Ordinance.

2. Respond to Review Comments. The project Engineering Geologist needs to review the

comments on the previous pages and address them in an addendum report. After the

addendum report is submitted to the County, it will be reviewed and considered for

acceptance.

3. Plan Review. The project engineering geologist and soils engineer must review the

project plans submitted for building permit and provide a written plan review to verify

compliance with the recommendations of the soils engineering and geologic hazards

report (Reference 1) and required update addendum report/letter.

Brian Papurello, CEG 2226 
Reviewing Geologist 

- 5 -

A-2-164Page 321 of 356



December 19, 2022 
File No.: 305190-001 

Linda and Dan Stanley 
2227 Monterey Blvd. 
Hermosa Beach, CA  90254 

PROJECT: STANLEY RESIDENCE 
APN 064-405-010 
GILBERT AVENUE 
CAYUCOS, CALIFORNIA 

SUBJECT: Update of Soils Engineering Report and Geotechnical Plan Review 

REF: 1) Civil Project Plans, 3525 Gilbert Avenue – APN# 064-405-010, Grading and
Drainage Plans for Stanley Residence by SLO Civil Design, LLC., Sheets C-1
through C-5, dated December 2022

2) Soils Engineering and Geologic Hazards Report, Stanley Residence, Gilbert
Avenue, APN 064-405-010, Cayucos, California, by Earth Systems Pacific, Doc.
No.: SL-16139-SA, dated January 22, 2010

Dear Mr. and Mrs. Stanley: 

As requested, we have reviewed the referenced geotechnical engineering report for the planned 

single-family residence with the intent of updating it to reflect changes between the 2007 and 

2019 editions of the California Building Code (CBC).  Additionally, we have reviewed the 

referenced plans with respect to the intent of the recommendations presented in the referenced 

geotechnical engineering report as further updated by this letter.   

Update of Soils Engineering Report 

As a result of the differences between the 2007 and 2019 editions of the CBC, the following 

changes should be applied to the referenced updated report: 

1) All references to the 2007 CBC should be changed to the 2019 CBC.

2) All references to ASTM standards to be used during construction should reflect the

current edition.

3) Our seismic analysis used the ASCE 7-16 method available on the SEOAC/OSHPD Seismic

Design Maps website (SEAOC 2022). The risk category for buildings and structures is

assigned by others in accordance with Table 1604.5 of the 2019 CBC; however, based on

our understanding of the project, we selected Risk Category II for our analysis. Based upon

the size of the building, we have assumed that the fundamental period of vibration of the

structure is less than 0.5 seconds; therefore, we are providing the general procedure

seismic design parameters based on Site Class D in accordance with Sections 11.4.2

A-2-165Page 322 of 356



Stanley Residence 2 December 19, 2022 
Cayucos, California 

through 11.4.5 of ASCE 7-16. The structural engineer should confirm this procedure is 

being utilized, otherwise site-specific seismic parameters will be required. The site 

coordinates of latitude 35.4237°N and longitude 120.8760°W (Google 2022) were used to 

calculate the values which are based upon a Site Class D for Stiff Soil. 

The following 2019 CBC seismic parameters should replace those presented on page 7 of the 

referenced report and may be used to design the foundations of the proposed project: 

Mapped Spectral 
Response 

Acceleration  

Site Coefficients for 
Site Class D 

Adjusted MCE 
Spectral Response 

Accelerations for Site 
Class D 

Design Spectral 
Response 

Accelerations for Site 
Class D 

Seismic 
Parameter 

Value 
(g) 

Site 
Coefficient Value 

Seismic 
Parameter 

Value 
(g) 

Seismic 
Parameter 

Value 
(g) 

SS 0.982 Fa 1.107 SMS 1.087 SDS 0.725 

S1 0.364 Fv 1.936 SM1 0.704 SD1 0.470 

Peak Mean Ground Acceleration (PGAM):  0.508 g 

Seismic Design Category: D 

Geotechnical Plan Review 

The plan review was performed specifically with respect to geotechnical factors discussed in the 

referenced geotechnical engineering report and as further updated by this letter; factors related 

to civil or structural engineering, architecture, drafting, and other disciplines are beyond the 

scope of this review.  In performing this review, we attempted to verify that the concepts and 

recommendations presented in the report and this letter were generally incorporated into the 

plans.  

In accordance with scope discussed above, the plans were found to be in substantial 

conformance with concepts and recommendations presented in the soils report. 

If there are any questions concerning this matter, please do not hesitate to contact this office. 

Sincerely, 

Earth Systems Pacific 

Robert Down, PE Tim Robison 
Principal Engineer Staff Engineer 

Doc. No.: 2212-054.LTR/cr 

A-2-166Page 323 of 356



Attachment I 
County of San Luis Obispo Conditions 

Associated with RBLD2022-00295

A-2-167Page 324 of 356



COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING & BUILDING

CONDITIONS ASSOCIATED WITH
RBLD2022-00295

Single-Family Dwelling / Residential New Structure
STANLEY DANIEL L & LINDA W
3525 GILBERT AVE, CAYUCOS 93430

Printed on 11/28/2023 at 11:16 AM

Legend - Description of Letter Code in Condition Title
C = Due at or before the plan correction return    I = Due at or before permit issuance    S = Required at or before foundation inspection

R = Required at or before framing inspection    F = Required before final inspection

Prior to Corrections Status

NOT METBLD-Fire Sprinkler Permit Application-C

A separate permit application with plans, cut sheets and hydraulic calculations for a NFPA Fire Sprinkler System for this 
structure must be submitted to the SLO County Building Division and APPROVED prior to issuance of this application.  For 
Templeton, Cambria and San Miguel the fire sprinklers plan shall be submitted to those agencies.Please allow 1-2 weeks plan 
check time for residential sprinkler systems and 2-4 four weeks for commercial systems.

NOT METBLD-Sewer Will Serve Letter-C
Provide a will-serve letter from your sewer provider.

METBLD-Consent of Owner-C

Written consent of the land owner or proof of ownership is required prior to issuance of permit. 
Note: A copy of the property owner's driver's license, form notarization, or other acceptable verification is required to be 
presented when the permit application is submitted to verify the property owner's signature.
Carol Florence is authorized.

METBLD-P.W. Stormwater Control Plan App-C

**Please submit a completed and signed Stormwater Control Plan Application which indicates that this project satisfies 
Post-Construction Performance Requirement #1. You may find the form on our website: 
( h t t p s : / / w w w . s l o c o u n t y . c a . g o v / D e p a r t m e n t s / P u b l i c - W o r k s / F o r m s - 
Documents/Development-Services/Drainage,-Flood,-And-Stormwater.aspx)

You may email the completed form to Nino Kordic at Public Works (nkordic@co.slo.ca.us) to satisfy this condition.

METBLD-Water Serve or Well Report-C

The capacity required  for a domestic well shall be verified by a minimum four hour pump test with drawdown and recovery data 
by a licensed and bonded well driller or pump testing company. The pump test shall not be more than five years old. Please 
submit a four hour pump test. A domestic well shall provide a minimum capacity of 5 gallons per minute (GPM) for a single 
family dwelling. A well with a minimum capacity of 2.5 GPM may be approved, where 1000 gallons of on site water storage is 
also provided.(For commercial projects please contact Environmental Health 805-781-5544)
CONDITIONAL WILL SERVE - Expires 12/31/2025 - see attachments

976 OSOS STREET, ROOM 300 | SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93408 | (805) 781-5600/711-TTY/TRS
www.sloplanning.org | planning@co.slo.ca.us A-2-168Page 325 of 356



Conditions Associated with RBLD2022-00295 Page 2 of 3

Prior to Issuance Status

NOT METBLD-Misc. Hold-I
Misc. Hold-I

Soils and Geologic Review Letter for Grading and Foundation required prior to issuance.

NOT METBLD-Misc. Hold-I
Misc. Hold-I

BLD-1031 to be signed by Owner, Soils Engineer, Contractor, and any Special Inspectors prior to Issuance.

NOT METBLD-Owner/Builder Verification-I

Owner must read the Owner/Builder Notice,  complete and submit the Owner/Builder Verification Form PRIOR to permit being 
issued - UNLESS the permit is being issued to a licensed contractor.

NOT METBLD-PV Permit Required-I

A separate PV permit application with plans and cut sheets for this structure must be submitted to the SLO County Building 
Division prior to issuance of this application.

NOT METBLD-School District Clearance-I

Owner must provide County School Fee Form which is to be taken to the School District at the bottom of the form and returned 
with the receipt/ signed prior to the permit being issued.
 
Please note: School Fee Form will not be created until the plans have been stamped approved.

NOT METBLD-Verify Contractor's License-I
Verify Contractor's License-I

METBLD-CWMP-Recycling Review-I

A Construction Waste Management Plan will need to be submitted for your project, 75% of your construction waste will need to 
be recycled at an IWMA approved facility or provide the detailed Form for recycling.

Prior to Foundation Status

NOT METBLD-Foundation Observation-S
Prior to Foundation please do the following:Soils Engineer to observe and approve footing excavations prior to forms and steel

NOT METBLD-Pad Certification-S

Soils Engineer to certify the grading recommendations from the soils investigation have been met & a statement saying, 
"building pad as constructed is suitable for the intended use."

NOT METBLD-Setback Survey-S

The structure is located within 5' of the minimum required setback from the property line. At foundation inspection, provide 
certification from a licensed land surveyor or civil engineer that the structure meets the setback requirements if lot line 
monuments are not available.

Prior to Framing Status

NOT METBLD-Energy Certificate-R
Prior to framing inspection please do the following: CF2R Certificates of Installation to be completed by the installers

NOT METBLD-Fire Sprinkler Plans and Permit Required-R
Fire sprinkler permit and approved plans to be on job site by rough framing.

NOT METBLD-PV Permit Required-R
PV permit and approved plans to be on job site by rough framing.

976 OSOS STREET, ROOM 300 | SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93408 | (805) 781-5600/711-TTY/TRS
www.sloplanning.org | planning@co.slo.ca.us A-2-169Page 326 of 356



Conditions Associated with RBLD2022-00295 Page 3 of 3

Prior to Final Status

NOT METBLD-Cayucos Sanitary District-F

Hold for Cayucos Sanitary District approval prior to Final inspection.
Please contact Cayucos Sanitary District at (805) 995-3290 at least 5 working days prior to final inspection.

NOT METBLD-CWMP Recycle Compliance-F

PRIOR to the final building inspection, the permittee must provide documentation to show compliance with the 75% recycling 
requirement. To avoid delaying Final Approval, submit ORIGINAL waste handling and recycling receipts at least 7 working days 
prior to requesting a Final Inspection. Questions may be directed to Michael Byrd at (805) 781-1537. Failure to provide all 
receipts or to achieve the 75% recycling requirement will prevent the finaling of your project. You can email the receipts to 
pl_building-recyclingreceipts@co.slo.ca.us. Please be aware they will need to be readable, clear, and preferably in PDF format, 
otherwise a printed copy will be needed. Printed copies may be mailed or hand delivered to 976 Osos St., RM 300, San Luis 
Obispo, CA 93408. Permit number must be included, or receipts will be discarded.

NOT METBLD-Energy Certificate-F
Prior to Final, contractor to complete and sign all applicable Title 24 energy forms. (ie CF-2R, CF3R forms)

NOT METBLD-Fire Agency Insp Req-F
Fire Agency Must Inspect and Sign-Off on all Access, Address, Devices and Systems Prior to Final Inspection

NOT METBLD-Misc. Hold-Final-F
Prior to final please do the following:

Geotechnical Construction Inspections - The geotechnical consultant shall inspect, test (as needed), and approve all 
geotechnical aspects of the project construction.  The inspections should include, but not necessarily be limited to: site 
preparation and grading, site surface and subsurface drainage improvements, and excavations for foundations and retaining 
walls prior to placement of steel and concrete.

NOT METBLD-PR1 Inspection-F

The building Inspector must inspect the stormwater improvements required per Performance Requirement 1. These measures 
were selected by owner/design team during plan submittal and found on SWCP Application. 
This includes:
___1. Roof runoff directed into cisterns or rain barrels.
___2. Roof runoff onto vegetated areas.
___3. Runoff from sidewalks, walkaways, and/or patios directed onto vegetated areas. 
___4. Runoff from driveways and/or uncovered parking lots onto vegetated areas.
___5. Utilizes pervious pavers or porous concrete for flat work.

NOT METBLD-Water Serve-F

Prior to final please do the following: Provide a will-serve letter from your water provider. Conditional Will Serve provided prior to 
issuance. A final will serve letter must be provided prior to final inspection.

976 OSOS STREET, ROOM 300 | SAN LUIS OBISPO, CA 93408 | (805) 781-5600/711-TTY/TRS
www.sloplanning.org | planning@co.slo.ca.us A-2-170Page 327 of 356



Attachment J 
County of San Luis Obispo, County Service Area 10A (Cayucos) 
Conditional Intent to Serve Water to APN 064-405-010 Letter 

A-2-171Page 328 of 356



 

 

COUNTY OF SAN LUIS OBISPO 

Department of Public Works 

John Diodati, Director   

 

 

County of San Luis Obispo Department of Public Works 

County Govt Center, Room 206 | San Luis Obispo, CA 93408 | (P) 805-781-5252 | (F) 805-781-1229 

 pwd@co.slo.ca.us | slocounty.ca.gov  

June 12, 2023 

 

EMAIL ONLY 

 

Mr. Daniel L. Stanley 

dlstanley@hotmail.com 

 

Subject:  County Service Area No. 10A (Cayucos); Conditional Intent to Serve Water to APN 

064-405-010 for the construction of a Single-Family Residence (2718 SF) with 

attached garage (514 SF) project. 

 

Dear Mr. Stanley:  

 

A final Will Serve Letter is required prior to final inspection. This letter outlines the general 

conditions under which County Service Area No. 10, Zone A (CSA 10A) would provide water service 

to the subject project at 3525 Gilbert Avenue in Cayucos and is based upon the fact that a  

single-family dwelling would ultimately be served provided the following conditions are met. 

 

1. Pay to CSA 10A all remaining applicable connection fees, meter charges, other new  

service-related fees, and/or related expenses established by ordinance, approximately 

$13,619.99 less the $1,100 deposit for an estimated balance of $12,519.99. 

2. Coordinate to have CSA 10A install a new water service line and one-inch meter prior to 

occupancy at the subject property.  

3. Comply with all conditions of approval established by the County Department of Planning 

and Building and County Planning Commission. 

 

The above conditions shall be effective until December 31, 2025, or until some unforeseen event 

occurs making this presently intended service unusually difficult or impossible to provide. 

If you have any questions regarding this letter, please feel free to call me at (805) 781-5135. 

 

 

 

 

 

A-2-172Page 329 of 356



2 of 2 

Sincerely,  

 

 
 

LAURA HOLDER 

Utilities Division Program Manager II 

 

Attachments:  Estimated Cost Estimate  

 

c: CM Florence, cmf@oasisassoc.com   

Nola Engelskirger, Utilities Division Manager, nengelskirger@co.slo.ca.us 

Kyle James, Water Superintendent, kjames@co.slo.ca.us 

Department of Planning & Building, planning@co.slo.ca.us 

 

File: CF 320.420.02 Planning No. RBLD2022-00295 

 
L:\Utilities\2023\June\3515 Gilbert Avenue, Stanley.docxLHmh 

 

A-2-173Page 330 of 356

mailto:cmf@oasisassoc.com
mailto:nengelskirger@co.slo.ca.us
mailto:kjames@co.slo.ca.us
mailto:planning@co.slo.ca.us


A-3-1

TO
 

  

San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission 

TO: MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION 

FROM: ROB FITZROY, EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

DATE: MARCH 20, 2025 

SUBJECT: SECOND QUARTER FISCAL YEAR 2024-2025 BUDGET STATUS AND 
WORK PLAN REPORT 

RECOMMENDATION 

Action: Review the second quarter budget and work plan report for fiscal year (FY) 
2024-2025 and approve, by motion, to direct the Executive Officer to file it with 
the County Auditor. 

BUDGET OVERVIEW 

This report is the second FY 2024-2025 quarterly report for the San Luis Obispo 
Local Agency Formation Commission (LAFCO). The LAFCO operating budget is 
comprised of four components: 1) salaries, payroll taxes, and benefits, 2) services 
and supplies, 3) revenues, and 4) fund balance and reserves. Day-to-day 
management of the budget is based on “bottom-line” principles that allow for 
variation within individual line-item accounts as long as the overall expenditures 
remain within the approved budget. 

LAFCO’s budget is funded by the County, Cities, and Independent Special Districts. 
City and District shares are pro-rated based on general revenues reported to the 
State Controller’s Office on an annual basis. LAFCO also receives revenue from 
application fees and interest earnings. 

The County Auditor Controller provides LAFCO with various financial services. 
Every financial transaction of LAFCO is processed through the County Auditor’s 
financial system. This approach ensures accuracy, transparency, and 
accountability. The County Auditor’s Office also provides LAFCO with claims 
processing, invoicing, and financial review services. The Auditor’s financial 
tracking system assists LAFCO in monitoring the budget, compiling budget report 
data, and providing an independent review of the budget. 

COMMISSIONERS 

Chairperson 
STEVE GREGORY 

City Member 

Vice-Chair 
HEATHER MORENO 

County Member 

DAWN ORTIZ-LEGG 
County Member 

ED WAAGE 
City Member 

ROBERT ENNS 
Special District Member 

VACANT 
Special District Member 

DAVID WATSON 
Public Member 

ALTERNATES 

BRUCE GIBSON 
County Member 

CARLA WIXOM 
City Member 

ED EBY 
Special District Member 

MICHAEL DRAZE 
Public Member 

STAFF 

ROB FITZROY 
Executive Officer 

IMELDA MARQUEZ-VAWTER 
Analyst 

MORGAN BING 
Analyst 

MELISSA MORRIS 
Commission Clerk 

HOLLY WHATLEY 
Legal Counsel 

Page 331 of 356



A-3-2

San Luis Obispo LAFCO Quarterly Report 
March 20, 2025 Page 2 

QUARTERLY BUDGET SUMMARY 

Executive Officer Comments. The second quarter's budget actuals indicate that LAFCO continues 
to be in a strong budgetary position. Expenditures are as expected within the first quarter. 
Application activity and associated revenue continue to be very strong; with 50% of the fiscal 
year complete, we have reached 141% of our revenue projections for proposal applications. 
Additionally, total revenues are 101% realized. There were some one-time expenditures related 
to office furniture/supplies/software licenses for the new Commission Clerk position added to 
the organization. 

Expenditures. Overall, second-quarter expenditures are at 51% with 50% of the fiscal year 
complete. A detailed budget report is provided in Attachment A. It should be noted that Salaries 
are at 51% with 50% of the year completed, in part, due to the slightly earlier than expected start 
date of the recently added Commission Clerk position as approved by the Commission. Overall 
bottom-line expenditures will not exceed the overall budget, as per our standard practice. Below 
is a brief summary of line-item expenditures: 

• Salaries and benefits are 51% expended.
• Services and Supplies are 53% expended.

LAFCO uses a credit card from a program implemented by the Special District Risk Management 
Association (SDRMA) for public agencies. LAFCO’s policy is to pay each bill in full each month. The 
statements for October, November, and December are included as Attachment B. Additionally, 
with any “significant value” (i.e., a purchase over $400), a receipt is provided for that item for 
further transparency. 

• October: Microsoft Office Subscription $37.50, Microsoft Office Subscription $37.50,
USPS Stamps for Noticing $224.00, Clerk Recorder $82.49, Staples $32.61

• November: Truthfinder Background Check $28.33, Lenovo Laptop $1,004.41, Microsoft
Office Subscription $37.50, Trophy Hunters $26.01, Fedex Scanning $10.86, USPS $8.40,
Smart & Final $35.96, Trophy Hunters $49.76, Clerk Recorder $82.49, Staff & Legal
Counsel Lunch During November Hearing $94.04

• December: Transitions Office Items $29.34, Trophy Hunters $26.01, Microsoft Office
Subscription $50.00, Uplift Office Desk $1,369.16, Fedex $43.56, USPS Stamps $226.31,
Canva Business Cards $78.00, Amazon Office Supplies $209.68, USPS $10.00

Revenues. Overall, revenues are 101% realized through the second quarter. Contributing 
agencies (Cities, Special Districts, and County) have paid 100% of the LAFCO charges billed in the 
first quarter by the County Auditor. Application fees have been submitted in the amount of 
$42,381 or 141% of projected application revenue for the year. In line with current projections, 
due to higher than expected application fees, use of reserves will be about 25% less than 
budgeted. 

Page 332 of 356



A-3-3

San Luis Obispo LAFCO Quarterly Report 
March 20, 2025 Page 3 

Fund Balance (Reserves). Fund Balance is the LAFCO reserve of funds for various expenditures. 
Fund Balance expenditure requires Commission approval. The current fund balance available is 
$300,873. 

WORK PLAN QUARTERLY UPDATE 

Work Plan Update. In conjunction with the FY 2024-2025 budget process, the Commission 
adopted an accompanying Work Plan for FY 2024-2025. Our adopted work prioritization is as 
follows: 

1. Process proposal applications as mandated by statute and conduct critical operations
necessary for the organization to function.

2. Prepare Municipal Service Reviews (MSRs) as mandated by statute, based on the date an
MSR was last updated.

3. Execute special work efforts as directed by the Commission.

Consistent with the priorities established by the Commission for the FY 2024-2025 Work Plan, 
during the second quarter staff have been diligently working on the following items: 

• Dana Reserve Hearing and Subsequent Lawsuit
• Commission Clerk Recruitment & Onboarding
• Legal Counsel Recruitment & Onboarding
• Public Member Recruitment & Onboarding
• Special District Member Request for Nominations
• OCSD Divestiture Hearing, Protest Proceedings, and Post Approval Tasks
• Continued proposal application processing including the Cayucos SD annexations, County

Service Area 23 annexation application, and annexations into special independent
districts

• Conducted ongoing critical operations, invoicing, payroll, records management, office
administration, directory update

• Additional work efforts include attendance/presentations at various district public
meeting to discuss LAFCO processes, response to numerous public inquiries regarding
annexations, incorporations, and dissolutions, coordination with numerous districts and
cities regarding potential future annexations, coordination with districts regarding
activation/divestiture of powers, responses to Public Record Act requests, reorganizing
our record management systems, and LAFCO maps/GIS Boundary Data maintenance

Significant Project Status Updates 

Below is a brief summary of the current status of significant applications currently in process or 
items that will be forthcoming in the near future: 

Page 333 of 356



A-3-4

San Luis Obispo LAFCO Quarterly Report 
March 20, 2025 Page 4 

• San Miguel Community Services District – On November 21, 2024, San Miguel CSD passed
a resolution to divest its fire authority. While no formal application has been received, we
do anticipate an application in the near future. The details of the proposal are not yet
known, but our understanding is that the CSD wishes to divest its fire authority and there
will be an initiative to create a new fire district that expands beyond the current CSD
boundaries. More details to come.

• Dana Reserve Specific Plan – The Board of Supervisors approved the Dana Reserve
Specific Plan on April 24, 2024. Your Commission approved the annexation into Nipomo
CSD on November 14, 2024. All post-approval requirements are complete, however,
within the 30-day statute of limitations, a lawsuit was filed against LAFCO related to the
Environmental Impact Report. Staff have been working with legal counsel on this matter
and it currently requires staff bandwidth and is expected to do so over the next several
months.

• San Simeon CSD Dissolution – The San Simeon CSD submitted a Resolution of Application
to LAFCO on May 30, 2024. As required by law, staff provided a 30-day review letter, a
copy of which was provided to your Commission. The dissolution is currently on
information hold. In brief, the County, the proposed successor agency, requested time to
study the issue and would like to explore options. The LAFCO 30-day response letter
details some of the items that need to be analyzed, much of which depends on how the
County would like to proceed as the successor agency. The process requires a
comprehensive analysis of existing and future governance structures and the services to
be provided. It requires a detailed Plan for Service pursuant to Government Code Section
56653. The information within the Plan for Service should be informed by a
comprehensive analysis reflective of the entirety of the action. In pursuing dissolution,
the County, as a successor agency, will be assuming all assets and liabilities which, in part,
includes the responsibility to fund and relocate a wastewater treatment plant as well as
several other significant financial obligations. These items will be reviewed in detail by
the County. County staff have indicated they intend to bring the item to the Board of
Supervisors for direction in the near future, no date has yet been identified.

• County Service Area 23 – The County of SLO submitted a Resolution of Application to
LAFCO on June 22, 2023. Staff deemed the application complete and issued a Certificate
of Filing on December 4, 2024, and set the item for hearing on January 16, 2025. The
Commission approved the proposal and staff are working on post-approval items.

• Shandon San Juan Water District Annexation – A landowner petition of application
request to annex approximately 4,000 acres into the District has been formally submitted.
The proposal was reviewed within the 30-day review period and placed on hold for
multiple reasons. The primary issue with the proposed annexation, as identified by the
County, is that it would require a boundary modification to the County Groundwater
Sustainability Agency (GSA) boundary. Currently, the County does not allow any new wells
within the Paso Robles Groundwater Basin within the County’s GSA boundary; however,
Shandon San Juan Water District does allow new wells if certain criteria are met. Should
the County allow the boundary modification, it would allow increased groundwater
extraction that was not otherwise allowed. This matter would have significant
implications for the Paso Robles Groundwater Basin Groundwater Sustainability Plan and

Page 334 of 356



A-3-5

San Luis Obispo LAFCO Quarterly Report 
March 20, 2025 Page 5 

may trigger environmental review under California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). 
The County and the District are actively in discussions on this matter. Staff will keep the 
Commission apprised as this develops. 

Work Plan Projections. Looking ahead, we expect the workload to remain high and staff to be 
operating at full capacity. We will be focused on the existing workload while also focusing on 
training our new Commission Clerk. We expect that once fully trained, our capacity will increase, 
and we will be able to further execute items on our work plan. 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A: Quarterly Budget Status Report 

Attachment B: Credit Card Statements 

Page 335 of 356



A-3-6

Attachment A 
Quarterly Budget Status Report 

Page 336 of 356



A-3-7

Adopted FY 24-25 
Expenditures / 
Revenue 

Percent Expended / 
Revenue Projected Year End 

Expenditures Summary 
(Services, Supplies, Salaries, Benefits, Taxes) $781,961 $400,620 51% $778,350 

Revenues Summary 
(Processing Fees, Reserves, Agency Contributions) $781,961 $792,217 101% $778,350 
Services and Supplies Expenditure Details 
Computer Software $1,000 $343 34% $1,000 
Copying-Printing $300 $0 0% $300 
Commission Meeting Expenses $600 $622 104% $622 
LAFCO Insurance Policies $20,000 $18,041 90% $18,041 
Maintenance-Equipment $300 $55 18% $300 
Maintenance-Software $500 $38 8% $500 
CALAFCO/ SDRMA / Other Memberships $9,000 $7,447 83% $7,447 
Employee Mileage Reimbursement $200 $0 0% $200 
Commissioner Mileage Reimbursement $1,500 $307 20% $1,500 
Office Supplies $2,500 $1,201 48% $2,500 
Custodial Services $1,800 $1,050 58% $1,800 
County Auditor Services $10,000 $9,879 99% $9,879 
Legal Counsel $33,600 $15,308 46% $33,600 
Postage $1,000 $280 28% $1,000 
General Services $15,000 $4,011 27% $15,000 
Publication & Legal Notices $1,000 $460 46% $1,000 
Training $5,000 $0 0% $5,000 
Office Lease $42,000 $21,000 50% $42,000 
Large Equipment $2,000 $1,004 50% $2,000 
Small Equipment $600 $0 0% $600 
Telephone / Internet $3,000 $1,433 48% $3,000 
Travel Expenses $3,000 $0 0% $3,000 
IT Support $850 $0 0% $850 
Vehicle Allowance $5,400 $2,908 54% $5,400 
Vehicle Rental $500 $0 0% $500 
Services and Supplies Subtotal $160,650 $85,386 53% $157,039 
Salary, Benefits, and Taxes Expenditures 
Salaries $396,105 $191,085 48% $396,105 
Taxes - FICA SS Employer Match $21,204 $12,075 57% $21,204 
Taxes - Medicare Employer Match $4,959 $2,884 58% $4,959 
Pension Rate $112,440 $62,540 56% $112,440 
Pension Obligation Bond $19,303 $9,865 51% $19,303 
SDI/SUI Employer Contribution $1,500 $291 19% $1,500 
Heath Insurance $55,800 $31,119 56% $55,800 
Deferred Compensation $10,000 $5,376 54% $10,000 
Salary, Benefits, and Taxes Subtotal $621,311 $315,234 51% $621,311 
Total Expenditures $781,961 $400,620 51% $778,350 
Revenue Details Revenue to Date 
Interest Earned $9,000 $6,872 76% $9,000 
Environmental Review Fees $3,000 $1,500 50% $3,000 
Sphere of Influence Fees $3,000 $0 0% $3,000 
Application Processing Fees $24,000 $40,881 170% $40,881 
Other Revenue (Transfer of Reserves) $84,107 $84,107 100% $63,615 
Agency Contributions 
Cities $219,618 $219,619 100% $219,618 
County $219,618 $219,619 100% $219,618 
Special Districts $219,618 $219,619 100% $219,618 
Total Revenue $781,961 $792,217 101% $778,350 
Reserves Fund Balance $220,419 $300,873 137% $237,258 

Page 337 of 356



A-3-8

Attachment B 
Credit Card Statements 

Page 338 of 356



A-3-9

Account Summary Account Inquiries 

Call us at: (866) 777-9013 
Lost or Stolen Card: (866) 839-3485 

Finance Charges + $0.00

Go to www.umpquabank.com 

Write us at PO BOX 35142 - LB1181, SEATTLE, WA 
98124-5142 

Payment Summary 

NEW BALANCE 

cash advances until paid and will be billed on your next statement. 

Corporate Activity 
TOTAL CORPORATE ACTIVITY $1,198.58- 

Trans Date Post Date Reference Number Transaction Description Amount 
10/15 10/15 70005604289555289750145 PAYMENT - THANK YOU SPOKANE WA $1,198.58- 

Cardholder Account Summary 

ROBERT FITZROY #### 4 Payments & Other 
Credits 
$0.00 

Purchases & Other 
Charges 
$75.00 

Cash Advances 

$0.00 

Total Activity 

$75.00 

Cardholder Account Detail 
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount 

PLEASE DETACH COUPON AND RETURN PAYMENT USING THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE - ALLOW UP TO 7 DAYS FOR RECEIPT - * 

UMPQUA BANK 
PO BOX 35142 - LB1181 
SEATTLE WA 98124-5142 

#### ## 

Check box to indicate 
name/address change 
on back of this coupon 

AMOUNT OF PAYMENT ENCLOSED 

10/31/24 

 
 

$414.10 

 
 

$414.10 

 
 

 

11/25/24 $ 
LAFCO 
1042 PACIFIC ST 
SUITE A 
SAN LUIS OBISPO CA 93401 

MAKE CHECK PAYABLE TO: 

UMPQUA BANK COMMERCIAL CARD OPS 
PO BOX 35142 - LB1181 
SEATTLE WA 98124-5142 

Account Number 

Payment Due Date Total Minimum 
Payment Due New Balance Closing Date 

$414.10 

(ÂØD) 52
74  

Billing Cycle 10/31/2024 
Days In Billing Cycle 31 
Previous Balance $1,198.58 
Purchases + $414.10
Cash + $0.00
Balance Transfers + $0.00
Special + $0.00
Credits - $0.00
Payments - $1,198.58-
Other Charges + $0.00

NEW BALANCE $414.10 MINIMUM PAYMENT $414.10 

Credit Summary PAYMENT DUE DATE 11/25/2024 

Total Credit Line $10,000.00 
Available Credit Line $9,585.90 NOTE: Grace period to avoid a finance charge on purchases, pay 
Available Cash $0.00 entire new balance by payment due date. Finance charge accrues on 

 

10/05 10/06 
 

PPLN01 24204294279001011600090 
 

Microsoft-G060745063 701-2817490 WA $37.50 
10/25 10/27 PPLN01 24430994299130644160359 MICROSOFT#G063189308 MSBILL.INFO WA $37.50 

Amount Over Credit Line $0.00 
Amount Past Due $0.00 
Disputed Amount $0.00 

Page 339 of 356

http://www.umpquabank.com/


A-3-10

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
Finance Charge Calculation Methods and Computation of Average Daily Balance Subject to Finance Charge: The Finance Charge Calculation Method 
applicable to your account for Cash Advances and Credit Purchases of goods and services that you obtain through the use of your card is specified on the 
front side of this statement and explained below: 
Method A - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): The Finance Charge on purchases begins on the date the transaction posted to your 
account. The Finance Charge on Cash Advances begins on the date you obtained the cash advance, or the first day of the billing cycle within which it is 
posted to your account, whichever is later. There is no grace period. 
The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of your account. To get the average daily 
balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and subtract any payments, credits, 
non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the billing cycle and divide the total 
by the number of days in the billing cycle. 
Method E - Average Daily Balance (excluding current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash 
advances if Method E is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance shown on your 
monthly statement on or before the Payment Due Date. The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date. 
The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day and subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees, 
and unpaid finance charges. We do not add in any new purchases or cash advances. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances 
for the billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. 
Method G - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash 
advances, if Method G is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement and, on any new purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances) appearing on your next monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance, shown on your monthly statement, on or before the Payment Due Date. 
The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date. 
The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and 
subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the 
billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. 
Payment Crediting and Credit Balance: Payments received at the location specified on the front of the statement after the phrase ˜MAKE CHECK PAYABLE 
TO™ will be credited to the account specified on the payment coupon as of the date of receipt. Payments received at a different location or payments that do 
not conform to the requirements set forth on or with the periodic statement (e.g. missing payment stub, payment envelope other than as provided with your 
statement, multiple checks or multiple coupons in the same envelope) may be subject to delay in crediting, but shall be credited within five days of receipt. If 
there is a credit balance due on your account, you may request in writing, a full refund. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of 
this statement. 
By sending your check, you are authorizing the use of the information on your check to make a one-time electronic debit from the account on which the check 
is drawn. This electronic debit, which may be posted to your account as early as the date your check is received, will be only for the amount of your check. 
The original check will be destroyed and we will retain the image in our records. If you have questions please call the customer service number on the front of 
this billing statement. 
Closing Date: The closing date is the last day of the billing cycle; all transactions received after the closing date will appear on your next statement. 
Annual Fee: If your account has been assessed an annual fee, you may avoid paying this annual fee by sending written notification of termination within 30 
days following the mailing date of this bill. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement. You may use your card(s) 
during this 30 day period but immediately thereafter must send your card(s), which you have cut in half, to this same address. 
Negative Credit Reports: You are hereby notified that a negative credit report reflecting on your credit record may be submitted to a credit reporting agency if 
you fail to fulfill the terms of your credit obligations. 

BILLING RIGHTS SUMMARY 
In Case of Errors or Inquiries About Your Bill: If you suspect there is an error on your account or you need information about a transaction on your bill, send 
your written inquiry to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement within 60 days of the date of the statement containing the transaction in 
question. You may telephone us, however a written request is required to preserve your rights. 
In your letter, give us the following information: 

 ̈ Your name and account number. 
 ̈ The dollar amount of the suspected error. 
 ̈ Describe the error and explain, if you can, why you believe there is an error. If you need more information, describe the item you are unsure about. 

You do not have to pay any amount in question while we are investigating, but you are still obligated to pay the parts of your bill that are not in question. While 
we investigate your question, we cannot report you as delinquent or take any action to collect the amount you question. 

Please provide a legal document evidencing your name change, such as a court document. 
Please use blue or black ink to complete form 

NAME CHANGE Last 

First Middle 

ADDRESS CHANGE Street 

City State  ZIP Code 

Home Phone (  )  - Business Phone (  )  - 

Cell Phone ( ) - E-mail Address

Page 340 of 356



A-3-11

BL ACCT 

Cardholder Account Summary 

MORGAN BI NG 

Credits 
$0.00 

Purchases & Other 
Charges 
$339.10 

Cash Advances 

$0.00 

Total Activity 

$339.10 

Cardholder Account Detail 
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount 

10/16 10/17 PPLN01 24137464291001640107611 USPS PO 0568770075 SAN LUIS OBIS CA $224.00 
10/17 10/18 PPLN01 24343114291900014197713 SLO CLERK RECORDER 805-7815080 CA $81.00 
10/17 10/20 PPLN01 24343114292900011197731 AMS*SERVICE FEE 101653 888-9147768 FL $1.49 
10/21 10/23 PPLN01 24164074296105441563027 STAPLES 00103614 SAN LUIS OBIS CA $32.61 

Finance Charge Summary / Plan Level Information 
Plan 

Name 
Plan 

Description FCM1 
Average 

Daily Balance 
Periodic 
Rate * 

Corresponding 
APR 

Finance 
Charges 

Effective APR 
Fees ** 

Effective 
APR 

Ending 
Balance 

Purchases 
PPLN01 PURCHASE E $0.00 0.06008%(D) 21.9900% $0.00 $0.00 0.0000% $414.10 

001 
Cash 
CPLN01 CASH A $0.00 0.06554%(D) 23.9900% $0.00 $0.00 0.0000% $0.00 

001 
* Periodic Rate (M)=Monthly (D)=Daily Days In Billing Cycle: 31 
** includes cash advance and foreign currency fees APR = Annual Percentage Rate 

1 FCM = Finance Charge Method 
(V) = Variable Rate If you have a variable rate account the periodic rate and Annual Percentage Rate (APR) may vary. 

Page 341 of 356



A-3-12

Account Summary Account Inquiries 

Account Number: #### #### #### 

Call us at: (866) 777-9013 
Lost or Stolen Card: (866) 839-3485 

Finance Charges + $0.00

Go to www.umpquabank.com 

Write us at PO BOX 35142 - LB1181, SEATTLE, WA 
98124-5142 

Payment Summary 

NEW BALANCE 

cash advances until paid and will be billed on your next statement. 

Corporate Activity 
TOTAL CORPORATE ACTIVITY $414.10- 

Trans Date Post Date Reference Number Transaction Description Amount 
11/12 11/12 0000000LBX2411126423001 PAYMENT - THANK YOU $414.10- 

PLEASE DETACH COUPON AND RETURN PAYMENT USING THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE - ALLOW UP TO 7 DAYS FOR RECEIPT - * 

UMPQUA BANK 
PO BOX 35142 - LB1181 
SEATTLE WA 98124-5142 

Check box to indicate 
name/address change 
on back of this coupon 

AMOUNT OF PAYMENT ENCLOSED 

11/29/24 

 
 

$1,377.76 $1,377.76 

 
 

 

12/25/24 $ 
LAFCO 
1042 PACIFIC ST 
SUITE A 
SAN LUIS OBISPO CA 93401 

MAKE CHECK PAYABLE TO: 

UMPQUA BANK COMMERCIAL CARD OPS 
PO BOX 35142 - LB1181 
SEATTLE WA 98124-5142 

Account Number 

Payment Due Date Total Minimum 
Payment Due New Balance Closing Date 

$1,377.76 

(çJ0) 

89
26

 

Billing Cycle 11/29/2024 
Days In Billing Cycle 29 
Previous Balance $414.10 
Purchases + $1,377.76
Cash + $0.00
Balance Transfers + $0.00
Special + $0.00
Credits - $0.00
Payments - $414.10-
Other Charges + $0.00

NEW BALANCE $1,377.76 MINIMUM PAYMENT $1,377.76 

Credit Summary PAYMENT DUE DATE 12/25/2024 

Total Credit Line $10,000.00 
Available Credit Line $8,622.24 NOTE: Grace period to avoid a finance charge on purchases, pay 
Available Cash $0.00 entire new balance by payment due date. Finance charge accrues on 

Amount Over Credit Line $0.00 
Amount Past Due $0.00 
Disputed Amount $0.00 

Page 342 of 356

http://www.umpquabank.com/


A-3-13

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 

Finance Charge Calculation Methods and Computation of Average Daily Balance Subject to Finance Charge: The Finance Charge Calculation Method 
applicable to your account for Cash Advances and Credit Purchases of goods and services that you obtain through the use of your card is specified on the 
front side of this statement and explained below: 

Method A - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): The Finance Charge on purchases begins on the date the transaction posted to your 
account. The Finance Charge on Cash Advances begins on the date you obtained the cash advance, or the first day of the billing cycle within which it is 
posted to your account, whichever is later. There is no grace period. 

The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of your account. To get the average daily 
balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and subtract any payments, credits, 
non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the billing cycle and divide the total 
by the number of days in the billing cycle. 

Method E - Average Daily Balance (excluding current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash 
advances if Method E is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance shown on your 
monthly statement on or before the Payment Due Date. The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date. 

The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day and subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees, 
and unpaid finance charges. We do not add in any new purchases or cash advances. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances 
for the billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. 

Method G - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash 
advances, if Method G is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement and, on any new purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances) appearing on your next monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance, shown on your monthly statement, on or before the Payment Due Date. 
The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date. 

The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and 
subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the 
billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. 

Payment Crediting and Credit Balance: Payments received at the location specified on the front of the statement after the phrase ˜MAKE CHECK PAYABLE 
TO™ will be credited to the account specified on the payment coupon as of the date of receipt. Payments received at a different location or payments that do 
not conform to the requirements set forth on or with the periodic statement (e.g. missing payment stub, payment envelope other than as provided with your 
statement, multiple checks or multiple coupons in the same envelope) may be subject to delay in crediting, but shall be credited within five days of receipt. If 
there is a credit balance due on your account, you may request in writing, a full refund. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of 
this statement. 

By sending your check, you are authorizing the use of the information on your check to make a one-time electronic debit from the account on which the check 
is drawn. This electronic debit, which may be posted to your account as early as the date your check is received, will be only for the amount of your check. 
The original check will be destroyed and we will retain the image in our records. If you have questions please call the customer service number on the front of 
this billing statement. 

Closing Date: The closing date is the last day of the billing cycle; all transactions received after the closing date will appear on your next statement. 

Annual Fee: If your account has been assessed an annual fee, you may avoid paying this annual fee by sending written notification of termination within 30 
days following the mailing date of this bill. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement. You may use your card(s) 
during this 30 day period but immediately thereafter must send your card(s), which you have cut in half, to this same address. 

Negative Credit Reports: You are hereby notified that a negative credit report reflecting on your credit record may be submitted to a credit reporting agency if 
you fail to fulfill the terms of your credit obligations. 

BILLING RIGHTS SUMMARY 
In Case of Errors or Inquiries About Your Bill: If you suspect there is an error on your account or you need information about a transaction on your bill, send 
your written inquiry to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement within 60 days of the date of the statement containing the transaction in 
question. You may telephone us, however a written request is required to preserve your rights. 

In your letter, give us the following information: 
 ̈ Your name and account number. 
 ̈ The dollar amount of the suspected error. 
 ̈ Describe the error and explain, if you can, why you believe there is an error. If you need more information, describe the item you are unsure about. 

You do not have to pay any amount in question while we are investigating, but you are still obligated to pay the parts of your bill that are not in question. While 
we investigate your question, we cannot report you as delinquent or take any action to collect the amount you question. 

Please provide a legal document evidencing your name change, such as a court document. 
Please use blue or black ink to complete form 

NAME CHANGE Last 

First Middle 

ADDRESS CHANGE Street 

City State  ZIP Code 

Home Phone (  )  - Business Phone (  )  - 

Cell Phone ( ) - E-mail Address

Page 343 of 356



A-3-14

BL ACCT 

Account Number 

Cardholder Account Summary 

ROBERT FITZROY #4 Payments & Other 
Credits 
$0.00 

Purchases & Other 
Charges 
$1,070.24 

Cash Advances 

$0.00 

Total Activity 

$1,070.24 

Cardholder Account Detail 
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount 

11/04 11/05 PPLN01 24453884310000014300036 TROPHY HUNTERS SN LUIS OBISP CA $26.01
11/04 11/05 PPLN01 24164074309069222821258 FEDEX OFFIC51500051508 SAN LUIS OBIS $10.86

CA 
11/07 11/08 PPLN01 24137464313001580222770 USPS PO 0568770075 SAN LUIS OBIS CA $8.40
11/12 11/13 PPLN01 24231684318149489014716 SMART AND FINAL 913 SAN LUIS OBIS CA $35.96
11/13 11/14 PPLN01 24453884319000015100014 TROPHY HUNTERS SN LUIS OBISP CA $49.76
11/14 11/15 PPLN01 24343114319900010610634 AMS*SERVICE FEE 101653 888-9147768 FL $1.49
11/14 11/15 PPLN01 24343114319900012110591 SLO CLERK RECORDER 805-7815080 CA $81.00
11/15 11/17 PPLN01 24692164320102919967764 TST*SEEDS 805-592-2929 CA $94.04

Finance Charge Summary / Plan Level Information 
Plan 

Name 
Plan 

Description FCM1 
Average 

Daily Balance 
Periodic 
Rate * 

Corresponding 
APR 

Finance 
Charges 

Effective APR 
Fees ** 

Effective 
APR 

Ending 
Balance 

Purchases 
PPLN01 PURCHASE E $0.00 0.06008%(D) 21.9900% $0.00 $0.00 0.0000% $1,377.76 

001 
Cash 
CPLN01 CASH A $0.00 0.06554%(D) 23.9900% $0.00 $0.00 0.0000% $0.00 

001 
* Periodic Rate (M)=Monthly (D)=Daily Days In Billing Cycle: 29 
** includes cash advance and foreign currency fees APR = Annual Percentage Rate 

1 FCM = Finance Charge Method 
(V) = Variable Rate If you have a variable rate account the periodic rate and Annual Percentage Rate (APR) may vary. 

Cardholder Account Summary 

MORGAN BING #### #### ####6 
 

Payments & Other 
Credits 
$0.00 

Purchases & Other 
Charges 
$307.52 

Cash Advances 

$0.00 

Total Activity 

$307.52 

Cardholder Account Detail 
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount 

11/01 11/03 PPLN01 24906414306213021282957 TRTHFDR*TRUTHFINDER.COM 800-6998081 $28.33
CA 

11/20 11/21 PPLN01 24906414325214576673340 Lenovo United States 855-2536686 NC $1,004.41
11/26 11/26 PPLN01 24204294331001001210096 Microsoft-G067524610 701-2817490 WA $37.50

Page 344 of 356



A-3-15

Thank you for your order! 
Order Number: 4647249036 

Order Placed: 11/18/2024 

Rob, 

We've successfully received your order. Your order is processing and we’ll 
email you as soon as it ships. Click below to view your order details and 
the latest status information. Thank you for shopping with Lenovo! 

Your order summary: 

View Order Status 

Please note: During checkout, we authorized your card for the total order 
amount. This is not an actual charge. You will only be charged for the items on 
your order once they ship or are electronically delivered. The final order amount 
will be split into separate charges if items are shipped separately. 
Our standard order delivery date is is 4-9 days after Lenovo ships your product. 
Delivery date information is updated from carriers as it becomes available. 

1/23/25, 2:19 PM Mail - Morgan Bing - Outlook 

Outlook 

Fw: Thank you for your order! 

From Rob Fitzroy <rfitzroy@slo.lafco.ca.gov> 
Date Thu 1/23/2025 1:28 PM 
To Morgan Bing <mbing@slo.lafco.ca.gov> 

Rob Fitzroy | Executive Officer 
San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission 
slo.lafco.ca.gov 
(805) 788-2096

From: Lenovo <lenovomail@lenovo.com> 
Sent: Monday, November 18, 2024 9:01 AM 
To: Rob Fitzroy <rfitzroy@slo.lafco.ca.gov> 
Subject: Thank you for your order! 

Page 345 of 356

https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/order/lookup/detail.html?orderNumber=4e13552330368a4bd9edbcaa62265722d9538ad2a86d3650ad6d4f48929fad93b07242d0fc5635a900f07527eff16470f112ba7c7ebb5ed1d2966598d86be2ee&orderParameter=36d7b828a8d73c654f2895d4f5773804e88745b842de335ccaa8ae3b7d349fa5fcda5f9e67436ba14898a9b1779a6b1507d69fa07c8305d78c07d9001e98978f
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/order/lookup/detail.html?orderNumber=4e13552330368a4bd9edbcaa62265722d9538ad2a86d3650ad6d4f48929fad93b07242d0fc5635a900f07527eff16470f112ba7c7ebb5ed1d2966598d86be2ee&orderParameter=36d7b828a8d73c654f2895d4f5773804e88745b842de335ccaa8ae3b7d349fa5fcda5f9e67436ba14898a9b1779a6b1507d69fa07c8305d78c07d9001e98978f
mailto:rfitzroy@slo.lafco.ca.gov
mailto:mbing@slo.lafco.ca.gov
mailto:lenovomail@lenovo.com
mailto:r%EF%AC%81tzroy@slo.lafco.ca.gov


A-3-16

P 478#y P 478#y P 478#y3

Explore the Communities 

1/23/25, 2:19 PM Mail - Morgan Bing - Outlook 

ITEM DELIVERY METHOD QTY TOTAL PRICE 

ThinkPad P16s Gen 2 Intel (16″) 
mobile workstation Get it by Wed. 1 $919.00 Nov 20 
21HKS0YJ00 

Billing Details: Shipping Details: Sub total: $2,609.00 
1042 Pacific Street, 1042 Pacific Street, 

Instant Savings: -$1,690.00Suite A Suite A 
San Luis Obispo San Luis Obispo Tax: $80.41 
US-CA US-CA Recycle Fee: $5.00 
93401 93401 
United States of United States of Shipping: FREE 
America America Total: $1,004.41 
Card Payment 

Still shopping? You might be interested in: 

Microsoft Office 

Shop Now 

Accessories 

Shop Now 

Our Latest Deals 

Shop Now 

Want to connect with others? Join our communities: 

Lenovo Communities 

Whether you're a gamer, student, or 
business owner, we've got a dedicated 
community for you. 

Have questions? We're here to help: 

View our FAQ Contact Us 

My Account | Subscribe | Manage Preferences | Contact Us 
Unless there is an agreement in place between you and Lenovo applicable to your order, the terms 

Page 346 of 356

https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/accessories-and-monitors/software/dc/Software?sort=sortBy&currentResultsLayoutType=grid&visibleDatas=facet_Brand%3ABrand%3AMicrosoft&CID=us%3Aemail%3Ad145ym
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/accessories-and-software?CID=us%3Aemail%3An3mhxi
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/d/deals/clearance-sale?sort=sortBy&currentResultsLayoutType=grid&CID=us%3Aemail%3Au5tr8j
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/communities/
https://www.facebook.com/lenovoUS/
https://twitter.com/lenovoUS
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCpvg0uZH-oxmCagOWJo9p9g
https://www.pinterest.com/lenovous/_shop/
https://www.flickr.com/photos/lenovophotolibrary/
https://www.instagram.com/lenovous
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/accessories-and-monitors/software/dc/Software?sort=sortBy&currentResultsLayoutType=grid&visibleDatas=facet_Brand%3ABrand%3AMicrosoft&CID=us%3Aemail%3Ad145ym
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/accessories-and-software?CID=us%3Aemail%3An3mhxi
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/d/deals/clearance-sale?sort=sortBy&currentResultsLayoutType=grid&CID=us%3Aemail%3Au5tr8j
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/shopping-faq/
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/contact/
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/login
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/business/get-in-touch/#sign-up
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/login
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/contact/
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/shopping-faq/
https://www.lenovo.com/us/en/contact/


A-3-17

How was your visit? 

The restaurant tracks feedback and may reach out 
using the contact info you previously provided. 

From: Seeds 
To: rfitzroy@gmail.com 
Subject: Online Order Receipt for $94.04 at Seeds 
Date: Thursday, November 14, 2024 11:31:42 AM 

Powered by Toast 

Seeds - (805) 592-2929 
Check #61 for Robert Fitzroy 
Pick up 12:00 PM PST 

1040 Court St. 

San Luis Obispo, CA 93401 

Online Ordering 
Information 
Thank you for your order! Please collect at 
the back of the store at the “Pick up” 
station. Be sure to mention ONLINE 
ORDER AND CHECK #. 

Online Ordering (Online) 

Robert F. 

Check #61 Robert Fitzroy 
Ordered: 11/14/24 11:31 

AM 
Due: 11/14/24 12:00 

PM 

Full Panini 2 $19.00 
3 Full Panini 3 $57.00 

Subtotal $76.00 

Page 347 of 356

https://www.toasttab.com/seeds-1133-garden-st/feedback/33144912-7fbc-4e47-9591-5edffe798b2f/a60033f2-230e-49e3-931e-8e37352c4b83/9a9ef9de-efd7-45e6-a934-538b706fc258/bbd404b5-dfaa-4770-aa66-7b1ce70cbded/?rating=POSITIVE
https://www.toasttab.com/seeds-1133-garden-st/feedback/33144912-7fbc-4e47-9591-5edffe798b2f/a60033f2-230e-49e3-931e-8e37352c4b83/9a9ef9de-efd7-45e6-a934-538b706fc258/bbd404b5-dfaa-4770-aa66-7b1ce70cbded/?rating=POSITIVE
https://www.toasttab.com/seeds-1133-garden-st/feedback/33144912-7fbc-4e47-9591-5edffe798b2f/a60033f2-230e-49e3-931e-8e37352c4b83/9a9ef9de-efd7-45e6-a934-538b706fc258/bbd404b5-dfaa-4770-aa66-7b1ce70cbded/?rating=NEGATIVE
https://www.toasttab.com/seeds-1133-garden-st/feedback/33144912-7fbc-4e47-9591-5edffe798b2f/a60033f2-230e-49e3-931e-8e37352c4b83/9a9ef9de-efd7-45e6-a934-538b706fc258/bbd404b5-dfaa-4770-aa66-7b1ce70cbded/?rating=NEGATIVE
mailto:no-reply@toasttab.com
mailto:rfitzroy@gmail.com
https://pos.toasttab.com/?utm_source=receipts&utm_medium=product


A-3-18

Tax $6.64 
Tip $11.40 
Total $94.04 

Visa xxxxxxxx9256 

Transaction Type Sale 
Authorization Approved 
Approval Code 
Payment ID JkFnbsbRrNLW 

Download the Local by Toast app 
Food you love without the wait. 

Privacy Statement | Terms of Service | Refer a Restaurant & Earn $500 

© Toast, Inc. 2024. All Rights Reserved. 

Page 348 of 356

https://toasttakeout.page.link/receipt?ibi=com.toasttab.consumer&isi=1362180579&ofl=https%3A//toasttakeout.com/
https://pos.toasttab.com/privacy/?utm_source=receipts&utm_medium=product
https://pos.toasttab.com/terms-of-service/?utm_source=receipts&utm_medium=product
https://pos.toasttab.com/toast/contact/refer/?utm_source=receipts&utm_medium=product
https://toasttakeout.page.link/receipt?ibi=com.toasttab.consumer&isi=1362180579&ofl=https%3A//toasttakeout.com/


A-3-19

Account Summary Account Inquiries 

BL ACCT 

Account Number: #### ### 

Call us at: (866) 777-9013 
Lost or Stolen Card: (866) 839-3485 

Finance Charges + $13.25

Go to www.umpquabank.com 

Write us at PO BOX 35142 - LB1181, SEATTLE, WA 
98124-5142 

Payment Summary 

NEW BALANCE 

cash advances until paid and will be billed on your next statement. 

Corporate Activity 
TOTAL CORPORATE ACTIVITY $1,364.31- 

Trans Date Post Date Reference Number Transaction Description Amount 
12/16 12/17 70005604352555352270189 PAYMENT - THANK YOU SPOKANE WA $1,377.56-
12/31 12/31 74807254366285366664009 FINANCE CHARGE PURCHASE $13.25 

PLEASE DETACH COUPON AND RETURN PAYMENT USING THE ENCLOSED ENVELOPE - ALLOW UP TO 7 DAYS FOR RECEIPT - * 

UMPQUA BANK 
PO BOX 35142 - LB1181 
SEATTLE WA 98124-5142 

## 

Check box to indicate 
name/address change 
on back of this coupon 

AMOUNT OF PAYMENT ENCLOSED 

12/31/24 

 
 

$2,055.51 $2,055.51 

 
 

 

01/25/25 $ 

1042 PACIFIC ST 
SUITE A 
SAN LUIS OBISPO CA 93401 

MAKE CHECK PAYABLE TO: 

UMPQUA BANK COMMERCIAL CARD OPS 
PO BOX 35142 - LB1181 
SEATTLE WA 98124-5142 

Account Number 

Payment Due Date Total Minimum 
Payment Due New Balance Closing Date 

$2,055.51 

(Â
Êò) 

52
60  

Billing Cycle 12/31/2024 
Days In Billing Cycle 32 
Previous Balance $1,377.76 
Purchases + $2,042.06
Cash + $0.00
Balance Transfers + $0.00
Special + $0.00
Credits - $0.00
Payments - $1,377.56-
Other Charges + $0.00

NEW BALANCE $2,055.51 MINIMUM PAYMENT $2,055.51 

Credit Summary PAYMENT DUE DATE 01/25/2025 

Total Credit Line $10,000.00 
Available Credit Line $7,944.49 NOTE: Grace period to avoid a finance charge on purchases, pay 
Available Cash $0.00 entire new balance by payment due date. Finance charge accrues on 

Amount Over Credit Line $0.00 
Amount Past Due $0.00 
Disputed Amount $0.00 

Page 349 of 356

http://www.umpquabank.com/


A-3-20

IMPORTANT INFORMATION 
Finance Charge Calculation Methods and Computation of Average Daily Balance Subject to Finance Charge: The Finance Charge Calculation Method 
applicable to your account for Cash Advances and Credit Purchases of goods and services that you obtain through the use of your card is specified on the 
front side of this statement and explained below: 
Method A - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): The Finance Charge on purchases begins on the date the transaction posted to your 
account. The Finance Charge on Cash Advances begins on the date you obtained the cash advance, or the first day of the billing cycle within which it is 
posted to your account, whichever is later. There is no grace period. 
The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of your account. To get the average daily 
balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and subtract any payments, credits, 
non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the billing cycle and divide the total 
by the number of days in the billing cycle. 
Method E - Average Daily Balance (excluding current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash 
advances if Method E is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance shown on your 
monthly statement on or before the Payment Due Date. The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date. 
The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day and subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees, 
and unpaid finance charges. We do not add in any new purchases or cash advances. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances 
for the billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. 
Method G - Average Daily Balance (including current transactions): To avoid incurring an additional Finance Charge on the balance of purchases (and cash 
advances, if Method G is specified as applicable to cash advances) reflected on your monthly statement and, on any new purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances) appearing on your next monthly statement, you must pay the New Balance, shown on your monthly statement, on or before the Payment Due Date. 
The grace period for the New Balance of purchases extends to the Payment Due Date. 
The Finance Charges for a billing cycle are computed by applying the Periodic Rate to the ˜average daily balance™ of purchases (and if applicable, cash 
advances). To get the average daily balance, we take the beginning balance of your account each day, add any new purchases or cash advances, and 
subtract any payments, credits, non-accruing fees, and unpaid finance charges. This gives us the daily balance. Then we add up all the daily balances for the 
billing cycle and divide the total by the number of days in the billing cycle. 
Payment Crediting and Credit Balance: Payments received at the location specified on the front of the statement after the phrase ˜MAKE CHECK PAYABLE 
TO™ will be credited to the account specified on the payment coupon as of the date of receipt. Payments received at a different location or payments that do 
not conform to the requirements set forth on or with the periodic statement (e.g. missing payment stub, payment envelope other than as provided with your 
statement, multiple checks or multiple coupons in the same envelope) may be subject to delay in crediting, but shall be credited within five days of receipt. If 
there is a credit balance due on your account, you may request in writing, a full refund. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of 
this statement. 
By sending your check, you are authorizing the use of the information on your check to make a one-time electronic debit from the account on which the check 
is drawn. This electronic debit, which may be posted to your account as early as the date your check is received, will be only for the amount of your check. 
The original check will be destroyed and we will retain the image in our records. If you have questions please call the customer service number on the front of 
this billing statement. 
Closing Date: The closing date is the last day of the billing cycle; all transactions received after the closing date will appear on your next statement. 
Annual Fee: If your account has been assessed an annual fee, you may avoid paying this annual fee by sending written notification of termination within 30 
days following the mailing date of this bill. Submit your request to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement. You may use your card(s) 
during this 30 day period but immediately thereafter must send your card(s), which you have cut in half, to this same address. 
Negative Credit Reports: You are hereby notified that a negative credit report reflecting on your credit record may be submitted to a credit reporting agency if 
you fail to fulfill the terms of your credit obligations. 

BILLING RIGHTS SUMMARY 
In Case of Errors or Inquiries About Your Bill: If you suspect there is an error on your account or you need information about a transaction on your bill, send 
your written inquiry to the Account Inquiries address on the front of this statement within 60 days of the date of the statement containing the transaction in 
question. You may telephone us, however a written request is required to preserve your rights. 
In your letter, give us the following information: 

 ̈ Your name and account number. 
 ̈ The dollar amount of the suspected error. 
 ̈ Describe the error and explain, if you can, why you believe there is an error. If you need more information, describe the item you are unsure about. 

You do not have to pay any amount in question while we are investigating, but you are still obligated to pay the parts of your bill that are not in question. While 
we investigate your question, we cannot report you as delinquent or take any action to collect the amount you question. 

Please provide a legal document evidencing your name change, such as a court document. 
Please use blue or black ink to complete form 

NAME CHANGE Last 

First Middle 

ADDRESS CHANGE Street 

City State  ZIP Code 

Home Phone (  )  - Business Phone (  )  - 

Cell Phone ( ) - E-mail Address

Page 350 of 356



A-3-21

Cardholder Account Summary 

IMELDA MARQUEZ 
#### #### ####9 

Payments & Other 
Credits 
$0.00 

Purchases & Other 
Charges 
$55.35 

Cash Advances 

$0.00 

Total Activity 

$55.35 

Cardholder Account Detail 
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount 

Cardholder Account Summary 

ROBERT FITZROY #### #4 Payments & Other 
Credits 
$0.00 

Purchases & Other 
Charges 
$50.00 

Cash Advances 

$0.00 

Total Activity 

$50.00 

Cardholder Account Detail 
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount 

12/25 12/26 PPLN01 24430994360193253200944 MICROSOFT#G071356455 MSBILL.INFO WA $50.00 

12/03 12/04 PPLN01 24027624338067885694784 PAYPAL *UPLIFTDESK 800-349-3839 TX $1,369.16
12/12 12/13 PPLN01 24164074347069222832986 FEDEX OFFIC51500051508 SAN LUIS OBIS $43.56

CA 
12/12 12/13 PPLN01 24137464348001796041781 USPS PO 0568770075 SAN LUIS OBIS CA $226.31
12/16 12/17 PPLN01 24011344352000000367493 CANVA* I04367-79984569 HTTPSCANVA.CO $78.00

DE
12/19 12/19 PPLN01 24692164354102011620799 AMAZON MKTPL*Z19Z36YB0 Amzn.com/bill $209.68

WA 
12/23 12/24 PPLN01 24137464359002441295570 USPS PO 0568770075 SAN LUIS OBIS CA $10.00

Finance Charge Summary / Plan Level Information 
Plan 

Name 
Plan 

Description FCM1 
Average 

Daily Balance 
Periodic 
Rate * 

Corresponding 
APR 

Finance 
Charges 

Effective APR 
Fees ** 

Effective 
APR 

Ending 
Balance 

Purchases 
PPLN01 PURCHASE E $688.98 0.06008%(D) 21.9900% $13.25 $0.00 21.9958% $2,055.51 

001 
Cash 
CPLN01 CASH A $0.00 0.06554%(D) 23.9900% $0.00 $0.00 0.0000% $0.00 

001 
* Periodic Rate (M)=Monthly (D)=Daily Days In Billing Cycle: 32 
** includes cash advance and foreign currency fees APR = Annual Percentage Rate 

1 FCM = Finance Charge Method 
(V) = Variable Rate If you have a variable rate account the periodic rate and Annual Percentage Rate (APR) may vary. 

Cardholder Account Summary 

MORGAN BING #### #### ####6 
 

Payments & Other 
Credits 
$0.00 

Purchases & Other 
Charges 
$1,936.71 

Cash Advances 

$0.00 

Total Activity 

$1,936.71 

Cardholder Account Detail 
Trans Date Post Date Plan Name Reference Number Description Amount 

12/06 12/08 PPLN01 24692164342100005559671 SQ *TRANSITIONS MENTAL HE San Luis Obis $29.34
CA 

12/13 12/15 PPLN01 24453884349000017200063 TROPHY HUNTERS SN LUIS OBISP CA $26.01

Page 351 of 356



A-3-22

Hello, Morgan Bing 

PayPal 

Activate PayPal Now 

From: service@paypal.com 
To: Morgan Bing 
Subject: Your PayPal receipt 
Date: Tuesday, December 3, 2024 12:40:11 PM 

You paid $1,369.16 USD to 
Square Grove LLC 

Create a PayPal account for fast, secure checkouts at millions of 
merchants. 

Your purchase details 

Your Transaction ID: 
0LC24553J0194592F 

Merchant Transaction ID: 
72A765515H059702E 

Purchase Date: 
December 3, 2024 

Payment to: 
Square Grove LLC 
info@upliftdesk.com 

Payment from: 
Morgan Bing 

Shipping Address 
Morgan Bing 
1042 Pacific St Ste A 
San Luis Obispo, CA 93401-3656 
United States 

Page 352 of 356

https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
mailto:service@paypal.com
mailto:mbing@slo.lafco.ca.gov
mailto:info@upliftdesk.com


A-3-23

Subtotal $1,369.16 USD 

Total $1,369.16 USD 

You paid using: Visa x-9256 

This credit card transaction will appear on your statement as PAYPAL *UPLIFTDESK. 

Activate PayPal Now 

Help & Contact | Security | Apps 

PayPal is committed to preventing fraudulent emails. Emails from PayPal will always contain your full name. 
Learn to identify phishing 

Please don't reply to this email. To get in touch with us, click Help & Contact. 

PayPal Customer Service can be reached at 888-221-1161. 

Not sure why you received this email? Learn more 

Copyright © 1999-2024 PayPal, Inc. All rights reserved. PayPal is located at 2211 N. First St., San Jose, CA 
95131. 

PayPal RT000398:en_US(en-US):1.4.1:f90334135a660 

Page 353 of 356

https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
https://twitter.com/PayPal?v=1%2C0.1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=twitter.com_paypal
https://twitter.com/PayPal?v=1%2C0.1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=twitter.com_paypal
https://www.instagram.com/paypal/?v=1%2C0.1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=www.instagram.com_paypal
https://www.instagram.com/paypal/?v=1%2C0.1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=www.instagram.com_paypal
https://www.facebook.com/PayPalUSA?v=1%2C0.1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=www.facebook.com_paypalusa
https://www.facebook.com/PayPalUSA?v=1%2C0.1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=www.facebook.com_paypalusa
http://www.linkedin.com/company/1482?trk=tyah&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=company_1482
http://www.linkedin.com/company/1482?trk=tyah&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=company_1482
https://www.paypal.com/signup/upgrade?id=490316532879738&em=mbing%40slo.lafco.ca.gov&cn=14071609184041238477&bh=KRZVBCL9YY6NL&flowIntent=frs&v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=signup_upgrade
https://www.paypal.com/us/smarthelp/home?v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=smarthelp_home
https://www.paypal.com/us/webapps/mpp/paypal-safety-and-security?v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=mpp_paypal-safety-and-security
https://www.paypal.com/us/webapps/mpp/mobile-apps?v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=mpp_mobile-apps
https://www.paypal.com/us/webapps/mpp/security/suspicious-activity?v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=security_suspicious-activity
https://www.paypal.com/selfhelp/home?v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=selfhelp_home
https://www.paypal.com/us/smarthelp/article/why-am-i-receiving-emails-from-paypal-when-i-dont-have-an-account-faq4172?v=1&utm_source=unp&utm_medium=email&utm_campaign=RT000398&utm_unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&ppid=RT000398&cnac=US&rsta=en_US%28en-US%29&cust=JKZVXM3V8L38N&unptid=c63f0e65-b1b6-11ef-bb25-a564808ea1be&calc=f90334135a660&unp_tpcid=email-receipt-guest-checkout-rt000398&page=main%3Aemail%3ART000398&pgrp=main%3Aemail&e=cl&mchn=em&s=ci&mail=sys&appVersion=1.294.0&tenant_name=PAYPAL&xt=145585%2C150948%2C104038&link_ref=article_why-am-i-receiving-emails-from-paypal-when-i-dont-have-an-account-faq4172


A-3-24

UPLIFT Desk 
1848 Ferguson Ln, Building 1 
Austin, TX 78754 

Estimate 
UPLIFT Desk 
#EST175583 

Bill To Ship To 
Morgan Bing 
1042 PACIFIC ST, STE A 
SAN LUIS OBISPO CA 93401 
United States 
Phone: 805-781-5795 
Email: mbing@slo.lafco.ca.gov 

Morgan Bing 
1042 PACIFIC ST, STE A 
SAN LUIS OBISPO CA 93401 
United States 
Phone: 8057815795 

12/03/2024 Free Standard Shipping 

Qty Item Price Per Unit Total 

1 PARENT-UPL934-walnut-lam-72x30 $700.00 $700.00 
UPLIFT L-Shaped Standing Desk, 3-Leg 
Desktop Style upl934-walnut-lam > Walnut Laminate 1" (+$0) 
Desktop Size 72x78 > 72"Mx78"R (+$270.00) 
Return Side R-shape > Return on Right Side 
Frame Color & Type black-v2-3 > V2 C-Frame - Black 

1 TOP402-LSHAPE-48X27-RTN $0.00 $0.00 
---GREENGUARD Laminate Desktop - Walnut - 48" x 27.5" 
rectangular return [no grommets] 

1 TOP402-LSHAPE-72X30-MAIN-G $0.00 $0.00 
---GREENGUARD Laminate Desktop - Walnut - 72" 
rectangular main [with grommets] 

x 30" 

2 ACC088B $0.00 $0.00 
Grommet Cover [Black] 

1 F550B $309.50 $309.50 
UPLIFT V2 L-Shaped Standing Desk Frame, Box 1 [Black] 

1 F551B $309.50 $309.50 
UPLIFT V2 L-Shaped Standing Desk Frame, Box 2 [Black] 

1 FRM502B $100.00 $100.00 
V2 2-Leg Frame - Feet & Side Brackets, C27 [Black] 

1 FRM704B $0.00 $0.00 
Basic Comfort Flush Keypad [Black] by UPLIFT Desk 

1 MVT012-BMB $0.00 $0.00 
Bamboo Rocker-X Board 

1 ACC047 $0.00 $0.00 
Foot Hammock 

Quote Date Shipping Method 

Page 354 of 356

mailto:mbing@slo.lafco.ca.gov


A-3-25

UPLIFT Desk 
1848 Ferguson Ln, Building 1 
Austin, TX 78754 

Estimate 
UPLIFT Desk 
#EST175583 

 

 

Qty Item Price Per Unit Total 

1 STR210BB $0.00 $0.00 
Bamboo Desk Organizer Set [Black] 

1 STR118DB $0.00 $0.00 
Dark Bamboo Desk Drawer 

1 included-accessories-3-leg $0.00 $0.00 
Free Wire Management Tray [qty 1], Cable Tie Mounts [qty 15], 
Anchor Plates [qty 2] 

1 No-TR-InfoEmail $0.00 $0.00 
No thank you 

Subtotal $1,419.00 

Shipping $0.00 

Discount $-160.00 

Estimated Tax $110.16 

Total $1,369.16 

Page 355 of 356



   
 

A-4-1  
 

 
  
 

TO:  
  

 
TO:   MEMBERS OF THE COMMISSION 
 
FROM:  ROB FITZROY, EXECUTIVE OFFICER   
 
DATE:   MARCH 20, 2025 
 
SUBJECT:  APPOINTMENT OF LABOR NEGOTIATOR  

 
 

RECOMMENDATION 
 
Action: Approve, by motion, the appointment of Legal Counsel as the Labor 
Negotiator.  

 
OVERVIEW 
 
On October 17, 2024, the Commission appointed a new general legal counsel, 
Holly Whately of Colantuono, Highsmith and Whatley PC.  A required step is to 
formally designate her as the agency’s Labor Negotiator.  This is a procedural step 
to ensure LAFCO has a designated Labor Negotiator when needed.  Actions related 
to labor negotiations such as salary adjustments ultimately require approval of the 
Commission.   

San Luis Obispo Local Agency Formation Commission 

 
COMMISSIONERS 

 
Chairperson 
STEVE GREGORY 
City Member 

 
Vice-Chair 

HEATHER MORENO 
County Member 

 
DAWN ORTIZ-LEGG 
County Member 

 
ED WAAGE 

City Member 
 

ROBERT ENNS 
Special District Member 

 
VACANT 

Special District Member 
 

DAVID WATSON 
Public Member 

 
ALTERNATES 

 
BRUCE GIBSON 

County Member 
 

CARLA WIXOM 
City Member 

 
ED EBY 

Special District Member 
 

MICHAEL DRAZE 
Public Member 

 
STAFF 

 
ROB FITZROY 

Executive Officer 
 

IMELDA MARQUEZ-VAWTER 
Analyst 

 
MORGAN BING 

Analyst 
 

MELISSA MORRIS 
Commission Clerk 

 
HOLLY WHATLEY 
Legal Counsel 

 
Page 356 of 356


	March 20, 2025 Agenda
	Draft January 16, 2025 Minutes
	A-1 LAFCO 3-R-22 (Valley Lot)
	Attachment A
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit B
	Attachment B
	Attachment C
	Attachment D
	Attachment E
	Attachment F
	Attachment G
	Attachment H
	Attachment I
	Attachment J
	Attachment K

	A-2 LAFCO 3-R-23 (Stanley Lot)
	Attachment A
	Exhibit A
	Exhibit B
	Attachment B
	Attachment C
	Attachment D
	Attachment E
	Attachment F
	Attachment G
	Attachment H
	Attachment I
	Attachment J

	A-3 Q2 Budget Status
	Attachment A
	Attachment B

	A-4 Labor Negotiator



